
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Simon Cann, Democratic Services Officer on 
01432 260667 or e-mail simon.cann@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of 
the meeting. 

 

 

 

Agenda 
 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

Date: Tuesday 30 July 2024 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Place: Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, Plough 
Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 0LE 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Simon Cann, Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01432 260667 

Email: simon.cann@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the meeting of the Children and 
Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Membership 

 

  
Chairperson Councillor Toni Fagan 
Vice-chairperson Councillor Liz Harvey 

 
Councillor Frank Cornthwaite 
Councillor Clare Davies 
Councillor David Davies 
Councillor Robert Highfield 
Councillor Ben Proctor 

   

 
Co-opted Sylvia Cockroft Archdiocese of Cardiff 
Members Jan Frances Families’ Representative 
 Stuart Mitchell Parent Governor (Secondary) 
 Sam Pratley Hereford Diocese 

 
 



 
Herefordshire Council  30 JULY 2024 
 

 

Agenda 

 Pages 
  

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 

2.   NAMED SUBSTITUTES 
 

 

 To receive details of members nominated to attend the meeting in place of a 
member of the committee. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of Schedule 1, Schedule 2 or 
Other Interests from members of the committee in respect of items on the 
agenda. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

9 - 34 

 To receive the minutes of the meetings held on 13 June 2024 and 7 May 
2024. 
 

 

HOW TO SUBMIT QUESTIONS 
 

 

The deadline for the submission of questions for this meeting is 5pm on Wednesday 
24 July 2024. 
 

Questions must be submitted to councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk.  
Questions sent to any other address may not be accepted. 
 

Accepted questions and the responses will be published as a supplement to pmthe 
agenda papers prior to the meeting.  Further information and guidance is available at  
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved 

 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

 To receive any written questions from members of the public. 
 

 

6.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 

 To receive any written questions from members of the council. 
 

 

7.   CHILDREN'S SERVICES COMPLAINTS 
 

 

 For the Children and Young people Scrutiny Committee to note and consider 
the summary of complaints received in relation to children’s services. 
 
[Papers to follow] 
 

 

8.   FAMILIES' COMMISSION UPDATE 
 

35 - 250 

 To provide a progress update on the Families Commission report 
considerations.   
 

 

9.   WORK PROGRAMME 
 

251 - 260 

 To consider the draft work programme for the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2024/25. 

 

mailto:councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved


 
Herefordshire Council  30 JULY 2024 
 

 

 

10.   CHAIR UPDATE 
 

 

 For the Chair to communicate or receive updates on any work and activity 
relevant to the committee’s remit. 
 

 

11.   DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 Tuesday 17 September 2024, 2pm 
 

 



The public’s rights to information and attendance at meetings 

In view of the continued prevalence of Covid, we have introduced changes to our usual 
procedures for accessing public meetings.  These will help to keep our councillors, staff and 
members of the public safe. 

Please take time to read the latest guidance on the council website by following the link at 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings and support us in promoting a safe environment for 
everyone.  If you have any queries please contact the governance support team on 01432 
261699 or at governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk  

We will review and update this guidance in line with Government advice and restrictions. 

Thank you for your help in keeping Herefordshire Council meetings safe. 

 

You have a right to: 

 Attend all council, cabinet, committee and sub-committee meetings unless the business to 
be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

 Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.  
Agenda and reports (relating to items to be considered in public) are available at 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings 

 Inspect minutes of the council and all committees and sub-committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the cabinet or individual cabinet members for up to six 
years following a meeting.   

 Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting (a list of the background papers to a report is given 
at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer has 
relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

 Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all councillors with 
details of the membership of cabinet and of all committees and sub-committees.  
Information about councillors is available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors 

 Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title.  The council’s 
constitution is available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution 

 Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
council, cabinet, committees and sub-committees and to inspect documents. 

5

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
mailto:governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution


Recording of meetings 

Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that 
it does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 

Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you 
should let the governance services team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who 
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware. 

The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 
reporting to ensure that they comply. 

The council may make a recording of this public meeting or stream it live to the council’s 
website.  Such recordings are made available for members of the public via the council’s 
YouTube channel at www.youtube.com/user/HerefordshireCouncil/videos 

 

Public transport links 

The Herefordshire Council office at Plough Lane is located off Whitecross Road in Hereford, 
approximately 1 kilometre from the City Bus Station. 

The location of the office and details of city bus services can be viewed at: 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1597/hereford-city-bus-map-local-services- 

 

 

6

http://www.youtube.com/user/HerefordshireCouncil/videos
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1597/hereford-city-bus-map-local-services-


 

      

The seven principles of public life  

(Nolan Principles) 

 

1. Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

2. Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 

3. Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

4. Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

5. Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

6. Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

7. Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour and 
treat others with respect. They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

7





 

Minutes of the meeting of Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Committee held at Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, 
Plough Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 0LE on Thursday 13 June 
2024 at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Councillor Toni Fagan (Chairperson) 
Councillor Liz Harvey (Vice-chairperson) 

   
 Councillors: Frank Cornthwaite (substitute), Clare Davies (remote attendance) 

David Davies (substitute) Robert Highfield, Ben Proctor 
 
Co-opted Members: Sam Pratley (Diocese of Hereford), Sylvia Cockroft 
(Archdiocese of Cardiff), Jan Frances (Families’ Representative) 

 

  
In attendance:  Councillor Ivan Powell (Cabinet Member Children and Young People) 
  
Officers:  Rachel Gillott (Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support), Tracey 

Sampson (Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development) 

 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Rob Williams, Councillor Clare Davies (present 
remotely) and Hilary Hall (Corporate Director Community Wellbeing). 
 

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES   
 
Councillor Frank Cornthwaite substituted for Councillor Rob Williams. 
Councillor David Davies sat in the vacant committee member seat. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
None. 
 

4. MINUTES   
 
The committee voted to defer approval of the minutes of the meeting of 7 May 2024 until the 
next committee meeting of 30 July 2024.  
 

5. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC   
 
None. 
 

6. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL   
 
None. 
 

7. WORKFORCE CHALLENGES IN CHILDREN'S SERVICES   
 

9

AGENDA ITEM 4



The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development introduced the 
report and the attached appendices, noting that the employment survey summary from 
2022 at Appendix C was the most recent set of data available. The next staff survey had 
just been released and new information from that would be available in the autumn of 
2024. 
 
The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development pointed out that 
significant improvements had been made and that the service was in a much better 
position than it had been three years ago, but there was still much work to be done. 
The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development highlighted the need 
to be relentless in everything being done to tackle workforce challenges and was 
confident that the plan in place would get the service where it needed to be. 
 
The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development identified the 
greatest challenge currently faced, as dealing with the service’s reputational issues and 
the potential damage that had been done to its ability to recruit. There had only been 
limited success in telling a positive story about improvements in the service outside of 
the council and addressing that would be a priority going forward. 
 
The Committee discussed and asked questions about the report as detailed below: 
 

1. The Committee thanked the director for the report and pointed out that sufficiency 

and stability of staff within the workforce was a key aspect of the Improvement 

Plan and was at the heart of work being done to ensure and provide a good 

service for children, parents and families within Herefordshire. 

 

2. The Committee enquired about the risk, in terms of the impact on children in 

Herefordshire, of not getting the children and young people workforce strategy 

right. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that restorative practice training was going very well and 500 workers 

had received the training, however, without a permanent and stable 

workforce there would be a continuous stop-start element to the 

training, which would hamper progress. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that over the last two years children and families had often had 

numerous different social workers assigned to their cases and that 

each time the social worker changed or moved on the family and child 

had to retell their story. 

 The Service Director emphasised the importance of having a 

permanent workforce in place as this would enable the restorative 

framework and practice model to be fully embedded, which would 

provide traction going forward. It was noted that staff in the MASH 

(Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub) were fully permanent, fostering 

services staff were almost fully permanent and that all team managers 

would, hopefully, be permanent by July 2024. 

 There were still challenges relating to historic reputational damage, 

especially in relation to the court team and children in care staff. The 

recent change of Director of Corporate Services had created some 

temporary unsettlement amongst staff, but this had been a blip and 

the service had turned a corner, with two team managers having 

recently been recruited. 

 

3. The Committee enquired how it would be possible to determine and demonstrate 

that the workforce strategy was making a difference. 

10

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50119675/Appendix%20C%20Employee%20Survey%20Summary%20CYP%202022.pdf


 

4. The Committee asked who the workforce strategy was for, who would be using it 

and what they would be expected to do with it. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

explained that there was an overarching corporate workforce strategy 

that covered the whole council and that this was a strategy specifically 

for the children and young people workforce. 

 It was explained that a second strategy specifically for the children 

and young people workforce was in place, as the LGA (Local 

Government Association) recommended this as good practice. 

 The children and young people workforce strategy fitted in and 

dovetailed with the main corporate document, but was essentially a 

pitch to the workforce, which explained what people could expect in 

terms of management practice and culture within the service. The 

document could be used by the union and employees as a means of 

holding the council to account as an employer. 

 In terms of measuring the impact of the children and young people 

workforce strategy, this would be contained and covered off within the 

action plan, which sat under the workforce delivery board, which itself 

would be monitored by the children’s improvement board. 

 

5. The Committee enquired whether it was an oversight that the Corporate 

Workforce Strategy contained various sections for measuring and monitoring 

progress, whilst the Children and Young People Workforce Strategy didn’t. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

acknowledged the omission of sections for measuring progress within 

the current draft Children and Young People Workforce Strategy and 

stated such sections could be incorporated in the final document. 

 

6. The Committee noted the focus on mental health contained within the wellbeing 

section of the Children and Young People Workforce Strategy compared to the 

broader set of wellbeing issues identified in the Corporate Workforce Strategy. 

The Committee asked why there was a difference and sought clarity as to 

whether the broader set of issues identified in the corporate strategy were 

applicable to the children and young people document. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

explained that all of the wellbeing issues identified in the Corporate 

Workforce Strategy were applicable to the Children and Young People 

Strategy, but that addressing mental illness had been emphasised in 

the children and and young people workforce document because 

stress was the highest cause of absence in children’s services and 

was particularly pertinent to that audience. 

 

7. The Committee suggested that it might be useful to make the links between the 

council’s Corporate Workforce Strategy and its Children and Young People 

Workforce Strategy more explicit. 

 

8. The Committee noted it was clear what the challenges were and clear what the 

strategy was, but that it was not clear why the strategy adopted was felt to be the 

right strategy. The Committee enquired as to which factors had informed the 

development of the strategy. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that over the last 15 months they had been running a group called 

11



‘Aiming High, which brought together the voices of permanent workers 

who had been through previous leadership groups, so that the staff 

could provide feedback about what they wanted. Running concurrently 

with this was a group called the ‘Staff Reference Group’ which 

provided all workers with the opportunity to feedback on their 

priorities. 

 Workers from both the Staff Reference Group and Aiming High groups 

were shown the draft strategy and had reported that they felt it looked 

good and spoke to them as social workers. Feedback was also invited 

from wider teams within the service and this had been very positive, 

with particular praise for the look of the strategy and its delivery 

targets. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that one of the challenges faced was ensuring that when applications 

were sent out that they also included a promise of what would be 

provided from the local authority. Social workers often wanted details 

regarding the local authority’s practice model, and the strategy clearly 

set out what these were. 

 

9. The Committee asked if there was currently an induction process in place to 

ensure that agency staff were working with and using the same practice model as 

everybody else, especially in relation to areas such as restorative practice. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that prior to people starting, there would be an interaction between 

managers and social workers to immediately build a relationship. 

Once a person had joined the service, there was: a corporate day that 

all members of staff went through, a second service day which 

covered the practice model and the systems and then a service 

specific day that would be bespoke and focused on areas relevant to 

staff in different sections such as fostering, the MASH or looked after 

children. The service specific training often extended beyond one day 

to cover areas such as information governance and Mosaic (the 

Council’s care management system) training. 

 The training had changed and developed over the last few months 

and conversations about training and induction were ongoing, with the 

recruitment team listening to and acting on feedback from staff who 

had recently undertaken the training. 

 

10. The Committee raised concerns that the document would be helpful for 

recruitment and exiting staff, but lacked strategic details relating to areas such 

as: key performance indicators, resource and finance implications, strengths and 

weaknesses assessments and clear deliverable actions. The Committee 

enquired as to whether this information sat within the action plan that had been 

referred to earlier in the meeting. 

 

11. The Committee suggested that were similarities, in terms of aspirations, between 

the draft strategy being presented and those of previous years. The Committee 

asked what lessons had been learned from previous strategies, what was being 

done differently and what new things were being done to ensure that the strategy 

was more successful. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

responded that they felt the strategy was a first for children’s services 

in terms of its format and the way it pitched the service’s story to the 

12



workforce. It was explained that certain strategic details had been 

omitted intentionally, but that there was clear action plan that 

underlined the work. The Director noted that adding links for key 

performance indicators and other relevant information might be useful 

in telling the story in a complete way. 

 

12. The Committee, asked for clarity on what had been learned from previous 

attempts to recruit and what was being done differently this time. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

there was a separate recruiting team, which handled onboarding and 

advertising, as well as making sure there was a swift response to the 

requirements and requests of agency and permanent workers. 

Historically, recruiting agency workers had been challenging and at 

one point the service had had to resort to taking on four managed 

teams, which consisted of an agency manager overseeing a team of 

agency staff. It was explained that managed teams had been hugely 

costly and that as of February 2024 the service had been able to 

move away from employing teams of this nature. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support stated that 

two years ago the application process had required internal and 

external applicants to complete lengthy forms detailing all of their 

qualifications. The new strategy had been co-produced with staff, 

based on feedback regarding frustrations around the old process, and 

now focused on curriculum vitaes. Internal staff looking to change to a 

different post could now do so by expressing an interest through a 

conversation with the relevant manager - this had helped significantly 

with retention of existing staff and had created a culture of trust. It was 

noted that having permanent managers and service managers in 

place had greatly improved staff confidence in the service and had 

acted as a springboard for recruitment. 

 

13. The Committee praised the format of the strategy document and noted that the 

outward-facing style and content of the document spoke to both external 

applicants and existing staff. 

 

14. The Committee praised the work that had been done, as detailed in Appendix A, 

highlighting the move from high levels of agency staff towards permanent 

workers and hoped this would reduce scenarios where families and children had 

to to retell their stories to multiple workers. 

 

15. The Committee enquired how much progress the service felt it had made in 

addressing concerns highlighted by staff in the 2022 workforce survey. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support responded 

that a recent survey of occupational therapists, social workers and 

residential workers had been positive about many areas including: 

wellbeing support, useful supervision from team managers, being able 

to freely share work concerns, and being treated fairly and 

respectfully. Other positive feedback from the survey included social 

workers stating they felt physically and emotionally safe at work, and 

staff stating that they had access to reasonable adjustments. Many 

staff had stated that they would recommend their employer to a friend. 

 There had been some challenges highlighted by staff through the 

survey, which included issues around compliance with internal 

13

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50119673/Appendix%20A%20Agency%20and%20permanent%20workforce%20profile.pdf


procedures, feeling excessive pressure to do more with less 

resources and the organisation not always setting a good example of 

how to do things. 

 Staff surveying and feedback would be ongoing and would feedback 

into groups via manager meetings, where the teams set the agenda 

and took things forward – this gave staff ownership of the change 

rather than having it dictated to them as was the previous approach. 

 

16. The Committee noted that the staff survey results at Appendix C showed that the 

largest staff area service group was the safeguarding quality assurance and 

improvement area (at 246 members of staff, which was roughly 50% of the 

workforce) but only 4% of this group had responded to the 2022 survey. The 

Committee asked what actions had been undertaken since 2022 to explain to 

staff the importance of the surveys and feedback tools, and what had been done 

to encourage staff to engage with the process in 2024. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

explained that there were two service areas that began with the word 

safeguarding. The staff from those two teams had likely misidentified 

where they worked when filling in the survey. This had led to a very 

low (4%) response rate for safeguarding quality assurance and 

improvement, and a very high (97%) response rate for safeguarding 

and family support. The assumption was that the actual response rate 

for both teams was an average of these figures. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

pointed out that the 2024 survey made it much easier for staff to self-

report where they worked. 

 In terms of encouraging staff to respond, the 2024 survey was being 

widely publicised via the council’s intranet. A rolling ‘you said we did’ 

webpage, which had been updated regularly over the last two years, 

showed people what had been done in response to staff feedback 

since the last survey. 

 The introduction of a coaching culture approach for managers, a new 

management induction programme and a new leadership group had 

ensured managers were clearer on their roles and responsibilities, 

and that everyone received the same message about how to support 

and manage their teams. 

 It was highlighted that more people had responded to the 2024 survey 

on day one than had responded to the 2022 survey in its first week. 

 

17. The Committee asked about the rate of agency staff moving into permanent 

positions. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

explained that typically no agency workers would switch to a 

permanent role for financial reasons, but the authority was financially 

attractive to permanent workers and offered a competitive pay 

package. Some agency staff did want to convert to permanent roles 

and a recent survey had shown that 28% of the current agency 

workers had stated they would consider staying with the authority, but 

that location was the biggest barrier. Unfortunately location was a 

largely non-negotiable area, because frontline social work needed to 

take place on a face-to-face basis. 

 

14

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50119675/Appendix%20C%20Employee%20Survey%20Summary%20CYP%202022.pdf


18. The Committee enquired whether it was considered beneficial for the service to 

have a certain number of agency staff in place to allow for flexibility. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

acknowledged the good work carried out by agency staff and the 

usefulness of them in initially filling newly created roles within the 

service. However it was stated that there was no deliberate strategy 

for retaining agency workers and ideally the service would reach a 

point where it was staffed 100% with permanent workers. However 

the reality was that an 80% permanent and 20% agency proportional 

split would be achieved within the next two and half years, in 

accordance with the savings plan. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support provided 

the Committee with an overview of the financial modelling within the 

service and how that impacted staff ratios and the budget. 

 

19. The Committee enquired as to whether it was possible to qualify as a social 

worker within Herefordshire. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that qualified social workers were not attending courses within 

Herefordshire and the courses were instead delivered in Birmingham, 

Worcestershire and Coventry. They had just had two cohorts of ASYE 

(Advanced and Supported Year in Employment) students go though in 

March and June, with a further seven starting immediately. All of the 

AYSE students had remained with the service. It was explained that 

during the programme, the students worked on site and often lived 

within Herefordshire, but were funded by the local authority to 

commute to their surrounding university for one or two day as 

required. 

   
20. The Committee asked how much of the workforce were based in Herefordshire 

100% of the time. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

explained that of the permanent workforce 77% lived within 

Herefordshire and 94% of them lived within Herefordshire or a 

surrounding county. 

 

21. The Committee highlighted the good work carried out by agencies in the 

voluntary community sector and suggested that these agencies would be key in 

repairing the service’s reputational damage and restoring trust within the local 

community. The Committee asked what investment was being provided to get the 

workforce in these agencies up to speed, so that they might become future social 

workers and apprentices. 

 The Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, stated that they 

had been in conversations with third party and community 

organisations to discuss where there were effective working 

relationships and where they needed to build on those relationships. 

 

22. The Committee noted that the report identified challenges around having 

sufficient local capacity to respond to the high demand for social work 

apprenticeship places and asked what was being done to address the situation. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that apprenticeships had to be costed and there had to be capacity to 

15



take them on and train them, but there was a shortage of practice 

educators, which made recruitment challenging. 

 The service was working with universities and colleges, and a 

discussion had taken place at the SEND (Special Education Needs 

and Disability) Assurance Board to discuss how organisations across 

Herefordshire could join together to help and assist one another in 

tackling recruitment challenges. 

 The service was working with local and neighbouring organisations, 

the Wye Valley Trust and the ICB (Integrated Care Board) to develop 

models of good practice. Initial work had focused on getting the 

structures in place and future campaigns would look to address how 

to bring youth forward within the locality. 

 

23. The Committee sought clarity on whether capacity to respond to the demand for 

social work apprenticeships remained a challenge. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support responded 

that it was a multifaceted challenge that would require a greater 

number of teams and practice educators to build on. The service 

currently had the optimum amount of workers in training based on the 

size of the teams.  

 

24. The Committee enquired if a reduction in the number of posts within the service 

would result in a reduction of apprenticeships. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support responded 

that this wouldn’t be the case. 

 

25. The Committee enquired as to whether the service was engaging with and 

building links with young people through schools via work experience and mock 

interviews and suggested this might be a useful tool to encourage children to 

consider a career in the service. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

confirmed that the service was involved in work experience and 

running mock interviews with pupils from local schools. 

 

26. The Committee asked how much was being learned from exit interviews with 

departing staff and whether more work needed to be done in the area. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

stated that more work was needed in this area. A corporate exit 

survey was available to all staff and provided a limited degree of 

information. There was also an additional separate process for 

children services, whereby a principal social worker would meet with 

people exiting the service. A lack of principal social workers to carry 

out exit interviews had created a data gap, but this had now been 

rectified. Since January the retention rate for qualified social workers 

was at 94%, so there were only small number leaving, however the 

data gap had made it difficult to establish why those people had  left. 

 

27. The Committee suggested that, in reference to Appendix A, it might be helpful to 

provide target numbers required for social workers, team managers and other 

groups. 

 

28. The Committee asked for a background as to what drove the historic requirement 

for more agency staff. 

16

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50119673/Appendix%20A%20Agency%20and%20permanent%20workforce%20profile.pdf


 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support gave an 

overview of what had occurred in the service over the last three years, 

including challenging court and Ofsted judgements and the sudden 

departure of the senior leadership team, which resulted in caseload 

management problems. The situation had now calmed, caseload rates 

matched those of statistical neighbours and relations with the judiciary 

were healthy. 

 The Corporate Parenting and Improvement Boards were monitoring 

progress and the service was in a much better place than it had been 

two to three years ago. The service had stabilised and was now in a 

position where it could begin to focus on showing how improvements 

were impacting on families and children. 

 

29. The Committee asked whether the service benchmarked itself against local 

authorities that had turned around inadequate assessments. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that the service didn’t benchmark specifically against authorities that 

had turned around inadequate assessments, but did benchmark 

everything against statistical neighbours and English national 

averages. Consideration was always given to incorporating any 

reasonable and practical approach that had been adopted by 

surrounding authorities. 

 

30. The Committee asked if the strategy had been informed by the Leeds Council 

Recruitment and Retention Strategy. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that partners at Leeds Council had checked the strategy and hadn’t 

suggested any specific changes, but every general idea that had been 

put forward by partners from Leeds had been incorporated into the 

approach. 

 

31. The Committee asked if there was a capping agreement in place for agency fees. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

explained that the local authority was part of a memorandum of 

understanding, which involved local authorities coming together and 

agreeing a pay rate level they would not go beyond for agency 

workers, which stopped the authorities competing with each other. 

Due to exceptional circumstances Herefordshire local authority had 

had to agree an exemption from this with neighbours within the region, 

but the ambition was to revert to paying the agreed rate. 

 

32. The Committee asked if there were plans in place to reduce the amount of 

bureaucracy and paperwork that staff had to contend with. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained it 

was a paperwork intensive service. The Mosaic system (the Council’s 

care management system) had undergone an overhaul and business 

support was now assisting with tasks such as producing minutes for 

meetings. 

 The viability of using artificial intelligence-based note taking software 

was being investigated. A business support review was currently 

underway and staff feedback was being taken on board and 

implemented where appropriate. 

 

17



33. The Committee noted that staff voices had been involved in the development of 

the strategy, but enquired if and how the voices of children and young people had 

been involved. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that young people had not been involved, as the strategy was about 

workforce, but children had been involved in the development of other 

service strategies. 

 

34. The Committee asked if consideration had been given to writing the strategy to 

address children, as this had been used to powerful effect with certain Scottish 

Government national policies. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support noted this 

and agreed to consider such an approach. 

 

35. The Committee relayed concerns from foster carers that they didn’t feel like part 

of the team. The committee noted that foster carers were not employees, but 

asked whether some reference to foster carers might help them to feel more part 

of the team and also emphasise their importance to service staff. 

 The Cabinet Member for Children and Young People stated they 

would take that away for further discussion and that engagement with 

foster carers continued through events such as the Fostering 

Fortnight. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support pointed out 

that there was a recruitment strategy for foster carers and that there 

had been a recent needs analysis carried out by the Fostering 

Network, along with a diagnostic by the Department for Education, 

which would be brought together in one strategy and cascaded. 

 

36. The Committee suggested that it might be helpful to formally or informally 

acknowledge foster carers as an extension of the workforce and that it might be 

helpful in retaining foster families in the same way that the authority had done 

with its own employees. 

 

37. The committee suggested developing a term to help people differentiate between 

preventative early help and early help within the professional framework. 

 

38. The Committee enquired about what tools and information were available to staff 

to ensure that they always knew who was responsible for particular functions. It 

was asked if the information was maintained and updated in the information 

management systems that staff used to document cases, so they didn’t end up 

being unable to complete documentation because they didn’t have necessary 

information. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 
that the practice standards provided information about responsibilities 
and which manager or level of management needed to agree certain 
actions. In most instances decisions would be approved by the line 
manager of an individual, but in more nuanced situations the line 
manager might direct the decision to an appropriate manager or 
individual.   

 Guidance and practice standards were useful training tools and the 

practice standards document had recently been revised and was 

being cascaded out, however it was noted that a significant amount of 

learning came from engaging with others. 

 

18



39. The Committee asked if there was a disconnect between certain levels of 

management and staff, and if/how agile working had had an impact on 

professional relationships within the workplace.  

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that visibility played an important role in establishing relationships and 

understanding the managerial structure of the service. The nature of 

the work often necessitated an agile working approach, but there was 

an expectation that people would attend work in-person for at least 

two or three days a week depending on which role they held. 

Meetings, where possible, were also held in person. 

 Out of work team activities that developed during the Covid period, 

such as picnics and other team building activity, were encouraged. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that bringing people back into the office gave them an opportunity to 

discuss any wellbeing issues they were experiencing face-to-face and 

provided a potential pressure release mechanism for discussing any 

significant trauma. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

pointed out that the type of work dictated which location it was 

performed in, although the needs of the council, children and families 

would always come first. It was pointed out that the service had to 

offer flexible working arrangements for its workforce, because if it 

didn’t then other surrounding authorities would.   

 
40. The Committee suggested that recruitment campaigns should emphasise the 

development opportunities for potential recruits joining a service that was steadily 

improving from a historic position of being inadequate. 

 

41. The Committee suggested that a system of quality circles (where staff could talk 

freely and anonymously about workplace issues away from management) should 

be adopted to help gather meaningful feedback. 

 

42. The Committee asked about what methods were being used to publicise and 

highlight good news stories regarding improvements within the service. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

explained that the service was planning to recruit to a dedicated 

temporary role that would involve changing the public perception of 

the service and highlighting the positive improvements that had and 

were being made. 

 

43. The Committee asked about the impact of restorative practice on workforce 

demands and whether it had been built into the strategy. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support explained 

that restorative training session were being delivered in full and half 

day blocks and were run at different times to suit the needs of different 

workers. Sessions were being recorded so that staff could view them 

at their convenience. 

 Regarding impact, a review of a number of cases within the court and 

child protection services had found that some of the restorative 

practice was beginning to show through for families/children and that 

significant changes in work practice were in evidence. 

 There had been a notable reduction in the number of children on child 

protection plans, with more children being supported at a much earlier 

19



point in the process, which indicated the restorative practice was 

having a calming impact on the system. 

 Going forward the impact would be measured by both data and 

feedback from families. 

 

44. The Committee asked if the restorative practice had had a positive impact on 

culture within the workforce itself. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support highlighted 

the changes within group supervision, the way that managers were 

talking to others and a reduction in grievances, as positive signs that 

the restorative practice training was starting to have a positive impact 

on the workplace culture. It was acknowledged that there was still a 

long way to go in this area. 

 

45. The Committee enquired as to when the Improvement Plan rating for impact 

would change from red to demonstrate that tangible progress was being made. 

 The Service Director for Safeguarding and Family Support stated that 

the service had turned a corner and was definitely seeing better 

recruitment performance. It was anticipated that the move away from 

agency to permanent staff, along with expected positive feedback 

from families and the workforce should soon tangibly demonstrate the 

positive impact and change that had occurred within the service. Data 

showing how many children were being worked with restoratively and 

how many children were in a different part of the service would also 

act as a key indicator of impact. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

stated that there were three indicators that needed to be reported to 

the Improvement Board on and they were: the proportion of agency 

workers, the proportion of team managers that were permanent and 

caseloads. Once those three indicators were healthier, then that 

would have a positive impact on the Improvement Plan rating. 

 

46. The Committee stated that to assist in measuring and assessing the impact of 

strategies, it would be helpful to have a theory of change/logic model in place, 

which would monitor the path of changes, expectations and outcomes. It was 

pointed out that there was a Local Government Association guide available for 

using theory of change. 

 The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 

stated that the service didn’t currently use such models, but that the 

Committee could put that forward as a recommendation. 

 
At the conclusion of the debate, the committee discussed potential recommendations 
and the following resolutions were agreed. 
 
Resolved: That Herefordshire Council: 
 

1. identifies measures of success for each of the strands in the children and 

young people workforce strategy. 

2. makes clear the links between the council’s corporate workforce strategy 

and its children and young people workforce strategy. 

3. builds links with and invests in local schools and voluntary organisations 

to encourage people to consider children's services as a career. 

20



4. encourages people to consider switching careers to Herefordshire 

Council’s children and young people directorate. 

5. ensures that the voice of children informs the children and young people 

workforce strategy 

6. describes the link between activity, outputs, outcomes and impact of the 

workforce strategy in terms of a theory of change. 

 
8. WORK PROGRAMME   

 
The Statutory Scrutiny Officer explained that development of the work programme was 
ongoing, and that the final version would be available for the July 2024 meeting. 
 
In the meantime, a meeting would be taking place on 26 June 2024 with directors of the 
council, the leader of the council, the chief executive and the cabinet member for 
children and young people. The aim of the June meeting would be to get a sense of 
topics, objectives and expected outcomes for forthcoming committee meetings.   
 

9. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING   
 
Tuesday 30 July 2024, 2.00pm 
 

The meeting ended at 14:32 Chairperson 

21





 

Minutes of the meeting of Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Committee held at Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, 
Plough Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 0LE on Tuesday 7 May 2024 
at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Councillor Toni Fagan (Chairperson) 
Councillor Liz Harvey (Vice-chairperson, remote attendance) 

   
 Councillors: Robert Highfield, Jim Kenyon, Ben Proctor and Richard Thomas 

(substitute) 
 
Co-Opted: Sam Pratley (Diocese of Hereford), Anna Eccleston (Parent 
Governor Primary) 

 

  
In attendance: Councillor Ivan Powell (Cabinet Member Children and Young People) 
  
Officers: Simon Cann (Clerk/Democratic Services Officer), Gail Hancock (Service 

Director Corporate Parenting), Jaswinder McAndrew (Acting Head of Service 
Fostering & Adoption) and Danial Webb (Statutory Scrutiny Officer)   

196. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Clare Davies, Councillor Rob Williams, Jan Frances 
and Stuart Mitchell. 
 

197. NAMED SUBSTITUTES   
 
Councillor Richard Thomas substituted for Councillor Rob Williams. 
 

198. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

199. MINUTES   
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 March 2024 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairperson. 
 

200. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC   
 
Questions received and responses given are attached as appendix 1 to the minutes. 
 

201. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL   
 
No questions were received from members of the council. 
 

202. CHAIR UPDATE   
 
The Statutory Scrutiny Officer provided updates on: 
 

23



 30 May 2024 - a scrutiny day to consider the work of the council over the next 12 
months. 

 26 June 2024 - a thematic work programming meeting. 

 MASH visit with date to be confirmed. 
 

203. INTRODUCTION TO FOSTERING   
 
The Service Director for Corporate Parenting gave an overview of the report and 
presented a series of slides providing an introduction to fostering. The key areas covered 
during the presentation were: 

 

 Introduction to Herefordshire Fostering Service 

 Staffing in the Service 

 Service Re-Alignment 

 Fostering Recruitment and Assessment Team 

 Fostering Recruitment Developments 

 Connected Persons and Special Guardian Team 

 Fostering Support Team 

 The Home Finding Team 

 Herefordshire Fostering Panel 
 
The Chair invited comments and questions from The Committee, the principle points of 
discussion are summarised below: 
 

1. The Committee explained it had invited comments from foster carers, a sample 
part of a statement was read out, which highlighted the frustration of a foster 
carer couple who had handed their notice in due to their concerns about the 
handling of children’s care not being listened to or acted on.  

2. The Committee raised concerns about approved carers with no placements being 
ready to go, but not getting any placements, and raised the question of who was 
responsible for placement allocation and how the process worked. 

3. The Committee suggested that the voice of the carer was not always heard and 
that there were historic instances involving complaints where the word of children 
and social workers had been believed over foster carers with 30 years of 
fostering experience. 

4. The Committee emphasised the need for additional fostering support workers. 
5. The Committee highlighted a need to ensure that the system for council tax 

exemption for kinship carers treated existing carers fairly and that kinship carers 
were paid a fair amount for the work they carried out. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained that the issues 
around council tax exemption for kinship carers had been brought to their 
attention two days after starting in the role on 8 April 2024. Meetings 
regarding how to address the differentials between kinship and foster 
carer council tax exemptions had taken place with the chief executive and 
cabinet member and a report on the matter was expected on 16 May 
2024. 

o The Service Director expressed disappointment at the negative feedback 
the Committee had received from foster carers. A number of consultation 
groups had been held during the drafting of the improvement plan and it 
was acknowledged that improvements and developments were starting 
from a very low base. 

o The Service Director pointed out that the previous Interim Head of Service 
had met with as many foster carers as was possible in order to hear 
directly from them. This information had been escalated and it was 
acknowledged that there was a real need to rebuild trust and confidence 
within the service. 

24

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50118501/Appendix%201%20Introduction%20to%20Fostering%20Presentation.pdf


o Rebuilding trust and confidence in the service was an ongoing process 
and feedback would continue to be invited. Assurance was given that 
when difficult truths were highlighted the service would listen to and 
respond to them. 

o Supervising social workers who are qualified social workers were 
expected as a national minimum requirement, but the service had and 
was looking to recruit additional support workers. 

6. The Committee enquired about how the ratios of permanent/agency social 
workers and support workers were determined. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained that the case load 
of a supervising social worker was set around the number of approved 
foster care households that the service needed to provide support for. 

o The Service Director pointed out that a workforce strategy was in place 
and one of its aims was to stabilise the fostering service with a view to 
greatly increasing the percentage of permanent staff from the current 
figure of 65%. 

o The Cabinet Member for Children and Young People pointed out that 
there were ongoing considerations and discussions about the profile of 
the workforce, including the numbers and mix of qualified social workers 
and family support workers. The number and mix correlated to the current 
workload and social workers had to be involved in particular cases in 
certain circumstances. 

o The Cabinet Member explained that the best way to get the balance and 
mix of the workers right was to make sure that caseloads were 
appropriate and manageable. 

o For the purpose of clarity the Service Director for Corporate Parenting 
highlighted the distinction between supervising social workers for foster 
carers, and social workers allocated to children. 

o It was noted that in the fostering service there were social workers who 
were dedicated to the support and supervision of foster carers and foster 
carer households, these were separate to the allocated social workers for 
the children and young people in the council’s care. National minimum 
standards required that supervising social workers were allocated where 
required, whereas support workers were not required in the same way - 
although the service was attempting to develop these roles. 

7. The Committee noted concerns that kinship carers were not always as prepared 
for their role as foster carers and needed as much support as was available. 

8. The Committee applauded the work of the fostering social workers it had met 
through Fostering Panel meetings, but identified a problem regarding 
communications and liaisons between social workers for children and social 
workers for fosterers. 

9. The Committee highlighted concerns about the correct channels for passing on 
information that the Fostering Panel came across that was important, but outside 
of its remit. 

10. The Committee raised concerns about how and why certain factors, such as 
housing, influenced decisions made in relation to the approval of foster carers.  

11. The Committee explained it had been asked by members of the fostering panel 
to enquire about further detail regarding the Fostering Recruitment Strategy. 

12. The Committee noted that the Fostering Panel did not have a permanent base 
and asked if the service could invest in providing a home for the Fostering Panel, 
which could be used not just for panel meetings, but also meeting carers, liaison 
meetings and training sessions. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained that part of the 
role of the Panel Advisor was about ensuring liaison and communication 
between the panel and the service took place, including training needs of 
the panel members and the recruitment programme. The Interim Head of 

25



Service for Fostering would be working closely with the Panel Advisor to 
ensure there was clear communication between all parties. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained that there were 
national minimum standards for approving foster carers and all local 
authorities would need to ensure that those standards were met, 
examples would include factors such as household type and bedroom 
space. However the service would always be open to feedback about how 
the standards were being applied. 

13. The committee highlighted that there could be a potential power imbalance 
between foster carers and the service, which prevented the carers coming 
forward with issues. 

14. The Committee enquired as to what mechanisms, such as foster carer trade 
union recognition, were in place for foster carers to raise concerns? 

o The Interim Head of Service for Fostering explained that there were foster 
carer representatives who met with her, team managers and fostering 
team managers on a monthly basis to take questions, queries and 
concerns from foster carers. 

o Carer representatives meetings took place on every third Thursday of the 
month, the service was focused on building these relationships with a 
view to having representatives involved in planning events, taking part in 
recruitment campaigns and being ambassadors. 

o The service also held an all-foster carer meeting every two months, where 
foster carers could meet with the service, suggest and discuss agenda 
items and share any concerns they had. 

15. The Committee pointed out that it had been told one of the foster carer 
representatives was leaving because their concerns were not be listened to and 
asked how many people had left the fostering service in the last 12 months and 
how many had been recruited. 

o The Interim Head of Service for Fostering explained they didn’t have the 
exact figures to hand and would get back to the Committee with that data. 

16. The Committee raised concerns that it had heard carers and representatives 
leaving the service were not being thanked for their work or asked why they were 
leaving and what could be done to make them stay. 

17. The Committee expressed an interest in attending a foster carer representative 
meeting in the future. 

18. The Committee noted there was foster carer conference due to be held at the 
Shell Stores on 15 May 2024. 

19. The Committee enquired if there had been any external support in the review of 
the fostering service and had there been any feedback or an action plan coming 
from it. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting said there had recently been 
feedback from a Department for Education funded piece of research 
called ‘Fostering Link Service’. 

o An independent consultant undertook a diagnostic review of fostering 
specifically in relation to recruitment and approval, the service expected a 
written report from this review, which would form the basis of a refresh of 
the fostering recruitment pathway and programme. 

20. The Committee enquired if the service was aware of work being done by other 
local authorities that could be used as a best practice benchmark for retention of 
existing foster carers. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting referred back to the 
Department of Education funded research and explained that phase two 
would allow the service to obtain support and intervention to assist in 
addressing any issues that had been raised.  This would include adopting 
examples of best practice from other places to refresh and revise the 
service’s approach. 

26



21. The Committee asked if there had been any input from partners at Leeds Council 
in relation to fostering. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting said Leeds would be 
supporting implementation of any recommendations coming out of the 
Department for Education diagnostic review. 

22. The Committee enquired, whether there was a way of knowing if children in the 
care of the service were safe. 

23. The Committee asked if there was any evidence to support the idea that in-house 
care was better than using external agencies and sought assurance that value for 
money wasn’t being put ahead of securing the right placement for individuals. 

24. The Committee asked why more people were prepared to lend their services to 
an external agency rather than the local authority, was it about money or the 
image of the local authority. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained that in terms of 
safeguarding, the service had received four Ofsted monitoring visits that 
had reviewed quality assurance and case work in respect of children and 
people in the council’s care - none of those visits led to cases being 
escalated due to safeguarding concerns. Independent Reviewing Officers 
also reviewed care plans and placements of children. 

o It was pointed out that in relation to decisions being made, value for 
money was a factor, but it was not the only factor and considering the 
profile of the needs, risks and circumstances of a child drove the search 
for an appropriate match with a foster carer. Value for money was a 
consideration, but the needs of the child would always be paramount. 

o Where possible, needs of the child would be met by in-house foster 
carers, but there were some circumstances where needs could not be 
met in-house and external provision would be used.  

25. The Committee enquired as to whether children being cared for by external 
providers were on the services radar. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting assured the Committee that 
children in a care placement with an independent fostering agency would 
receive the same standards in respect of being allocated a social worker 
and dedicated Independent Reviewing Officer. There was no differential 
that would adversely impact a child placed with an external provider. 

26. The Committee asked for details about foster care for children that came from out 
of county. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained that if children 
were fostered with an independent fostering agency in Herefordshire, the 
statutory responsibility for that child’s care would remain with their placing 
local authority, it would not transfer to Herefordshire. There were formal 
statutory notifications for when Herefordshire would place a child in care 
in another local authority and vice versa. 

27. The Committee asked what actions were taken following feedback obtained from 
foster carers acquired during the drafting of the Improvement Plan in2022, and 
how might existing foster carers see things as being different because of those 
actions. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained that following the 
feedback, foster carer and foster carer representative meetings, 
newsletters and a tighter training programmes had been put in place and 
that there had been nothing like that back in 2022. 

o The key elements of a framework of support were missing/fractured back 
in 2022 and these had now been put in place. However, the service 
director acknowledged that many foster carers would still need to 
experience the changes before being able to move forward. Foster care 
ambassadors and champions would help with this process, but there was 
still much work to do. 

27



o The Interim Head of Service for Fostering pointed to the recommissioning 
of  HIPPS (Herefordshire Intensive Placement Support Service), which 
was providing a service called ‘Safer Connections’ that offers a broad 
intensive therapeutic service to support foster carers and children in their 
care. 

o There had been agreement for a psychologist to be recruited within the 
fostering service, so that children who couldn’t receive support from 
CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services) could receive 
help. 

28. The Committee enquired about the mechanisms in place to enable two-way 
channels of communication between the voice of the carer/voice of the child with 
the service. 

29. The Committee asked about what kind of wraparound service was available for 
carers/children experiencing problems outside of normal working hours. 

30. The Committee enquired about the outcomes of reviews of the Fostering Service 
Capacity and Capability and the Sufficiency Strategy as referenced in the 
Improvement Plan from November 2023. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained that the outcome 
of the workforce review was about addressing the instability within the 
fostering service workforce, the strategy had been about building the 
permanent workforce in order to grow stability and use that as a platform 
to recruit additional permanent staff. Permanence within the management 
group was also expected to push things forward in terms of recruiting 
permanent practitioners. Internal processes to support the payment of 
external providers had been addressed and strengthened, which had 
historically been a cause of problems. 

o The sufficiency strategy had explored in-house residential provision, a 
tendering process had progressed and by January/February 2025 there 
should be some in-house residential provision. 

o The Interim Head of Service for Fostering pointed out that in relation to 
the Sufficiency Strategy the service had been looking at its marketing 
strategy to see how it could improve the number of foster carers. This 
included targeted marketing campaigns, virtual information meetings, 
local events and increasing visibility via improved standing within Google 
searches. 

o It was pointed out that the service now had a marketing officer. 
31. The Committee were pleased to see a specific page on the council’s website 

encouraging people from the LGBTQ+ community to consider becoming foster 
carers and suggested that the invitation and encouragement could be extended 
to other minority groups. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting pointed out that 
Herefordshire Council was a fostering friendly employer and that it would 
be good to encourage large employers from, for the private, health and 
police sectors to consider becoming fostering friendly as well - to promote 
and encourage as much diversity as possible within the local community. 

32. The Committee requested that an account of the 7 May meeting be provided to 
social workers in the Herefordshire Council fostering service. 

33. The Committee suggested that an elected member be appointed as a fostering 
champion to represent foster carers and act as a trusted representative inside 
and outside of the council who would provide foster carers with a voice. 

34. The Committee noted that there were currently 168 fostering households in the 
county and wanted to understand what the target was for the next few years. 

o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting explained the target for new 
fostering households was six per quarter/24 per year. 

35. The Committee raised concerns about the potential disconnect between the 
marketing officer and corporate resources. 

28



o The Service Director for Corporate Parenting gave an assurance that the 
strategy ensured there was built in connectivity between the marketing 
officer and corporate communications team. 

36. The Committee noted the work done by the Diocese of Hereford in recruiting 334 
host families in 18 months to provide 800 adults and 370 children from the 
Ukraine with a place to live. It was suggested that although the setup and 
requirements were different, the service could look at how those families were 
recruited in such quick time and if that model of recruitment could provide 
lessons for the fostering service. It was also suggested that the service could 
investigate approaching the 334 families to see if they would be interested in 
fostering in the future. 

37. The Committee asked if The Interim Head of Service for Fostering had any final 
comments before closing the item. 

o The Interim Head of Service for Fostering acknowledged the difficulties of 
the past and hoped that the service could move forward and meet the 
challenges discussed in the meeting.  
 

Resolved: The committee voted unanimously to recommend that Herefordshire 
Council: 
 
1. Appoints and promotes an elected member champion for foster carers. 
 
2. Works with the Diocese of Hereford to promote fostering to families who had 
accommodated Ukrainian families. 
 
3. Works with the Diocese of Hereford to learn lessons from their successful 
accommodation of Ukrainian families. 
 
4. Provides an account of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee of 7 
May 2024 to social workers in the fostering service. 
 
5. Provides a permanent home for the fostering panel and related activities. 
 
6. Amends its internet pages to ensure that the council encourages recruitment of 
foster parents from a diverse range of foster carer households. 
 

204. WORK PROGRAMME   
 
The committee would be holding a work programming session on 26 June 2024. 
 

205. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING   
 
Thursday 13 June 2024, 2pm 
 

206. APPENDIX 1. PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND RESPONSES AND SUPPLEMENTARY 
QUESTIONS AND RESPONSES   
 

Questioner: Anonymous, Herefordshire 

Scrutiny Meeting: 7 May 2024 

Question:  Are Herefordshire Children’s Services biased towards mum and why do dads 
not get the same help and support that mum's do? 

Response: The Children Act 1989 refers to parents, not mothers or fathers. The 
assessment of parents is determined by their capacity to meet the needs of their 
children. Help and support provided by Children’s Services should be inclusive of both 
fathers and mothers.  
There is a positive impact on children when fathers have a positive and caring 
relationships with them so it is important to promote a ‘Think Family’ approach whereby 

29



the inclusion of fathers, as well as mothers, will help to achieve the best outcomes for 
the children.  
In practice, this means a child’s father should be encouraged to engage and participate 
in assessments, planning and reviews about help and support. Children’s Services do 
not consciously seek to disadvantage fathers or show unfair bias towards mothers at the 
expense of father and if there is a cause for concern it should be raised with the 
allocated social worker and their line manager so this can be considered and addressed. 

  

Questioner: Ms Maggie Steel, Hereford 

Scrutiny Meeting: 7 May 2024  

Question: If a member of the public has safeguarding concerns over a foster carer or a 
kinship carer, is the fostering panel made aware of those concerns? 

Response: The Fostering Panel promotes safe, secure and stable placements. It carries 
out a rigorous quality assurance function and promotes thorough assessments, support 
and training for foster carers. As part of this function, the panel oversees the conduct of 
assessments and annual reviews of approved foster carers. 
Any allegations about safeguarding concerns in respect of a foster carer, including a 
kinship carer (also known as ‘Connected’ or ‘Family and Friends Carers), raised by 
anyone, including a member of the public, will be responded to in accordance with 
established multi-agency Child Protection Procedures to ensure the safety and wellbeing 
of children. The Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) will also work with multi-
agency partners and employers, to manage allegations about people who work with 
children in paid or unpaid positions, including foster carers.  
Allegations made about foster carers will necessitate an early fostering review and the 
matter being referred to the Fostering Panel to consider the continuing suitability to 
foster. The supervising social worker for the foster carer and/or the children’s allocated 
social worker will inform the Fostering Panel about safeguarding issues regarding the 
foster carer for the Fostering Panel to consider during the foster carer’s annual review. 
The Fostering Panel can subsequently make a recommendation to the Agency Decision 
Maker which could include the recommendation to terminate the foster carer’s approval.  
 

  

Questioner: Ms Donna Conway, Leominster 

Scrutiny Meeting: 7 May 2024 

Question:  On page 6 of the presentation about fostering in Herefordshire it states this:  
 

"Development of the recruitment strategy through the successful retention of 

current Foster Carers who will champion and promote becoming a Herefordshire 

Foster Carer, including a £500 referral scheme for Foster Carers." 

 

What assessment procedures and safeguards are in place to ensure that all foster 

carers and kinship carer applicants, those selected and retained are safe to care for 

children? 

 

Response: The recruitment of foster carers is in line with the Department of Education’s 
Fostering Services National Minimum Standards. Careful recruitment and regular 
monitoring of carers by our Fostering Service is designed to prevent unsuitable carers 
from being recruited and having the opportunity to harm children or to place them at risk.  
The relevant authorities are informed of any concerns about inappropriate adults. The 
recruitment, assessment, preparation, training and support of foster carers by our 
Fostering Service has a strong focus on child protection and keeping children safe, 
including help to ensure that children living in foster homes are safe, and feel safe. 
Foster carers are reviewed annually by the Fostering Panel who will make appropriate 
recommendations to the Agency Decision Maker.  

  

30



Questioner: Ms Reid, Hereford 

Scrutiny Meeting: 7 May 2024 

Question: I refer the presentation ‘An introduction to Fostering’ (Agenda Item 8).  

According to a Freedom of Information request the average cost of one child in care for 

one year was in January 2023: 

  

 In-house Fostering: over £16,000 

 Private Fostering (Independent Fostering Agencies, IFAs): over £46,000 

 Children's homes: over £260,000 

  

It is very likely that costs have increased since then. 

  

I understand that in Herefordshire the rate of children privately fostered is high compared 

with rate of “Statistical Neighbours” or nationally. Also, the rates of looked-after children 

and children in children’s homes are high. 

  

Inter alia, looked-after children's costs can be reduced by reuniting children with their 

families and encouraging private fosterers to become in-house fosterers.  How will the 

council reduce the costs? 

 

Response: We currently have only one child who is subject to ‘Private Fostering’. This is 
not high; our numbers remain very low, and we suspect this is due to under-reporting 
which is a challenge for many local authorities and partnerships.  ‘Private Fostering’ is a 
different arrangement to that of a looked after child. A privately fostered child is a child 
under 16 (or 18 if disabled) who is cared for by an adult who is not a parent, 
grandparent, aunt, uncle, stepparent (including civil partnerships), sister or brother where 
the child is to be cared for in that person's home for 28 days or more. These placements 
are subject to checks to ensure the child is safe; Private Fostering arrangements are not 
paid for by the Local Authority.  
Our current Placement Sufficiency Strategy seeks to recruit more local in-house foster 
carers and improve working relationships with providers in order to increase choice and 
value for money. We are also seeking prevent children entering care with expansion and 
development of our Edge of Care and Home (ECHO) Service.  

Whilst Children’s Services seeks to manage children’s placements as part of the agreed 
financial savings strategy for 2024/25, it is important to ensure that the needs, risks and 
circumstances of children are paramount and that, where possible, we continue to 
reunify children with their families, where it is safe to do so. In the last year, 22 children 
have been reunified with their parents. A further 22 children are living with their parents 
under a Care Order (Placement with Parents Regulations). These children's plans are 
subject to ongoing review and, when it is appropriate to do so, we will apply to the court 
for a discharge of their care orders. 

 
 

Questioner: Ms Maggie Steel 

Scrutiny Meeting: 7 May 2024  

Supplementary Question: 
The Department of Education’s National Minimum Standards on Adoption/Fostering 
services (Standard 14, 4.3) requires a fostering service provider, such as Herefordshire 
Council, to provide to the Fostering Panel all information needed about a foster carer 
so they can make an informed decision.  
 
4.3 All necessary information is provided to panel members…. to enable full and proper 
consideration 
 

31



Where the public is concerned that Herefordshire Council has failed to provide “all 
necessary information” to the panel, or has provided false information, how can the 
public contact panel members to raise their concerns?  

Response: The fostering panel is an independently chaired, closed panel. Members of 
the public are not able to contact the panel directly or attend it, unless they are invited to 
do so in respect of their own foster care approval or review. 

 
 
 

Questioner: Ms Donna Conway, Leominster 

Scrutiny Meeting: 7 May 2024  

Supplementary Question: 
If the Police were to make an urgent MASH referral about an approved foster carer 
because of concerns the police held about the risk of child sexual abuse to the children 
in his/her care, is the Foster Panel made aware of those police concerns, and if so, are 
these concerns mediated to the Foster Panel by the LA’s social workers or by the police 
directly?  

Response: Local safeguarding partners, including the Police, process responses to 
safeguarding referrals via the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH). Agency checks 
and child protection enquiries will be undertaken in accordance with established child 
protection procedures upon receipt of concerns and allegations. The Local Authority 
Designated Officer (LADO) will also be involved in co-ordinating a response about an 
adult who works with children, in a paid or unpaid capacity, when there is concern they 
may have behaved in a way that caused harm to a child. The Fostering Panel is made 
aware of relevant findings which may affect the Foster Carer’s approval status and 
regular reviews are also undertaken on an annual basis. 

 
 

Questioner: Ms Reid, Hereford 

Scrutiny Meeting: 7 May 2024  

Supplementary Question: 
My original public question included: 

 

“… the average cost of one child in care for one year was in January 2023: 

 

• In-house Fostering: over £16,000 

• Private Fostering (Independent Fostering Agencies, IFAs): over £46,000” 

 

And: 

 

“I understand that in Herefordshire the rate of children privately fostered is high 

compared with rate of “Statistical Neighbours” or nationally.” 

 

The response stated: 

 

“We currently have only one child who is subject to ‘Private Fostering’.” 

 

To clarify, I understand that the rate of children placed with Independent Fostering 

Agencies by Herefordshire Council is higher than the rate of similar areas.   

 

This suggests poor working relationships etc with past, potential, and current in-house 

foster carers.  How will the rate of in-house foster carers be increased at pace? 

 

Response: To confirm, Private Fostering and Independent Fostering Agency (IFAs) 

arrangements are not the same. The response to this supplementary question assumes 

32



that the focus is actually about the use of IFAs, as opposed to Private Fostering. 

Performance data shared with Scrutiny Committee members on 7 May 2024, reported 

that there were; 

 

•386 children in our care, and of these: 

-78 were cared for by Kinship/Connected Carers (20%) 

-204 were cared for by Foster Carers (53%), of which 95 were with in-house 

carers; and 109 were with IFAs 

 

The supplementary question asserts that the number of children being cared for by IFAs 

indicates a poor working relationship with in-house foster carers, in the past, currently 

and in respect of potential new Foster Carers. It is acknowledged that after the Ofsted 

inspection in July 2022, rebuilding trust and confidence with Herefordshire’s approved 

foster carers was a priority, and continues to be so. 

 

Progress has been made during the intervening period and the recent Foster Carer 

Fortnight which took place between 13 to 26 May2024, received very positive feedback 

about the programme of events and activities. This included the Annual Foster Carer 

Conference, the first for several years, which received a very positive evaluation from 

Foster Carers. By harnessing a more relational and restorative approach, the Fostering 

Service is demonstrating its commitment to working collaboratively and harnessing the 

knowledge, skills and experience of our Foster Carers. Evidence shows that Foster 

Carers are some of the most effective fostering champions who can encourage and 

support others to begin fostering. 

 

There are several enquiries, assessments and approvals currently going through the 
process to meet the annual target. The existing Foster Carer Recruitment Campaign is 
being refreshed with the benefit of Department for Education (DfE) funded research, 
which provided an independent diagnostic about Herefordshire’s Foster Care recruitment 
and approval practice. Phase 1 of this research has already provided beneficial feedback 
and recommendations and Phase 2 will offer best practice support and intervention, 
which is currently being negotiated. It is anticipated that this will provide independent 
expertise and support to assist the Fostering Service to maintain focus and develop at 
pace. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 16:50 Chairperson 

33





 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Maxine David, Caroline Marshall, Tina Russell, email: maxine.david@herefordshire.gov.uk, 

caroline.marshall3@herefordshire.gov.uk, tina.russell@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Title of report: Families Commission 
Update 
 

Meeting: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Meeting date: Tuesday 30 July 2024 

Report by:  Corporate Director Children's and Young People 

Classification 

Open   

Decision type 

 
This is not an executive decision 

Wards affected  

(All Wards); 

Purpose  

To provide a progress update on the Families Commission report considerations.   
 

Recommendation(s) 

That: 

a) The Children and Young Peoples Scrutiny Committee receive an update on the 
considerations that were outlined in the Families Commission report, and  

b) The committee determine any recommendations it wishes to make to relevant bodies to 
secure further improvements in safeguarding children and young people in Herefordshire 

 

Alternative options 

1. There are no alternative options as the committee requested a progress update on the Families 
Commission report considerations.  

Key considerations 

2. Herefordshire Council Children’s Services were inspected by Ofsted in July 2022 and found to 
be inadequate across each area of the inspection framework. The inspection report was 

35

AGENDA ITEM 8



published on 21 September 2022 and a Statutory Notice was issued by the Department for 
Education.  

3. As part of the statutory notice, a Children’s Commissioner was appointed to review the council’s 
capacity and capability to improve services within a reasonable timeframe. The Commissioner’s 
report was published on 1 March 2023 and included several considerations, including the need 
for the council to resolve, as far as is possible, all outstanding historic complaints.  

4. Whilst the review was being undertaken from September to December 2022, the Children’s 
Commissioner became aware of a number of families with longstanding concerns about their 
experience of Herefordshire Children’s Services, some from several years ago and some more 
recent. Many families had complained and also raised questions at public council meetings and 
families continued to feel that their views were not listened to or responded to and they felt this 
had consequences for their families.  

5. The Families Commission was initiated by Eleanor Brazil, Herefordshire Children’s 
Commissioner and taken forward by the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership.  

6. The purpose of the Commission was to give these families an opportunity to be heard by an 
independent panel and share their experiences to inform the learning about how Herefordshire 
Children’s Services needs to improve. 

7. The terms of reference for the Commission set its purpose as follows: 

A. To give parents and families an opportunity to tell their story to an independent panel.  

B. To identify any steps that the Council and partners can and should take as a result of 
hearing families’ testimonies, either in relation to individual cases or in respect of 
general issues.  

C. To learn from their experiences and to ensure that this knowledge is used to inform 
improvements to Children’s Services.  

D. To ensure that, as far as possible, families feel that their concerns have been heard 
and addressed, and that this is as much as can be done to resolve matters 

8. At the conclusion of the Commission, the independent panel report posed seven questions to 
the council and the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children’s Partnership. These were: 

A. How will the Council and its partners provide a meaningful and responsive early help 
service which is accessible to families, regardless of which agency they contact first for 
help?  

B. How will the Council support its social workers to practise in ways that demonstrate 
empathy, perseverance, authority, professional confidence and capability; working with 
people to enable full participation in discussions and decision making?  

C. How will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership ensure that professionals 
are working together in the best interests of children and their families, to the highest 
standards of professional practice, informed by good quality research and evidence?  

D. What actions will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership take to satisfy itself 
that there is good understanding across all ‘frontline’ agencies of domestic violence and 
abuse and its impact on individuals and families?  

36

https://www.herefordshiresafeguardingboards.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/6.6.23-Herefordshire-Commission-Final-Report.pdf


E. How will Herefordshire Children’s Services support social workers to establish and 
maintain the trust and confidence of parents and families and enable their participation in 
planning to keep their children safe and promote their wellbeing?  

F. What will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership do to promote a Think 
Family approach across the partnership?  

G. What will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership do to ensure that the 
complaints procedures in every agency across the partnership are accessible to families, 
work well, and findings are recorded and acted on? 

9. On 26 September 2023, the children and young people’s Scrutiny Committee discussed the 
Families Commission report findings and key questions for consideration and provided the 
following update against progress, which can be viewed  on the council’s website. 

10. Herefordshire Children’s Services have continued to undertake work around the seven 
considerations and the latest progress against the considerations as of the 26 June 2024 can be 
viewed in Appendix A.  

11. Alongside the work that has been undertaken to address the key consideration questions, there 
have been further follow up meetings with families who attended the Commission to further 
address questions that related directly to the families. For those families where additional 
questions were raised by the chair of the independent panel directly to the local authority, further 
meetings were offered to families by the Leader of the Council, The Lead Member for Children’s 
Services, the Chief Executive of Herefordshire Council and the Corporate Director for Children 
and Young people.  

12. A number of families attended further meetings represented by the Service Director for 
Improvement, the Leader of the Council and the Lead Member for Children’s Services. Each 
meeting clarified a number of issues, concerns and ‘bottom lines’ which were subsequently 
followed up to resolve relevant matters for individual families. 

13. The Phase 2 Improvement Plan has incorporated all ongoing work coming from this review. The 
Phase 2 Improvement Plan includes a range of opportunities for children, families and the public 
to continue to feedback on their experiences of Herefordshire Children’s Services and to engage 
in the development of services, as we continue our improvement journey and remain committed 
to being a learning organisation.  The improvement board is due to share Phase 2 Improvement 
Plan in September with scrutiny on the 16 September 2024 and cabinet on the 26 September 
2024. 

14. The Working together to safeguard children guidance as seen in Appendix B was revised and 
published in December 2023. This document sets out how partners should work together and 
with families to protect children from harm and promote their welfare. As part of our 
implementation of this new version we will be seeking to engage service users, parents and our 
community to work with us on the development of our ‘levels of need’. Understanding what they 
think appropriate levels of intervention are and look like as we carry out, not only our duty to 
protect, as outlined in the Children Act 1989. Our vision and commitment is to ensure families 
receive early support first and at the right time. Our work with families from early help through to 
child protection and care is based within a restorative practice model and is an important part of 
our work for the forthcoming year. Families involved with the Families Commission will be invited 
to join the Corporate Director of Children Services and safeguarding strategic partnership to feed 
into this final piece of work. 

37

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=954&MeetingId=9149
https://www.herefordshiresafeguardingboards.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/6.6.23-Herefordshire-Commission-Final-Report.pdf
file://///hc-modgov1/mgReportDbDocs/5/7/8/R00003875/Appendix%20A%20-%20Family%20Commission%20Progress%20Report%20-%20June%202024.pdf
file:///C:/Users/tina.russell/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Scruinty%20Reports/Appendix%20A.pdf
file://///hc-modgov1/mgReportDbDocs/5/7/8/R00003875/Appendix%20D%20-%20Working_together_to_safeguard_children_2023_-_statutory_guidance.pdf


Community Impact 

15. The Families Commission was set up as a result of the recommendations of the Children’s 
Commissioner and the Statutory Improvement Notice issued by the Department for Education. 
Feedback from the Commission which informed improvement in Herefordshire Children’s 
Services, which has a direct and indirect effect on the lives of both current and future children 
and families in Herefordshire 

16. The Council Plan 2024–2028 includes the ambition to support all children to have the best start 
in life. Sometimes children and families need our help. We are committed to improving Children’s 
Services and providing support to families who need it.  

Environmental Impact 

 

17. There are no specific environmental impacts arising from this report  

 

Equality duty 

 

18. Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is set out as 
follows:  

 
 A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to – 
 

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited 
by or under this Act; 

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

19. The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can positively 
contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and demonstrate that we are 
paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the delivery of services. 
Whilst this is an update to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committees and will in itself 
have minimal equalities impacts, consideration has been made in the consideration of Executive 
decisions and the Executive Responses provided by the Cabinet. 

Resource implications 

20. There are no direct resource implications arising from this report which is for information and 
discussion. 

Legal implications 

21. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report which is for information and 
discussion.  

38

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/26537/herefordshire-council-plan-2024-28


Risk management 

 
22. There are no specific risks directly associated with activity referred to in this report. The 

Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership and Herefordshire Children’s Services each 
maintain their own risk registers.   

 

Consultees 

 

23. None 

Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Families Commission Progress Report  
Appendix B – Working together to safeguard Children 
 

Background papers 

 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 26.09.2023 

Report Reviewers Used for appraising this report:  
 
 

Please note this section must be completed before the report can be published 

 

Governance  John Coleman    Date 15/07/2024 

Finance   Judith Tranmer   Date 15/07/2024  

Legal    Tess Burgess    Date 15/07/2024  

Communications  Michala Lee    Date 14/07/2024  

Equality Duty  Harriet Yellin    Date 15/07/2024 

Procurement   N/A     Date N/A 

Risk   Elizabeth Freedland   Date 09/07/2024  

 

Approved by  Click or tap here to enter text. Date Click or tap to enter a date. 

 

 

Glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this report. 
 
 

39

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50112880/Appendix%201.%20The%20arrangements%20and%20findings%20of%20the%20Families%20Commission.pdf




Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

1 
 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL CHILDREN’S SERVICES  

FAMILIES COMMISSION FOLLOW UP PROGRESS AND FINDINGS SUMMARY 

REPORT 

JUNE 2024 

Foreword 

 

I first want to express my sincere thanks and gratitude to the families involved in this 

comprehensive piece of work. I’m grateful for the time and energy spent sharing your individual 

experiences. We have listened to your experiences and have been able to understand how 

our interventions were received and we have been able to reflect and learn how we can do 

things better.  

 

The progress report sets out an overview of what has been undertaken in relation to the 

considerations made by the review and I am pleased to confirm that such a comprehensive 

programme of work is under way to meet the considerations made. All specific work and 

activities now ongoing as part of our work have been incorporated into the phase 2 of our 

improvement plan which will be shared publically in September 2024. 

 

Importantly our phase 2 plan retains as a priority the value of hearing the children, young 

person and family experiences and understanding the impact and outcome of our work. This 

has been developed in our quality assurance framework that is and will continue to be 

developed in every service area as we continue our improvement journey. 

 

On behalf of Herefordshire Council, once again we would also like to extend our thanks to 

you, and other families, for coming forward and sharing your experiences. 

 

Paul Walker – Chief Executive Herefordshire Council 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1  The ‘Report of the Commission to Consider Families’ Experiences of Children’s 

Services in Herefordshire’ was published on the Herefordshire Safeguarding 

Children’s Partnership (HSCP) web site in June 2023; 

Report of the Commission to Consider Families’ Experience of Children’s Services in 

Herefordshire (herefordshiresafeguardingboards.org.uk) 

1.2  The Families’ Commission was initiated by Eleanor Brazil, Herefordshire Children’s 

Commissioner, having become aware of a number of families who had significant 

concerns about their experiences of Children’s Services, and the consequences for 

their families. A number of families approached her directly with details of their specific 

circumstances. Many had attended council and public meetings to raise their concerns 

publicly or had written and made complaints to their local MPs and Councillors. 

Recognising the urgent need to restore confidence and learn from what had happened 

in past years, and to try and resolve issues for families, the Commissioner proposed 

establishing the Commission to give an opportunity for families to be heard by an 

independent panel and for their experiences to inform the learning about what needs 

to improve. 

 

1.3  The terms of reference for the Commission set out its purpose as follows; 

41

https://www.herefordshiresafeguardingboards.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/6.6.23-Herefordshire-Commission-Final-Report.pdf
https://www.herefordshiresafeguardingboards.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/6.6.23-Herefordshire-Commission-Final-Report.pdf


Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

2 
 

 To give parents and families an opportunity to tell their story to an independent panel.  

 To identify any steps that the Council and partners can and should take as a result of 

hearing families’ testimonies, either in relation to individual cases or in respect of 

general issues.  

 To learn from their experiences and to ensure that this knowledge is used to inform 

improvements to Children’s Services.  

 To ensure that, as far as possible, families feel that their concerns have been heard 

and addressed, and that this is as much as can be done to resolve matters. 

1.4  There were three independent panel members who sat for ten days during March and 

April 2023. What every family member expressed was the desire to ensure that their 

painful personal experiences should be used to improve services for everyone and 

ensure that ‘nobody else should ever have to go through what I have gone through.’ 

1.5  At the conclusion of the Commission, the independent panel report posed seven 

questions to the Council and the HSCP. On 26 September 2023, Children’s Services 

presented an update on progress to the Children and Young People Scrutiny 

Committee.  

Appendix 1. The arrangements and findings of the Families Commission.pdf 

(herefordshire.gov.uk). 

2.0 Follow up Activity with Families 

2.1  There were several parents, presenting as individuals or as couples, who made 

representation to the Families Commission in person and/or through written testimony. 

2.2  Prior to the publication of the Families’ Commission report several families received 

letters from the Service Director (Improvement) on behalf of Children’s Services 

Directorate Leadership Team to address specific questions or queries that had been 

raised by the chair of the independent panel, Karen Manners, on behalf of individual 

families. Copies of the response letters were shared with Karen Manners, Eleanor 

Brazil and Darryl Freeman, former Director of Children’s Services (DCS), before they 

were sent to the parents and families. In total, out of the 19 parent/families who made 

representation to the Families’ Commission, there were 11 who received a letter 

addressing specific questions and queries.  

2.3  In May 2023, following the outcome of local elections there was a change in the political 

administration of the Council whereby Councillor Lester became the Leader of the 

Council and Councillor Ivan Powell became the Lead Member. Councillors Lester and 

Powell, alongside the Chief Executive, Paul Walker, and Darryl Freeman, DCS, 

subsequently wrote letters to the parents/families who had made representation to the 

Families Commission and offered an opportunity meet with Councillors Lester and 

Powell. Of the 19 parents/families who had made representation to the Families’ 

Commission, several responded to the invitation to meet with Councillors Lester and 

or Powell. These meetings included the Service Director (Improvement) to represent 

the Directorate Leadership Team and to provide any social work advice or guidance 

that may be required. Each meeting clarified a number of issues, concerns and ‘bottom 

lines’ which were subsequently followed up to resolve relevant matters for individual 

families.  

3.0 Questions for Consideration - Summary of Progress 

3.1  In relation to the seven questions for consideration highlighted by the Families’ 

Commission in the published report, three of these were for the Council and four were 

42

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50112880/Appendix%201.%20The%20arrangements%20and%20findings%20of%20the%20Families%20Commission.pdf
https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50112880/Appendix%201.%20The%20arrangements%20and%20findings%20of%20the%20Families%20Commission.pdf


Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

3 
 

for the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children’s Partnership. The seven questions for 

considerations, outlined in section 11 of the Families’ Commission report are set out 

below for ease of reference; 

i. How will the Council and its partners provide a meaningful and responsive early help 

service which is accessible to families, regardless of which agency they contact first 

for help?  

ii. How will the Council support its social workers to practise in ways that demonstrate 

empathy, perseverance, authority, professional confidence and capability; working 

with people to enable full participation in discussions and decision making?  

iii. How will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership ensure that 

professionals are working together in the best interests of children and their families, 

to the highest standards of professional practice, informed by good quality research 

and evidence?  

iv. What actions will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership take to satisfy 

itself that there is good understanding across all ‘frontline’ agencies of domestic 

violence and abuse and its impact on individuals and families?  

v. How will Herefordshire Children’s Services support social workers to establish and 

maintain the trust and confidence of parents and families and enable their participation 

in planning to keep their children safe and promote their wellbeing?  

vi. What will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership do to promote a ‘Think 

Family approach across the partnership?  

vii. What will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership do to ensure that the 

complaints procedures in every agency across the partnership are accessible to 

families, work well, and findings are recorded and acted on? 

3.2 Since this matter was first reported to the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny 

Committee in September 2023, further activity has been undertaken and the following 

information provides an update about the progress that has been made to address the 

seven questions for consideration; 

a) Question for Consideration 1: How will the Council and its partners provide a 

meaningful and responsive early help service which is accessible to families, 

regardless of which agency they contact first for help? 

Early Help - Within the Council’s Targeted Early Help Service, the Children’s Help and Advice 

Team (CHAT) has launched a telephone help and support line for families, and professionals.  

This gives families the option to access help at the earliest opportunity by telephone. During 

2023/24 CHAT completed responses to 4,957 new contacts and took 1,313 calls. The 

telephone calls were approximately 50% from families and 50% from professionals. The team 

provides advice and guidance, signposting or facilitates the completion of an early help 

assessment. If a safeguarding concern is raised when talking to the family the contact these 

matters are shared with the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 

 In 2023/24, early help family support supported 463 families with 938 children and 

Children Centre Services supported 234 families with 361 children.   

 Since the publication of the Families’ Commission report, partner agencies have been 

supported to complete new and refreshed Early Help Assessments (EHA).  In April 

2023, when the data started being collated, 49% of new EHA’s were completed by 

partner agencies.  The proportion of EHA completed by partners has increased during 

2023/24 with an average of 67% EHAs being completed by partners by the year end 

in April 2024. Support has been provided to partners through training about how to 

complete EHAs, being a Lead Professional and managing a Team around the Family 

43



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

4 
 

meetings (TAFs) as well as offering of one to one support to complete an EHA when 

needed.   

Community Safety Fund - The Council and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

(OPCC) launched a Community Safety Fund in 2023/ 24 to enable the voluntary and 

community not for profit sector and schools to be able to bid for funding to deliver early help 

approaches to meet need at the earliest point of presentation and to support diversion from 

crime and offending.  The fund focusses on early prevention and tackling the root causes of 

crime, vulnerability and exploitation.  The target audience is children and young people aged 

between 5 and 18 years (and up to 25 for young people with Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities, SEND). A total of 12 projects have been successful in applying for the funding, 

including the following; 

 CLD Trust – Safe and Strong Project. Funding to extend the benefits of the 
Strong Young Minds project. The project supports young people who are 
vulnerable due to poor mental health but at a preventative level.  

 St Martins Primary School (with Marbrook Primary School) – Caring in 
Action. The Schools will work together with Putson Baptist church and South Wye 
Police Boxing Academy to identify particular families in need and offer targeted 
support. The funding will be used to employ 2 case workers who will work with 
children and their families to mentor and coordinate support working with other 
organisations.  

 Haygrove Community Gardens Charity – Family Link Project. To set up a 
Family Hub at Ross Community Garden, activities to support children and families 
including a drop in café and parenting courses. 

 Hope Support Services – Youth Together in Herefordshire.  Providing support 
to young people when a loved one has a serious or terminal illness, this project will 
expand Hope’s existing service provision enabling them to support 60 additional 
families.   

 Hereford Community Farm Nurture in Nature: Raising aspirations. This project 
is focused on families living in South Wye and families with children from across 
Herefordshire with SEND. Hereford Community Farm will offer a range of activities 
taking a whole family approach, offering supported land based activities, taster 
sessions, an information hub to signpost people to other agencies and services 
and the presence of a Support Worker to facilitate families to access more targeted 
support for emerging need.  

 St Thomas Cantilupe CE Primary School – Family Learning Mentor.   St 
Thomas Cantilupe School is based in a deprived area of central Hereford, 65% of 
their pupils have English as an Additional Language and many are newly arrived 
in the UK. The School will employ a Family Learning Mentor to improve the 
outcomes and opportunities for pupils aged 5-11 years old and their families. The 
Family Learning Mentor will work directly with vulnerable families, and their children 
in order to promote, strengthen and develop the potential of parents/carers and 
children.  

 Hinton Community Association Ltd runs Hinton Community Centre in the St 
Martins and Hinton Ward area of Hereford. The project will provide a recognised 
training programme for children and young people aged 5 to 18 years that have 
been excluded or at risk of permanent exclusion from schools, or identified as 
having anti-social behaviours, have a criminal record or are at risk of offending 
behaviour.   

 John Masefield High School – the provision of Family Support Worker for 
35hrs per week to work closely with families and young people who have emerging 
needs or additional needs that require targeted support. Additional level support 
will be promptly available to support at level 2. 

44



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

5 
 

 Rural Media Charity - a youth participation project that will see Herefordshire 
young people create impactful social media content which leads to powerful peer-
to-peer then youth-to-stakeholder conversations about positive masculinity, 
healthy behaviours, personal safety and productive role modelling.  

 The Cartshed –To run three woodland programmes for young people aged 10-13 
transitioning to high school; young people aged 14-18 who are struggling to attend 
school/disengaged from learning; and young people aged 18-25 who have 
additional needs who are struggling to attend college or employment or who may 
be in contact with criminal justice services.   

 LEAF (Locally Encouraging All to Flourish) - The project will provide children, 
young people and their families in Ledbury with a holistic support service including 
mentoring, counselling and family support work.  

 West Mercia Rape and Sexual Abuse Support Centre – To deliver Purple Leaf 
Psychosocial Education, Support and Prevention. Tackling Inappropriate and 
Problematic Sexual Behaviours through psychosocial education and support at the 
earliest possible stage. 

 

My Family, My School, My Community - Herefordshire has also been successful in receiving 

£300,000 from the Department of Education to support the development of early help 

approaches.  The My Family, My School, My Community initiative launched in April 2024 and 

is provided by a consortia of voluntary organisations, Vennture, CLD and Homestart.  This 

service will enable an expansion in early help support by developing early help approaches 

within schools.  

 The provision and support will be informed by the bespoke needs of the children 

and young people, families and that of their communities so that children, young 

people and families identify with and are supported by communities that care, 

harnessing the skills and assets of people and the community space and place. 

 The project has identified 8 Primary Schools and 2 secondary schools:  Ashfield 

Park, Brampton Abbots CE, Bristow CE, Leominster Primary, Broadlands, 

Clehonger, St Thomas CofE Cantilupe, Kingstone, Aylestone and Earl Mortimer 

College.  The approach will build a “School-Community Connector” role around the 

schools to enable children, young people and their families to feel connected to 

and in and of their community in conjunction with a wider Healthy Schools 

programme. 

Strategic review - Peopletoo is an organisation that provides support to organisations across 

Local Government and Health through the design and implementation of affordable and 

outcome focused services. PeopleToo has been commissioned to review the strategic 

approach to early help in order to meet need at the earliest point of presentation.  PeopleToo 

has engaged with partners, the not for profit and community sectors, and considered the views 

of children and young people and families in considering the future approach.  The report will 

be completed ready for published at the end of June 2024.  

b)  Question for consideration 2: How will the Council support its social workers to 

practise in ways that demonstrate empathy, perseverance, authority, 

professional confidence and capability; working with people to enable full 

participation in discussions and decision making?  

The Herefordshire - Leeds Improvement Partnership and Implementation of the 

Relational Practice Model – Having secured DfE funding, the improvement partnership 

between the Leeds Relational Practice Centre and Herefordshire was launched in July 2023 

and will continue until March 2025. In accordance with the agreed delivery plan, progress has 

45



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

6 
 

been made and is on track to introduce and embed a more relational and restorative way of 

working with children, young people and families. It is proposed that this model of practice will 

provide high support and high challenge to ensure social workers work in a strengths based 

way with families. Leeds is considered to be a good fit as an improvement partner for 

Herefordshire. Leeds has been judged by Ofsted to be ‘outstanding’ having previously been 

‘inadequate’. Leeds has embedded Restorative Practice and is considered to be one of the 

leading local authorities in the country. Following the Families’ Commission work, 

Herefordshire Council confirmed its decision to adopt the Restorative Practice Model of 

approach.  To date, the following elements of the delivery plan have been rolled out; 

 In-service and partnership based launch sessions completed in July and September 

2023 

 500+ staff have received mandatory introductory awareness raising training, including 

elected members on the Corporate Parenting Board, with a cohort of in-house staff 

also trained to roll out this training on an on-going basis for new starters  

 Programme of 8 lunch time thematic Restorative Practice Learning Webinars 

completed in June 2024 

 Team Manager Action Learning Sets co-facilitated by Service Managers with Leeds 

consultants, including an evaluation completed in June 2024 

 Directorate Leadership Team and Head of Service development sessions from 

October 2023 to date 

 MASH diagnostic 

 Team Manager Management Oversight and Supervision due to commence July 2024 

through to September 2024 

 Various Service Reviews and thematic practice consultations completed across the 

service, including but not limited to workforce planning, complaints management, 

performance data, conference and reviewing services, family group conferences etc… 

Case Reviews - Herefordshire invited Leeds colleagues to review a sample of practice with 

some children and families where there had been significant concerns and/or complaints. For 

balance, Leeds also reviewed practice with a similar number of children and families which 

had been selected by the service to represent good practice. The main findings are 

summarised below: 

 Good practice cohort - The Leeds team agreed with Herefordshire colleagues about 

some of the strengths shown in the good practice cohort. Whilst some of the families 

in the good practice cohort had experienced less than perfect support and an 

interventionist approach in the past, there was evidence of a changed approach for 

some families in the sample and they were positive about the more recent support from 

children’s services. The good practice cohort emphasised the impact of effective 

engagement and strong relationships between workers and families whereby key 

relationships and good direct work had made a big difference. There was evidence of 

effective help from a wider range of services such as the Edge of Care and Home 

Team (ECHO), and good use of Family Group Conferences (FGCs) to engage and 

involve wider family networks. There were some examples of effective partnership 

working, for example in Core Groups and Child Protection Conferences, which were 

well led and had good partner engagement. There were also examples of effective 

leadership and management in supervision, decision-making and the overall grip on 

practice. Progress was found to have been made within a challenging context, 

including difficulties associated with a high turnover of social workers and challenges 

in partnership working, particularly around a tendency to escalate early. Whilst there 

are many positives, this selection of practice also included some continuing areas for 

46



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

7 
 

development, including around drift and delay in achieving stable plans for children. At 

times, utilising a more family led approach would have been more appropriate to avoid 

proceedings to ‘gather evidence’. In some cases, early involvement of the family could 

lead to better solutions for children in kinship rather than stranger care. There are 

circumstances where, along with partners, involvement at the outset of a case is 

heavy-handed and punitive and whilst it is positive that this involvement changed later 

in the case (with a change of Social Worker and Team Manager) the immediate 

approach could have been avoided altogether. In some instances the recording 

remains descriptive with little analysis and many of the issues are compounded by the 

number of changes of social worker including 4 Social Workers in 12 months for one 

of these young people. 

 Concerns and complaints cohort - Concerns were confirmed by the Leeds team in 

the majority of examples, but the Leeds reviewer judged one concern to be 

unwarranted and judged that Herefordshire had worked well and made the right 

decisions. Immediate issues for decision-making were shared with Herefordshire 

Leaders to inform decisions where necessary. Resolving complaints would benefit 

from being more restorative in ethos and providing better coordination. At times, whilst 

families were rightly protecting their rights and correctly criticising services, seemed to 

be perceived as undeserving troublemakers. It also seemed that in many cases too 

many leaders, with the best of intentions, had become perhaps too closely involved in 

a way that was often too remote from day-to-day work and plans with the families. It 

was thought that a strengthened role for the complaints team to manage this and 

ensure that actions are properly progressed would be beneficial. 

 Reflections and next steps - The Leeds Team met with Herefordshire’s Senior Team 

in late May 2024 to review progress, problem solve and agree next steps. The broad 

aim for the next stage of joint work, now that the foundations of relational culture and 

practice are in place in Herefordshire, is to move onto key areas of practice and the 

wider system to drive reform shaped by a restorative values. The proposals are as 

follows: 

 Management Oversight and Supervision programme: This will commence in July 

2024 and is considered critical for supporting improved consistency and quality. 

The programme has had a good impact in other local authorities with Ofsted 

reporting significant improvements. 

 Preparation for the 5th Ofsted monitoring visit / exploitation: Leeds will provide a 

critical friend role to inform preparation for the next monitoring visit. A positive first 

meeting has already taken place. 

 Team level reflective restorative practice programme: This programme will bring 

practitioners and managers together to reflect, share, problem solve and learn 

together about key challenges in everyday practice. This will be trialled in the 

Corporate Parenting Service in July 2024. 

 Partnership: The data, case reviews and ongoing discussions with Herefordshire 

colleagues all suggest partner culture, practice and decision-making is not always 

supportive of the shift to more restorative ways of working. As such it is proposed 

that there will be joint planning with the HSCP leads, will be followed by Restorative 

Practice training, some reflective learning circles to set a longer term vision and 

shared values. 

 Child protection: In light of the recent reduction in the proportion of children with a 

child protection plan, Leeds will undertake a review of a sample of records to 

provide assurance that decision-making remains safe and appropriate. 

 Edge of Care, Family Group Conference and Kinship: Further work will start in July 

2024 to develop the ECHO (edge of care) Team and Family Group Conferencing 

47



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

8 
 

will be progressed. This will include work to promote kinship care as part of the 

wider strategy to working better with families.  

 Locality working: There have been conversations about service redesign based on 

a more localised and relationship focussed structure. Draft planning will be shared 

with Leeds and discussed with the in-coming Director of Children’s Services. 

 Complaints: Building on strong involvement from local leaders and a good 

complaints team, the overall system could be more restorative and better 

coordinated. Leeds will work with the complaints team to agree a revised approach 

in July 2024. 

 Performance data reporting and workforce development: positive initial 

conversations have taken place but have not progressed. This will be revisited and 

plans agreed in the next month. 

 Child Friendly Herefordshire: Discussions are planned between Leeds and 

Herefordshire Public Health colleagues about the feasibility of a Child Friendly 

Herefordshire initiative. Proposals will be agreed in July 2024. 

Whilst there is strong agreement between the Herefordshire and Leeds about the priorities 

and plans for the next stage of joint work there will be a need to align these with the plans and 

priorities of the incoming Director of Children’s Services when they take up their position on 1 

July 2024. 

c) Question for Consideration 3: How will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children 

Partnership ensure that professionals are working together in the best interests of 

children and their families, to the highest standards of professional practice, in formed 

by good quality research and evidence?  

Multi-Agency Line of Sight Audit and Assurance Processes - Since the publication of the  

Families’ Commission report Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (HSCP) has 

increased its multi-agency line of sight and audit activity in the following ways to ensure 

professionals are working together in the best interests of children and their families;  

Over a three day period in January 2024, a review of the Herefordshire Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding Hub (MASH) was undertaken by Herefordshire Council’s Children’s Services 

Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Team working collaboratively with MASH and Early Help 

colleagues, representatives from West Mercia Police, NHS Herefordshire and Worcestershire 

and Leeds Relational Practice Centre.  

 The purpose of the review was to provide assurance that the progress, since the 

Ofsted ILACS in July 2022 and the monitoring visit in March 2023, had been 

maintained within the Herefordshire MASH and that it continues to offer a safe 

safeguarding service for children in Herefordshire.  The MASH review was the first 

to be undertaken locally from a multi-agency perspective working with 

Herefordshire’s improvement partner, Leeds Relational Practice Centre. 

 As well as reviewing practice in the MASH to assure ourselves that children are 

safe, the review also considered the effectiveness of processes in the MASH and 

the contribution of partners.  The review also looked at a small sample of children 

where the MASH has been contacted about concerns of child on child abuse.  

 This review took place as a live exercise and the review group was based in the 

MASH. There was another group working on-line undertaking a series of group and 

individual activities, specifically the collaborative review of the records of 13 

children where a contact or referral had been made to the MASH in the previous 

week, as well as direct observations of MASH practice, discussions with MASH 

managers about the existing pressures and processes and a whole group 

48



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

9 
 

discussion to triangulate preliminary findings, share development ideas and 

produce recommendations. 

 This review found that with all of the contacts and referrals reviewed, all the children 

were considered to be safe in relation to the work that had been completed, in 

respect of management oversight and in relation to the necessary timescales. 

Children’s and young people’s contacts and referrals were considered on the day 

they were received, and the team appeared sufficiently well resourced and were 

steadily becoming a more stable team with permanent rather than agency staff. 

Furthermore, the atmosphere in the MASH was positive, with staff expressing an 

appetite to continuing building on improvements in practice. 

 The findings from this review with recommendations were presented the 

Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (HSCP) Safeguarding Partners 

Board on 24 April 2024. 

 Progress continues to be made in relation to the completion of multi-agency audits, 

however the challenge around auditor’s availability and capacity remains across 

agencies. This presents a challenge to sustaining momentum in undertaking multi-

agency audits although three other recent multi-agency audits have been 

completed, one in relation to strategy discussions, a second in relation to child 

sexual abuse and the third in relation to cases involving child on child harm.   

 The strategy meeting audit initially focussed on learning for Children and Young 

People’s Services, however the audit findings have been strengthened in relation 

to including learning and actions in relation to West Mercia Police, Health and wider 

partners including the quality of record keeping and contributions to strategy 

discussions.   The action plan will be overseen by the Quality and Effectiveness 

Group (Q & E) 

 Both the Child Sexual Abuse and Child on Child Abuse audit results have now 

been reported to the HSCP Q & E Group (January 2024 and April 2024 

respectively). There are agreed action plans in place to address the findings and 

recommendations from all three audits, and progress against these will continue to 

be overseen by the Q & E Group. 

 

Multi-Agency Dataset - The HSCP Quality and Effectiveness Group now routinely receives 

data from Children’s Services, Wye Valley NHS Trust and West Mercia Police, and this multi-

agency dataset is now a standing item within each meeting. The dataset also reflects the 

contribution of other agencies to the child protection process, for example individual agency 

contributions to strategy discussions and agency referral rates to the MASH. The partnership 

is committed to reviewing and further developing the dataset and this will continue to be taken 

forward. 

Section 11 / Section 175 Audit Processes - Both the Section 11 audit and the Section 175 

audit processes have now been completed. Section 11 outlines the safe systems and safe 

processes that need to be in place; for example by ensuring safe recruitment of staff, by 

providing appropriate training and by having up to date policies which all staff know how to 

access. A Section 175 is a deep dive audit review which places duties on a range of 

organisations, agencies and individuals to ensure their functions, and any services that they 

contract out to others, are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote 

the welfare of children. In relation to the Section 11 audit, the effectiveness of each 

organisation’s programme of dissemination of the outcomes of internal safeguarding audits 

and reviews, findings from multi-agency reviews and learning, and the strength of their internal 

quality assurance framework in relation to measuring the impact of training provided to their 

staff on practice were examined; 

49



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

10 
 

 Agency returns have been further examined by two ‘check and challenge’ sessions 

being completed (November 2023 and April 2024) with the authors of the audit 

returns, led by the HSCP Independent Scrutineer. Particular focus has been given 

in these sessions to the areas identified as ‘inadequate’ or ‘requires improvement’ 

and agencies will shortly be asked to update the audit system with progress made 

to address those.  

 The Section 11 returns also identified areas of good and outstanding practice within 

agencies across the county. Areas of particular strength were to be found within 

internal accountability arrangements for safeguarding, the availability of written 

policies and procedures for safeguarding, promoting the wellbeing and protection 

of children and young people, staff understanding how to report child safeguarding 

concerns, safe recruitment processes and whistleblowing procedures in place. 

 The Section 175 audit process has been completed and is to be presented to the 

HSCP Quality and Effectiveness Group on 24th June 2024. 

Engagement and Participation of Children, Young People, Parents and Carers - The 

partnership has drafted an Engagement and Participation Framework, which explains how 

children, young people, parents and carers will influence and shape the work of the 

partnership. The draft Framework includes plans to:  

 Provide guidance and training to practitioners on listening to children and young people 
in their direct work, as well as establishing good relationships with families / parents / 
carers, 

 Be assured that agencies have systems in place to listen to children, young people, 
parents and carers, and that they can evidence how this has shaped their services, 

 Inform and shape HSCP priorities through consultation and collaboration with children, 
young people and parents/carers  

 Include the voice of children, young people, parents/carers in the plan for Annual 
Scrutiny, 

 Ensure that children and young people are part of recruitment to key positions in the 
partnership, including the Independent Scrutineer and Business Manager. 

 

To date, a children and young people’s panel was part of the recruitment for the Independent 

Scrutineer (2022) and Partnership Business Manager (2024). The partnership has also 

consulted with the Parents for Change Group about the development of Think Family 

Guidance, and there are plans to take the Think Family guidance to the domestic abuse Lived 

Experience of Abuse Group in June 2024 for feedback. Consultation with the Parents for 

Change Group led to the Think Family guidance being strengthened by emphasising 

professionals working together in a coordinated way and ensuring that the family are part of 

meetings about them and are kept fully informed. The partnership consulted with children and 

young people on the development of the Engagement and Participation Framework on 31 May 

2024. This resulted in more emphasis on ensuring that children and young people are aware 

of their rights, and that cultural considerations are acknowledged throughout the document. 

The Framework is undergoing final approvals and will be published before the end of July 

2024. 

Partnership training, resources and guidance - The partnership has worked to strengthen 

professional practice through training, resources and guidance through the following activity. 

With funding from Public Health and the NHS ICB, the HSCP commissioned trauma-informed 

practice training in 2023 and 2024, which was/is available for anyone working or volunteering 

with children, young people, families, and/or adults at risk. As at 15 April 2024, 161 learners 

had attended and it is expected that in total 340 learners will attend Trauma Informed Practice 

50



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

11 
 

training by the end of 2024. There is evidence from course evaluation feedback that the 

Trauma-Informed Practice course is helping practitioners to understand trauma and its impact 

on children and families, and how to adapt their support and intervention in these 

circumstances. This is expected to make a positive difference to how families are supported 

and helped to develop good relationships between practitioners and children, young people, 

and parents/carers. Feedback from professional delegates attending the training includes the 

following; 

 “I feel that I am able to write summaries and case notes in a way that is trauma 
informed and not victim blaming. I also feel that I will be able to discuss trauma with 
the people that we work with and feel confident in doing so.”  

 “Thought provoking session. Particularly powerful section on re-framing the narrative 
about an individual. Not always sure we can always change the environment.” 

 
Other HSCP training developments - In addition, the partnership has expanded its 

safeguarding training programme with the addition of a course on childhood neglect and a 

course on understanding mental capacity. The Graded Care Profile 2 (GCP2) helps 

professionals measure the quality of care provided by a parent or carer in meeting their child's 

needs. The Graded Care Profile 2 (GCP2) course has also been reviewed, and a GCP2 

refresher course offered. The HSCP has also developed a toolkit for professionals to improve 

identification and responses to child neglect, which is reinforced through the new childhood 

neglect training course.  

Restorative and Relational Practice - With regards promoting restorative and relationship 

practice approaches, multi-agency professionals were invited to and attended the restorative 

practice launch events in 2023. A more extensive roll-out of restorative practice training to 

multi-agency partners is being planned with Leeds, and this will be rolled out across the 

partnership as part of phase 2 of the Herefordshire – Leeds Improvement Partnership 

Programme. 

d) Question for Consideration 4: What actions will the Herefordshire Safeguarding 

Children Partnership take to satisfy itself that there is good understanding across all 

‘frontline’ agencies of domestic violence and abuse and its impact on individuals and 

families?  

SafeLives Review of Domestic Abuse Responses in Herefordshire - SafeLives were 

commissioned by the Herefordshire Community Safety Partnership to undertake a review of 

the domestic abuse system in Herefordshire. The work was funded by a grant from the West 

Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner. The report from this review was received in March 

2024; 

 The report indicates that there is a clear commitment and motivation to effectively 

address domestic abuse in Herefordshire, for example the report commented upon a 

clear commitment to creative partnership working and strong implementation of good 

practice from commissioners and domestic abuse agencies, and evidence of some 

highly knowledgeable and committed representatives locally. The review also found 

many examples of silo working which hampered multi-agency working, a lack of 

domestic abuse awareness in agencies where domestic abuse was not the core 

business but worked with these issues on a day to day basis, leading to families being 

misidentified as victim and perpetrator, and those that harm not being held accountable 

for their behaviour. Five key themes were identified for development, these being; 

 Awareness, understanding and training. 
 Multi-agency working. 
 Authentic voice. 

51



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

12 
 

 Response to predators. 
 Support for children and young people. 

 In relation to the final theme, the SafeLives report highlighted that in line with the 

Domestic Abuse Act 2021, children can be victims of domestic abuse even if they were 

not present when the abuse occurred, and they are to be regarded as a victim of 

domestic abuse in their own right. This means that local service provision must 

consider and address the needs of children affected by domestic abuse. Two specific 

tools have been recommended. 

 Safelives has recommended that Herefordshire considers the need for evidenced 

based provision which supports the strengthening of relationships between, parent and 

child, educates parents on the impact of domestic abuse on themselves, their children 

and their parenting, supports healthy coping strategies and recognises the strengths 

of the parent and the child.  

 From this report the following next steps have been identified in relation to this theme, 

and these are to be taken forward via the Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board 

(DALPB). 

 Commissioned services include the need to work with children as recognised 
victims of domestic abuse.  

 DA specialist posts are in place in the edge of care (ECHO) and early help 
teams within the Council.  

 Recommended evidence based tools to be reviewed and shared with 
colleagues in children’s services and commissioned services.  

 Whole family approach to be integrated into the MARAC response.   
 Whole family approach to be discussed at DALPB for further actions.  

 
Domestic Abuse Training - In 2023/24, domestic abuse training for multi-agency staff and 

volunteers was commissioned by the Community Safety Partnership, with funding from the 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and included the following;  

 Impact of Domestic Abuse on Children and Young People, Domestic Abuse and Rural 

Context, Domestic Abuse and Trauma, Domestic Abuse and Young People’s 

Relationships, all delivered by West Mercia Women’s Aid 

 “Curiosity Saves Lives – Domestic Abuse Multi-Agency Training,” delivered by 

domestic abuse advisor Martin Lakeman. This course included guidance on having 

difficult conversations, using professional curiosity, non-victim blaming language and 

understanding why survivors may struggle to seek support. 

 “Cut It Out,” delivered by domestic abuse advisor Martin Lakeman. This is an 

awareness course for all professionals who have a unique, one on one trusting 

relationship with their clients, such as hair and beauty professionals, physiotherapists, 

chiropractors, tattooists, cleaners, etc., to help them spot the signs of abuse and start 

the conversation with potential victims. These courses continue to be delivered into 

2024-25. 

 Other courses also included Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) and forced marriage, 

Domestic Abuse and Trauma, Domestic Abuse and Learning Difficulties in Adults, 

Domestic Abuse and Older People plus Domestic Abuse and the Rural Context.  

 A total of 432 delegates attended the 27 courses during 2023/24. 

 
The domestic abuse training programme for 2024-25 is being further developed in response 

to the learning from the Families’ Commission, the SafeLives Report on Domestic Abuse 

Responses in Herefordshire as well as learning from case reviews. The domestic abuse 

training programme is currently out for Expressions of Interest from potential training 

providers, with an expectation that training will resume in September 2024, or earlier if 

52



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

13 
 

possible. This will   build on the extensive programme of multi-agency domestic abuse courses 

run in Herefordshire during 2023/24 

e) Question for consideration 5: How will Herefordshire Children’s Services support 

social workers to establish and maintain the trust and confidence of parents and 

families and enable their participation in planning to keep their children safe and 

promote their wellbeing?  

Children’s Services Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) - DLT has focused on leading and 

a range of activities over the past year to ensure that social workers are well supported and 

clear about the desired practice standards and expectations to re-build trust and confidence. 

The following sets out a number of highlights which evidence this approach with some related 

performance reporting. 

Workforce - Recruitment is Herefordshire’s number one priority to gain a stable, permanent 

and well trained workforce as this will provide the best opportunity to ensure priority 

improvements and developments are embedded. Recruiting and retaining a knowledgeable, 

skilled and experienced workforce is critical if Children’s Services is going to deliver the best 

possible social work services to local children, young people and their parents. One of the 

challenges associated with having a level of dependency on agency social workers is the risk 

associated ‘churn’ in the workforce as this undermines progress and improvements due to the 

lack of traction this brings. It also adversely impacts on the level of trust and confidence in 

relationships with children, young people and their parents. Changes in social workers means 

children, young people and their parents are less likely to achieve and maintain meaningful 

relationships, are more likely to have to re-tell their story and receive a lack of continuity and 

inconsistency in service delivery and decision making. These are recognised risks which 

Herefordshire is working hard to address and over the past year there is evidence to indicate 

that progress has been made, although further work is required. 

As part of this endeavour, Children’s Services strives to become an employer of choice, which 

is additionally challenging for any local authority judged to be ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted. 

Nonetheless the workforce approach commits to creating the conditions within which social 

workers will be attracted to come and stay working in Herefordshire, hopefully on a permanent 

basis, although there remains a reliance on agency staff, particularly in some front line 

operational teams. The type of conditions that are important to grow confident and competent 

social workers who are best placed to establish and maintain healthy, positive relationships 

with children, parents and their parents, include having manageable caseloads, proactive, 

responsive and nurturing line managers and supervisors, visible and accessible senior leaders 

as well as opportunities for professional learning as well as opportunities for career 

development. These conditions have been increasingly evident since the publication of the 

Families’ Commission report in June 2023, although more still needs to be done. The 

workforce ‘churn’ has slowed, there is more stability in the management group and evidence 

of some conversions from agency to permanent contracts, although there is still a level of 

reliance on agency social workers particularly in some front line teams. 

Culture - Creating a workplace culture that is compassionate, respectful and positive for 

everyone remains at the core of the refreshed workforce strategy, which includes the following 

that have a direct bearing on social work practice values, attitudes and behaviour; 

 We will keep our working relationship with children, young people and families at the 

heart of everything we do.  

 We will work together with families’ wider network of support and our partner agencies 

 We will keep our focus on making a difference to improving outcomes for children and 

young people  

53



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

14 
 

Implementing Restorative Practice – As mentioned elsewhere in this report, this has been 

the focus of the Herefordshire – Leeds Improvement Partnership since July 2023, and will 

continue to be so until March 2025. In line with the delivery and development of restorative 

practice in Herefordshire, the evidence of emerging better practice, as determined through a 

recent practice review undertaken by Leeds, includes the following summary of key feedback; 

• Whilst some of the families in the good practice cohort had experienced less than 
perfect support and an interventionist approach in the past, there was evidence of a 
changed approach for some families in the sample and they were positive about the 
more recent support from children’s services. 

 The good practice cohort emphasised the impact of effective engagement and strong 
relationships between workers and families – key relationships and good direct work 
had made a big difference 

 There was evidence of effective help from a wider range of services such as ECHO, 
and good use of Family Group Conferences to engage and involve wider family 
networks. 

 Some examples of effective partnership working e.g. in Core Groups and Child 
Protection Conferences which were well led and had good partner engagement. 

 Examples of effective leadership management in supervision, decision-making and 
grip. 

 Progress was made within a challenging context – there were obvious difficulties due 
to high turnover of social workers and challenges in partnership working, particularly 
around a tendency to early escalation 
 

Families for Change Group - The Families for Change Group, which has been initiated since 

the publication of the Families’ Commission report, includes parents with children who have 

previously received support and intervention from Children’s Services, including some of the 

parents who previously made representation to the Families’ Commission. As was the case 

with the Families’ Commission process, the engagement and participation of parents in the 

Families for Change Group has proved to be helpful, influential and informative. To date, the 

Families for Change Group has supported changes within the service. For example, the 

Families for Change Group have developed family friendly guidance for families in respect of 

section 20 accommodation, as well as a feedback form to be routinely used by families to 

provide real time feedback about the services they are receiving plus undertaking a review of 

letters which are sent to families to ensure these are strengths based. This activity has already 

had an influence on social worker’s practice and it is anticipated that this will continue to have 

impact as the group continues and develops moving forward. 

Use of Family Group Conferences - There is evidence of fewer families now subject to pre-

proceedings as part of the Public Law Outline (PLO). This is partly due to improved 

management oversight and better social work practice, but it is also the result of investment 

and increased use of Family Group Conferencing (FGC). FGCs, which are an integral part of 

a restorative practice model and strongly advocated by Leeds, is a strengths based approach 

which enables and supports families to find their own solutions by acknowledging and utilising 

the strengths and resources within the family’s own network. Previously, in Herefordshire the 

FGC approach was only used in family court proceedings, with time the focus shifted to pre-

proceedings and currently there is now also a focus on the use of FGCs during child protection 

plan, and if at all possible even before child protection planning. This more restorative way of 

working with families has meant that the performance reporting since September 2023 has 

shown that the number of children in pre- proceedings has reduced from 47 per 10,000 to 10 

per 10,000. The relevance of this is that the more restorative way of working, as seen in the 

use of FGCs, ensures parents are engaged at an much earlier stage when safeguarding 

concerns emerge and can, and have, been able to influence different family based solutions 

which in many instances can, and have, resulted in different outcomes. 

54



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

15 
 

Public Law Outline Pre-Proceedings - There has been a focus on ensuring that parents are 

supported to know their rights and to obtain independent legal representation at the earliest 

point whenever a decision is made to enter pre-proceedings under the Public Law Outline. 

The trigger for parents to access free independent legal advice is the receipt of a letter before 

proceedings. A letter before proceedings is the letter that Children’s Services must send to a 

parent to start a pre-proceedings process. It should also be sent to anyone else who has 

parental responsibility for the child. Current performance reporting shows that 85% of parents 

receive a letter before proceedings within expected timescales which is much improved. In 

2022/3, only 46% to 53% of children subject to court care proceedings were subject to pre-

proceedings immediately prior to issuing a court application. Current practice improves the 

opportunity for parents to be informed, engaged and supported to participate. In April 2024, 

performance was just under 90% and this evidences that social workers are much better at 

working with and alongside parents to ensure they have the opportunity to engage, with the 

support of their independent legal advisor, and make appropriate changes to address the 

identified concerns about their parenting prior to Herefordshire making a decision to apply to 

Court. 

Family Friendly Child Protection Suite - There is now a new family friendly child protection 

suite based in Plough Lane where conferences can be completed in a more relaxed 

environment where there are additional break out rooms if required. Child Protection 

Conference Chairs have been trained in facilitating restorative conferences and, according to 

our performance reporting, the overall the numbers of children on Child Protection Plans has 

significantly reduced and we are now closer to our statistical neighbours. The proportion of 

children starting a Child Protection Plan has halved and the rate of children whose plan is 

ending has doubled.  

Children in Care - Performance reporting shows a consistent pattern of positive progress with 

the rate of children becoming looked after by Herefordshire being less than half what it was in 

2021/22 and the proportion of children leaving care being 50% higher. Herefordshire has 

developed its Reunification Practice Guidance and in 2023/24, 22 children and young people 

had their Care Orders discharged and were reunified with their birth parents as it was 

determined that it was safe and in their best interests to do so. A further 4 children and young 

people are subject to court applications to also have their Care Order discharged. The 

Reunification Practice Guidance (2023) states includes the following which acknowledges the 

message received the Families’ Commission; 

“We are seeking to address the feedback and criticism that has been received from those who 

have felt ‘done to’ in the past. Whilst we will continue to adhere to the paramountcy principle 

and place children ‘first and foremost’ we will actively seek to identify children who are 

‘potentially suited’ to reunification, work restoratively and in partnership with their birth families 

and together with our partners to achieve lasting impact and improved outcomes.” (Page 3) 

Complaints: Stage 1 complaint responses are now more consistently met within timescales, 

although stage 2 complaint responses currently take too long. 

f) Questions for consideration 6: What will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children 

Partnership do to promote a ‘Think Family’ approach across the partnership?  

The Partnership’s commitment to the ‘Think Family’ approach is evident in the adoption 

of Restorative and Trauma Informed practice - A draft of Think Family guidance has been 

produced. This is being consulted on with parents and carers groups (the Parents for Change 

and domestic abuse Lived Experience of Abuse Group), as well as with professionals. This is 

taking place with support from both the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and Safeguarding 

Adult’s Board. The draft guidance explains the Think Family approach, why this is important 

55



Families’ Commission Follow Up Summary Report June 2024 
 

16 
 

in the Herefordshire context, and sets out expectations for professionals and organisations. 

The guidance will also provide a reference to different services and confirms the appropriate 

policies and procedures that can be used to help provide support for the whole family.  

 The roll-out and implementation of Think Family approaches will include practitioner 

briefings, as well as single-agency dissemination. 

 In relation to the work of the Joint Case Review Group, a Think Family approach has 

been incorporated into the consideration of learning from case reviews and is being 

included within scoping and terms of reference for case reviews. 

 The HSCP is working with the Herefordshire Safeguarding Adult’s Board to strengthen 

transition pathways for young people at risk of exploitation. This includes further 

developing the response to young people and adults at risk of exploitation, particularly 

where they do not have eligible care and support needs to receive adult social care. 

The Complex Adults Risk Management Framework, which provides a multi-agency 

approach to support adults with complex needs, is also being reviewed as a tool to 

support young people at risk of exploitation as they transition into adulthood. 

 

g) Question for consideration 7: What will the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children 

Partnership do to ensure that the complaints procedures in every agency across the 

partnership are accessible to families, work well, and findings are recorded and acted 

on? 

Within the HSCP single agency check and challenge processes, all of the single agencies 

have been able to provide reassurance to the HSCP Independent Scrutineer that there are 

robust complaints processes in place which are accessible to the public (normally via their 

organisation’s website). Assurance was also sought that the outcome from complaints then 

influences practice. Agencies attending were able to provide assurance that this was the case, 

however securing specific examples from each agency of how findings from complaints are 

acted upon will need to form part of the follow up from the Section 11 audit challenge sessions. 

The HSCP has now linked agency complaints processes to the partnership website, to support 

easier access to these procedures. 

 

Gail Hancock 

Interim Service Director (Corporate Parenting) 

26 June 2024 

 

 

 

 

56



 

 

  

 
  

  

  

  

  

    

Working Together to  

Safeguard Children  

2023   

  

A guide to multi-agency working to 

help, protect and promote the welfare of 

children  

December 2023  

    

  

57



 

  

  

2  

   

Table of Contents  
Introduction  7  

 About this guidance  8  

 What is the status of this guidance?  9  

 Who is this guidance for?  10  

Chapter 1: A shared responsibility  11  

 A child-centred approach within a whole family focus  11  

 Principles for working with parents and carers  14  

 Expectations for multi-agency working  16  

 Information sharing  18  

Chapter 2: Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements  23  

 Geography  25  

 Strategic leadership and accountability  26  

 Delivering multi-agency safeguarding arrangements  28  

 Relevant agencies  31  

 Working with schools, colleges, early years, and other education providers  33  

Working with voluntary, charity, social enterprise (VCSE) organisations and sports  

 clubs  35  

 Information requests  35  

 Independent scrutiny  36  

 Funding  38  

 Reporting  39  

 Publication of arrangements  39  

 Yearly report  40  

 Dispute resolution process  42  

Chapter 3: Providing help, support and protection  43  

 Local criteria for providing help, support, and protection  43  

58



 

  

  

3  

 Section 1: Early help  44  

 Identifying children and families who would benefit from help  45  

 The role of education and childcare settings  47 

 Effective assessment of the need for early help  49 

 

 Provision of effective services to help families  50  

 Section 2: Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children  51  

 Statutory requirements for children in need  53  

 Local protocols for assessment and support  54  

 Purpose of assessment  56  

 Assessment framework  57  

 Referral  57  

 Timeliness  58  

 Provision of support and services for a child in need  59  

 Focusing on the needs of the child and their family  60  

 Analysis and decision-making  62  

 Focusing on outcomes  64  

 Supporting disabled children and their carers  65  

 Supporting young carers  67  

 Supporting children at risk of, or experiencing, harm outside the home  67  

 Supporting children in secure youth establishments  70  

 Supporting children in mother and baby units  70  

Supporting children at risk from people in prison and people supervised by the  

 Probation Service  71  

 Assessment, support and planning for children under the Children Act 1989  73  

Flow chart 1: Action taken when a child is referred to local authority children’s  

 social care  77  

 Looked after children returning home to their families  78  

 Flow chart 2: Looked after children returning home to their families  79  

59



 

  

  

4  

 Section 3: Child protection  80  

 National multi-agency practice standards for child protection  81  

 Immediate protection  86  

 Strategy discussion  87  

 Initiating section 47 enquiries  91  

 Outcome of section 47 enquiries  93  

 Initial child protection conferences  95  

 The child protection plan  98  

 Child protection review conference  100  

 Discontinuing the child protection plan  103 

 Initiating pre-proceedings  105 

 Flow chart 3: Immediate protection  106  

Flow chart 4: Action taken for an assessment of a child under the Children Act  

 1989  107  

 Flow chart 5: Action following a strategy meeting  108  

Flow chart 6: What happens after the child protection conference, including review? 

   109  

Chapter 4: Organisational responsibilities  110  

 People in positions of trust  112  

 Individual organisational responsibilities  113  

 Schools, colleges and other educational providers  113  

 Early years and childcare  114  

 Health  114  

 Police  117  

 Adult social care services  119  

 Housing services  119  

 Homelessness duty  120  

 British Transport Police  121  

 The Prison Service  121  

 Mother and baby units in prisons  124  

60



 

  

  

5  

 The Probation Service  124  

 Multi-agency public protection arrangements  126  

 Serious violence duty  128  

 Children’s homes  128  

 The secure estate for children  129  

 Youth offending teams  130  

 UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the Border Force  130  

 Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service  130  

 The armed services  131  

 Channel panels  131  

Voluntary, charity, social enterprise, faith-based organisations, and private sectors 

   132  

 Sports clubs/organisations  133  

Chapter 5: Learning from serious child safeguarding incidents  135  

 Purpose of child safeguarding practice reviews  135 

 Responsibilities for reviews  135 

Duty on local authorities to notify incidents to the Child Safeguarding Practice Review  

 Panel  137  

 Decisions on local and national reviews  138  

 The rapid review  140  

 Guidance for the National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel  141  

 Commissioning a reviewer(s) for a local child safeguarding practice review  143  

 Local child safeguarding practice reviews  143  

 Safeguarding partners – expectations of the final report  144  

 Actions in response to local and national reviews  146  

 Guidance for the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel – reviewers  146  

 The panel – expectations for the final report  146  

How to notify a serious incident, rapid review, and local child safeguarding practice  

 review  148  

Chapter 6: Child death reviews  149  

61



 

  

  

6  

 Statutory requirements  150  

 Responsibilities of child death review partners  151  

 Responsibilities of other organisations and agencies  153  

 Specific responsibilities of relevant bodies in relation to child deaths  153  

 Responding to the death of a child: the child death review process  154  

 The child death review process  155  

Appendix A: Glossary  158  

Appendix B: Further sources of information  167  

 Guidance issued by the Department for Education  167  

 Guidance issued by other government departments and agencies  168  

 Guidance issued by external organisations  170  

  

Table of figures  

Figure 1: Assessment framework ...................................................................................... 

57  

Figure 2: Process to follow when a child dies ................................................................. 

154  

   

62



 

  

  

7  

Introduction  

Nothing is more important than children’s welfare. Every child deserves to grow up in a 

safe, stable, and loving home. Children who need help and protection deserve high quality 

and effective support. This requires individuals, agencies, and organisations to be clear 

about their own and each other’s roles and responsibilities, and how they work together.   

In this guidance, a child is defined as anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday. 

‘Children’ therefore means ‘children and young people’ throughout. The term practitioner 

is used in the guidance to refer to individuals who work with children and their families in 

any capacity, including a range of professionals, such as qualified social workers and 

those who work for the statutory safeguarding partners or in education settings.   

Whilst it is parents and carers who have primary care for their children, local authorities, 

working with partner organisations and agencies, have specific duties to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of all children in their area. The Children Act 1989 1 sets out specific 

duties to provide services to children in their area if they are in need and to undertake 

enquiries if they believe a child has suffered or is likely to suffer significant harm. The 

Director of Children’s Services and Lead Member for Children’s Services in local 

authorities are the key points of professional and political accountability, with responsibility 

for the effective delivery of these functions. The Children Act 20042 placed a duty on the 

local authority to promote co-operation with partners and other agencies in order to 

improve the wellbeing of children in their area. It also placed duties on a range of 

organisations and individuals to ensure they too give sufficient regard to children in need 

of help and safeguarding.   

Amendments made by the Children and Social Work Act 2017 to the Children Act 2004 

strengthened this already important relationship by placing new duties on the police, 

integrated care boards (ICBs)3 and the local authority, as statutory safeguarding partners. 

Safeguarding partners are under a duty to make arrangements to work together, and with 

other partners locally including education providers and childcare settings, to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of all children in their area.   

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is defined for the purposes of this 

guidance as:  

                                            
1 Children Act 1989   
2 Children Act 2004  

3 Statutory guidance for integrated care boards on executive lead roles  

63

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/executive-lead-roles-within-integrated-care-boards/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/executive-lead-roles-within-integrated-care-boards/


 

  

  

8  

• providing help and support to meet the needs of children as soon as problems 

emerge  

  
  

• protecting children from maltreatment, whether that is within or outside the home, 

including online  

• preventing impairment of children’s mental and physical health or development   

• ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of 

safe and effective care  

• promoting the upbringing of children with their birth parents, or otherwise their 

family network4 through a kinship care arrangement, whenever possible and where 

this is in the best interests of the children  

• taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes in line with the 

outcomes set out in the Children’s Social Care National Framework5.    

Child protection is part of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and is 

defined for the purpose of this guidance as activity that is undertaken to protect specific 

children who are suspected to be suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm. This 

includes harm that occurs inside or outside the home, including online.   

Effective safeguarding means practitioners should understand and be sensitive to factors, 

including economic and social circumstances and ethnicity, which can impact children and 

families’ lives.  

About this guidance   

1. This guidance covers:  

• the legislative requirements that apply to individuals, organisations and agencies  

• a framework for the three local safeguarding partners (the local authority, an ICB 

for an area, any part of which falls within the local authority area, and the Chief 

Constable for police for a police area, any part of which falls within the local 

                                            
4 A family network can be a blood-relative, or a non-related connected person, such as a family friend or neighbour.  
5 Children’s Social Care National Framework  

64

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-national-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-national-framework


 

  

  

9  

authority area) to make arrangements to work together to safeguard and promote 

the welfare of local children, including identifying and responding to their needs  

• the framework for the two child death review partners (the local authority and any 

ICB for an area, any part of which falls within the local authority area) to make 

arrangements to review all deaths of children normally resident in the local area, 

and if they consider it appropriate, for those not normally resident in the area   

  
  

2. This document replaces Working together to safeguard children (2018). Links to 

relevant supplementary guidance that practitioners should consider alongside this 

guidance can be found at Appendix B.  

What is the status of this guidance?   

3. This guidance applies to all organisations and agencies who have functions relating 

to children. Specifically, this guidance applies to all local authorities, ICBs, police 

and all other organisations and agencies as set out in chapter 4.  

4. It applies, in its entirety, to all education providers, and childcare settings.  

5. It applies to all children up to the age of 18 years whether living with their families, 

in state care, or living independently.  

6. This document should be complied with unless exceptional circumstances arise.  

7. The guidance is issued under:   

• section 7 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970, which requires local 

authorities in their social services functions to act under the general guidance of the 

Secretary of State  

• section 10(8) of the Children Act 2004, which requires each person or organisation 

to which the section 10 duty applies to have regard to any guidance given to them 

by the Secretary of State  

• section 11(4) of the Children Act 2004 which requires each person or organisation 

to which the section 11 duty applies to have regard to any guidance given to them 

by the Secretary of State  

65



 

  

  

10  

• section 16B(7) of the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social 

Work Act 2017, which states that the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 

must have regard to any guidance given by the Secretary of State in connection 

with its functions  

• section 16C(2) of the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social 

Work Act 2017, which states that local authorities must have regard to any 

guidance given by the Secretary of State in connection with their functions relating 

to notifications  

• section 16K of the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social Work 

Act 2017, which states that safeguarding partners and relevant agencies for a local 

authority area in England must have regard to any guidance given by the Secretary 

of State in connection with their functions under sections 16E to 16J of the Act  

• section 16Q of the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social 

Work Act 2017, which states that the child death review partners for a local 

authority area in England must have regard to any guidance given by the Secretary 

of State in connection with their functions under sections 16M to 16P of the Act  

• section 175(4) of the Education Act 2002, which states that governing bodies of 

maintained schools (including maintained nursery schools), further education 

institutions and management committees of pupil referral units must have regard to 

any guidance given by the Secretary of State  

• paragraph 7(b) of the Schedule to the Education (Independent School Standards)  

Regulations 2014, made under sections 94(1) and (2) of the Education and Skills 

Act 2008, which states that the arrangements to safeguard or promote the welfare 

of pupils made by the proprietors of independent schools (including academies or 

free schools) or alternative provision academies must have regard to any guidance 

given by the Secretary of State  

• paragraph 3 of the Schedule to the Non-Maintained Special Schools (England) 

Regulations 2015, made under section 342 of the Education Act 1996, which 

requires arrangements for safeguarding and promoting the health, safety, and 

welfare of pupils in non-maintained special schools to have regard to any guidance 

published on such issues  

Who is this guidance for?   

8. This statutory guidance sets out key roles for individual organisations and agencies 

to deliver effective arrangements for help, support, safeguarding, and protection. It 

66



 

  

  

11  

should be read and followed by leaders, managers and frontline practitioners of all 

organisations and agencies as set out in chapter 4 of this document.   

9. It is essential that these arrangements are strongly led and promoted at a local 

level, specifically by elected local area leaders, including Lead Members of 

Children’s Services, Mayors, Police and Crime Commissioners and through the 

commitment of chief officers in all organisations and agencies, particularly those 

representing the three safeguarding partners. These are local authority Chief 

Executives, Chief Constables of police and Chief Executives of ICBs. Other senior 

leaders within organisations and agencies that commission and provide services for 

children and families, and education settings also have a key role to play in 

providing help, support, and safeguarding children in their local area. Members of 

the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel should also read and follow this 

guidance.   

Chapter 1: A shared responsibility   

10. Successful outcomes for children depend on strong partnership working between 

parents/carers and the practitioners working with them. Practitioners should take a 

childcentred approach to meeting the needs of the whole family.   

11. As set out in the Children’s Social Care National Framework, the following 

principles apply here too:   

• children’s welfare is paramount  

• children’s wishes and feelings are sought, heard, and responded to  

• children’s social care works in partnership with whole families  

• children are raised by their families, with their family networks or in family 

environments wherever possible  

• local authorities work with other agencies to effectively identify and meet the needs 

of children, young people, and families   

• local authorities consider the economic and social circumstances impacting 

children, young people, and families  

A child-centred approach within a whole family focus  

12. A child-centred approach is fundamental to safeguarding and promoting the welfare 

of every child. All practitioners should follow the principles of the Children Acts 

1989 and 2004. These Acts make clear that the welfare of children is paramount 

67



 

  

  

12  

and that they are best looked after within their families, with their parents playing a 

full part in their lives, unless compulsory intervention in family life is necessary.   

13. Children are clear about what they want from an effective safeguarding system:  

Children have said that they need:  

• vigilance: to have adults notice when things are troubling them  

• understanding and action: to understand what is happening; to be heard and 

understood; and to have that understanding acted upon  

• stability: to be able to develop an ongoing stable relationship of trust with those 

helping them  

• respect: to be treated with the expectation that they are competent rather than 

not  

• information and engagement: to be informed about, and involved in 

procedures, decisions, concerns and plans  

• explanation: to be informed of the outcome of assessments, and decisions and 

reasons when their views have not met with a positive response  

• support: to be provided with support in their own right as well as a member of 

their family  

• advocacy: to be provided with advocacy to assist them in putting forward their 

views  

• protection: to be protected against all forms of abuse, exploitation, and 

discrimination, and the right to special protection and help if a refugee  

14. Anyone working with children should see and speak to the child, listen to what they 

say, observe their behaviour, take their views seriously, and work with them and 

their families and the people who know them well when deciding how to support 

their needs. Practitioners should also be aware that children may find it difficult to 

always speak about what they need, what is happening to them or what has 

happened to them. Legal duties under the Equality Act 20106 must be complied 

with, including putting special provision in place to support dialogue with children 

who may not be able to convey their wishes and feelings as they may want to. This 

might include, for example, those who have communication difficulties, 

                                            
6 Equality Act 2010   

68

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


 

  

  

13  

unaccompanied children, refugees, those children who are victims of modern 

slavery and/or trafficking and those who do not speak English or for whom English 

is not their first language.   

  
  

15. This approach sits within a whole family culture in which the needs of all members 

of the family are explored as individuals and how their needs impact on one 

another is drawn out.   

16. This child-centred approach is supported by:  

• the Children Act 1989, which requires local authorities to give due consideration to 

a child’s wishes when determining what services to provide under section 17 and 

before making decisions about action to be taken to protect individual children 

under section 47. These duties complement requirements relating to the wishes 

and feelings of children who are, or may be, looked after (section 22(4)), including 

those who are provided with accommodation under section 20 and children taken 

into police protection (section 46(3)(d)).  

• the Equality Act 2010, which puts a responsibility on public authorities to have due 

regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and promote equality of opportunity. 

This applies to the process of identification of need and risk faced by the individual 

child and the process of assessment. No child or group of children must be treated 

any less favourably than others in being able to access effective services which 

meet their particular needs. To comply with the Equality Act 2010, safeguarding 

partners must assess and where appropriate put in place measures ahead of time 

to support all children and families to access services, overcoming any barriers 

they may face due to a particular protected characteristic.  

• the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)7 which is an 

international agreement that protects the rights of children and provides a 

childcentred framework for the development of services to children. The UK 

Government ratified the UNCRC in 1991 and, by doing so, recognises children’s 

rights including to expression and receiving information.  

                                            
7 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child  

69

https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/


 

  

  

14  

• the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, section 38 recognises that a child is a victim of 

domestic abuse in their own right if they see, hear or experience the effects of 

domestic abuse and are related to either victim or perpetrator of the abuse, or 

either the victim or perpetrator of the abuse has parental responsibility for that 

child.  

• the Children’s Social Care National Framework9, published in 2023, is statutory 

guidance that sets out the purpose of children’s social care as existing to support 

children and families, to protect children by intervening decisively when they are at  

  
  

risk of harm and to provide care for those who need it, so they grow up and thrive 

with safety, stability, and love  

17. In addition to practitioners shaping support around the needs of individual children, 

local organisations and agencies should have a clear understanding of the 

collective needs of children locally when commissioning effective services. As part 

of that, ICBs are required to have executive lead roles for children, children with 

SEND and for safeguarding (these could be individual roles or combined as part of 

one role). It is expected that these executive leads will work with key partners 

across public health, social care, justice, and education to ensure the interests of 

those groups are met, including appropriate resources are allocated for the 

provision of services and maintaining an overview of the quality of services. As part 

of that process, the Director of Public Health, informed by the relevant ICB 

Executive Leads, should ensure that the needs of children are a key part of the 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) developed by the Health and Wellbeing 

Board. Safeguarding partners should use this assessment to help them understand 

the prevalence and contexts of need, including specific needs relating to disabled 

children and those relating to abuse, neglect and exploitation, which in turn should 

help shape services.  

Principles for working with parents and carers   

18.  In the context of a child-centred approach, all practitioners should work in 

partnership with parents and carers as far as possible. Parents and carers need to 

understand what is happening, what they can expect from the help and support provided, 

                                            
8 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 Section 3   
9 Children's Social Care National Framework   

70

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/section/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/section/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/section/3
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-national-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-national-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-national-framework


 

  

  

15  

what is expected of them and be supported to say what they think. This is particularly 

important when there is reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or is likely to 

suffer, significant harm, whether the harm is from inside or outside the home including 

online. Working collaboratively will mean parents and carers have the best chance of 

making changes, and practitioners can make fair and accurate decisions about how to 

support children and keep them safe. While collaborative relationships between 

practitioners and, parents and carers are important, the wishes and feelings of the child 

and what is in their best interest remain central to decision-making.  Practitioners need to 

be particularly skilled in engaging and working with parents and carers whom services 

have found difficult to engage. Some examples may be parents and carers of disabled 

children, parents, and carers whose children are at risk of, or experiencing, harm from 

outside the home, fathers, and male carers, and those who are neurodivergent. 

Practitioners also need to recognise, engage, and work with parents and carers who are 

unwilling or unable to engage with services. Four principles underpin work with parents 

and carers:  

  

1) Effective partnership working with parents and carers happens when practitioners 

build strong, positive, trusting, and co-operative relationships by:   

• approaching families and their wider family networks and communities with 

empathy, respect, compassion, and creativity   

• avoiding reinforcing family shame, suffering, and blaming   

• using strength-based approaches, working with parents and carers to identify 

what is working well and how their strengths could support them to effect 

positive change   

• ensuring they work sensitively with parents, carers, and children, to identify and 

understand the impact of adversity and trauma in their lives. They seek to 

understand how adversity and trauma might manifest and affect children and 

parents’ engagement and use their expertise to adapt their response with care 

and compassion   

• adapting their responses to meet the diverse needs of parents and carers, 

including fathers and male carers, and the specific challenges being faced, 

including parents and carers of disabled children, and where harm is outside the 

home10   

                                            
10 Multi-agency Practice Principles for responding to child exploitation and extra-familial harm (researchinpractice.org.uk)  

71

https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/


 

  

  

16  

• ensuring they understand the families’ background, ethnicity, religion, financial 

situation, ability, education, sex, ages and sexual orientation, and potential 

barriers these create in seeking and accessing help and support  

• being alert and recognising where parents or carers may not be acting in the 

best interest of the child or where children may be experiencing abuse, neglect, 

and exploitation as a result of actions by parents, carers, or other individuals in 

their lives. Practitioners use their skills and expertise to adapt their response to 

secure engagement  

• being mindful of negative stereotypes when making decisions which might lead 

to false assumptions  

2) Verbal and non-verbal communication should be respectful, non-blaming, clear, 

inclusive, and adapted to parents and carers needs. Practitioners should ensure 

that all materials provided to children, parents, carers, and families are jargon free, 

developmentally appropriate and in a format that is easily understood. Where 

appropriate, material provided to children, parents, carers, and families should be 

made accessible and translated into their first language if necessary. Professional 

interpreters should be provided where needed. Practitioners should not need to rely 

on family members or partners for interpretation services, including British Sign 

Language.  

  
  

3) Practitioners empower parents and carers to participate in decision-making to help, 

support and protect children by:  

• creating a culture of “no surprises”, for example, making parents and carers 

aware of who will attend meetings and discussions, if the child will be invited to 

participate and the format of the meeting or discussion   

• explaining that parents and carers can bring a family member, a friend or 

supporter to meetings   

• giving parents and carers adequate preparation at every stage, relevant 

information, a safe and appropriate environment for participation and suitable 

access arrangements  

• signposting parents and carers to sources of help and support available locally 

or through the local authority  

72



 

  

  

17  

• helping parents and carers to understand what the issues are and how these 

impact on the child, what decisions could be made, what changes need to be 

made, why and how, timescales and possible outcomes   

4) Practitioners involve parents, carers, families, and local communities in designing 

processes that affect them, including those focused on safeguarding children. They 

value their contributions, expertise and knowledge reflecting them in service design 

and continuously seek feedback from parents, carers, family networks, children, 

and local communities to inform service improvements. Practitioners use feedback 

from parents and carers to reflect on their own practice.   

Expectations for multi-agency working  

19. Strong multi-agency and multi-disciplinary working is vital to identifying and 

responding to the needs of children and families. The following expectations have 

been developed to underpin this multi-agency working. They apply to all agencies 

and practitioners involved in safeguarding and protecting children. Specifically, 

these include police, local authorities, health services, probation services, youth 

offending services, education providers and childcare settings, and voluntary and 

third sector organisations. The term practitioners used here refers to all those 

working in these services and settings.   

20. The expectations are structured at three levels for strategic leaders, senior and 

middle managers, and direct practice.   

21. Strategic leaders may include Chief Executives of local authorities, Chief  

Executives of ICBs, Chief Executives of NHS Trusts, Chief Constables, Police and Crime 

Commissioners, and Chief Executives of multi-academy trusts.   

22. Senior and middle managers may include Directors of Children’s services, heads of 

services and team managers in local authorities, designated and named 

professionals (GP, nurse, doctor, midwife) in health, the Chief Superintendent and 

Chief Inspector (and equivalents) in police, head teachers, designated 

safeguarding leads and nursery managers in education.   

23. Those in direct practice may include frontline social workers, health visitors, police 

constables, teachers and those working in the voluntary and community sector.   

24. The professions listed as examples for each level is not exhaustive, 

decisionmaking structures will differ by area, and local areas should consider how 

best to apply these standards to match their local approach.   

73



 

  

  

18  

25. Multi-agency expectations for strategic leaders are as follows:   

• Collaborate: leaders develop a shared vision for how their services work together 

to deliver shared goals   

• Learn: leaders use evidence from direct practice in their area so that they know 

and can evaluate what is and isn’t working well for children and families   

• Resource: leaders are ambitious about helping, supporting, and protecting children 

in their area and jointly prioritise and share resources accordingly   

• Include: leaders create an inclusive culture where diversity is understood, and 

multi-agency and multi-disciplinary working is celebrated   

• Mutual challenge: leaders hold each other and their teams to account and are 

held to account by their teams for the quality of the partnership working   

26. Multi-agency expectations for senior and middle managers are as follows:   

• Collaborate: decisions are based on a shared practice approach and constructive 

debate and analysis of information from all services   

• Learn: managers ensure their teams have time to engage in peer learning and 

knowledge exchange, peer audit, group supervision and observation   

• Resource: managers ensure children receive the holistic support they need, 

drawing in expertise from a wide range of agencies   

• Include: managers support staff to identify and challenge discrimination, disparity, 

and negative stereotypes  

• Mutual challenge: constructive challenge within and across agencies and 

disciplines is actively encouraged, independent judgements are valued and given 

space alongside collective decision-making to avoid groupthink   

  

27. Multi-agency expectations for direct practice are as follows:   

• Collaborate: practitioners working with the same child and family share information 

to get a complete picture of what life is like for the child. Collectively, they ensure 

the child’s voice is at the centre and the right support is provided  

• Learn: practitioners learn together by drawing on the best available evidence from 

their individual fields and sharing their diverse perspectives during regular shared 

reflection on a child’s development, experiences, and outcomes   

74



 

  

  

19  

• Resource: practitioners build strong relationships across agencies and disciplines 

to ensure they support and protect the children with whom they work   

• Include: practitioners recognise the differences between, and are confident to 

respond to, circumstances where children experience adversity due to economic 

and social circumstances and acute family stress, and situations where children 

face harm due to parental abuse and neglect   

• Mutual challenge: practitioners challenge themselves and each other, question 

each other’s assumptions, and seek to resolve differences of opinion in a 

restorative and respectful way   

Information sharing   

28. No single practitioner can have a full picture of a child’s needs and circumstances 

so effective sharing of information between practitioners, local organisations and agencies 

is essential for early identification of need, assessment, and service provision to keep 

children safe. Rapid reviews and child safeguarding practice reviews have highlighted that 

missed opportunities to record, understand the significance of, and share information in a 

timely manner can have severe consequences for children11.  

29. Practitioners should be proactive in sharing information as early as possible to help 

identify, assess, and respond to risks or concerns about the safety and welfare of children. 

This may be when problems are first emerging (for example, persistent school absences) 

or where a child is already known to local authority children’s social care. Sharing 

information about any adults with whom that child has contact, which may impact the 

child’s safety or welfare, is also critical.   

30. Information sharing is also essential for the identification of patterns of behaviour 

when a child is at risk of going missing or has gone missing, including being missing from 

education. When multiple children appear associated to the same context or locations of 

risk, or in relation to children in the secure estate where there may be multiple local  

  
  

authorities involved in a child’s care, it will be for local safeguarding partners to consider 

how they build relationships and share relevant information in a timely and proportionate 

way with each other, other local organisations, and other safeguarding partnerships.   

                                            
11 Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 2021: annual report   

75

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1123913/Child_Safeguarding_Practice_Review_Panel_2021_-_annual_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1123913/Child_Safeguarding_Practice_Review_Panel_2021_-_annual_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1123913/Child_Safeguarding_Practice_Review_Panel_2021_-_annual_report.pdf


 

  

  

20  

31. The Data Protection Act 201812 and UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK 

GDPR) supports the sharing of relevant information for the purposes of keeping children 

safe. Fears about sharing information must not be allowed to stand in the way of 

safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children. To ensure effective safeguarding 

arrangements:   

• all organisations and agencies should have arrangements in place that set out 

clearly the processes and the principles for sharing information. The arrangements 

should cover how information will be shared with their own organisation/agency 

and with others who may be involved in a child’s life  

• practitioners should not assume that someone else will pass on information that 

they think may be critical to keep a child safe. If a practitioner has concerns about 

a child’s welfare or safety, then they should share the information with local 

authority children’s social care and/or the police. All practitioners should be 

particularly alert to the importance of sharing information when a child moves from 

one local authority into another, due to the risk that knowledge pertinent to keeping 

a child safe could be lost   

• UK GDPR provides a number of bases for sharing personal information. It is not 

necessary to seek consent to share information for the purposes of safeguarding 

and promoting the welfare of a child provided that there is a lawful basis to process 

any personal information required. The legal bases that may be appropriate for 

sharing data in these circumstances could be “legal obligation” or “public task”, 

which includes the performance of a task in the public interest or the exercise of 

official authority. Each of the lawful bases under UK GDPR has different 

requirements13. In some circumstances, it may be appropriate to obtain consent to 

share data, but it is important to note that UK GDPR sets a high standard for 

consent which is specific, time limited and can be withdrawn (in which case the 

information would have to be deleted)  

32. Practitioners must have due regard to the relevant data protection principles which 

allow them to share personal information, as provided for in the Data Protection Act 2018 

and UK GDPR. To share information effectively:  

• practitioners should be confident of the lawful bases and processing conditions 

under the Data Protection Act 2018 and UK GDPR that allow them to store and  

  
  

                                            
12 Data Protection Act 2018  
13 Lawful basis for processing: Information Commissioner’s Office  

76

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/


 

  

  

21  

share information, including information which is considered sensitive, such as 

health data, known under the data protection legislation as “special category 

personal data”  

• where practitioners need to share special category personal data, for example, 

where information obtained is sensitive and needs more protection, they should 

consider and identify the lawful basis for doing so under Article 6 of UK GDPR, 

and in addition be able to meet one of the specific conditions for processing under 

Article 9. The Data Protection Act 2018 specifies “safeguarding of children and 

individuals at risk” as a processing condition that allows practitioners to share 

information, including without consent (where in the circumstances consent cannot 

be given, it cannot be reasonably expected that a practitioner obtains consent or if 

to gain consent would place a child at risk). However, practitioners should be 

aware of the risks of processing special category data and be mindful that a data 

protection impact assessment must be completed for any type of processing which 

is likely to be high risk14  

33. Practitioners should aim to be as transparent as possible by telling families what 

information they are sharing and with whom, provided that it is safe to do so.  

    

     

    

  
  

Common myths that hinder effective information sharing  

Data protection legislation is a barrier to sharing information   

                                            
14 Data protection impact assessments | ICO  

77

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/uk-gdpr-guidance-and-resources/accountability-and-governance/guide-to-accountability-and-governance/accountability-and-governance/data-protection-impact-assessments/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/uk-gdpr-guidance-and-resources/accountability-and-governance/guide-to-accountability-and-governance/accountability-and-governance/data-protection-impact-assessments/


 

  

  

22  

No. The Data Protection Act 2018 and UK GDPR do not prohibit the collection and 

sharing of personal information, but rather provide a framework to ensure that personal 

information is shared appropriately. In particular, the Data Protection Act 2018 balances 

the rights of the information subject (the individual whom the information is about) and 

the possible need to share information about them.  

Consent is needed to share personal information   

No, you do not need consent to share personal information. It is one way to comply with 

the data protection legislation but not the only way. UK GDPR provides a number of 

bases for sharing personal information. It is not necessary to seek consent to share 

information for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of a child 

provided that there is a lawful basis to process any personal information required. The 

legal bases that may be appropriate for sharing data in these circumstances could be 

‘legal obligation’, or ‘public task’ which includes the performance of a task in the public 

interest or the exercise of official authority. Each of the lawful bases under UK GDPR 

has different requirements. It is good practice to be transparent and inform 

parents/carers that you are sharing information for these purposes and seek to work 

cooperatively with them, where it is safe to do so.  

Personal information collected by one organisation/agency cannot be disclosed 

to another   

No, this is not the case unless the information is to be used for a purpose incompatible 

with the purpose for which it was originally collected. In the case of children in need, or 

children at risk of significant harm, it is difficult to foresee circumstances where 

information law would be a barrier to sharing personal information with other 

practitioners15.   

  

  
  

 

                                            
15 Practitioners looking to share information should consider which processing condition in the Data Protection Act 2018 is most 

appropriate for use in the particular circumstances of the case. This may be the safeguarding processing condition or another relevant 

provision.  

78



 

  

  

23  

The common law duty of confidence and the Human Rights Act 1998 prevent the 

sharing of personal information   

No, this is not the case. In addition to the Data Protection Act 2018 and GDPR, 

practitioners need to balance the common law duty of confidence and the Human 

Rights Act 1998 against the effect on individuals or others of not sharing the 

information  

IT systems are often a barrier to effective information sharing   

There are many IT systems that support the sharing of information, such as the Child 

Protection Information Sharing project (CP-IS). It is important that the sector continues 

to work with IT suppliers to ensure that their user needs around information sharing are 

factored into priorities for system enhancement.  

  

79



 

  

  

24  

Chapter 2: Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements  

34. Protecting children from abuse, neglect and exploitation requires multi-agency join 

up and cooperation at all levels. Local organisations and agencies that work with 

children and families play a significant and often statutory role when it comes to 

safeguarding children.   

35. Many of these organisations and agencies have a duty16 to ensure their functions 

are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children.   

36. The way in which these organisations and agencies work together is known as 

multi-agency safeguarding arrangements (MASAs). Robust arrangements help to 

ensure that information about a child and their family is shared effectively, risk of 

harm is correctly identified and understood, and that children and families receive 

targeted services that meet their needs in a co-ordinated way.  

37. Strong, collaborative leadership and timely decision-making are crucial to the 

effectiveness of multi-agency working and to identify and address system issues. 

The three safeguarding partners are responsible and accountable for this in their 

local areas.   

Safeguarding partners are defined in legislation as follows:  

Safeguarding partners  

A statutory safeguarding partner in relation to a local authority area in England is 

defined under the Children Act 2004 (as amended by the Children and Social Work 

Act, 2017) as:  

(a) the local authority  

(b) an integrated care board for an area any part of which falls within the local 

authority area   

(c) the chief officer of police for an area any part of which falls within the local 

authority area  

  

                                            
16 Children Act 2004 Section 11  

80

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/11
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/11


 

  

  

25  

38. These three partners have a joint and equal duty17 to make arrangements to:  

  
  

• work together as a team to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in a 

local area   

• include and develop the role of wider local organisations and agencies (see chapter 

2, paragraphs 65-75 on Relevant agencies) in the process.   

39. Every local authority, ICB and constabulary in England must be covered by a 

multiagency safeguarding arrangement18.  

40. The purpose of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements is to ensure that, at a 

local level, organisations and agencies are clear about how they will work together 

to safeguard children and promote their welfare. This means:  

• there is a clear, shared vision for how to improve outcomes for children locally 

across all levels of need and all types of harm    

• when a child is identified as suffering or likely to suffer significant harm there is a 

prompt, appropriate and effective response to ensure the protection and support of 

the child  

• organisations and agencies are challenged appropriately, effectively holding one 

another to account  

• the voice of children and families combined with the knowledge of experienced 

practitioners and insights from data, provides a greater understanding of the areas 

of strength and/or improvement within arrangements and practice   

• information is sought, analysed, shared, and broken down by protected 

characteristics to facilitate more accurate and timely decision-making for children 

and families, and to understand outcomes for different communities of children  

• effective collection, sharing and analysis of data, enables early identification of new 

safeguarding risks, issues, emerging threats, and joined-up responses across 

relevant agencies   

                                            
17 Children Act 2004 Section 16E  

81

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16E
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16E


 

  

  

26  

• senior leaders promote and embed a learning culture which supports local services 

to become more reflective and implement changes to practice  

• senior leaders have a good knowledge and understanding about the quality of local 

practice and its impact on children and families  

  
  

18 Children Act 2004 Section 16E  

Geography  

41. Although the geographical boundaries for the three safeguarding partners may 

differ in size, multi-agency safeguarding arrangements should be based on local authority 

areas. Arrangements can cover two or more local authority boundaries by agreement and 

where this is in place local authorities can agree to delegate their safeguarding duties to a 

single authority18.   

42. The geographical area of a local multi-agency safeguarding arrangement can be 

changed over time. Where changes are proposed, these should be agreed by all 

safeguarding partners, communicated clearly to relevant agencies and staff, and reflected 

in published arrangements (chapter 2, paragraphs 103-105 on Publication of 

arrangements).   

43. As police and health boundaries often cover multiple local authorities, they are 

usually part of more than one multi-agency safeguarding arrangement. Reflecting this, 

engagement and collaboration through multi-agency safeguarding arrangements can 

extend beyond the geographical borders of their local area (for example, regionally or 

across different strategic arrangements and boards). There is an expectation that lead 

safeguarding partners should decide how best to contribute to the local arrangements 

they are responsible for.   

44. There are interdependencies between local arrangements and other strategic 

partnership work happening locally to support children and families. This will include but 

not be limited to other public boards, including Health and Wellbeing Boards, Adult  

Safeguarding Boards, Channel Panels, Improvement Boards, Community Safety  

                                            
18 Children Act 2004 Section 16J  

82

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16E
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16E
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16E
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16J
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16J


 

  

  

27  

Partnerships, the Local Family Justice Board, Multi-Agency Public Protection  

Arrangements (MAPPA) Strategic Management Boards, local drug partnerships, domestic 

abuse partnership boards, Corporate Parenting Board, Youth Offending Management 

Board and, where relevant, Violence Reduction Units. It is for local areas to decide how 

best to coordinate these boards and partnerships to reflect local need.   

45. Local safeguarding arrangements will need to reflect health and care infrastructure 

such as ICBs, Integrated Care Systems, local maternity and neonatal systems, provider 

collaboratives, primary care networks and NHS specialised commissioning arrangements.   

46. It is particularly important that all partners collaborate to ensure that children are 

placed as close to home as possible and are able to continue to access services in their 

local area which support their safety and wellbeing.  

  
  

Strategic leadership and accountability   

47. Strong, joined-up leadership and clear accountability is critical to effective 

multiagency safeguarding, bringing together the various organisations and agencies. It is 

therefore important that the head of each statutory safeguarding partner agency plays an 

active role in these arrangements. They (hereafter ‘lead safeguarding partner’ or ‘LSP’) 

have been named because they are able to:   

• speak with authority for the safeguarding partner they represent  

• take decisions on behalf of their organisation or agency and commit them on policy, 

resourcing, and practice matters   

• hold their own organisation or agency to account on how effectively they participate 

and implement the local arrangements  

48. In relation to the police, the LSP is already defined as the Chief Officer of Police19. 

For local authorities, the LSP should be the Head of Paid Service, also known as the 

Chief Executive21, and for ICBs the LSP should be the Chief Executive.   

49. Each LSP is responsible for discharging their own statutory and legislative duties to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children. As leaders of their organisations and the 

statutory safeguarding partners, it is for LSPs to assure themselves that their local 

                                            
19 A chief police officer is the most senior police officer in a police force as defined in the Police Act 1996 Section 101 21 
Head of paid service: Local Government and Housing Act 1989 Section 4   

83

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/16/section/101
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/16/section/101
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/16/section/101
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/4


 

  

  

28  

arrangements are effective and keep children safe. This includes systems of assurance 

and accountability within each of their organisations, including inspection findings.  

50. LSPs are jointly responsible for ensuring the proper involvement of and oversight of 

all relevant agencies, and should act as a team, as opposed to a voice for their agency 

alone. They should meet sufficiently regularly to undertake the following core functions: 

Through what mechanism and how often is for local decision.   

  
  

84



 

  

  

29  

Joint functions of lead safeguarding partners  

1. Set the strategic direction, vision, and culture of the local safeguarding 

arrangements, including agreeing and reviewing shared priorities and the resource 

required to deliver services effectively.  

2. Lead their organisation’s individual contribution to the shared priorities, ensuring 

strong governance, accountability, and reporting mechanisms to hold their 

delegates to account for the delivery of agency commitments.  

3. Review and sign off key partnership documents: published multi-agency 

safeguarding arrangements, including plans for independent scrutiny, shared 

annual budget, yearly report, and local threshold document.  

4. Provide shared oversight of learning from independent scrutiny, serious 

incidents, local child safeguarding practice reviews, and national reviews, ensuring 

recommendations are implemented and have a demonstrable impact on practice 

(as set out in the yearly report).  

5. Ensure multi-agency arrangements have the necessary level of business 

support, including intelligence and analytical functions, such as an agreed data set 

providing oversight and a robust understanding of practice.  

6. Ensure all relevant agencies, including education settings, are clear on their role 

and contribution to multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.  

51. LSPs should be clearly named in published arrangements (see chapter 2, 

paragraphs 103-105 on Publication of arrangements) and are accountable for the 

effectiveness and outcomes of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in their area.  

52. In cases where the boundaries of the police and ICB extend over multiple local 

authority areas, LSPs may decide to meet at a more regional level so they can discuss all 

arrangements within their remit and ensure consistency of funding and resources.   

53. LSPs should demonstrate how the experiences of children and families shape the 

delivery of local arrangements. They should consider in particular how those with 

protected characteristics20 engage in service design.   

54. The LSP holds responsibility for the implementation of recommendations and 

learning from serious incidents, local child safeguarding practice reviews and national 

                                            
20 Equality Act 2010  

85

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance


 

  

  

30  

reviews whether or not they originate within their local area, although elements of 

monitoring these can be delegated.  

  
  

55. Delivery of multi-agency safeguarding functions and processes should be 

delegated to enable the LSPs to focus on their joint functions and maintain strategic 

oversight.   

Delivering multi-agency safeguarding arrangements   

56. Each LSP should appoint a delegated safeguarding partner (DSP) for its agency 

who should be named in arrangements.   

57. DSPs21 should be sufficiently senior to be able to speak with authority, take 

decisions on behalf of the LSP and hold their sectors to account. The DSPs should 

have the authority to carry out these functions, while ultimate accountability 

remains with the LSP as the individual responsible for the delivery of the statutory 

duties of the safeguarding partners.   

58. The DSP should have oversight of the quality and compliance of the delivery of 

agreed shared priorities. They should have processes in place to provide 

assurance that multi-agency practice is reviewed and operating well. Where this is 

not evident, they should have the capacity and resource from their own agencies to 

engage, respond and improve operational systems and practice.  

59. DSPs and LSPs should have regular interaction and communication to ensure that 

the LSP has sufficient oversight and detail on key topics and issues to maintain 

their statutory responsibilities. Where a key decision needs to be made that will 

impact arrangements and/or services, this should involve the LSP. DSPs should 

escalate risks and issues they cannot resolve between them to the LSPs for 

resolution. This will ensure that accountability is clear, that strategic decisions are 

achievable and deliverable, and that progress is driven at all levels.  

                                            
21 For the DSP role, we expect that, for the police, there might need to be delegation based on local context. The responsibilities of the 

delegate should be no lower than that of Area Commander, Head of Public Protection or equivalent.  

  

  

86



 

  

  

31  

60. DSPs should meet sufficiently frequently to undertake the following joint functions:  

  
  

Joint functions of delegated safeguarding partners   

1. Delivery and monitoring of multi-agency priorities and procedures to protect and 

safeguard children in the local area, in compliance with published arrangements 

and thresholds.  

2. Close partnership working and engagement with education (at strategic and 

operational level) and other relevant agencies, allowing better identification of 

and response to harm.  

3. The implementation of effective information sharing arrangements between 

agencies, including data sharing that facilitates joint analysis between partner 

agencies.  

4. Delivery of high-quality and timely rapid reviews and local child safeguarding 

practice reviews, with the impact of learning from local and national reviews and 

independent scrutiny clearly evidenced in yearly reports.  

5. The provision of appropriate multi-agency safeguarding professional 

development and training.  

6. Seeking of, and responding to, feedback from children and families about their 

experiences of services and co-designing services to ensure children from 

different communities and groups can access the help and protection they need.  

61. To support delivery of these functions, LSPs should appoint one of the DSPs as the 

partnership chair for the multi-agency arrangements. This role needs to be jointly 

agreed by the LSPs and in doing so given the full backing of all three partners. The 

role should be regularly reviewed, and any changes updated in published 

arrangements. The role can be rotated between the DSPs if deemed appropriate by 

87



 

  

  

32  

LSPs. This is intended to mirror the joint and equal responsibility for the 

arrangements and increase shared understanding of the system. The function 

should facilitate partner discussions, working in conjunction with independent 

scrutiny which provides rigour and challenge.   

62. The purpose of the partnership chair will be to provide greater continuity across 

local areas and act as the conduit between the DSPs and LSPs, providing 

feedback and escalating collective risk and issues to LSPs as necessary. It will 

allow for a single point of contact for the partnership but should not cut across 

existing formal complaints procedures. The functions of the partnership chair are 

separate and distinct from the functions of independent scrutiny. This arrangement 

removes any need for a local area to maintain another chair or independent chair.  

Functions of Partnership Chair role  

• To develop strategic links, support and hold to account all LSPs in fulfilling their 

safeguarding duties for children.  

• Ensure that local arrangements are designed to work collaboratively and 

effectively by encouraging and supporting the development of partnership 

working between the LSPs, DSPs, independent scrutiny role and MASA 

subgroups.  

• Chair the meetings of the DSPs, including any additional meetings convened as 

a response to specific and exceptional circumstances, with the help of the 

business manager and independent scrutiny role.   

• Offer appropriate challenge to ensure that the partners are accountable, and 

that the local arrangements operate effectively.  

63. Strong leadership and clear accountability are crucial for effective multi-agency 

safeguarding arrangements. To strengthen accountability, local safeguarding 

arrangements should separate the roles of partnership chair and independent 

scrutiny and be clear about the three distinct functions within effective local 

safeguarding arrangements:   

• the partnership chair has authority, is decisive and enables resource allocation, 

with risk escalation to lead safeguarding partners at the executive   

• a business management function with adequate resources and capacity to support 

the partnership chair  

88



 

  

  

33  

• a rigorous and effective independent scrutiny function providing challenge to the 

safeguarding partners (see chapter 2, paragraphs 89-97 on Independent scrutiny)   

64. The DSPs should ensure that, with the support of, the business management and 

independent scrutiny function (see chapter 2, paragraphs 89-97 on Independent 

scrutiny) the following activities and assurance will be delivered:  

• oversee and be responsible for the analysis, intelligence, and timely collection of 

data to support functions, such as:  

o getting an accurate local picture of how effectively services are being 

delivered through regular communication across relevant agencies o 

advising the statutory safeguarding partners of the key challenges and 

emerging priorities  

o coordinating the joint multi-agency strategic plan, ensuring that statutory 

safeguarding partners and their delegates feed into and own the plan in the 

local area o overseeing the quality of practice and local outcomes for children 

and families  

• review and promote consistent understanding and application of referral and 

intervention thresholds across agencies so that the right children receive the right 

support at the right time  

• coordinate the views of children, and families about the services they receive and 

feed key learning, issues, and good practice to the LSPs   

• support effective engagement with relevant agencies in their local area so that they 

understand their roles and responsibilities, which includes strengthening the input 

from education providers at operational and strategic level decision-making  

• use learning from local practice and serious incident notifications to prompt 

reflection and analysis of where improvements need to be secured and action 

taken   

• strengthen system conditions for effective multi-agency child protection work  

• chair, attend or be reported to on regular multi-agency operational meetings and 

subgroups, to ensure common threads across the arrangements. Partnerships 

should decide the regularity of meetings at both a LSP and DSP level   

Relevant agencies  

65. Relevant agencies are those organisations and agencies whose involvement the 

safeguarding partners consider are required to safeguard and promote the welfare of local 

89



 

  

  

34  

children. A list of organisations that meet the criteria to be included as a relevant agency 

is set out in regulations22.   

66. Strong, effective multi-agency safeguarding arrangements should be responsive to 

local circumstances and engage the right people in a collaborative way. This approach 

requires flexibility from all relevant agencies, to enable joint identification and response to 

existing and emerging needs, and to agree priorities to improve outcomes for children.   

67. The LSPs should set out in their published arrangements which organisations and 

agencies they require to work with them as relevant agencies. It is expected all local 

education and childcare providers working with children up to the age of 18, including  

  
  

alternative provision, pupil referral units and further education will be included because of 

the pivotal role they play in children’s daily lives and amount of time they spend with them.   

68. Early years provision within schools and maintained nurseries are relevant 

agencies and help to safeguard some of the most vulnerable children. There are also 

other providers such as nurseries and childminders whose role within local arrangements 

should be considered. All early years providers should have regard to this guidance and 

the Early Years Foundation Stage statutory framework23. School-aged children may also 

attend a childcare setting or an out-of-school activity, and where children are home 

educated these settings are particularly significant. Therefore, LSPs should also consider 

including voluntary, charity, social enterprise (VCSE) organisations, childcare settings, 

and sports clubs in their published arrangements.   

69. Local arrangements are expected to change over time to ensure they continue to 

work effectively for children and families, to keep pace with changing demographics and 

evolving social and economic challenges. Any changes should be reflected in updated 

published arrangements.   

70. When identified by the LSPs as a relevant agency, an organisation must act in 

accordance with local safeguarding arrangements26. As part of this, the organisation 

should:   

                                            
22 The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018  
23 Statutory framework for the early years foundation stage 26  

Children’s Act 2004 Section16G (4)  

90

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1170108/EYFS_framework_from_September_2023.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1170108/EYFS_framework_from_September_2023.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16G
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16G
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16G


 

  

  

35  

• have a clear understanding of its responsibilities in relation to safeguarding children 

locally, and how it will discharge them  

• co-operate with safeguarding partners to improve, implement, and monitor 

effectiveness of the local safeguarding arrangements   

• share information and data about safeguarding issues and concerns affecting the 

children involved in their organisation to contribute to local priorities   

• ensure local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements are fully understood, and 

rigorously applied within their organisation   

71. LSPs should consult with relevant agencies when developing safeguarding 

arrangements. This will ensure relevant agencies are aware of the expectations placed on 

them. Relevant agencies should actively promote and enforce the arrangements they 

have contributed to shaping.   

72. Where a relevant agency has a national remit, such as the British Transport Police 

and Cafcass, LSPs should be clear on how these agencies should collaborate, what any  

  
  

agency’s individual responsibilities are, and how they might contribute towards local 

safeguarding arrangements. Where a body or organisation is not named in Relevant 

Agency regulations, such as a territorial or special police force, LSPs may still wish to 

consider inviting them to contribute to local safeguarding arrangements by agreement.   

73. The published arrangements should set out clearly any contributions agreed with 

relevant agencies, including funding and budget contributions, accommodation, services, 

and any resources connected with the arrangements.   

74. In setting out how they will work with relevant agencies, the LSPs should be clear 

how they will assure themselves that relevant agencies have appropriate, robust 

safeguarding policies and procedures in place and how information will be shared 

amongst all relevant agencies and the safeguarding partners.  

75. DSPs and relevant agencies should be in regular communication about local 

multiagency safeguarding arrangements and their effectiveness. It is for the LSPs to 

determine when their list of relevant agencies should be reviewed. Local safeguarding 

arrangements should be shared with and be easily accessible to all partners and relevant 

agencies. Relevant agencies should be provided with information about how to escalate 

91



 

  

  

36  

concerns and how any disputes will be resolved. This should include details of the 

independent scrutiny and whistleblowing procedures.   

Working with schools, colleges, early years, and other 

education providers  

76. Schools, colleges, early years and childcare settings, and other educational 

providers (including alternative provision) all have a pivotal role to play in safeguarding 

children and promoting their welfare. Their insight and co-operation are vital to the 

successful delivery of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements. People working in 

education settings play an important role in building relationships, identifying concerns 

and providing direct support to children. They may be the first trusted adult to whom 

children report safeguarding concerns. LSPs should give careful consideration to naming 

all local schools, colleges and education providers set out in the 2018 Regulations24 as 

relevant agencies. The statutory guidance ‘Keeping children safe in education’ and ‘Early 

years foundation stage (EYFS) statutory framework’ set out the safeguarding duties and 

expectations on schools, colleges and other education providers and should be read 

alongside this guidance.   

  
  

77. LSPs should create an environment which enables all schools25 (including 

independent schools and academy trusts), colleges, early years, and other education and 

childcare providers in the local area to be fully engaged, involved and included in local 

safeguarding arrangements. This means making sure that the views and contributions of 

education and childcare providers are articulated at the highest level of decision-making. 

Although it may be challenging for a single education or childcare leader to speak on 

behalf of all local providers, LSPs should have an education representative at strategic 

discussions representing the education sector. These local leaders will bring insights on 

the experiences of children locally, and on how arrangements impact on the education 

and childcare system.   

78. Most local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements include systems to ensure 

engagement and collaboration at the operational level, such as through education 

                                            
24 The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018  
25 Statutory guidance Keeping children safe in education defines “all schools” as “maintained, non-maintained or independent schools 

(including academies, free schools, and alternative provision academies), maintained nursery schools and pupil referral units”  

92

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2


 

  

  

37  

subgroups and networks, practitioner forums involving designated safeguarding leads26, 

and nominated education representatives. Some safeguarding partners already recognise 

the need to ensure education providers have a voice at the strategic decision-making level 

and reflect this in their structures. Published arrangements and yearly reports should 

outline how education providers are engaged and consulted with at both the operational 

and strategic levels, how this then impacts on decision-making, what it means to be a 

relevant agency in their local area, and how they can escalate an issue.   

79. Education providers, including multi-academy trusts, have a responsibility to play 

their full part in local safeguarding arrangements, including where their footprint extends 

across several local authority areas. This includes, but should not be limited to, 

responding to safeguarding audits of quality and compliance27, as requested by the local 

authority and/or local safeguarding partners. This is to ensure that policies are consistent 

with the local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements and relevant legislation and/or 

regulations. They should also provide staff and governor training that meets local and 

national safeguarding requirements28. Education providers where required should report 

their audits to their governing bodies and proprietors to be shared as requested by the 

LSPs. Training for designated safeguarding leads and designated teachers should include 

shared understanding about different levels of need and how these need to be responded 

to. Education providers also play a vital role in sharing and contributing to key information 

about children, including attendance data, exclusions, concerns about abuse, neglect, 

exploitation, and wider social and environmental factors including extra-familial contexts, 

which are a key aspect of keeping children safe.   

  
  

  

80. Where the LSPs have concerns about the safeguarding arrangements in a school, 

independent school or an academy, ‘Schools causing concern’ guidance32 should be 

followed.  

81. Ofsted registered education and childcare providers’ culture and their approach to 

safeguarding will be considered as part of all Ofsted inspections. While safeguarding is 

                                            
26 Named child protection or safeguarding lead: NSPCC Learning  
27 Children Act 2004 Section 11, Education Act 2002 Section 157, Education Act 2002 Section 175, Children and Social Work Act 2017  

   

Section 16H 

28 Keeping children safe in education  

93

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1111085/FINAL_FOR_PUBLICATION-_Schools_Causing_Concern_Guidance_Update_Representations_edit__2_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1111085/FINAL_FOR_PUBLICATION-_Schools_Causing_Concern_Guidance_Update_Representations_edit__2_.pdf
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/templates/nominated-child-protection-lead-role
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/templates/nominated-child-protection-lead-role
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/11/2022-07-01
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/11/2022-07-01
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/32/section/175
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/section/19
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/section/19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2


 

  

  

38  

not graded separately, Ofsted will always make a written judgement in reports about 

whether the arrangements for safeguarding children are effective.   

Working with voluntary, charity, social enterprise (VCSE) 

organisations and sports clubs   

82. Many voluntary, charity, social enterprise (VCSE) organisations and sports clubs 

(see chapter 4 paragraphs 310-315) provide education and activities for children as part of 

their work. Similar to staff in schools and colleges, the staff and volunteers working with 

children in these settings will often play an important role in building relationships, 

identifying concerns, and providing direct support to children; they can often be the first 

trusted adult to whom a child reports abuse. Therefore, many of these organisations will 

have a crucial role to play in safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children.   

83. LSPs should consider the value of including VCSEs in their local arrangements, 

regardless of whether they are named in the 2018 Regulations. Where LSPs choose to 

name these organisations as a relevant agency in published local arrangements, it is 

important that they are engaged in developing these safeguarding arrangements and, 

where applicable, made aware of their statutory duty to co-operate with them. Beyond 

these local arrangements, non-statutory guidance ‘Keeping children safe in out-of-school 

settings’33 sets out the safeguarding arrangements that these providers should have in 

place, including expectations on how to manage safeguarding concerns, and the 

importance of familiarising themselves with local arrangements and referral routes.  

Information requests  

84. Sharing of information between organisations and agencies within a multi-agency 

system is essential to improve outcomes for children and their families.  

85. Safeguarding partners may require any person, organisation, or agency to provide 

them, any relevant agency for the area, a reviewer or another person, organisation or 

agency, with specified information34. This should be information which enables and  

  
  

32 Schools causing concern.   
33 Keeping children safe in out-of-school settings (Using after-school clubs, community activities and tuition: guidance for providers)  34 

Children Act 2004 Section 16H  

assists the LSPs to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in their area, including 

local and national child safeguarding practice reviews.  

94

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1101454/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1101454/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1101454/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1101454/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1101454/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2022.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-causing-concern--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-causing-concern--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-causing-concern--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-parents-and-carers-on-safeguarding-children-in-out-of-school-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-parents-and-carers-on-safeguarding-children-in-out-of-school-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-parents-and-carers-on-safeguarding-children-in-out-of-school-settings
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16H
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16H
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16H
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16H


 

  

  

39  

86. The person or organisation to whom a request is made must comply with such a 

request29. If they do not, safeguarding partners may take legal action against them.  

87. As public authorities, safeguarding partners should be aware of their own 

responsibilities under the relevant information law and have regard to guidance provided 

by the Information Commissioner’s Office30 when issuing and responding to requests for 

information.  

88. Safeguarding partners should have an agreement in place which outlines how 

information is shared safely and effectively between themselves and other relevant 

agencies.  

Independent scrutiny   

89. Safeguarding partners must ensure that there are arrangements for effective 

independent scrutiny in place for their local area.  

  

                                            
29 Children Act 2004 Section 16H (2)  
30 For organisations: Information Commissioner’s Office  

95

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16H
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16H
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/


 

  

  

40  

  

Functions of independent scrutiny role  

• Provide safeguarding partners and relevant agencies with independent, 

rigorous, and effective support and challenge at both a strategic and operational 

level.  

• Provide assurance to the whole system in judging the effectiveness of the 

multiagency safeguarding arrangements through a range of scrutiny methods.  

• Ensure that statutory duties are being fulfilled, quality assurance mechanisms 

are in place, and that local child safeguarding practice reviews and national 

reviews are analysed, with key learning areas identified and effectively 

implemented across the safeguarding system.   

• Ensure that the voice of children and families is considered as part of scrutiny 

and that this is at the heart of arrangements through direct feedback, informing 

policy and practice.  

• Be regarded as a ‘critical friend’ and provide opportunities for two-way 

discussion and reflection between frontline practitioners and leaders. This will 

encourage and enable strong, clear, strategic leadership.  

• Provide independent advice when there are disagreements between agencies 

and safeguarding partners and facilitate escalation procedures.  

• Evaluate and contribute to multi-agency safeguarding published arrangements 

and the annual report, alongside feeding into the wider accountability systems 

such as inspections.  

90. Independent scrutiny should drive continuous improvement and provide assurance 

that arrangements are working effectively for children, families, and practitioners. It should 

also consider learning from local child safeguarding practice reviews, national reviews and 

thematic reports. The independent scrutineer or scrutiny group should be able to 

demonstrate knowledge, skills and expertise in the area being scrutinised and 

consequently add value to the work of local agencies.   

91. Scrutiny should be evidence-based, and feedback should be considered and acted 

upon by safeguarding partners. Scrutineers should consider the impact that the LSP and 

DSP make through their strategic oversight, if they are providing strong leadership, and 

the functioning of local arrangements.   

96



 

  

  

41  

92. Independent scrutiny contributes to the wider system of accountability which 

includes the independent inspectorates’ single agency inspections, including Inspection of 

local authority children’s services (ILACS), and Police Forces assessment of their 

effectiveness, efficiency, and legitimacy (PEEL), as well as Joint Targeted Area 

Inspections, National Child Protection Inspections and annual reporting arrangements 

(see chapter 2, paragraphs 101-102 on Reporting).     

93. The decision on how best to implement a robust system of independent scrutiny is 

to be made locally, and LSPs should be assured that the system in place leads to 

objective and rigorous analysis of local arrangements.   

94. Statutory partners and relevant agencies should review progress against agreed 

priorities and identify areas for scrutiny, with a focus on achieving outcomes for children.   

95. Scrutiny should be based on sharing and analysis of local and national data, 

intelligence, and information. This could include the development of multi-agency 

dashboards, joint needs assessments, multi-agency audits, reviews, and mapping of what 

is already being scrutinised by the statutory safeguarding partners and relevant agencies, 

identifying the gaps and aligning with agreed priorities.  

96. Independent scrutiny can be delivered through a range of methods and structures. 

Local areas may choose to have an individual or an externally commissioned group 

delivering their scrutiny. Furthermore, scrutiny may be embedded within the structure of 

the arrangement or set apart from it. Scrutiny work can be undertaken through interviews, 

focus groups, data analysis, observations, and peer review. Scrutiny should take account 

of the voice and experience of children and their families.    

97. The approach to independent scrutiny should be clearly set out and accessible. 

The published arrangements should state how independent scrutiny is delivered locally 

and by whom, how the arrangements are reviewed and how regularly, which areas will be 

scrutinised, and how any recommendations will be taken forward. This might include the 

process and timescales for ongoing review of the arrangements, and the effectiveness of 

learning following serious incidents. In the yearly report, the LSPs should review the 

impact and learning from scrutiny and how they are responding to the findings to improve 

the effectiveness of arrangements (see chapter 2, paragraphs 101-102 on Reporting).   

Funding   

98. The LSP should agree on the level of funding needed to deliver the multi-agency 

safeguarding arrangements. This includes consideration of business and analytical 

97



 

  

  

42  

support, independent scrutiny, infrastructure, and core functions including local children 

safeguarding practice reviews, multi-agency training and learning events. It is the 

responsibility of the LSP to ensure that adequate funding is allocated and spent in line 

with agreed priorities.  

99. Funding contributions from the statutory safeguarding partners should be equitable 

and agreed by the LSP. Funding for the arrangements should be reviewed on an ongoing 

basis to ensure that they can meet the financial needs of the arrangements.  

100. The funding should be transparent to children and families in the area, and the 

individual contributions of safeguarding partners and relevant agencies should be clearly 

set out in reporting (see chapter 2, paragraphs 101-102 on Reporting).   

Reporting  

101. Safeguarding partners should be transparent in how they co-ordinate, deliver and 

fund services for children and families locally. In order that others can hold the 

safeguarding partners to account there are two mechanisms for reporting on 

service delivery and leadership:   

• publication of arrangements   

• a yearly report  

102. Both documents should:  

• be contributed to and signed off by all LSPs   

• clearly demonstrate the links between them  

• be easily accessible  

Publication of arrangements   

103. Once agreed, local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements must31 be published 

and must include:   

• arrangements for the safeguarding partners to work together to identify and 

respond to the needs of children in the area   

• arrangements for commissioning and publishing local child safeguarding practice 

reviews (see chapter 5, paragraphs 356-359)  

• arrangements for independent scrutiny of the effectiveness of the arrangements  

                                            
31 Children Act 2004 Section 16G  

98

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16G
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16G


 

  

  

43  

104. They should also include:  

• who the three safeguarding partners, their delegates and partnership chair are   

• geographical boundaries, including if the arrangements operate across more than 

one local authority area  

• the relevant agencies the safeguarding partners will work with, why these 

organisations and agencies have been chosen, and how they will collaborate and 

work together to improve outcomes for children and families  

  
  

• how all, schools (including independent schools, academies, and free schools), 

colleges, early years and childcare settings, and other educational providers 

(including alternative provision) will be included in the safeguarding arrangements   

• how any youth custody and residential homes for children will be included in the 

safeguarding arrangements  

• how the safeguarding partners will share information and data safely and 

effectively, using arrangements that clearly set out the processes and the principles 

for sharing  

• how the safeguarding partners will use data and intelligence to assess the 

effectiveness of the help being provided to children and families, including early 

help  

• how multi-agency training will be commissioned, delivered, and monitored for 

impact, and how they will undertake any multi-agency and inter-agency audits   

• how the arrangements will be funded  

• the process for undertaking local child safeguarding practice reviews, setting out 

the arrangements for embedding learning across organisations and agencies   

• how the arrangements will include the voice of children and families, including how 

to escalate concerns and how any disputes will be resolved, including 

whistleblowing procedures   

• how the local threshold document in place aligns with the arrangements  

105. The published arrangements should be easily available and updated when there 

are key changes, such as changes to the LSPs, to the yearly priorities or the list of 

relevant agencies. Any updates to the published arrangements should be sent to 

the Department for Education (safeguarding.reform@education.gov.uk).  

99



 

  

  

44  

Yearly report   

106. Safeguarding partners must jointly report on the activity they have undertaken in a 

12-month period32. That reporting should be transparent and easily accessible to 

families and professionals. The focus of these reports should be on multi-agency 

priorities, learning, impact, evidence, and improvement. Reports must include:   

• what partnerships have done as a result of the arrangements, including on child 

safeguarding practice reviews  

  
  

• how effective these arrangements have been in practice  

107. In addition, the report should also include:  

• the contribution of each safeguarding partner to the functioning and structure of the 

multi-agency safeguarding arrangements  

• any themes emanating from aggregated methods of scrutiny, for example, reviews 

and scrutineer activity and multi-agency audits  

• evidence of the impact of the work of the safeguarding partners and relevant 

agencies, including training, on outcomes for children and families   

• an analysis of any areas where there has been little or no evidence of progress on 

agreed priorities   

• an analysis of learning from serious incidents  

• a record of key decisions and actions taken by the safeguarding partners in the 

yearly cycle, including in relation to implementing the recommendations from any 

local and national child safeguarding practice reviews and the impact this has had  

• ways in which the safeguarding partners have sought and utilised feedback from 

children and families to inform their work and influence service provision  

• the breakdown of costs in delivering the arrangements for that period, including the 

financial contributions of individual partners, any changes to funding and an 

assessment of the impact and value for money of this funding  

                                            
32 Children Act 2004 Section 16G  

100

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16G
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16G


 

  

  

45  

• evidence of how safeguarding partners are ensuring the adequate representation 

and input of education at both the operational and strategic levels of the 

arrangements   

• an overview of how data is being used to encourage learning within the 

arrangements and evidence of how information sharing has improved practice and 

outcomes  

• a review of the impact and learning from independent scrutiny arrangements to 

ensure the leadership is strong and the arrangements are leading to the desired 

and necessary impact  

• any updates to the published arrangement with the proposed timescale for 

implementation  

• evidence that national reforms have been implemented, taking into account key 

decisions and actions taken by safeguarding partners in response to reforms, and 

any issues or concerns encountered within the yearly cycle  

108. Where there is a secure establishment in a local area, safeguarding partners 

should include a review of the use of restraint within that establishment in their 

report, and the findings of the review should be reported to the Youth Justice 

Board, the Youth Custody Service, and His Majesty's Inspectorate of Prisons.   

109. Safeguarding partners should make sure the report is widely available. A copy 

should be sent to the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel  

(nationalreviewpanel@education.gov.uk) who will review it to identify any issues that may 

need escalation to a national level and Foundations (What Works Centre for Children and 

Families) (policy@foundations.org.uk), given its focus on learning within 7 days of 

publication. To allow for consistency across local areas, these should be submitted and 

published by the end of September every year, starting from 2024, and should be 

reflective of work undertaken the previous financial year (April to March). If partners fail to 

submit the yearly report this may be escalated to the Secretary of State.  

Dispute resolution process   

110. Safeguarding partners and relevant agencies must act in accordance with the 

arrangements for their area and will be expected to understand each other’s 

differences of views and resolve such differences locally33. LSPs should therefore 

                                            
33 Children and Social Work Act 2017 Section 16G (4)   

101

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/section/18/enacted


 

  

  

46  

agree a system to resolve disputes and issues between partners within multi-

agency safeguarding arrangements.   

111. This may be applied to isolated issues or incidents as well as any intractable 

recurring ones.   

112. At all stages LSPs and their delegates should make use of key stakeholders in their 

local systems, that might include Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs), 

Mayors, lead members, and/or independent persons, who can be brought to the 

table to assist them to settle on a solution.  

113. If the issue remains unresolved between the three safeguarding partners and their  

local networks the next stage of escalation is to the Secretary of State.     

  
  

Chapter 3: Providing help, support and protection   

114. All families can face challenges that make parenting difficult. Often families are able 

to overcome challenges themselves or with the help of relatives, friends and services, 

such as schools, youth services, health visiting and mental health services. However, 

sometimes families will have more significant needs that require more intensive help and 

support.   

115. This chapter outlines how agencies, organisations and individuals work together to 

provide help, support, and protection in early help34, through statutory services under 

                                            
34 Early help is a system of support which aims to support children and families as soon as problems emerge. Some early help support is 

described as ‘targeted early help’ and is provided to children and families who are identified by practitioners to have multiple or complex 

needs requiring a specialist and/or multi-agency response but where statutory intervention is not needed.  

102



 

  

  

47  

section 17 of the Children Act 198935 and through section 47 of the Children Act 198936 

(child protection enquires and processes).  

Local criteria for providing help, support, and protection    

116. Safeguarding partners should agree with their relevant agencies the criteria for 

different levels of assessment to inform which services are commissioned and delivered in 

their local area and ensure that the right help is given to children at the right time. This 

should include services for children who have suffered or are likely to suffer abuse, 

neglect, and exploitation whether from within or outside the home. This should also 

include a range of appropriate services for disabled children and be aligned with the short 

breaks services statement37.  

117. The safeguarding partners should publish a threshold document, which sets out the 

local criteria for action in a way that is transparent, evidence-based, accessible, and easily 

understood. This should include:  

• the process for early help assessments, and the type and level of early help and 

targeted early help services to be provided under sections 10 and 11 of the  

Children Act 200438  

  
  

• the criteria, including the level of need, for when a case should be referred to local 

authority children’s social care for assessment and for statutory services under:  

o section 17 of the Children Act 1989 (children in need, including how this applies 

for disabled children) o section 47 of the Children Act 1989 (reasonable cause to 

suspect a child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm) o section 31 of the 

                                            
35 Child in need refers to the statutory support provided under section 17 of the Children Act 1989 for a child who is unlikely to reach or 

maintain a satisfactory level of health or development, or their health or development will be significantly impaired without the provision of 

children’s social care services, or the child is disabled. The duty to provide support is on the local authority.  
36 Under section 47 of the Children Act 1989, where a child is the subject of an emergency protection order or is in police protection or 

there is reasonable cause to suspect that a child who lives, or is found, in their area is suffering or is likely to suffer, significant harm, the 

local authority must make or cause to be made enquiries to decide if any action must be taken to safeguard or promote the child’s 
welfare.  
37 Required under the Breaks for Carers of Disabled Children Regulations 2011  
38 The Children Act 2004 Section 10 requires each local authority to make arrangements to promote co-operation between the authority, 

each of the authority’s relevant partners and such other persons or bodies working with children in the local authority’s area as the 
authority considers appropriate. Section 11 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals to give regard to the need to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  

103

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2011/707/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2011/707/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/10
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/11
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/11


 

  

  

48  

Children Act 1989 (care and supervision orders) o section 20 of the Children Act 

1989 (duty to accommodate a child)  

• clear procedures and processes for cases relating to: o the abuse, neglect, and 

exploitation of children  o children managed within the youth secure estate o 

disabled children  

Section 1: Early help   

118. Early help is support for children of all ages that improves a family’s resilience and 

outcomes or reduces the chance of a problem getting worse. It is not an individual service, 

but a system of support delivered by local authorities and their partners working together 

and taking collective responsibility to provide the right provision in their area. Some early 

help is provided through “universal services”39, such as education and health services. 

They are universal services because they are available to all families, regardless of their 

needs. Other early help services are coordinated by a local authority and/or their partners 

to address specific concerns within a family and can be described as targeted early help. 

Examples of these include parenting support, mental health support, youth services, youth 

offending teams and housing and employment services. Early help may be appropriate for 

children and families who have several needs, or whose circumstances might make them 

more vulnerable. It is a voluntary approach, requiring the family’s consent to receive 

support and services offered. These may be provided before and/or after statutory 

intervention.   

119. The Early Help System Guide46 provides a toolkit to assist local strategic 

partnerships responsible for their early help system in their area. Effective provision relies 

upon local organisations and agencies working together to:  

• identify children and families who would benefit from early help  

  
  

• undertake an assessment of the need for early help which considers the needs of 

all members of the family  

• ensure good ongoing communication, for example, through regular meetings 

between practitioners who are working with the family  

                                            
39 Universal services are available to all children and families. They are provided by a range of agencies such as health and education. 

GPs, health visitors and school nurses are some examples of this type of service provision.  46 Early Help System Guide   

104

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078299/Early_Help_System_Guide.pdf#:%7E:text=The%20Guide%20is%20intended%20for%20the%20local%20strategic,conversations%20and%20strategic%20planning%20and%20to%20support%20prioritisation.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078299/Early_Help_System_Guide.pdf#:%7E:text=The%20Guide%20is%20intended%20for%20the%20local%20strategic,conversations%20and%20strategic%20planning%20and%20to%20support%20prioritisation.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078299/Early_Help_System_Guide.pdf#:%7E:text=The%20Guide%20is%20intended%20for%20the%20local%20strategic,conversations%20and%20strategic%20planning%20and%20to%20support%20prioritisation.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078299/Early_Help_System_Guide.pdf#:%7E:text=The%20Guide%20is%20intended%20for%20the%20local%20strategic,conversations%20and%20strategic%20planning%20and%20to%20support%20prioritisation.


 

  

  

49  

• co-ordinate and/or provide support as part of a plan to improve outcomes. This plan 

will be designed together with the child and family, and updated as and when the 

child and family needs change  

• engage effectively with families and their family network, making use of family 

group decision-making, such as family group conferences,40 to help meet the 

needs of the child41  

120. A lead practitioner should co-ordinate the activity around the family, ensure the 

assessment and the family plan responds to all needs identified, and lead on ensuring the 

family co-produce the plan. The plan might include the family network. The time 

commitment to deliver this role will vary family by family depending on the complexity of 

their needs. Where appropriate, local authorities should engage families, including 

children, to have a say in who their lead practitioner is, and have a process in place to 

collate feedback on their relationship with them.   

121. The lead practitioner role could be held by a range of people. More details about 

which practitioners may act as a lead practitioner, their roles and responsibilities along 

with additional guidance, are provided in the Early Help System Guide42.   

Identifying children and families who would benefit from help   

122. Local organisations and agencies should have in place effective ways to identify 

emerging problems and potential unmet needs of individual children and families. 

Local authorities should work with organisations and agencies to develop joined-up 

early help services, which can be delivered through a Family Hub model where they 

exist, based on a clear understanding of local needs. Local authorities should use the 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)43 to inform their early help offer.   

123. Multi-agency and multi-disciplinary training will be important in supporting this 

collective understanding of the demographics and needs of the local community, the 

local practice framework, and the services available to support children. All 

practitioners  

  

                                            
40 Family group decision-making is the umbrella term for a family-led forum where a family network makes a plan in response to concerns 

about a child’s safety or wellbeing. These can take different forms; family group conferences are one model of family group decision-

making. The Department for Education does not prescribe a specific model. There is further information in the glossary.   
41 The statutory guidance on court orders and pre-proceedings for local authorities (2014) highlights that family group conferences are an 

important means of involving the family early to avoid the creation of barriers between the local authority and the family.  
42 Early Help System Guide   
43 Joint strategic needs assessment and joint health and wellbeing strategies explained   

105

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/306282/Statutory_guidance_on_court_orders_and_pre-proceedings.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/306282/Statutory_guidance_on_court_orders_and_pre-proceedings.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078299/Early_Help_System_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078299/Early_Help_System_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078299/Early_Help_System_Guide.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-and-joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategies-explained
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-and-joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategies-explained
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-and-joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategies-explained


 

  

  

50  

  

working with children and families, including those in universal services and those 

providing services to adults with children, need to understand their role in identifying 

emerging problems. They need appropriate training so that they:   

• know when to share information with other practitioners and what action to take to 

support early identification and assessment   

• are able to identify and recognise all forms of abuse, neglect, and exploitation   

• have an understanding of domestic and sexual abuse44, including controlling and 

coercive behaviour as well as parental conflict that is frequent, intense, and 

unresolved  

• are aware of new and emerging threats, including online harm, grooming, sexual 

exploitation, criminal exploitation, radicalisation, and the role of technology and 

social media in presenting harm  

• are aware that a child and their family may be experiencing multiple needs at the 

same time  

124. Practitioners should be alert to the potential need for early help for a child who: • is 

disabled  

• has special educational needs (whether or not they have a statutory education, 

health and care (EHC) plan)  

• is a young carer   

• is bereaved  

• is showing signs of being drawn into anti-social or criminal behaviour, including 

being affected by gangs and county lines and organised crime groups and/or 

serious violence, including knife crime  

• is frequently missing/goes missing from care or from home45  

• is at risk of modern slavery, trafficking, sexual and/or criminal exploitation  

• is at risk of being radicalised53  

                                            
44 See Appendix A: Glossary for the statutory definition of domestic abuse set out in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021  
45 Children who run away or go missing from home or care (2014) 53 

Managing risk of radicalisation in your education setting   

106

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-who-run-away-or-go-missing-from-home-or-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-who-run-away-or-go-missing-from-home-or-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-prevent-duty-safeguarding-learners-vulnerable-to-radicalisation/managing-risk-of-radicalisation-in-your-education-setting#radicalisation-risk-indicators
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-prevent-duty-safeguarding-learners-vulnerable-to-radicalisation/managing-risk-of-radicalisation-in-your-education-setting#radicalisation-risk-indicators
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-prevent-duty-safeguarding-learners-vulnerable-to-radicalisation/managing-risk-of-radicalisation-in-your-education-setting#radicalisation-risk-indicators
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-prevent-duty-safeguarding-learners-vulnerable-to-radicalisation/managing-risk-of-radicalisation-in-your-education-setting#radicalisation-risk-indicators
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-prevent-duty-safeguarding-learners-vulnerable-to-radicalisation/managing-risk-of-radicalisation-in-your-education-setting#radicalisation-risk-indicators


 

  

  

51  

• is viewing problematic and/or inappropriate online content (for example, linked to 

violence), or developing inappropriate relationships online   

  
  

• is in a family circumstance presenting challenges for the child, such as drug and 

alcohol misuse, adult mental health issues and domestic abuse46  

• is misusing drugs or alcohol themselves  

• is suffering from mental ill health   

• has returned home to their family from care  

• is a privately fostered child47  

• has a parent or carer in custody48  

• is missing education49, or persistently absent from school, or not in receipt of 

fulltime education  

• has experienced multiple suspensions and is at risk of, or has been permanently 

excluded  

The role of education and childcare settings   

125. All children aged 5 to 16 are legally entitled to a full-time education, suitable to any 

special educational need. Education is essential for children’s progress, wellbeing and 

wider development and being in school is a protective factor against wider harms, 

including exploitation. Where children are not receiving education, either because they 

persistently missing school, or are not registered at a school and not receiving a suitable 

education otherwise, this could be a possible indicator of neglect, abuse or exploitation or 

could in itself constitute neglect in severe and sustained cases.   

                                            
46 The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 Section 3 recognises children as victims of domestic abuse in their own right when they see, hear or 

experience domestic abuse perpetrated by a parent, those with parental responsibility, or a relative.  
47 Private fostering occurs when a child under the age of 16 (or under 18, if disabled) is provided with care and accommodation by a 

person who is not a parent, person with parental responsibility for them or a relative in their own home. A child is not privately fostered if 

the person caring for and accommodating them has done so for less than 28 days and does not intend to do so for longer. This term is 

also used in Championing Kinship Care: The National Kinship Care Strategy, capturing private fostering arrangements as a type of 

kinship care. It holds the same meaning, but applies only to individuals, excluding organisations or bodies.  

48 Farmer review for women (2019) found that children impacted by maternal imprisonment are more likely to leave their family home and 

be separated from their primary carer, resulting in significant disruption to their lives.  
49 Children missing education: statutory guidance for local authorities 58 

September guarantee: education and training for young people  

107

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/section/3
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/809467/farmer-review-women.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/809467/farmer-review-women.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-missing-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/september-guarantee-offers-of-education-or-training-for-16-to-17-year-olds
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/september-guarantee-offers-of-education-or-training-for-16-to-17-year-olds
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/september-guarantee-offers-of-education-or-training-for-16-to-17-year-olds
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/september-guarantee-offers-of-education-or-training-for-16-to-17-year-olds


 

  

  

52  

126. Young people aged 16 and 17, including those with special and educational needs 

and disabilities, are required to participate in education or training until they reach their 

18th birthday. They are entitled to an offer of a suitable place in education or training under 

the September guarantee58. Local authorities are therefore expected to identify and pay 

particular attention to young people who are not in education, employment or training or 

whose current activity is not known.   

  
  

127. Local authorities also have a statutory duty to secure sufficient suitable education 

and training provision for all young people aged 16 to 19 and for those up to age 25 with a 

learning difficulty assessment or, EHC plan, in their area50. They should make available to 

young people aged 13 to 19 and to those up to the age of 25 with a learning difficulty 

assessment or EHC plan, support that will encourage, enable or assist them to participate 

in education or training51.   

  

128. As education and childcare settings have daily contact with most children and 

families, they are uniquely placed to identify concerns and, with partners as appropriate, 

address them early. Safeguarding professionals, including safeguarding partners and their 

delegates, should work closely with education and childcare settings to ensure information 

about children is shared effectively, risks of harm are correctly identified and understood, 

and children and families receive the services they need. This includes, but is not limited 

to, information, such as increased absence or mental health problems, which may be 

indicators that a child has suffered or is at risk of suffering neglect, abuse, and 

exploitation.  

129. Those working in education and childcare settings need to be aware of how 

children’s experiences can impact on their mental health, behaviour, attendance and 

progress at nursery, school, or college. Where children have suffered abuse, neglect and 

exploitation, or other potentially traumatic adverse childhood experiences, this can have a 

lasting impact throughout childhood, adolescence and into adulthood52.  

                                            
50 Education Act 1996 Sections 15ZA and 18A as inserted by the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009, and amended 

by the Children and Families Act 2014  
51 Education and Skills Act (ESA) 2008 Section 68  
52 An example of where schools and local police forces work together successfully to better support and safeguard children after 

experiencing domestic abuse, is through the Operation Encompass notification scheme. Operation Encompass works by directly 
connecting the police with schools. When officers have attended a domestic abuse incident, police share the information with a school’s 

108

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/15ZA
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/15ZA
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/15ZA
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/18A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/18A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/18A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/25/section/68


 

  

  

53  

130. It is important that relevant information where children are home educated is 

shared between local authorities, schools, colleges, and other relevant partners. Parents 

have a right to educate their children at home providing the education is suitable53. When 

a child of school age is not a registered pupil at a school and is not receiving suitable 

education at home, this could be an indicator of neglect, abuse, or exploitation. Schools 

must notify the local authority of a child’s removal from the school roll54 at a non-standard  

  
  

transition point55, and they should also share information on a child’s circumstances, 

especially if already known to children’s social care or if they have an EHC plan56
.  

Effective assessment of the need for early help  

131. Where a child and family would benefit from co-ordinated support from more than 

one organisation or agency (for example, education, health, housing) there should be a 

multi-agency assessment. These assessments should:  

• be undertaken with the agreement of the child and their parents or carers, involving 

the child and family as well as all the practitioners who are working with them  

• take account of the child’s wishes and feelings wherever possible which could 

include providing advocacy support where this is needed to enable a child to share 

their views, for example, if the child has communication difficulties due to a 

disability   

• take account of the child’s age, family circumstances and extra-familial contexts57 

and whether these factors are contributing to or preventing good outcomes  

• take account of the needs of all members of the family as individuals and consider 

how their needs impact on one another which includes considering needs relating 

                                            
trained Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) before the start of the next school day, so that school staff can provide appropriate 

emotional and practical support at the earliest opportunity to children affected by domestic abuse  
53 The Education Act 1996 Section 436A (3)  defines “suitable education” as efficient full-time education suitable to age, ability and 

aptitude and to any special educational needs  
54 The Education (Pupil Registration) (England) Regulations 2006, as amended by The Education (Pupil Registration) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2016  
55 Education (Pupil Registration) (England) Regulations 2006 Regulation 12  
56 Education, health and care (EHC) plans identify educational, health and social needs and set out the additional support to meet those 

needs. Further guidance on EHC plans can be found at https://www.GOV.UK/children-with-special-educational-needs  
57 See Appendix A: glossary  

109

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/436A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/436A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1751/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1751/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/792/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/792/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/792/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/792/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1751/regulation/12/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1751/regulation/12/made
https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs
https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs
https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs


 

  

  

54  

to education, early years development, mental health and physical health, 

substance misuse, financial stability, housing, family relationships, domestic abuse 

and crime as described in the Supporting Families Outcomes Framework58. 

Practitioners should be aware of situations where there has been a breakdown in 

relationship between the child and their family and engaging the whole family may 

not be appropriate   

• cover both presenting needs and any underlying issues with the understanding that 

a family’s needs can change overtime, for example, when a child moves up to 

secondary school   

• be based on facts, and explore and build on strengths  

• be clear about the action to be taken and services to be provided   

• identify what help the child and family require to prevent needs escalating  

  
  

• provide the basis for any future assessments if they are needed, for example, 

under sections 17 and 47 of the Children Act 1989     

132. Practitioners should have consideration for specific needs, including, but not 

exclusive to, family members who may have learning difficulties/disabilities or those 

whose first language is not English, are care experienced, young parents59, fathers or 

male carers, and parents who identify as LGBT.  

133. If a family does not consent to an early help assessment, practitioners should seek 

to understand why this is the case, so that they can provide reassurance to the family 

about their concerns. They should ensure the family has understood the consensual 

nature of support, and range of services available to meet their needs. The practitioner 

should consider how the needs of the child could otherwise be met, for example, through 

provision by universal services that the family already engages with. Practitioners should 

still inform individuals that their data will be recorded and shared, and the purpose of this 

explained to them. If a family has chosen not to engage with support in the past, this 

should not act as a barrier to them accessing support in the future. If at any time it is 

considered that the child may be a child in need, as defined in the Children Act 1989, a 

                                            
58 Supporting families programme guidance, 2022 to 2025: chapter 3, Supporting families outcomes framework   
59 Our young parents project - The Lullaby Trust describes a young parent as someone under the age of 25  

110

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-families-programme-guidance-2022-to-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-families-programme-guidance-2022-to-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-families-programme-guidance-2022-to-2025
https://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/young-parents/
https://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/young-parents/


 

  

  

55  

referral should be made to children’s social care. Practitioners should ensure that the 

family has understood that the support and services provided under section 17 of the 

Children Act 1989 are consensual. If there are concerns that the child has suffered 

significant harm or is likely to do so, a referral should be made immediately to local 

authority children’s social care.   

Provision of effective services to help families   

134. Local areas should have a comprehensive range of effective services. They should 

reflect any local assessment of need, including the JSNA and the latest evidence of the 

effectiveness of early help programmes60. Good practice should also ensure effective 

joinup between specific local early help services and universal services to ensure families 

can seamlessly transition from universal to more specialist support should a specific need 

be identified. There should be an explicit link to the local area’s offer of short breaks for 

disabled children, as well as suitably adjusted services to support parents. Evidence 

should be collated to show their impact, including on those with a particular protected 

characteristic.  

135. Specific local early help services typically include family and parenting 

programmes, assistance with school attendance, assistance with health issues including  

  
  

mental health, enabling financial stability, supporting secure housing, responses to 

emerging concerns in extra-familial contexts, responding to a parent in custody, and help 

for emerging problems relating to domestic abuse, drug or alcohol misuse. Local 

approaches to delivering these services will vary but could include using a family hub 

model. Family hubs are a place-based way of joining-up in the planning and delivery of 

family support services, offering a universal access point for children and families.   

136. Early help services may also focus on improving family functioning and building the 

family’s own capability to establish positive routines and solve problems. This should be 

done within a structured, evidence-based practice framework, which is shared across the 

early help partnership and involves regular review to ensure that real progress is being 

made. Where family networks are supporting the child and parents, it might be appropriate 

to use family group decision-making to support work with the family. Some of these 

                                            
60 What Works Centre for Children & Families) (Foundations). See Home | EIF Guidebook and Interventions with established evidence of 

preventing, stopping or reducing the impact of child abuse and neglect and related risks   

111

https://foundations.org.uk/
https://foundations.org.uk/
https://foundations.org.uk/
https://guidebook.eif.org.uk/
https://guidebook.eif.org.uk/
https://guidebook.eif.org.uk/
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308123106mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/What-works-to-support-families.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308123106mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/What-works-to-support-families.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308123106mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/What-works-to-support-families.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308123106mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/What-works-to-support-families.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308123106mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/What-works-to-support-families.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308123106mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/What-works-to-support-families.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308123106mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/What-works-to-support-families.pdf


 

  

  

56  

services may be delivered directly to parents but should always be evaluated to 

demonstrate the impact they are having on the outcomes for the child.   

137. The Early Help System Guide provides operational guidance on the delivery of 

whole family working in the early help system.  Local areas should have agreed a set of 

measures at family, cohort, demand, and population level to evidence the effectiveness of 

early help, looking particularly at whether whole family need has been addressed and how 

family voice has informed services. This enables shared responsibility for improved 

outcomes, recognising that no one organisation delivers a specific outcome on their own.    

Section 2: Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children  

138. Local authorities have statutory duties to support certain groups of children in their 

area. Under section 17 of the Children Act 1989, local authorities are under a general duty 

to provide support for children who are unlikely to reach or maintain a satisfactory level of 

health or development, or their health or development will be significantly impaired without 

the provision of services, or the child is disabled. Where there is reasonable cause to 

suspect a child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm, local authorities must make 

enquiries and decide if any action must be taken under section 47 of the Children Act 

1989.  

139. Where requested to do so by local authority children’s social care, health 

organisations, other local authorities and other parts of the local authority, such as 

housing, have a duty to co-operate under section 27 of the Children Act 198961 by 

assisting the local authority in carrying out its children’s social care functions, provided 

that this is compatible with their own duties and obligations and does not interfere with the  

  
  

performance of their own functions. Any cooperation from health bodies should be in line 

with their professional regulations and standards on competence. Local authorities can 

also ask other agencies to assist in the delivery of support and services under section 17 

of the Children Act 1989, but those agencies are under no obligation to do so.   

140. Whilst the duty to deliver support and services under section 17 of the Children Act 

1989 is with the local authority, other safeguarding partners may play a critical role in the 

delivery of services for children and their families. Local safeguarding partners are 

responsible for setting the strategic direction, vision, and culture of the local multi-agency 

                                            
61 Children Act 1989 Section 27 (2): an authority whose help is so requested shall comply with the request if it is compatible with their own 

statutory or other duties and obligations and does not unduly prejudice the discharge of any of their functions.  

112

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/27


 

  

  

57  

safeguarding arrangements, including agreeing and reviewing shared priorities, and the 

resources required to deliver services effectively. More information can be found under 

‘Strategic leadership and accountability’ and ‘Delivering multi-agency safeguarding 

arrangements’ in chapter 2.  

   

113



 

  

  

58  

Statutory requirements for children in need  

Under the Children Act 1989, local authorities are under a general duty to provide 

services for children in need for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting their 

welfare. A child in need is defined under section 17 of the Children Act 1989 as a child 

who is unlikely to achieve or maintain a reasonable level of health or development, or 

whose health and development is likely to be significantly or further impaired without 

the provision of services, or a child who is disabled.  

To fulfil this duty, practitioners undertake assessments of the needs of individual 

children, giving due regard to a child’s age and understanding when determining what, 

if any, services to provide.   

Every assessment must be informed by the views of the child as well as the family, 

and a child’s wishes and feelings must be sought regarding the provision of services to 

be delivered. Where possible, children should be seen alone. Where a child requests 

to be seen with a trusted adult, this should be supported. A child’s communication 

needs should be taken into account. When assessing children in need and providing 

services, specialist assessments may be required and, where possible, should be co-

ordinated so that the child and family experience a coherent process and a single plan 

of action.  

Some children in need may require accommodation because there is no one who has 

parental responsibility for them, they are lost or abandoned, or the person who has 

been caring for them is prevented from providing them with suitable accommodation or 

care. Under section 20 of the Children Act 1989, the local authority has a duty to 

accommodate such children in need in their area.   

Under section 47 of the Children Act 1989, where a local authority has reasonable 

cause to suspect that a child who lives or is found in their area is suffering or is likely 

to suffer significant harm, it has a duty to make such enquiries as it considers 

necessary to decide whether to take any action to safeguard or promote the child’s 

welfare. Such enquiries, supported by other organisations and agencies, as 

appropriate, should be initiated where there are concerns about all forms of abuse, 

neglect, and exploitation whether this is taking place in person or online, inside or 

outside of the child’s home.   

There may be a need for immediate protection whilst an assessment or enquiries are 

carried out. Further information about immediate protection can be found in this 

guidance on page 85.  

  

114



 

  

  

59  

Local protocols for assessment and support  

141. Local authorities, with their safeguarding partners and any relevant agencies, 

should develop, agree, and publish local protocols for assessments and support. This 

protocol should reflect the local practice framework for work with children and their 

families. The local authority is publicly accountable for this protocol and all organisations 

and agencies have a responsibility to understand it. A local protocol should:   

• be consistent with the requirements of this statutory guidance   

• set out clear arrangements for how cases will be managed once a child is referred 

into local authority children’s social care   

• set out who can act as a lead practitioner in supporting children and their families 

under section 17, and reflect that the decision about who will act as lead 

practitioner will be made in line with practitioner knowledge and skills, resources, 

commissioned service requirements, relevant professional standards as 

appropriate62 and accountabilities  

• set out the skills, knowledge, experience, and competence required for the lead 

practitioner role and how this will be monitored locally  

• set out clearly the governance arrangements to support effective decision-making, 

including roles, responsibilities, and accountabilities, and how these take account 

of high-level risk, risks that are dynamic and/or complex.  

• set out the process for case audits and accountability including allocation of lead 

practitioners and decision-making. Information should be included in the yearly 

report (see chapter 2, paragraphs 106-109) on the evidence of impact on outcomes 

for children and families, to show progress and learning that has occurred following 

audits.  

• clarify how organisations, agencies and practitioners undertaking assessments and 

providing services can work in partnership including when sharing and seeking 

information  

• set out how and when organisations and agencies should communicate with 

children and families   

                                            
62 For example, the Social Work England Professional Standards - Professional standards - Social Work England or the Nursing and 

Midwifery Council’s Code - Professional standards of practice and behaviour for nurses, midwives and nursing associates   

115

https://www.socialworkengland.org.uk/standards/professional-standards/
https://www.socialworkengland.org.uk/standards/professional-standards/
https://www.socialworkengland.org.uk/standards/professional-standards/
https://www.nmc.org.uk/globalassets/sitedocuments/nmc-publications/nmc-code.pdf
https://www.nmc.org.uk/globalassets/sitedocuments/nmc-publications/nmc-code.pdf
https://www.nmc.org.uk/globalassets/sitedocuments/nmc-publications/nmc-code.pdf
https://www.nmc.org.uk/globalassets/sitedocuments/nmc-publications/nmc-code.pdf


 

  

  

60  

• set out the process for challenge by children and families by publishing the 

complaints procedures63  

142. Local protocols should also reflect the specific needs of certain groups, including 

but not limited to young carers, children with special educational needs and/or disabilities 

(including to inform and be informed by EHC plans), unborn children where there are 

concerns, children in hospital, children in mental health inpatient settings, children with  

  
  

specific communication needs, asylum seeking children, children considered at risk of 

exploitation and harm outside the home (including serious violence and association with 

organised crime groups), children at risk of female genital mutilation, children who are in 

the youth justice system, children with a parent in custody, children in kinship care, and 

children returning home from care.  

143. Where a child needs other assessments and support, it is important that these are 

co-ordinated so that the child does not become lost between different organisational 

procedures. Where a child has had previous assessments and support, information from 

these should help practitioners build a complete picture of the child and their family, 

including any support and services that have been provided.   

144. Within the local authority, practice leaders are qualified social workers with day-

today operational responsibility across the whole system for child and family social work 

practice, ensuring it operates effectively and overseeing child and family frontline social 

work practitioners and leaders. This is often the Assistant Director of Children’s Social 

Care or equivalent. Child and family principal social workers support social work teams, 

provide quality assurance, and contribute to strategic leadership. Practice supervisors are 

experienced social workers whose primary responsibility is to supervise the practice and 

decision-making of child and family social work practitioners, and to develop the skills of 

individuals and teams.  

145. Principal Social Workers, practice supervisors and practice leaders should support 

practitioners, the local authority, and partners in further developing their assessment 

practice and decision-making skills, and the practice methodology that underpins this.   

                                            
63 Including as specified under the Children Act 1989 Section 26 (3) and the Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) 

Regulations 2006  

116

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/26
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/26
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/26
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/26
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/part/3/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/part/3/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/part/3/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/part/3/made


 

  

  

61  

Purpose of assessment  

146. The purpose of children’s social care assessments is to:  

• gather important information about a child and family  

• analyse their needs and/or the nature and level of any risk and harm being suffered 

by the child, including where harm or risk of harm is from outside the home64  

• decide whether the child is a child in need (section 17) or is suffering or likely to 

suffer significant harm (section 47)   

• provide support to address those needs to improve the child’s outcomes and 

welfare and where necessary to make them safe  

  
  

• identify support from within the family network  

147. Action to meet a child's needs can begin even before assessment has concluded.   

Assessment framework   

148. Research has shown that taking a systematic approach to enquiries using a 

conceptual model is the best way to deliver a comprehensive assessment for all children. 

An example of such a model is set out in the diagram below. It investigates three 

domains:  

• the child’s developmental needs  

• the capacity of parents or carers (resident and non-resident) and any other adults 

living in the household to respond to those needs 65 66  

                                            
64 See chapter 3, section 2, paragraph 196 on what a good assessment should consider when supporting children at risk of, or 

experiencing, harm outside the home  

65 An assessment of the support needs of parent carers of disabled children may be required  
66 See chapter 4, paragraph 253 on adults with parental responsibility for disabled children  

117



 

  

  

62  

• the impact and influence of the family network and any other adults living in the 

household as well as community and environmental circumstances  

  
  

118



 

  

  

63  

 

                      Figure 1: Assessment framework  

Referral  

149. Local authority children’s social care has the responsibility for clarifying the process 

for referrals in their area. This includes specific arrangements for referrals in areas where 

there are secure youth establishments. As well as protocols for practitioners working with 

children and families, contact details should be signposted clearly so that children, 

parents, other family members and community partners67 are aware of who they can 

contact if they wish to make a referral, require advice or support.  

150. Anyone who has concerns about a child’s welfare should consider whether a 

referral needs to be made to local authority children’s social care and should do so 

immediately if there is a concern that the child is suffering significant harm or is likely to do 

so. Where a child is admitted to a mental health facility, practitioners should make a 

referral to local authority children’s social care. When practitioners refer a child, they 

should include any information they have on the child’s developmental needs, the capacity 

of the child’s parents, carers, or family network to meet those needs and any external 

factors that may be undermining their capacity to parent. This information may be included 

in any assessment, including an early help assessment, which may have been  

                                            
67 Community partners include those working in voluntary, private, and statutory organisations who may come into contact with or be 

aware of the presence of children as they carry out their day-to-day roles in the community, for example, business owners, youth workers, 

faith and community leaders, park wardens.  

119



 

  

  

64  

  
  

carried out prior to a referral into local authority children’s social care. An early help 

assessment is not a prerequisite for a referral but where one has been undertaken, it 

should be used to support the referral.  

151. Feedback should be given by local authority children’s social care to the referrer on 

the decisions taken. Where appropriate, this feedback should include the reasons why a 

case may not meet the statutory threshold and offer suggestions for other sources of more 

suitable support. Practitioners should always follow up their concerns if they are not 

satisfied with the local authority children’s social care response and should escalate their 

concerns in line with local procedures if they remain dissatisfied.  

Timeliness  

152. The speed with which an assessment is carried out after a child’s case has been 

referred into local authority children’s social care should be determined by the needs of 

the individual child and the nature and level of any risk of harm they face. This will require 

judgements to be made by a social work qualified practice supervisor or manager on each 

individual case. Adult assessments, for example, parent carer or non-parent carer 

assessments, should also be carried out in a timely manner.  

153. Within one working day of a referral being received, local authority children’s social 

care should acknowledge receipt to the referrer and a social work qualified practice 

supervisor or manager should decide next steps and the type of response required. This 

will include determining whether:  

• the child requires immediate protection and urgent action is required  

• the child is in need and should be assessed under section 17 of the Children Act 

1989  

• there is reasonable cause to suspect that the child is suffering or likely to suffer 

significant harm, and whether enquiries must be made, and the child assessed 

under section 47 of the Children Act 1989  

• any immediate services are required urgently by the child and family and what type 

of services  

• further specialist assessments are required to help the local authority to decide 

what further action to take  

120



 

  

  

65  

• to see the child as soon as possible if the decision is taken that the referral requires 

further assessment  

154. For children in need of immediate protection, action must be taken by the local 

authority, the police (including British Transport Police) or the NSPCC68 if removal is 

required. This should happen as soon as possible after the referral has been made to 

local authority children’s social care69 70.  

155. The maximum timeframe for the assessment to conclude, such that it is possible to 

reach a decision on next steps, should be no longer than 45 working days from the point 

of referral. If, in discussion with a child and their family and other practitioners, an 

assessment exceeds 45 working days, the lead practitioner should record the reasons for 

exceeding the time limit. In some cases, the needs of the child will mean that a quick 

assessment will be required. In all cases, as practitioners identify needs during the 

assessment, they do not need to wait until the assessment concludes before providing 

support or commissioning services to support the child and their family.   

Provision of support and services for a child in need  

156. Once the referral has been accepted by local authority children’s social care, a 

social work qualified practice supervisor or manager should decide, with partners 

where appropriate, who the most appropriate lead practitioner will be and with the 

lead practitioner’s agreement, allocate them in line with the local protocol.   

157. The lead practitioner role can be held by a range of people, including social 

workers. When allocating the lead practitioner, local authorities and their partners 

should consider the needs of the child and their family to ensure the lead 

practitioner has the time required to undertake the role. The lead practitioner should 

have the skills, knowledge, competence, and experience to work effectively with the 

child and their family. The lead practitioner should always be a social worker for 

child protection enquiries.   

158. Lead practitioners should have access to high quality supervision. Effective 

supervision can play a critical role in ensuring a clear focus on a child’s welfare and 

support practitioners to reflect critically on the impact of their decisions on the child 

and their family. All lead practitioners should also continue to receive appropriate 

supervision and support for continuing professional development and to maintain 

                                            
68 National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children.  
69 Children Act 1989 Section 44  
70 Children Act 1989 Section 46  

121

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/44
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/44
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/46
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/46


 

  

  

66  

professional registration, where appropriate, within their existing line management 

arrangements.   

159. The responsibility for providing support and services remains with the local 

authority. Decision-making responsibilities, including the lead practitioner and social 

work  

  
  

qualified practice supervisor or manager should be set out in the local protocols (see 

chapter 3, section 2, paragraph 141)   

160. In response to the referral, the lead practitioner should:   

• clarify with the referrer, when known, the nature of the concerns and how and why 

they have arisen  

• make clear to children and families how the assessment will be carried out and 

when they can expect a decision on next steps   

• inform the child and family of the action to be taken, unless a decision is taken on 

the basis that this may jeopardise a police investigation or place the child at risk of 

significant harm   

Focusing on the needs of the child and their family  

161. Assessments should be child-centred and responsive to the voice of the child. This 

means decisions should be made in the child’s best interests, rooted in child 

development, age-appropriate, sensitive to the impact of adversity and trauma and 

informed by evidence. Observation can be an important way to get the perspective 

of babies, infants, and non-verbal children. In the case of disabled children, 

practitioners should consider whether any specialist communication support is 

required and consider how advocacy services can support the child to 

communicate their views.   

162. In addition, assessments should:   

• be focused on action and outcomes for children  

122



 

  

  

67  

• be multi-agency and multi-disciplinary, based on information gathered from relevant 

practitioners and agencies71, and drawing in the relevant expertise  

• be discussed with the child and their parents or carers, as appropriate   

• build a full picture of all aspects of a child’s and their family’s life, including their 

strengths and interests as well as any previous referrals and interventions  

• be holistic in approach and address presenting and underlying issues and each of 

the child’s needs, giving sufficient recognition and priority to the specific needs of 

disabled children and young carers72 and to any risks the child faces within or 

outside the home, including online   

  
  

• explore the needs of all members of the family73 as individuals and consider how 

their needs impact on one another as well as how the family network could support 

and help de-escalate issues74  

• be a dynamic process, not an event, analysing and responding to the changing 

nature and level of need and/or risk faced by the child from within and outside their 

family   

• recognise and respect the individual and protected characteristics of families, 

including the ways in which these can overlap and intersect, ensuring support 

reflects their diversity of needs and experiences  

• lead to action, including the provision of services, the impact of which is reviewed 

on an ongoing basis   

• recognise a child’s entitlement to a full-time education and the positive impact 

attendance at school has on personal development and attainment  

                                            
71 For example, teachers, early years workers, health practitioners, youth justice practitioners, the police and adult social care.  
72 Recognised, valued and supported: next steps for the carers strategy (2010).  
73 An assessment of the support needs of parent carers, or non-parent carers, of disabled children may be required  
74 Family and friends care: statutory guidance for local authorities (2010), paragraph 4.37  

123

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/288483/family-and-friends-care.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/288483/family-and-friends-care.pdf


 

  

  

68  

163. Where there are concerns that a child may be at risk of, or experiencing harm 

outside the home, assessments should include work with the child, parents, carers, 

family networks and partners75 to determine:  

• the nature and duration of the harm  

• where risk is located and understand the context in which harm is or may be 

happening, including online  

• the level of risk associated with each concern and context identified   

164. Assessments should consider how a child’s experience within their family and 

networks, including their friends and peer groups, and extra-familial contexts, such 

as the places and spaces where they spend their time, interplay with the risk of 

harm outside of the home.76  

165. Where the child has links to a foreign country77, the lead practitioner may also need 

to work with embassies and colleagues abroad78.  

  
  

166. The lead practitioner should meet families and go on home visits as needed, when 

undertaking assessments. The social work qualified practice supervisor or manager 

should undertake joint visits where this is appropriate.   

167. Where a child becomes looked after, the assessment will be the baseline for work 

with the family. Assessment by a social worker is also required before a looked 

after child under a care order returns home79. This will provide evidence of whether 

the necessary improvements have been made to ensure the child's safety when 

they return home. Following an assessment, appropriate support should be 

provided for children returning home, including where that return home is 

unplanned, to ensure that children continue to be adequately safeguarded.  

                                            
75 This can include safeguarding partners and community partners (such as those working in voluntary, private and statutory organisations 

who may come into contact with or be aware of the presence of children as they carry out their day-to-day roles in the community – for 

example, business owners, youth workers, faith and community leaders, park wardens).  
76 See chapter 3, section 2, paragraphs 194-199 on supporting children at risk of, or experiencing, harm outside the home  
77 A child with links to a foreign country may be a foreign national child, a child with dual nationality or a British child of foreign 

parents/national origin  
78 Further guidance can be found in Working with foreign authorities: child protection and care orders (2014)  
79 The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010.  

124

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-protection-working-with-foreign-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-protection-working-with-foreign-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-protection-working-with-foreign-authorities
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/contents/made


 

  

  

69  

Analysis and decision-making  

168. The analysis and decision-making should be a collaborative process between the 

lead practitioner and the multi-agency team working with the family, including the social 

work qualified practice supervisor or manager.   

169. No system can fully eliminate harm. Understanding harm involves judgement and 

balance. These are central to effective analysis of the relevant information gathered as 

part of the assessment. Analysis should build upon the history of every child, taking 

account of family history and the child’s experience of cumulative abuse, neglect, and 

exploitation as well as the impact of any previous services. Where a child has been looked 

after and has returned home, information from previous assessments and case records 

should also be reviewed.  

170. This information should be used by practitioners to get as comprehensive an 

understanding as possible of the level of need, and actual or likely significant harm being 

faced by a child, taking into account the child’s perspective of the protective and risk 

factors they are facing. This should include factors both inside and outside the home.   

171. Practitioners’ analysis should be supplemented and challenged by others working 

in the multi-agency team, including the social work qualified practice supervisor or 

manager, with the family and/or in their teams and management chain. Critical reflection 

through supervision should further strengthen the analysis.  

172. Practitioners should also be alert to a desire to think the best of adults and to hope 

they can overcome their difficulties. This should not subvert the need to protect children 

from chaotic, abusive, and neglectful homes. Practitioners should always reflect the latest 

research on the impact of abuse, neglect, and exploitation, and relevant findings from  

  
  

serious case and practice reviews when analysing the level of need and risk faced by the 

child. This should be reflected in the case recording.  

173. Decisions on the nature and level of the child’s needs, and the level of actual or 

likely significant harm, if any, should be reviewed by a social work qualified practice 

supervisor or manager.   

174. Decisions over what support to provide a child and family should be multi-agency, 

taken with the best interests of the child in mind, informed by the evidence available, and 

underpinned by knowledge of child development. Regular decision and review points 

125



 

  

  

70  

should be held, involving the child and family and relevant practitioners to ensure that help 

is given in a timely and appropriate way, and that the impact of this help on the child’s 

outcomes and welfare is evaluated and changed as needed. Decisions should be agreed 

by the lead practitioner and the multi-agency team working with the family, including the 

social work qualified practice supervisor or manager.   

175. Judgements may need to be revised as a case progresses and further information 

comes to light. It is a characteristic of skilled practice that practitioners revisit their 

assumptions in the light of new evidence and take action to revise their decisions in the 

best interests of the individual child.   

176. Decisions about whether looked after children can return home will rest on whether 

the needs that were previously identified have been addressed. This may include 

instances where harm from outside the home means the child has been placed out of 

area to ensure their immediate safety. In these cases, the lead practitioner will be a social 

worker who should work with partners to take the decision about how to keep the child 

safe following the return to their family. Local authorities should set out what support and 

services will be provided following reunification and ensure the child and parents 

understand who to contact for support. Local authorities may also consider whether family 

group decision-making would support the child’s transition home from care, and the role 

the family network could play in supporting this.  

Focusing on outcomes   

177. Where local authority children’s social care involvement is continued, the lead 

practitioner develops a plan of action with the child and family, and in partnership with the 

multi-agency team which includes the social work qualified practice supervisor or 

manager, in line with local protocols. The plan should set out which services are to be 

delivered, and what actions are to be undertaken, by whom and for what purpose. A 

child’s engagement with education should be reflected in the plan80.   

178. Many services provided will be for parents or carers (and may include services 

identified in a parent carer’s or non-parent carer’s needs assessment)90. Where this is the 

case, the plan should reflect this and set clear measurable outcomes for the child and 

expectations for the parents, with measurable, reviewable actions for them.   

                                            
80 Attendance below 90% is classed as persistent absence and requires targeted support by schools and local authority school 

attendance teams, where appropriate. Further details are available in Working together to improve school attendance  90 
Children Act 1989 Section 17ZD and Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995 Section 1  

126

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1099677/Working_together_to_improve_school_attendance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1099677/Working_together_to_improve_school_attendance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1099677/Working_together_to_improve_school_attendance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1099677/Working_together_to_improve_school_attendance.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17ZD
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17ZD
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17ZD
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/12/contents


 

  

  

71  

179. Under section 17 of the Children Act 1989, local authorities may provide financial 

support to family networks to support the plan. Any financial support provided will be 

subject to review in terms of supporting agreed improved outcomes for the child.   

180. In cases where there are concerns of harm outside of the home, the plan should 

ensure the parents and carers are supported to understand what is happening to the child. 

This should take a strengths-based approach to support parents to meet the child’s 

needs. Practitioners should be aware that parents may feel blamed or criticised in these 

circumstances and will need to work thoughtfully with parents to build effective 

partnerships.   

181. The plan should be reviewed regularly to analyse whether sufficient progress has 

been made to meet the child’s needs. This will be important for neglect cases where 

parents and carers can make small improvements. In such cases, the test should be 

whether any improvements in adult behaviour are sufficient and sustained. Practitioners 

should consider the need for further action and record their decisions. The review points 

should be agreed with other practitioners supporting the child, including the social work 

qualified practice supervisor or manager, and focus on any change to their welfare.   

182. The social work qualified practice supervisor or manager should continue to meet 

families and go on joint home visits as needed to review the plan for the child. They 

should work in partnership to ensure help given is leading to a significant positive change 

for the child and consider whether the pace of that change is appropriate for the child.  

Practitioners working with children should always have access to appropriate colleagues 

to talk through their concerns and judgements affecting the welfare of the child.   

183. This review should also consider how the family network is supporting the parent or 

carers to sustain improvements and whether any further support could be offered.  

184. Practitioners should consider if a family group decision-making forum is appropriate 

to determine the help and support the family network can provide for the child. Local  

  
  

authorities should consider referring the family to a family group decision-making service if 

they believe there is a possibility the child may not be able to remain with their parents or 

carers, or in any event before a child becomes looked after, unless this would be a risk to 

the child. If family group decision-making cannot be conducted at this point, the local 

authority should still consider this as an option later, including as a route to reunification 

with the birth parents or family network where appropriate.   

127



 

  

  

72  

185. Family group decision-making, including the family group conference model, 

promotes the involvement of the family network in decision-making about a child’s safety 

or wellbeing. Family group decision-making forums offer a way of ensuring that all 

resources within the family’s wider networks have been engaged for the benefit of the 

child and empower family networks to come to a decision on how this can be done. Family 

group decision-making is an entirely voluntary process for the family and requires 

informed consent. This should be a family-led forum, where a family network has all the 

resources, adequate preparation, relevant information, a safe and appropriate 

environment, and “private family time” to make a plan to respond to concerns about a 

child’s safety or wellbeing. At pre-proceedings stage, a successful family group 

decisionmaking forum, such as a family group conference, also include having an 

independent coordinator81.   

186. Known transition points for the child should be planned for in advance. This 

includes where children are likely to transition between child and adult services, where 

they move from one local authority to another and where they move between schools.   

Supporting disabled children and their carers  

187. A crucial role of children’s social care is to provide help and support to disabled 

children and their families. When undertaking an assessment of a disabled child, 

practitioners should recognise the additional pressures on the family, and the distinct 

challenges they may have had to negotiate as a result of their child’s disability.   

188. The assessment process should focus on the needs of the child and family, be 

strengths-based, and gather information to inform decisions on the help needed to:  

• ensure the child achieves the best possible outcomes  

• enable the child’s family to continue in their caring role where that is right for the 

child  

• safeguard children in cases where there is abuse, neglect, and exploitation  

  
  

• ensure that appropriate practical support is in place to enable disabled children and 

their families to thrive  

                                            
81 Court Orders and Pre-proceedings guidance 2014   

128

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7ebaab40f0b62305b82ce7/Statutory_guidance_on_court_orders_and_pre-proceedings.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7ebaab40f0b62305b82ce7/Statutory_guidance_on_court_orders_and_pre-proceedings.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7ebaab40f0b62305b82ce7/Statutory_guidance_on_court_orders_and_pre-proceedings.pdf


 

  

  

73  

189. The local authority must also consider whether it is necessary to provide support 

under section 2 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 197082. Where a local 

authority is satisfied that the identified services and assistance can be provided under 

section 2 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, and it is necessary in 

order to meet a disabled child’s needs, it must arrange to provide that support. Where a 

local authority is assessing the needs of a disabled child, a carer of that child may also 

require the local authority to undertake an assessment of their ability to provide, or to 

continue to provide, care for the child, under section 1 of the Carers (Recognition and 

Services) Act 1995. The local authority must take account of the results of any such 

assessment when deciding whether to provide services to the disabled child.  

190. If a local authority considers that a parent carer of a disabled child may have 

support needs, it must carry out an assessment under section 17ZD of the Children Act 

1989. The local authority must also carry out such an assessment if a parent carer 

requests one. Such an assessment must consider whether it is appropriate for the parent 

carer to provide, or continue to provide, care for the disabled child. The assessment 

should also take account of parent carer’s needs and wishes, and the specific needs and 

circumstances of the child resulting from their disability. Parent carers have the right to 

request an assessment under section 17ZD of the Children Act 198983, including where a 

child is not otherwise known to children’s social care. Local authorities must ensure they 

have a process to facilitate these assessments if requested.  

191. In line with the commitments made in the Special Educational Needs and 

Alternative Provision Improvement Plan84, local authorities are encouraged to implement 

the role of Designated Social Care Officer (DSCO) in each local area. The DSCO will 

provide the capacity and expertise to improve the links between social care services and 

the SEND system. Similar to the Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) or Designated Medical 

Officer (DMO) role in health, the DSCO role will support both operational input (such as 

the contributions from care to education, health and care assessments) and more 

strategic planning functions (such as the commissioning of care services such as short 

breaks) for disabled children and those with SEN.   

                                            
82 Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 Section 2   

83 Children Act 1989 Section 17ZD  
84 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative Provision (AP) Improvement Plan  

129

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1970/44/section/2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1970/44/section/2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17ZD
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17ZD
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1139561/SEND_and_alternative_provision_improvement_plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1139561/SEND_and_alternative_provision_improvement_plan.pdf


 

  

  

74  

  
  

Supporting young carers  

192. If a local authority considers that a young carer (see glossary) may have support 

needs, it must carry out an assessment under section 17ZA of the Children Act 198985 to 

establish how best they can support the young carer and their family. The local authority 

must also carry out such an assessment if a young carer, or the parent of a young carer, 

requests one. Such an assessment must consider whether it is appropriate or excessive 

for the young carer to provide care for the person in question, (which may be a sibling, 

parent, or other member of the family), in light of the young carer’s needs and wishes. The 

Young Carers (Needs Assessment) Regulations 201586 require local authorities to look at 

the needs of the whole family when carrying out a young carer’s needs assessment. Local 

authorities must consider whether to combine a young carer’s needs assessment with any 

other assessment of the needs for support of the young carer, the person cared for, or a 

member of the young carer’s family.  

193. Information on whether a child has been identified as a young carer will be 

collected annually through the school census from January 2023. Schools do not need to 

obtain parental or pupil consent to provide this information for the purposes of the census 

but should respect the wishes and feelings of both children and their parents.  

Supporting children at risk of, or experiencing, harm outside the 

home  

194. Some children experience abuse and exploitation outside the home. This is often 

referred to as “extra-familial harm”97. Harm can occur in a range of extra-familial contexts, 

including school and other educational settings, peer groups, or within community/public 

spaces, and/or online. Children may experience this type of harm from other children 

and/or from adults. Forms of extra-familial harm include exploitation by criminal and 

organised crime groups and individuals (such as county lines and financial exploitation), 

serious violence, modern slavery and trafficking, online harm, sexual exploitation, teenage 

relationship abuse, and the influences of extremism which could lead to radicalisation87 88.  

                                            
85 Children Act 1989 Section 17ZA  
86 The Young Carers (Needs Assessment) Regulations 2015 97 
See Appendix A: glossary  
87 Extremist groups may make use of the internet to radicalise and recruit and to promote extremist materials. Any potential harmful 

effects to individuals identified as vulnerable to extremist ideologies or being drawn into terrorism should also be considered. For further 

information see Prevent duty guidance  
88 Links to further guidance on forms of extra-familial harm, including child criminal exploitation (such as county lines), child sexual 

exploitation and radicalisation are available in Appendix B  

130

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17ZA
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17ZA
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/527/pdfs/uksi_20150527_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/527/pdfs/uksi_20150527_en.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales


 

  

  

75  

Children of all ages can experience extra-familial harm.   

195. Where there are concerns that a child is experiencing extra-familial harm, 

practitioners should consider all the needs and vulnerabilities of the child. Some children  

  
  

will have vulnerabilities that can be exploited by others and will require support 

appropriate to their needs to minimise the potential for exploitation. All children, including 

those who may be causing harm to others, should receive a safeguarding response first 

and practitioners should work with them to understand their experiences and what will 

reduce the likelihood of harm to themselves and others.  

196. Where children may be experiencing extra-familial harm, children’s social care 

assessments should determine whether a child is in need under section 17 of the Children 

Act 1989 or whether to make enquires under section 47 of the same Act, following 

concerns that the child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm89. A good 

assessment should:   

• build an understanding of the child’s strengths, interests, identity, and culture   

• respond to each of the vulnerabilities and/or challenges that the child may be 

facing, including any within the home  

• gather information on past experiences of trauma and how this may impact on the 

child’s current experience of harm and on how they interact with practitioners   

• explore how the child's experiences within their families and networks, including 

their friends and peer groups, interplay with the risk of harm outside of the home 

and identify what needs to change90  

• support parents, carers, and family networks to understand what is happening to 

the child, working with them to ensure they can best meet the child’s needs and 

play an active part in the solutions and processes to help create safety for the child  

• understand the risk of extra-familial harm for siblings, for example, where older 

children are exploited, younger siblings may also be at risk of being targeted  

197. Where there are concerns that more than one child may be experiencing harm in 

an extra-familial context, practitioners should consider the individual needs of each child 

                                            
89 See chapter 3, section 2, paragraph 146 on Purpose of assessment  
90 For some children, a safe and loving family environment is not enough to protect them from these risks. For others, problems which 

exist within the home, such as abuse and neglect, could mean they are more vulnerable to exploitation and extra-familial harm  

131



 

  

  

76  

as well as work with the group. The children in the group may or may not already be 

known to local authority children’s social care. Working with the whole group enables 

practitioners to build an understanding of the dynamics between those within the group 

and the extra-familial context.   

198. Practitioners will need to build an understanding of the context in which the harm is 

occurring and draw on relevant knowledge and information from the children and wider  

  
  

partners91 in order to decide on the most appropriate interventions. Practitioners should 

consider the influence of groups or individuals perpetrating harm, including where this 

takes place online, and identify patterns of harm, risk and protective factors in these 

contexts. This may include working across safeguarding and community safety 

partnerships92 to agree a plan for keeping children safe93.   

199. Key decisions should be recorded and communicated to both the child and their 

parents or carers, so that everyone understands the action that has, or will be, taken to 

safeguard and promote their welfare. It is important that all partners are clear how actions 

contribute to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of the child94.   

The National Referral Mechanism   

200. The National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is the UK’s system for identifying victims 

of modern slavery and human trafficking. If a first responder95 has concerns that a child 

may be a potential victim of modern slavery or human trafficking (including through county 

lines) then a referral should be made to the NRM, as soon as possible. A child’s consent 

is not needed for a referral to be made96.   

                                            
91 This can include safeguarding partners and community partners (such as those working in voluntary, private and statutory organisations 

who may come into contact with or be aware of the presence of children as they carry out their day-to-day roles in the community, for 

example, business owners, youth workers, faith and community leaders, park wardens  

92 Community safety partnerships: Local Government Association  
93 Working across safeguarding and community safety partnerships may also provide opportunity to identify and seek to disrupt those that 

are causing harm to the child to prevent further abuse and/or exploitation  

94 Further guidance and supportive resources on suggested approaches to create safe spaces and places for children in response to 

extra-familial harm is available at Appendix B: Multi-agency practice principles for responding to child exploitation and extra-familial harm 

(non-statutory guidance for local areas)  
95 First responders work for designated organisations and help identify and support potential victims of modern slavery.  
96 Further information on the National Referral Mechanism, including a list of first responder organisations can be found at National 

Referral Mechanism guidance: adult (England and Wales)   

132

https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/community-safety/community-safety-partnerships
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/community-safety/community-safety-partnerships
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/report-modern-slavery-as-a-first-responder
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/report-modern-slavery-as-a-first-responder
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales#Section-4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales#Section-4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales#Section-4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales#Section-4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales#Section-4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales#Section-4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales#Section-4


 

  

  

77  

201. Independent Child Trafficking Guardians (ICTG) are an independent source of 

advice for children who have been trafficked and somebody who can speak up on their 

behalf. Where the ICTG service has been implemented97, if the first responder considers a 

child to be a potential victim of modern slavery or human trafficking, they should refer 

them to the ICTG service. This is in addition to following usual safeguarding routes and 

NRM referrals. The NRM referral and ICTG referral should be made in parallel.  

Supporting children in secure youth establishments  

202. Any assessment of children in secure youth establishments should take account of 

their specific needs. In all cases, the local authority in which a secure youth establishment 

is located is responsible for the safety and welfare of the children in that establishment.  

  
  

The host local authority should work with the governor, director, manager or principal of 

the secure youth establishment and the child’s home local authority, their relevant youth 

offending team and, where appropriate, the Youth Custody Service98 to ensure that the 

child has a single, comprehensive support plan.  

203. Where a child becomes looked after, as a result of being remanded to youth 

detention accommodation (YDA), the local authority should visit the child and assess the 

child’s needs before taking a decision on how they should be supported99. This 

information should be used to prepare the care plan, which should set out how the YDA 

and other practitioners will meet the child’s needs whilst the child remains remanded, and 

at any point of transition they will experience (either returning to the community or upon 

receiving a custodial sentence). The care plan100 must be reviewed in the same way as a 

care plan for any other looked after child101.  

Supporting children in mother and baby units  

204. When a woman applies for a place on a mother and baby unit (MBU) (see chapter 

4), a referral for assessment must be requested by the prison from children’s social care 

                                            
97 First responders should consult the: Interim guidance for Independent Child-Trafficking Guardians  for further guidance and for a list 

of sites with current ICTG coverage. Public authorities should give due regard to all ICTG functions, as would be required by regulations 

made under section 48 (6) (e)(i) and section 48 (6) ( e ) (ii) of the Modern Slavery Act 2015,noting that section 48 of the Modern Slavery 

Act has not yet been commenced.    
98 As the placing authority  
99 Promoting the health and well-being of looked-after children   
100 The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010 Regulation 4  
101 Following the Legal Aid Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 all children remanded by a court in criminal proceedings 

will be looked after.  

133

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fchild-trafficking-advocates-early-adopter-sites&data=05%7C01%7CSean.Mcgarry2%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C5593fba534dd40c3b3b208daf7d094fb%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638094772460435326%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yWlc7sxmoMX3VycTwAiXM2yIz09GVHnk3GcaAy7Fpd0%3D&reserved=0
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1100188/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children_August_2022_update.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1100188/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children_August_2022_update.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1100188/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children_August_2022_update.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/regulation/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/10/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/10/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/10/contents


 

  

  

78  

in the mother’s home authority102. Any assessment should set out the needs of the child in 

relation to the mother’s application to be placed on an MBU. The assessment should 

consider:  

• suitability of the placement in safeguarding and promoting the welfare of the child, 

including the needs of the child and any risk  

• impact of the placement on the child’s development, health, and wellbeing   

• contact arrangements with the family and family network   

• suitability and arrangements for the child’s care if the placement is not granted, 

including within the family network through a kinship care arrangement   

205. The lead practitioner responsible for the assessment should attend the MBU 

Admissions Board to represent the best interests of the child. When placed in an MBU, 

the mother retains full parental responsibility for the day-to-day care of the child and the 

local authority in which the prison is located is responsible for safeguarding and promoting 

the welfare of the child.  

  
  

Supporting children at risk from people in prison and people 

supervised by the Probation Service  

206. The Prison Service undertakes a child safeguarding enquiry103 with children’s social 

care for all newly sentenced prisoners and will identify prisoners who present an 

ongoing risk to children from within custody. Prisons will also decide on the level of 

contact, if any, they will allow between a prisoner and a child based on a child 

contact risk assessment104 and will prohibit or restrict a prisoner’s contact with a 

child where necessary.   

207. In response to a child safeguarding enquiry, children's social care should:   

• review information provided by the Prison Service and record it as required  

• respond to a child safeguarding enquiry and share with the Prison Service any 

concerns about the prisoner and any contact with a child  

                                            
102 Pregnancy, Mother and Baby Units (MBUs), and Maternal Separation from Children up to the Age of Two in Women’s Prisons  
103 The HMPPS Child Safeguarding Policy Framework sets out that a child safeguarding enquiry (sometimes referred to as a safeguarding 

check) is an official enquiry that HMPPS staff send to local authority children’s social care to request information on an individual, child or 

family.  
104 The child contact risk assessment process is explained in Chapter 5b of the Public Protection Manual (PPM) PSI 18/2016.  

134

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1157495/mbu-pf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1157495/mbu-pf.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-child-safeguarding-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-child-safeguarding-policy-framework
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1105417/psi-18-2016-pi-17-2016-public-protection-manual.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1105417/psi-18-2016-pi-17-2016-public-protection-manual.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1105417/psi-18-2016-pi-17-2016-public-protection-manual.pdf


 

  

  

79  

• contribute to the prisons’ child contact risk assessment where a child is known to 

children's social care, or has previously been known, by providing a report on the 

child's best interests and verifying the child's identity. Where the child is not known 

to children’s social care, they should still provide a view on child contact and should 

advise the prison to complete a child safeguarding referral if one is required   

208. The Probation Service will share information with children’s social care about 

supervised individuals who have contact with children or who pose a known risk 

and will also request information by making child safeguarding enquiries. 

Information exchange between probation and children’s social care help both 

agencies develop a better understanding of the children and families they work with 

and ensures risk assessments are accurate and well informed.  

209. Under the UKGDPR and Data Protection Act 2018 sharing of personal information 

of an offender must be lawful and fair and must comply with Part 3 of the Data 

Protection Act 2018 and in particular the data protection principles. Sharing of 

information for the purposes of law enforcement and keeping children and young 

people safe meets one of the requirements for lawful processing under the Data 

Protection Act 2018 as the data sharing is authorised by law (under section 325(3) 

and (4) of the Criminal Justice Act 2003) (or section 14 of the Offender 

Management Act 2007).  It is therefore not necessary for Prison and Probation 

Service staff to obtain consent from the offender under the Data Protection Act 

2018.  

  
  

210. For information exchange to be effective, children’s social care should:  

• explore arrangements with their local Probation Delivery Unit who have resources 

to support the timely provision of information in response to child safeguarding 

enquiries, including same day responses, where delay may negatively impact on a 

child. This may involve sharing information relating to a child, family, or offender 

who children’s social care may currently or historically know  

• reflect the voice of the child in information shared with the Probation Service, where 

appropriate   

• be prepared to offer the Probation Service a view on decisions in the child’s best 

interest  

135



 

  

  

80  

211. The following descriptors and flow charts set out the steps that practitioners should 

take when working together to assess and provide services for children who may 

be in need and when children are returning home to their families.   

136



 

  

  

81  

Assessment, support and planning for children under the 

Children Act 1989  

Following acceptance of a referral by local authority children’s social care, a social 

work qualified practice supervisor or manager should initiate a multi-agency 

assessment under section 17 of the Children Act 1989. The assessment should be led 

by a lead practitioner and approved by a social work qualified practice supervisor or 

manager. Local authorities have a duty to ascertain the child’s wishes and feelings and 

take account of them when planning the provision of services. Assessments should be 

carried out in a timely manner reflecting the needs of the individual child, as set out in 

this chapter.  

Where the local authority children’s social care decides to provide services, a 

multiagency child in need plan should be developed which sets out which 

organisations and agencies will provide which services to the child and family. The 

plan should set clear measurable outcomes for the child and expectations for the 

parents. The plan should reflect the positive aspects of the family situation as well as 

the weaknesses, acknowledging any factors beyond the family that may be 

undermining their capacity to parent or keep their child safe.  

Where a child in need has moved permanently to another local authority area, the 

original local authority should ensure that all relevant information (including the child in 

need plan) is shared with the receiving local authority as soon as possible. The 

receiving local authority should consider whether support services are still required 

and discuss with the child and family what might be needed, based on a timely 

reassessment of the child’s needs, as set out in this chapter. Support should continue 

to be provided by the original local authority in the intervening period. The receiving 

local authority should work with the original local authority to ensure that any changes 

to the services and support provided are managed carefully.  

Where a child in need is approaching 18 years of age, this transition point should be 

planned for in advance. This includes where children are likely to transition between 

child and adult services.   

Where information gathered during an assessment result in the lead practitioner and 

social work qualified practice supervisor or manager suspecting that the child is 

suffering or likely to suffer significant harm, the local authority should hold a strategy 

discussion to enable it to decide, with other agencies, whether it must initiate enquiries 

under section 47 of the Children Act 1989.   

  

 

137



 

  

  

82  

Purpose:  

Assessments should determine whether the child is in need, the nature of any services 

required and whether any specialist assessments should be undertaken to assist the 

local authority in its decision-making.  

A social work qualified practice supervisor or manager should:   

• agree with partners who the most appropriate lead practitioner should be and 

allocate them  

• approve the lead practitioner’s assessment  

• review and approve the plan for the child  

• meet families and attend home visits where that is appropriate  

The lead practitioner should:  

• lead on an assessment and complete it in line with the locally agreed protocol 

according to the child’s needs and within 45 working days from the point of 

referral into local authority children’s social care  

• see the child within a timescale that is appropriate to the nature of the concerns 

expressed at referral, according to an agreed plan  

• conduct interviews with the child and family members, separately and together 

as appropriate. Initial discussions with the child should be conducted in a way 

that minimises distress to them and maximises the likelihood that they will 

provide accurate and complete information, avoiding leading or suggestive 

questions  

• record the assessment findings and decisions and next steps following the 

assessment  

• inform, in writing, all the relevant agencies and the family of their decisions and, 

if the child is a child in need, of the plan for providing support  

• inform the referrer of what action has been or will be taken   

138



 

  

  

83  

  

    

The police should:  

• assist other organisations and agencies to carry out their responsibilities where 

there are concerns about the child’s welfare, providing information about the 

child and family drawing on individual and organisational knowledge and 

expertise to strengthen any plan to safeguard and promote the welfare of the 

child  

• be involved in assessments where crimes have been committed, where their 

expertise is required to identify whether a crime has been committed and where 

crimes may be committed in the future. These investigations might be reactive  

(where there is evidence to suggest a crime has been committed) or proactive  

(where further activity is required to establish if a crime has occurred)   

All involved practitioners should:  

• be involved in the assessment and provide further information about the child 

and family  

• agree further action, including what services would help the child and family, 

and inform local authority children’s social care if any immediate action is 

required  

• seek advice and guidance as required and in line with local practice guidance  

139



 

  

  

84  

Flow chart 1: Action taken when a child is referred to local 

authority children’s social care   

 

    

  

They have 
concerns  
about the  

child ’ s immediate  
safety ( refer to  
flow chart    3 on  

immediate  
protection ) 

They decide  
no further local  

authority  
children ' s social  
care involvement  
is necessary  at  
this stage ,  but  

other action may  
be necessary 

If the lead practitioner  
assesses that  other  

action  
is necessary ,  

they refer the child  
and their family to 

early help  
assessment 
or  help from  

universal and  
targeted services 

They decide  
further  

assessment is  
necessary 

( refer to  
flow chart  4   on  
assessment ,  

and flow chart  5   
on strategy  
discussion ) 

The lead practitioner makes an assessment  
under section  17   or  47   of the Children Act  1989   

( refer to flow chart    4 on assessment ) 

A  child ’ s case is referred 
to local authority children ’ s social care 

Local authority children ’ s social care  
acknowledges the referral . 

A social work qualified practice supervisor  
or manager decides on the  next course  

of action  within  one working day .  
With partners ,  they agree who the 

lead practitioner should be .  
T he lead practitioner should always be a  

social worker for child protection enquiries . 

Local authority children ’ s social care  
informs the referrer about the  
next course of action , including  
where there is no further action  

for the local authority 

140



 

  

  

85  

Looked after children returning home to their families  

Where the decision to return a child to the care of their family is planned, the local 

authority should undertake an assessment while the child is looked after as part of 

the care planning process (under regulation 39 of the Care Planning Regulations 

2010). This assessment should consider what services and support the child and 

their family might need. Family group decision-making, such as family group 

conferences, could also be used to establish how the family network will support the 

child to return home. The outcome of this assessment should be included in the 

child’s care plan. The decision to cease to look after a child will, in most cases, 

require approval under regulation 39 of the Care Planning Regulations 2010. 

Practitioners must carry out an assessment of need for eligible children105 to consider 

their eligibility for independence and transition into adulthood.  

Where a child who is accommodated under section 20 of the Children Act 1989 

returns home in an unplanned way, (for example, the decision is not made as part of 

the care planning process, but the parent removes the child, or the child decides to 

leave), the local authority should work with partners to consider whether there are 

any immediate concerns about the safety and wellbeing of the child. This could 

include harm from outside the home. The local authority should take appropriate 

action, including making enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 1989, if there 

is concern that the child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm.  

There should be a clear plan for all children who return home that reflects current and 

previous assessments, focuses on outcomes, and includes details of services and 

support required. Following reunification:  

• practitioners should make the timeline and decision-making process for providing 

ongoing services and support clear to the child and family  

• when reviewing outcomes, children should, wherever possible, be seen alone. 

Practitioners have a duty to ascertain their wishes and feelings regarding the 

provision of services being delivered  

The impact of services and support should be monitored and recorded, and where a 

child is remanded to local authority or youth detention accommodation, consideration 

must be given to what ongoing support and accommodation the child may need after 

their period of remand106. This should be included in their care plan.  

                                            
105 Where the child is an eligible child, regulation 42 of the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010 applies.  
106 The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 2: Care, planning, placement and case review paragraph 8.20  

141

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/regulation/42/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/regulation/42/made
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf


 

  

  

86  

  
  

142



 

  

  

87  

Flow chart 2: Looked after children returning home to their 

families   

143



 

  

  

88  

   

It  reviews the care plan  
and the outcomes  

for the child 

It provides the child  
and their parents with 
ongoing assessment  

and services 

It  closes the child ’ s case ,  
when appropriate 

It approves its decision  
that the  child will cease to  

be looked after under  
regulation  39 , reflecting  

the outcome of  
its assessment and the  

details set out in the  
child ’ s care plan 

It makes an  assessment  
under regulation  39 and  
includes in the child ’ s care  

plan the  advice ,  assistance  
and support  it will provide  

after the child returns home 

If the  family removes the  
child from the  looked after  placement  

provided under section  20   of the  
Children Act  1989   or 

the  child decides to leave 

Local authority children ’ s  
social care has  concerns  

about the child ’ s immediate  
safety  ( refer to flow chart    3 
on immediate protection ) 

Local authority children ’ s  
social care has  no concerns  
about the child ’ s immediate  

safety  ( refer to flow chart  4   
on assessment ) 

It decides that the child 
will be  placed with  

their parents  
as the  subject of  

a care order 

Local authority children ’ s social care reviews a  looked after  child ’ s case  under the  
Care Planning ,  Placement and Case Review  ( England   ) Regulations  2010 

It decides that the  
plan of permanence  
in the child ’ s care plan  

should be for the 
child to return home 

It  continues to assess  
the most appropriate  
plan for permanence  

and / or whether the  
child should remain  

looked after The child  remains a  
looked after  child  

but lives with their family  
( regulations  15   to  20 ) 

144



 

  

  

89  

Section 3: Child protection   

212. Alongside the offer of help and support, there must be strong and effective 

multiagency child protection arrangements107. Children who need protecting may 

include those who experience harm in their own family and those who are harmed 

or exploited by others, including their peers, in their community and/or online. 

Suffering or being likely to suffer significant harm is the threshold for child 

protection enquiries and can take different forms, including sexual, physical or 

emotional abuse, neglect or domestic abuse (including controlling or coercive 

behaviour108), exploitation by criminal gangs or organised crime groups, trafficking, 

online abuse, sexual exploitation, and the influences of extremism which could lead 

to radicalisation.   

213. Child protection is the set of multi-agency activities and processes that follow a 

concern that a child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm. Under section 47 

of the Children Act 1989, the local authority has a duty to make enquiries when this 

is the case and to take decisive action when needed to protect a child from abuse, 

neglect, and exploitation. Practitioners responsible for child protection decision-

making should be skilled, experienced and have the right expertise to collate, 

analyse and distil complex information in a changing context. Where child 

protection enquiries are necessary, the lead practitioner should always be a social 

worker.   

214. Whatever the form of abuse, neglect and exploitation, practitioners should:   

• put the needs of children first when determining what action to take  

• speak to the child at the earliest opportunity to understand what is happening in 

their daily life, recognising that the child may express this through their actions and 

behaviours   

• work with the family to build trusting and co-operative relationships with parents 

and carers, in line with the principles for working with parents and carers set out in 

chapter 1 of this guidance   

• use their skills and experience to recognise circumstances where the parent is 

reluctant to engage and seek to understand the factors that might underly this, 

                                            
107 Children Act 2004   

108 Serious Crime Act 2015 Section 76 provides information regarding circumstances when a child cannot be considered a victim of 

coercive or controlling behaviour.  

145

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/9/section/76/enacted


 

  

  

90  

including types of domestic abuse that are resulting in coercive or controlling 

behaviour which limits the parent’s capacity to engage  

  
  

• speak to and gather detailed information about the child and, where appropriate, 

their siblings, through engaging with the family network and those who know the 

child well, such as those working in the child’s school or nursery   

• consider a wide range of evidence from many sources, including other practitioners 

and agencies working with the family  

• create as full a picture as possible of what is happening for the child, understanding 

what the child’s daily life is like will be critical to making effective decisions about 

their safety   

• build on existing assessments, including those under section 17 of the Children Act 

1989 or assessments for early or targeted help, where the child is already known to 

services   

215. Where the decision is taken not to proceed with a child protection plan or to 

discharge the plan, the lead practitioner should consider the support that the child 

requires, which might include multi-agency support and/or continued support under 

section 17 of the Children Act 1989.   

National multi-agency practice standards for child protection  

216. Expectations for practice for senior leaders, practice supervisors and practitioners 

in local authorities are set out in the Children’s Social Care National Framework. This 

includes practice to help keep children safe inside and outside of their homes (Outcome  

3).   

217. The following national multi-agency practice standards for child protection are for all 

practitioners working in services and settings who come into contact with children who 

may be suffering or have suffered significant harm within or outside the home. The term 

practitioner is used throughout the guidance to refer to individuals who work with children 

and their families in any capacity, including a range of professionals, such as qualified 

social workers and those who work for the statutory safeguarding partners or in education 

146



 

  

  

91  

settings. Section B is specifically targeted at those directly involved in child protection 

work. These standards should be used within the wider context of paragraphs 212-215.   

218. Local safeguarding partners need to ensure all practitioners are supported to be 

able to achieve these child protection standards, including through:  

• an unrelenting focus on protection and the best outcomes for children   

• creating learning cultures in which practitioners stay up to date as new evidence of 

best practice emerges   

• creating an environment in which it is safe to challenge, including assumptions that 

relate to ethnicity, sex, disability, and sexuality   

• supporting practitioners with effective supervision as determined by their regulatory 

body in which they can critically reflect on their findings and strengthen their 

analysis   

• helping practitioners to understand the impact of their decisions on the child and 

family  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

147



 

  

  

92  

A: Recognising actual or likely significant harm for all practitioners  

• Practitioners are alert to potential indicators of abuse, neglect, and exploitation, 

and listen carefully to what a child says, how they behave, and observes how 

they communicate if non-verbal (due to age, special needs and/or disabilities, or 

if unwilling to communicate). Practitioners will try to understand the child’s 

personal experiences and observe and record any concerns.   

• Practitioners communicate in a way that is appropriate to the child’s age and 

level of understanding and use evidence-based practice tools for engaging with 

children, including those with special educational needs and disabilities.   

• When practitioners have concerns or information about a child that may indicate 

a child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm, they share them with 

relevant practitioners and escalate them if necessary, using the referral or 

escalation procedure in place within their local multi-agency safeguarding 

arrangements. They update colleagues when they receive relevant new 

information.   

• Practitioners never assume that information has already been shared by 

another professional or family member and always remain open to changing 

their views about the likelihood of significant harm.   

B: Section 47 enquiries, child protection conferences and child protection plans   

• Practitioners are aware of the limits and strengths of their personal expertise 

and agency remit. They work collaboratively and proactively with multi-agency 

practitioners to build an accurate and comprehensive understanding of the daily 

life of a child and their family to establish the likelihood of significant harm and 

any ongoing risks. Practitioners respect the opinions, knowledge and skills of 

multi-agency colleagues and engage constructively in their challenge.  

• Practitioners have an applied understanding of what constitutes a child suffering 

actual or likely significant harm. They consider the severity, duration and 

frequency of any abuse, degree of threat, coercion, or cruelty, the significance 

of others in the child’s world, including all adults and children in contact with the 

child (this can include those within the immediate and wider family and those in 

contexts beyond the family, including online), and the cumulative impact of 

adverse events.  

  

  

148



 

  

  

93  

  

  

 

•  
Practitioners take care to ensure that children know what is being discussed 

about them and their family where this is appropriate. They ask children what 

they would like to happen and what they think would help them and their family 

to reduce the likelihood of significant harm, including where harm is taking place 

in contexts beyond the family home. Practitioners listen to what children tell 

them.   

•  Practitioners engage parents and the family network, as appropriate, in the 

discussions, recognising previous involvement with agencies and services may 

influence how they engage. Practitioners encourage parents and families to 

express what support would help them to reduce significant harm.   

•  
Practitioners thoroughly explore the significance of the adults in contact with the 

child and their family or individual histories. They should pay particular attention 

to any serious criminal convictions, previous allegations of child abuse, 

domestic abuse or impulsive violent behaviour, restrictions on contact with 

children or involvement with children subject to child protection plans or care 

proceedings.   

•  Practitioners satisfy themselves that conclusions about the likelihood of 

significant harm give sufficient weight to the views, experiences, and concerns 

of those who know the child and/or parents well, including relatives who are 

protective of the child, and other relevant practitioners.   

•  Practitioners share their thinking and proposed recommendations with other 

practitioners who hold relevant information and insight into the child and adults 

involved with the child. Practitioners comment, challenge, and jointly deliberate, 

before making a final decision about the likelihood of significant harm.  

•  Together with other agencies, practitioners clarify what family help from 

multiagency partners is necessary to reduce the likelihood of significant harm 

and maintain reasonable care for the children. They seek assurance that this 

resource is available and of sufficient skill and intensity.   

149



 

  

  

94  

•  

  

  

Practitioners explain clearly to parents and the family network the implications of 

the threshold that has been reached for section 47 enquiries, the initial child 

protection conference, and any ongoing child protection plan (including that this 

threshold may lead to pre-proceedings, should the likelihood of significant harm 

not reduce). Practitioners do everything they can to ensure that parents and the 

family network understand and can engage purposefully with the enquiries and 

any protection plan.   

• Practitioners remain alert to changes in circumstances for the child and family 

and respond as new information comes to light that needs to be reflected in the 

child protection plan.   

• Practitioners reflect on the proposed protection plan and consider adjustments to 

strengthen the protection plan. The protection plan is specific, achievable, and 

relevant to the likelihood of significant harm and the context in which it is 

occurring.  

C: Discharging the child protection plan  

• Practitioners work as part of a multi-agency team to create lasting change for 

families and ensure the child, parents and family network know that further help 

and support is available if needed or further concerns arise.  

• Following a decision to discharge a child protection plan, practitioners ensure that 

appropriate support is in place for the child and family and respond to changing 

circumstances and new information.   

• Where a child becomes looked after, practitioners ensure that this is well planned 

and that the child, parents and family network are appropriately supported. 

Ongoing need is monitored as part of care planning.  

  

  

  

219. The following descriptors and flow charts set out the steps that practitioners should 

take when working together to protect a child who is or is likely to suffer significant harm.   

  

150



 

  

  

95  

  

151



 

  

  

96  

Immediate protection  

152



 

  

  

97  

Where there is a risk to the life of a child or a likelihood of serious immediate harm, whether 

from inside or outside the home, the local authority, the police (including British Transport 

Police) or NSPCC should use their statutory child protection powers to act immediately to 

secure the safety of the child, as set out in Section 46 of Children Act 1989.  

If it is necessary to remove a child from their home, a local authority must, wherever possible 

and unless a child’s safety is otherwise at immediate risk, apply for an Emergency  

Protection Order (EPO). Police powers to remove a child in an emergency should be used 

only in exceptional circumstances where there is insufficient time to seek an EPO or for 

reasons relating to the immediate safety of the child.  

An EPO, made by the court, gives authority to remove a child, or prevent a child being 

removed from a hospital or other place the child is being accommodated, and places them 

under the protection of the applicant.   

When considering whether emergency action is necessary, the local authority or the police 

should always consider the needs of other children in the same household or in the household 

of an alleged perpetrator.  

The local authority in whose area a child is found in circumstances that require emergency 

action (the first authority) is responsible for taking emergency action. If the child is looked after 

by, or the subject of a child protection plan in another authority, the first authority must consult 

the authority responsible for the child. Only when the second local authority explicitly accepts 

responsibility (to be followed up in writing) is the first authority relieved of its responsibility to 

take emergency action.  

Multi-agency working  

Planned emergency action will normally take place following an immediate strategy 

discussion. Social workers, the police or NSPCC should:  

• initiate a strategy discussion to discuss planned emergency action. Where a single 

agency has to act immediately, a strategy discussion should take place as soon as 

possible after action has been taken  

• see the child (this should be done by a practitioner from the agency taking the 

emergency action) to decide how best to protect them and whether to seek an EPO  

• wherever possible, obtain legal advice before initiating legal action, in particular when 

an EPO is being sought  

Related information: For further guidance on EPOs see Chapter 4 of the statutory guidance 

document for local authorities, Court orders and pre-proceedings (DfE, April 2014).  

153

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-court-orders--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-court-orders--2


 

  

  

98  

  

Strategy discussion  

Whenever there is reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering or is likely to 

suffer significant harm, there should be a strategy discussion involving local authority 

children’s social care (including the residential or fostering service, if the child is looked 

after), the police, health, and other bodies such as the referring agency, education, 

early help, or other practitioners involved in supporting the child. This might take the 

form of a multi-agency meeting and more than one discussion may be necessary. A 

strategy discussion can take place following a referral or at any other time, including 

during the assessment process and when new information is received on an already 

open case.  

Purpose  

The purpose of a strategy discussion is to determine the child’s welfare and plan rapid 

future action if there is reasonable cause to suspect the child is suffering or is likely to 

suffer significant harm.  

Attendees  

A local authority social worker, health practitioners and a police representative should, 

as a minimum, be involved in the strategy discussion. Other relevant practitioners will 

depend on the nature of the individual case but may include those who have concerns 

about the child and/or those involved in the child’s life, for example:  

• the practitioner or agency which made the referral   

• the child’s school or nursery  

• any health or care services the child or family members are receiving  

• youth justice practitioner and/or youth worker  

• adult mental health, substance misuse and/or domestic abuse specialist  

• British Transport Police representative   

All attendees should be sufficiently senior to make decisions on behalf of their 

organisation and agencies. They should be sufficiently skilled and experienced to 

prepare for and engage with the strategy discussion and be able to critically assess 

and challenge their own and others’ input.  

  

  

154



 

  

  

99  

  

  

 

155



 

  

  

100  

Tasks  

The discussion should be used to:  

• share, seek and analyse available information  

• agree the conduct and timing of any criminal investigation  

• consider whether enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 1989 should be 

undertaken.   

It is for the local authority to decide whether to make enquiries and the strategy 

discussion should inform this decision.   

Where there are grounds to initiate an enquiry under section 47 of the Children Act 

1989, decisions should be made as to:  

• what further information is needed if an assessment is already underway and 

how it will be obtained and recorded  

• what immediate and short-term action is required to support the child, and who 

will do what by when  

• whether legal action is required  

The timescale for the assessment to reach a decision on next steps should be based 

upon the needs of the individual child, consistent with the local protocol and no longer 

than 45 working days from the point of referral into local authority children’s social 

care.  

The assessment framework set out earlier on in this chapter should be followed for 

assessments undertaken under section 47 of the Children Act 1989. The lead 

practitioner for section 47 enquiries should be a social worker.  

Lead practitioners should convene the strategy discussion and make sure they:   

• consider the child’s welfare and safety, including through speaking to the child, 

and identifying whether the child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm   

• decide what information should be shared with the child and family (on the basis 

that information is not shared if this may jeopardise a police investigation or 

place the child at risk of harm)  

• agree what further action is required, and who will do what by when, where an 

EPO is in place, or the child is the subject of police powers of protection  

• record agreed decisions in accordance with local recording procedures   

• follow up actions to make sure what was agreed gets done  

156



 

  

  

101  

Health practitioners should:  

• advise about the appropriateness or otherwise of medical assessments, and 

explain the benefits that arise from assessing previously unmanaged health 

matters that may be further evidence of neglect or maltreatment  

• provide and co-ordinate any specific information from relevant practitioners 

regarding family health, maternity health, school health mental health, domestic 

abuse and violence, and substance misuse to assist strategy and decision 

making  

• secure additional expert advice and support from named and/or designated 

professionals for more complex cases following preliminary strategy discussions  

• undertake appropriate examinations or observations, and further investigations 

or tests, to determine how the child’s health or development may be impaired  

The Police should:  

• discuss the basis for any criminal investigation, including both reactive (where 

there is evidence to suggest a crime has been committed) and proactive (where 

further activity is required to establish if a crime has occurred), and any relevant 

processes that other organisations and agencies might need to know about, 

including the timing and methods of evidence-gathering  

• lead the criminal investigation where joint enquiries take place with the local 

authority children’s social care leading for the section 47 enquires and 

assessment of the child’s welfare  

  

  

  

  

  

    

157



 

  

  

102  

Initiating section 47 enquiries  
A section 47 enquiry is carried out by undertaking or continuing with an assessment in 

accordance with the guidance set out in this chapter.   

Local authority social workers should lead assessments under section 47 of the  

Children Act 1989. The police, health practitioners, teachers and school staff and other 

relevant practitioners should help the local authority in undertaking its enquiries.  

Purpose  

A section 47 enquiry is initiated to decide whether, and what type of action is required to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of a child who is suspected to be suffering, or is 

likely to suffer significant harm.  

Lead practitioners should:  

• lead the assessment in accordance with this guidance  

• carry out enquiries in a way that minimises distress for the child and family  

• see the child who is the subject of concern to ascertain their wishes and feelings, 

assess their understanding of their situation, assess their relationships and 

circumstances more broadly, and understand the child’s experiences and 

interactions with others, especially where there are concerns of extra-familial 

harm  

• explain to parents or carers the purpose, process and potential outcome of the 

enquiries and be prepared to answer questions openly, unless to do so would 

affect the safety and welfare of the child  

• interview parents or carers and determine the wider social and environmental 

factors that might impact on them and their child, including extra-familial contexts   

• systematically gather information about the child’s and family’s history  

• analyse the findings of the assessment and evidence about what interventions 

are likely to be most effective with other relevant practitioners  

• determine the child’s needs and the level of risk of harm faced by the child to 

inform what help should be provided and act to provide that help  

• follow the guidance set out in “Achieving best evidence in criminal proceedings:  

guidance on interviewing victims and witnesses, and guidance on using special  

  

  

158



 

  

  

103  

  

measures”, where a decision has been made to undertake a joint interview of the 

child as part of any criminal investigation109  

Health practitioners should:  

• provide appropriate specialist assessments, for example, paediatric or forensic 

medical assessments, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, speech and 

language therapists and/or child psychologists may be involved in specific 

assessments relating to the child’s developmental progress. The lead health 

practitioner (probably a consultant paediatrician, or possibly the child’s GP) may 

need to request and co-ordinate these assessments  

• ensure appropriate treatment and follow up health concerns, such as 

administering missing vaccines  

The Police should:  

• help other organisations and agencies understand the reasons for concerns 

about the child’s safety and welfare by sharing information and analysis   

• decide whether or not police investigations reveal grounds for instigating criminal 

proceedings  

• make available to other practitioners any other relevant information gathered or 

known to inform discussions about the child’s welfare  

• follow the guidance set out in “Achieving best evidence in criminal proceedings: 

guidance” on interviewing victims and witnesses, and guidance on using special 

measures, where a decision has been made to undertake a joint interview of the 

child as part of the criminal investigation  

All involved practitioners should:  

• contribute to the assessment as required, providing information and analysis 

about the child and family   

• consider whether a joint enquiry or investigation team may need to speak to a 

child victim without the knowledge of the parent or carers  

• approach the work with parents and carers in line with the principles in chapter 1  

• seek advice and guidance as required and in line with local practice  

  

                                            
109 Achieving best evidence in criminal proceedings: guidance on interviewing victims and witnesses, and guidance on using special 

measures (2011).  

159

https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/legal_guidance/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf
https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/legal_guidance/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf
https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/legal_guidance/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf
https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/legal_guidance/best_evidence_in_criminal_proceedings.pdf


 

  

  

104  

  
  

160



 

  

  

105  

Outcome of section 47 enquiries  

161



 

  

  

106  

The lead practitioner (social worker) is responsible for deciding what action to take and 

how to proceed following section 47 enquiries. They should make these decisions 

based on multi-agency discussions informed by the voice of the child.   

If local authority children’s social care decides not to proceed with a child protection 

conference, then other practitioners involved with the child and family have the right to 

request that local authority children’s social care convene a conference if they have 

serious concerns that a child’s welfare may not be adequately safeguarded. As a last 

resort, the safeguarding partners should have in place a quick and straightforward 

means of resolving differences of opinion.  

Where concerns of significant harm are not substantiated  

Lead practitioners should:  

• discuss the case with the child, parents and other practitioners and be 

prepared to answer questions openly and be clear on next steps   

• discuss whether support from any services may be helpful and help secure it   

• consider whether the child’s health and development should be re-assessed 

regularly against specific objectives and decide who has responsibility for 

doing this   

• discuss with the family whether they wish to be referred to a family group 

decision-making forum, such as a family group conference, to determine 

ongoing support for the child and family  

 All involved practitioners should:  

• participate in further discussions as necessary  

• contribute to the development of any plan as appropriate  

• provide services as specified in the plan for the child  

• review the impact of services delivered as agreed in the plan  

• approach the work with parents and carers in line with the principles set out in 

chapter 1 of this guidance   

• seek advice and guidance as required and in line with local practice guidance  

• consider the plans for ongoing assessment and reviewing the child’s 

circumstances  

  

162



 

  

  

107  

 

163



 

  

  

108  

Where concerns of significant harm are substantiated, and the child is judged to 

be suffering or likely to suffer significant harm:  

Lead practitioners should:   

• convene an initial child protection conference (see next section for details). 

The timing of this conference should depend on the urgency of the case and 

respond to the needs of the child and the nature and severity of the harm they 

may be facing. The initial child protection conference should take place within 

15 working days of a strategy discussion, or the strategy discussion at which 

section 47 enquiries were initiated if more than one has been held  

• consider which practitioners with specialist knowledge or relevant professional 

disciplines should be invited to participate so that the plan will meet the child’s 

needs  

• seek to communicate the outcome and rationale to the referring practitioner or 

agency, and give particular consideration to whether they should be included 

in the child protection conference  

• ensure that the child and their parents understand the purpose and who will 

attend, parents should be given appropriate information to support their 

participation in the conference  

• help prepare the child if they are attending or making representations through 

a third party to the conference   

• give information about advocacy agencies and explain that the family may 

bring an advocate, friend, or supporter  

All involved practitioners should:   

• be sufficiently skilled and experienced to prepare for and engage with the child 

protection conference, and able to critically assess and challenge their own 

and others’ input  

• contribute to the information their agency provides ahead of the conference, 

setting out the nature of the organisations or agency’s involvement with the 

child and family  

• offer clear analysis based on their perspective  

• consider, in conjunction with the police and the appointed conference chair, 

whether the report can and should be shared with the parents and if so when  

164



 

  

  

109  

• approach the work with parents and carers in line with the principles set out in 

chapter 1 of this guidance  

• attend the conference when invited and participate in decision-making  

• seek advice and guidance as required and in line with local practice guidance  

165



 

  

  

110  

Initial child protection conferences  

Following section 47 enquiries, an initial child protection conference brings together 

family members (and the child where appropriate), with the supporters, advocates, and 

practitioners most involved with the child and family, to make decisions about the 

child’s future safety, health and development. If concerns relate to an unborn child, 

consideration should be given as to whether to hold a child protection conference prior 

to the child’s birth.  

Purpose  

To bring together and analyse, in a multi-agency and multi-disciplinary meeting, all 

relevant information and plan how best to safeguard and promote the welfare of the 

child and protect them from harm. It is the responsibility of the conference to make 

recommendations on how organisations and agencies work together to safeguard the 

child in future.   

Practitioners and parents should be provided with clear and accurate information about 

the conference process to support effective planning. All practitioners should approach 

the work with parents and carers in line with the principles set out in chapter 1 of this 

guidance.   

Conference tasks include:  

• appointing a lead statutory body (either local authority children’s social care or 

NSPCC) and a lead social worker, who should be experienced and an 

employee of the lead statutory body  

• identifying membership of the core group of practitioners and family members 

who will develop and implement the child protection plan  

• establishing timescales for meetings of the core group, production of a child 

protection plan and for child protection review meetings  

• agreeing an outline child protection plan, with clear actions and timescales, 

including a clear sense of how much improvement is needed, by when, so that 

success can be judged clearly  

    

166



 

  

  

111  

The conference chair:   

• is accountable to the Director of Children’s Services, where possible the same 

person should chair subsequent child protection reviews  

• should be a practitioner, independent of operational and/or line management 

responsibilities for the case  

• should meet the child and parents in advance to ensure they understand the 

issues, the purpose, the process, and possible outcomes of the conference   

• should be prepared to answer questions openly   

• should approach the work with parents and carers in line with the principles set 

out in chapter 1 of this guidance   

• should consider whether members of the family network should attend and 

participate in the conference   

• should ensure all participants are encouraged to contribute views independently  

Lead practitioners should:  

• convene, attend, and present information about the reason for the conference, 

their understanding of the child’s needs, parental capacity, family and 

environmental context (including extra-familial contexts), and evidence of how 

the child has been abused, neglected, or exploited and its impact on their health 

and development   

• analyse the information to enable informed decisions about what action is 

necessary to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child who is the subject 

of the conference  

• share the conference information with the child and family beforehand (where 

appropriate)   

• prepare a report for the conference on the child and family which sets out and 

analyses what is known about the child and family and the local authority’s 

recommendation  

• record conference decisions and recommendations and ensure action follows  

  

  

    

167



 

  

  

112  

All involved practitioners should:  

• work together to safeguard the child from harm in the future, taking timely, 

effective action according to the plan agreed  

• attend and present information about their understanding or the child’s needs, 

parental capacity, family, and environmental factors (including extra-familial 

contexts) and evidence of how the child has been abused, neglected, or 

exploited and its impact on their health and development   

• bring their agency perspective, expertise and challenge and contribute to 

decisions about actual or likely significant harm and actions to address by 

contributing to the plan to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child who 

is the subject of the conference  

Safeguarding partners should:  

• monitor the effectiveness of child protection conference arrangements  

  

     

168



 

  

  

113  

The child protection plan  

Actions and responsibilities following the initial child protection conference  

Purpose:   

The aim of the child protection plan is to:   

• ensure the child is safe from harm (including inside and outside of the home, and 

online) and prevent them from suffering further harm  

• promote the child’s health and development  

• support the parents, family, and the family network to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of the child  

• set out the support and resources to be provided by each agency to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of the child  

Local authority children’s social care should:   

• designate a social worker to be the lead practitioner as they carry statutory 

responsibility for the child’s welfare  

• consider the evidence and decide what legal action to take if any, where a child 

has suffered or is likely to suffer significant harm  

• define the local protocol for timeliness of circulating plans after the child 

protection conference  

Lead practitioners should:   

• be the lead for multi-agency and multi-disciplinary work with the child and family, 

co-ordinating the contribution of family members, including through family group 

decision-making such as family group conferences, and practitioners into putting 

the child protection plan into effect  

• support multi-agency and multi-disciplinary practitioners to contribute to the 

development of the outline child protection plan into a more detailed multi-

agency plan and circulate to all relevant practitioners (and family where 

appropriate)  

• ensure the child protection plan is aligned and integrated with any associated 

offender risk management plan   

• undertake direct work with the child and family in accordance with the child 

protection plan, taking into account the child’s wishes and feelings, and the 

views of the parents in so far as they are consistent with the child’s welfare  

169



 

  

  

114  

• approach work with parents and carers in line with the principles set out in 

chapter 1   

• complete the child’s and family’s in-depth assessment, securing contributions 

from core group members and other practitioners as necessary  

• undertake direct work with the family network, for example, through family 

group decision-making such as family group conferences, to consider how the 

family network can support the plan and update the plan accordingly  

• explain the plan to the child in a manner which is in accordance with their age 

and understanding and agree the plan with the child  

• if needed, inform the relevant embassy if the child has links to a foreign country  

• co-ordinate progress reviews against the planned outcomes set out in the plan, 

updating as required. The first review should be held within three months of the 

initial conference and further reviews at intervals of no more than six months 

for as long as the child remains subject of a child protection plan  

• record decisions and actions agreed at core group meetings as well as the 

written views of those who were not able to attend and follow up those actions 

to ensure they take place. The child protection plan should be updated as 

necessary  

• lead core group activity  

The core group should:   

• meet within 10 working days from the initial child protection conference if the 

child is the subject of a child protection plan  

• further develop the outline child protection plan, based on assessment findings, 

and set out what needs to change, by how much, and by when in order for the 

child to be safe and have their needs met  

• decide what steps need to be taken, and by whom, to complete the in-depth 

assessment to inform decisions about the child’s safety and welfare  

• share information about relevant multi-agency and multi-disciplinary resources 

and services available, agree what should be provided to the child and parents 

as part of the plan and how this will be funded. Practitioners should agree how 

impact will be assessed  

• implement the child protection plan and take joint responsibility for carrying out 

the agreed tasks, monitoring progress and outcomes, and refining the plan as 

needed  

170



 

  

  

115  

    
Child protection review conference  

The review conference procedures for preparation, decision-making and other 

procedures should be the same as those for an initial child protection conference.  

Purpose:   

To review whether the child is continuing to suffer or is likely to suffer significant harm 

and review developmental progress against child protection plan outcomes.  

To consider whether the child protection plan should continue or should be changed.  

Lead practitioners should:   

• attend and lead the organisation of the conference  

• determine when the review conference should be held within three months of the 

initial conference, and thereafter at maximum intervals of six months  

• provide information to enable informed decisions about what action is necessary 

to continue to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child, and the 

effectiveness and impact of action taken so far  

• share the conference information with the child and family beforehand, where 

appropriate, and ensure that they understand the information provided   

• approach work with parents and carers in line with the principles set out in chapter 

1   

• engage the family network where this is appropriate to support the child. If there is 

family group decision-making, such as a family group conference, parents and 

family networks should have the opportunity to prepare for it in advance  

• record conference outcomes  

• decide whether to initiate family court proceedings (all the children in the 

household should be considered, even if concerns are only expressed about one 

child) if the child is considered to be suffering significant harm  

  

  

  

 

171



 

  

  

116  

All involved practitioners should:   

• attend, when invited, and provide details of their involvement with the child and 

family  

• produce reports for the child protection review. This information will provide an 

overview of work undertaken by family members and practitioners and evaluate 

the impact on the child’s welfare against the planned outcomes set out in the 

child protection plan  

• approach work with parents and carers in line with the principles set out in 

chapter 1  

• be sufficiently skilled and experienced to prepare for and engage with the 

review, and able to critically assess and challenge their own and other’s input  

  

172



 

  

  

117  

Discontinuing the child protection plan  

A child should no longer be the subject of a child protection plan if:  

• it is judged that the child is no longer continuing to, or is likely to, suffer 

significant harm and therefore no longer requires safeguarding by means of a 

child protection plan  

• the child and family have moved permanently to another local authority area. In 

such cases, the receiving local authority should convene a child protection 

conference within 15 working days of being notified of the move. Only after this 

event may the original local authority discontinue its child protection  

• the child has reached the age of 18 years (to end the child protection plan, the 

local authority should have a review around the child’s birthday, and this should 

be planned in advance), has died, or has permanently left the United Kingdom  

Lead practitioners should:   

• notify, as a minimum, all agency representatives who were invited to attend the 

initial child protection conference that led to the plan   

• seek input on the decision to discontinue from other core group members and 

ensure that all practitioners who are involved in supporting the child and parents 

are notified  

• consider whether support services are still required and discuss with the child, 

parents, family, and family network as appropriate what might be needed, based 

on a re-assessment of the child’s needs, including where this may involve 

transition between child and adult services  

  

    

Initiating pre-proceedings  

Once the child protection process has been carried out, it may be deemed by the local 

authority that there is still not sufficient protection of the child by the parents and that the 

‘threshold’110 for care proceedings has been met in principle. In this instance, the local 

authority should determine whether to initiate pre-proceedings and follow the ‘Court 

orders and pre-proceedings guidance for local authorities’111. This decision should be 

informed by engagement with other relevant agencies. During this period, the local 

                                            
110 The Children Act 1989 Section 31 (2)   
111 Court Orders and Pre-proceedings for Local Authorities (2014)  

173

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/31
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/31
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/31
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/306282/Statutory_guidance_on_court_orders_and_pre-proceedings.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/306282/Statutory_guidance_on_court_orders_and_pre-proceedings.pdf


 

  

  

118  

authority should offer family group decision-making, such as family group conferences, 

to continue to explore potential placements within the family network and to clarify the 

realistic options available for the child. At pre-proceedings, records of key discussions 

with the family can be used as evidence of decision-making112.  

The pre-proceedings process acts as the final opportunity for parents to avoid care 

proceedings. Whilst pre-proceedings may be initiated at this final stage as per flow chart 

6, where the local authority considers the “threshold” for care proceedings to be met, 

proceedings can be initiated at any stage.  

The local authority should work in partnership with families and, where possible, any 

extra support or services needed to support the family should be identified and put in 

place. There should be clear expectations set with parents about the changes they are 

required to make.  

Link to the full statutory guidance on court orders and pre-proceedings can be found in 

Appendix B of this document, titled “Children Act 1989: court orders and 

preproceedings”.  

When initiating pre-proceedings, practitioners should review Practice Direction 12A, the 

link can also be found in Appendix B. The pre-proceedings checklist in this Practice 

Direction outlines the documentation that must be prepared in pre-proceedings or 

before and submitted as part of the local authority application for a court order.  

Practitioners and strategic leads can also refer to the family justice hub for access to 

resources and tools to support the delivery of best practice in pre-proceedings. A link to 

these resources can be found in Appendix B, titled “Pre-proceedings and family justice 

hub”.  

  

  

  
  

                                            
112 Practice direction 12A – Care supervision and other part 4 proceedings: guide to case management.  

174

https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/family/practice_directions/pd_part_12a#para
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/family/practice_directions/pd_part_12a#para


 

  

  

119  

Flow chart 3: Immediate protection   

175



 

  

  

120  

   

The local authority decides ,  with involvement from  
other agencies ,  whether to take  

immediate safeguarding action 
and what the  sequence of information sharing 

should be ,  especially to the child ’ s family 

An agency with statutory child protection powers 
( meaning  local authority children ' s social care ,  

health or police ) considers that a  
child may need immediate protection 

The local authority convenes an  
immediate strategy discussion 

with children ’ s social care ,  health and  
the police ,  and the NSPCC ,  if involved 

The relevant agency seeks  legal advice 
and  records the outcome 

The relevant agency meets with the child 
and records the outcome 

The relevant agency  
decides that the child  

does require  
immediate protection 

The relevant agency  
decides that 

no immediate action  
is required 

but the child is 
a child in need ( CiN ). 

The family agrees a  
plan with practitioners  
and agencies to ensure  

the child ’ s future  
safety and welfare .  
The local authority  
records the plan 

for all concerned to  
act on the  

decisions made 
( refer to flow chart  4   

on assessment ) 

Local authority  
children ' s social care 

holds a  strategy  
discussion and  

makes an enquiry 
under section    47 

of the Children Act  1989   
( refer to flow chart    5 

on strategy discussion ) 

The relevant agency  
decides that the child  

does not require  
immediate protection  

and is also not meeting  
the threshold for a  

child in need  ( CiN ). 
It works with the  

family to help them  
access the right help ,  

which could be a  
combination of early  

help , targeted early help  
and universal services 

176



 

  

  

121  

Flow chart 4: Action taken for an assessment of a child under 

the Children Act 1989   

177



 

  

  

122  

   

The lead practitioner refers  
the child and their family for  

early help assessment  or help from  
universal and targeted services 

The lead practitioner continues  
their  assessment  and 

co - ordinates the  provision of  
services , where needed 

The lead practitioner agrees with  
the family and other practitioners , 

within  45   working days ,  whether to  
put in place a  child in need  ( CiN )   plan 
or a child protection plan  ( CPP ) , and  

other relevant services ,  where needed 

The lead practitioner  reviews the plan 
and child outcomes ,  and when  

appropriate ,  refers the child either  
to  non - statutory services or for 

section    47 enquiries ,  or  closes the case 

The lead practitioner discusses the  
next steps with the child , 

the family and other practitioners 

The lead practitioner assesses that the  
child has  not suffered and is not likely  

to suffer significant harm and 
no local authority children ' s social care  

intervention is needed .  The family is  
supported to access universal help ,  early  
help or early targeted help ,  as applicable 

The lead practitioner assesses  
that children ’ s social care  

support is not required  
but  other action is needed 

The lead practitioner decides that  
children ’ s social care 
support is required  

A social work qualified practice supervisor or manager  ( whoever is  
the lead practitioner ,  as agreed with partners )   makes an  

initial assessment ,  in line with local protocols and within one  
working day of a referral ,  and decides on the  next course of action 

The lead practitioner makes a  full assessment  based on  
the needs of the child within    45 working days  

and informs the referring agency about the next course of action 

The lead practitioner assesses  
that the  child has suffered 

actual  ( or is likely to  
suffer ) significant harm  
and follows the process to  
put in place section  17   or  

section  47   support  
( refer to flow chart  5   on action  

following a strategy discussion ) 

178



 

  

  

123  

Flow chart 5: Action following a strategy meeting   

179



 

  

  

124  

   

A lead practitioner  convenes a strategy discussion  
to decide whether to initiate section  

  47 enquiries  
and records the decisions taken 

The outcome is to initiate  
enquiries under section  47 

of the Children Act  1989 

The  police investigate  whether a crime 
has been committed  

The outcome is to carry out an 
assessment under section  17 

of the Children Act  1989 
( refer to flow chart  4 ) 

The outcome is that  
local authority  

children ’ s social care has  
no further involvement  

but  other services  
may be required 

The lead practitioner makes an  assessment  within 45 
  working days of the referral ,  

in line with local protocol and based on the needs of the child ,  
and other practitioners contribute 

The  lead practitioner  
assesses that the  
concerns are not  

substantiated 
but the child is a  

child in need  ( CiN ) 

The lead practitioner  
assesses that the  

concerns are substantiated 
but the child  is not suffering  

or is not likely to suffer 
significant harm 

The lead practitioner  
assesses that the  

concerns are substantiated 
and the child  is suffering  

or is likely to suffer 
significant harm 

They decide whether it is  
necessary to convene a  

child protection conference ,  
recording the decisions made 

They convene a  
child protection conference 

within  15 
  working days  

of the strategy discussion , 
recording the decisions made 

The conference participants  
decide that the child  

is suffering or  
is likely to suffer  
significant harm 

They  agree a plan 
with the family and other 

practitioners to  ensure the  
child ’ s future safety  

and welfare ,  recording and  
acting on the decisions made  

( refer to flow chart  4 ) 

They  agree a plan 
with the family and other 
practitioners to ensure the  

child ’ s future safety and welfare ,  
recording and acting on  

the decisions made 

The conference participants  
decide that the child 
is not suffering or  

likely to suffer  
significant harm 

The lead practitioner  
prepares an  outline child  

protection plan  ( CPP ) 
and a  core group  

is established 
( refer to flow chart  6 ) 

They  agree  a plan with the family  
and other practitioners to  

ensure the child ’ s future safety  
and welfare ,  recording and acting 

on the decisions made  
( refer to flow chart  4 ) 

The lead practitioner decides 
not to convene  

a child protection conference  

180



 

  

  

125  

Flow chart 6: What happens after the child protection 

conference, including review?    

Local authority children’s social care  
makes a child the subject of a child protection plan (CPP).  

The lead practitioner meets with the core group of practitioners 

who prepared the outline CPPwithin 10 days  
of the initial child protection conference 

The lead practitioner completes a multi-agency assessment 

in line with local protocols, and the core group  
commissions further specialist assessments as necessary 

The lead practitioner and the core groupdevelop and implement the 

child protection plan (CPP). They provide or commission the  
necessary interventions for the child and their family in line with the CPP 

The lead practitioner convenes a child protection review conference with the 

core group within 3 months of the initial child protection conference. 

The lead practitioner and the  The lead practitioner and the core group 

assess that there are  core group assess that there are  
no ongoing or further concerns ongoing or further concerns about 

significant harm about significant harm 

The lead practitioner records that  The lead practitioner records that 

the child is no longer the subject  the child remains the subject of a 

child protection plan, of a revised child protection plan 
 and the reasons for this decision and implements anupdated plan 

The core group decideswhether  The lead practitioner convenes a the 

child and their family need  second child protection review  
service provision to be continued  conference within 6 months and 

plans access with the  of the first to make decisions  
family to early help, targeted early  based on the needs of the child help 

or universal services, or whether the child is  
a child in need (CiN) and requires 

 a child in need plan If concerns remain and outcomes  
are not improving for the child,  
the lead practitioner convenes a 

conference to consider 
further protection, which may  

include moving to care proceedings. 
If a decision is taken to move 

to care proceedings,  
local authority children’s services  

181



 

  

  

126  

sends a letter before proceedings to 

the parents and/or anyone with  
parental responsibility for the child, 

initiating pre-proceedings and 

setting out the Public Law Outline 
  

Chapter 4: Organisational responsibilities   

220. A range of individual organisations and agencies working with children and families 

have specific statutory duties to promote the welfare of children and ensure they 

are protected from harm. These duties, as applied to individual organisations and 

agencies, are set out in this chapter.  

Section 11 of the Children Act 2004  

Places duties on a range of organisations, agencies, and individuals to ensure their 

functions, and any services that they contract out to others, are discharged having 

regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  

  

221. Section 11 places a duty on:   

• local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types of 

services, including children’s and adult social care, public health, housing, sport, 

culture and leisure services, licensing authorities and youth services  

• NHS organisations and agencies and the independent sector, including NHS  

England, ICBs, NHS Trusts, NHS Foundation Trusts and general practitioners  

• the police, including Police and Crime Commissioners and the chief officer of each 

police force in England and the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime where they 

exist  

• the British Transport Police  

• the Probation Service   

• governors or directors of prisons and young offender institutions (YOIs)  

• directors of secure training centres (STCs)  

• youth offending teams (YOTs)  

222. These organisations and agencies should have in place arrangements that reflect 

the importance of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, including:  

• a clear line of accountability for the commissioning and/or provision of services 

designed to safeguard and promote the welfare of children  

182



 

  

  

127  

• a senior board level lead with the required knowledge, skills, and expertise or 

sufficiently qualified and experienced to take leadership responsibility for the 

organisation’s or agency’s safeguarding arrangements   

• a culture of listening to children and taking account of their wishes and feelings, 

both in individual decisions and the development of services  

• clear whistleblowing procedures, which reflect the principles in Sir Robert Francis’ 

‘Freedom to Speak Up Review’ and are suitably referenced in staff training and 

codes of conduct, and a culture that enables issues about safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children to be addressed113  

• clear escalation policies for staff to follow when their child safeguarding concerns 

are not being addressed within their organisation or by other agencies  

• arrangements which set out clearly the processes for sharing information, with 

other practitioners and with safeguarding partners  

• a designated practitioner (or, for health provider organisations/agencies, named 

practitioners). Please see Health Practitioners with Specific Duties for more detail) 

for child safeguarding. Their role is to support other practitioners in their 

organisations and agencies to recognise the needs of children, including protection 

from possible abuse or neglect. Designated practitioner roles should always be 

explicitly defined in job descriptions. Practitioners should be given sufficient time, 

funding, supervision, and support to fulfil their child welfare and safeguarding 

responsibilities effectively  

• safe recruitment practices and ongoing safe working practices for individuals whom 

the organisation or agency permit to work regularly with children, including policies 

on when to obtain a criminal record check  

• appropriate supervision and support for staff, including undertaking safeguarding 

training  

• creating a culture of safety, equality, and protection within the services they provide  

In addition:  

• employers are responsible for ensuring that their staff are competent to carry out 

their responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and 

creating an environment where staff feel able to raise concerns and feel supported 

in their safeguarding role  

                                            
113 Sir Robert Francis’ freedom to speak up review  

183

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sir-robert-francis-freedom-to-speak-up-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sir-robert-francis-freedom-to-speak-up-review


 

  

  

128  

• staff should be given a mandatory induction, which includes familiarisation with 

child protection responsibilities and the procedures to be followed if anyone has 

any concerns about a child’s safety or welfare  

• all practitioners should have regular reviews of their own practice to ensure they 

have knowledge, skills and expertise that improve over time  

  
  

People in positions of trust  

223. Organisations and agencies working with children and families should have clear 

policies for dealing with allegations against people who work with children. Such policies 

should make a clear distinction between an allegation, a concern about the quality of care 

or practice, or a complaint. An allegation may relate to a person who works with children 

who has:  

• behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed a child  

• possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child  

• behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates they may pose a risk of 

harm to children  

• behaved or may have behaved in a way that indicates they may not be suitable to 

work with children  

224. County level and unitary local authorities should ensure that allegations against 

people who work with children are not dealt with in isolation. Any action necessary to 

address corresponding welfare concerns in relation to the child or children involved should 

be taken without delay and in a co-ordinated manner. Local authorities should, in addition, 

have designated a particular officer, or team of officers known as local authority 

designated officers (LADO), (either as part of local multi-agency arrangements or 

otherwise), to be involved in the management and oversight of allegations against people 

who work with children. Any such officer, or team of officers, should be sufficiently 

qualified and experienced to be able to fulfil this role effectively, for example, qualified 

social workers. Any new appointments to such a role, other than current or former 

designated officers moving between local authorities, should be qualified social workers. 

Arrangements should be put in place to ensure that any allegations about those who work 

with children are passed to the designated officer, or team of officers, without delay.  

184



 

  

  

129  

225. Local authorities should put in place arrangements to provide advice and guidance 

to employers, and voluntary organisations and agencies on how to deal with allegations 

against people who work with children. Local authorities should also ensure that there are 

appropriate arrangements in place to liaise effectively with the police and other 

organisations and agencies to monitor the progress of cases and ensure that they are 

dealt with as quickly as possible, consistent with a thorough and fair process.  

226. Employers, school governors, trustees and voluntary organisations should ensure 

that they have clear policies in place setting out the process, including timescales for 

investigation and what support and advice will be available to individuals against whom 

allegations have been made. Any allegation against people who work with children should 

be reported immediately to a senior manager within the organisation or agency. The 

designated officer, or team of officers, should also be informed within one working day of 

all allegations that come to an employer’s attention or that are made directly to the police. 

If the person is subject to registration or regulation by a professional body or regulator, for 

example by the Care Quality Commission or Ofsted, the designated officer should advise 

on whether a referral to that body is appropriate.  

227. If an organisation or agency removes an individual (paid worker or unpaid 

volunteer) from work in regulated activity114 with children (or would have, had the person 

not left first) because the person poses a risk of harm to children, the organisation or 

agency should make a referral to the Disclosure and Barring Service to consider whether 

to add the individual to the barred list. In some circumstances, organisations and agencies 

will be under a legal duty to make a referral to the Disclosure and Barring Service115.  

228. This applies irrespective of whether a referral has been made to local authority 

children’s social care and/or the designated officer, or team of officers. It is an offence to 

fail to make a referral without good reason116.   

Individual organisational responsibilities   

229. In addition to these section 11 duties, which apply to a number of named 

organisations and agencies, further safeguarding duties are also placed on individual 

                                            
114 Regulated activity in relation to children: scope  
115 Making barring referrals to the DBS  
116 Further guidance on referrals to the DBS is available at Appendix B 128 

Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009   

185

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550197/Regulated_activity_in_relation_to_children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550197/Regulated_activity_in_relation_to_children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/making-barring-referrals-to-the-dbs#what-is-a-referral
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/making-barring-referrals-to-the-dbs#what-is-a-referral
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents


 

  

  

130  

organisations and agencies through other statutes. The key duties that fall on each 

individual organisation are set out below.   

Schools, colleges and other educational providers  

230. The following have duties in relation to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 

children:   

• governing bodies of maintained schools (including maintained nursery schools), 

and colleges which includes providers of post 16 Education as set out in the  

Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009: 16-19 Academies, Special 

Post-16 institutions and Independent Training Providers128  

• proprietors of independent schools, (including academies, free schools, and 

alternative provision academies) and non-maintained special schools. In the case 

of academies, free schools and alternative provision academies, the proprietor will 

be the academy trust  

  
  

• management committees of pupil referral units (PRUs)117  

• senior leadership teams  

231. This guidance applies in its entirety to all schools   

232. Schools, colleges, and other educational settings must also have regard to 

statutory guidance ‘Keeping children safe in education’, which provides further 

guidance as to how they should fulfil their duties in respect of safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children in their care118.  

Early years and childcare   

233. Early years providers have a duty under section 40 of the Childcare Act 2006119 to 

comply with the welfare requirements of the early years foundation stage (EYFS)120. Early 

years providers must ensure that:  

• they are alert to any issues of concern in the child’s life  

                                            
117 Education Act 2002 Section 175 for management committees of pupil referral units, by virtue of regulation 3 and paragraph 19A of 

Schedule 1 to the Education (Pupil Referral Units) (Application of Enactments) (England) Regulations 2007  
118 Keeping children safe in education  
119 Childcare Act 2006 Section 40  

120 Section 3 – safeguarding and welfare requirements in the statutory framework for the early years foundation stage  

186

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/32/section/175
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2979/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2979/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2979/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/section/40
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/section/40
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2


 

  

  

131  

• they implement policies and procedures to safeguard children. This must include 

an explanation of the action to be taken when there are safeguarding concerns 

about a child and in the event of an allegation being made against a member of 

staff. The policy must also cover the use of mobile phones and cameras in the 

setting, that staff complete safeguarding training that enables them to understand 

their safeguarding policy and procedures, have up-to-date knowledge of 

safeguarding issues, and recognise signs of potential abuse and neglect  

• they have a practitioner who is designated to take lead responsibility for 

safeguarding children within each early years setting and who must liaise with local 

statutory children’s services as appropriate. This lead must also complete child 

protection training  

Health  

234. ICBs are one of the three statutory safeguarding partners as set out in chapter 2. 

NHS organisations and agencies are subject to the section 11 duties set out in this 

chapter. Health practitioners are in a strong position to identify welfare needs or 

safeguarding concerns regarding individual children and, where appropriate, 

provide support. This includes understanding risk factors, communicating and 

sharing information effectively with children and families, liaising with other 

organisations and agencies,  

  
  

assessing needs and capacity, responding to those needs, and contributing to 

multiagency assessments and reviews.  

235. A wide range of health practitioners have a critical role to play in safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children, including: GPs, primary care practitioners, 

paediatricians, nurses, health visitors, midwives, public health school nurses, allied 

health practitioners, those working in maternity, children and young people’s mental 

health, youth custody establishments, adult mental health, sexual, alcohol and drug 

services for both adults and children, unscheduled and emergency care settings, 

highly specialised services, and secondary and tertiary care.   

187



 

  

  

132  

236. All staff working in healthcare settings, including those who predominantly treat 

adults, should receive training to ensure they attain the competences appropriate to 

their role and follow the relevant professional guidance121,122,123.   

237. Within the NHS124:   

• NHS England is responsible for ensuring that the health commissioning system as 

a whole is working effectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. It is 

accountable for the services it directly commissions or delegates, including 

healthcare services in the under 18 secure estate (for police custody settings see 

below in the policing section). NHS England also leads and defines improvement in 

safeguarding practice and outcomes and should also ensure that there are 

effective mechanisms for safeguarding partners to raise concerns about the 

engagement and leadership of the local NHS. Each NHSE region should have a 

safeguarding lead to ensure regional collaboration and assurance through 

convening safeguarding forums.   

• ICBs are one of the statutory safeguarding partners and the major commissioners 

of local health services. They are responsible for the provision of effective clinical, 

professional, and strategic leadership to child safeguarding, including the quality 

assurance of safeguarding through their contractual arrangements with all provider 

organisations and agencies, including from independent providers.  

  
  

Health practitioners with specific duties   

238. Detailed descriptions of roles and competencies for health practitioners with specific 

duties are set out in the relevant Intercollegiate Documents.  

                                            
121 Safeguarding Children and Young People: roles and competencies for health care staff (RCN, 2019)  

122 Looked after children: Roles and competences of health care staff (RCN, 2020)  

123 For example, Protecting children and young people: the responsibilities of all doctors (GMC, 2018) and Safeguarding children and 

young people: the RCGP/NSPCC’s safeguarding children toolkit for general practice (RCGP, 2018)  

124 Further guidance on accountabilities for safeguarding children in the NHS is available in Safeguarding children, young people and 

adults at risk in the NHS: safeguarding accountability and assurance framework (2022)  

188

https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/safeguarding-children-young-people-roles-competencies
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/safeguarding-children-young-people-roles-competencies
https://www.rcn.org.uk/Professional-Development/publications/rcn-looked-after-children-roles-and-competencies-of-healthcare-staff-uk-pub-009486
https://www.rcn.org.uk/Professional-Development/publications/rcn-looked-after-children-roles-and-competencies-of-healthcare-staff-uk-pub-009486
https://www.gmc-uk.org/-/media/documents/protecting-children-and-young-people---english-20200114_pdf-48978248.pdf
https://www.gmc-uk.org/-/media/documents/protecting-children-and-young-people---english-20200114_pdf-48978248.pdf
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/resources/toolkits/child-safeguarding-toolkit.aspx
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/resources/toolkits/child-safeguarding-toolkit.aspx
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/resources/toolkits/child-safeguarding-toolkit.aspx
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/resources/toolkits/child-safeguarding-toolkit.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
http://www.commissioningboard.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/safeguarding-vulnerable-people.pdf


 

  

  

133  

Designated health practitioners  

239. ICBs should employ, or have in place, a contractual agreement to secure the 

expertise of designated practitioners, such as dedicated designated doctors and nurses 

for safeguarding children, and dedicated designated doctors and nurses for looked after 

children (and designated doctor or paediatrician for unexpected deaths in childhood).   

240. In some areas, where the ICB has more than one local authority in its footprint, they 

may consider ‘lead’ or ‘hosting’ arrangements for their designated health professionals, or 

a clinical network arrangement with the number of designated doctors and nurses for child 

safeguarding equating to the size and complexity of the child population. Designated 

doctors and nurses, as senior professionals, clinical experts, and strategic leaders, are a 

vital source of safeguarding advice and expertise for all relevant organisations and 

agencies but particularly the ICB, NHS England, and the local authority, and for advice 

and support to other health practitioners across the health economy. The NHS 

commissioners and providers should ensure that designated professionals are given 

sufficient time to be fully engaged, involved, and included in the new safeguarding 

arrangements.  

Named health practitioners  

241. All providers of NHS funded health services, including NHS Trusts and NHS 

Foundation Trusts, should identify a dedicated named doctor and a named nurse (and a 

named midwife if the organisation or agency provides maternity services) for safeguarding 

children. In the case of ambulance trusts and independent providers, this should be a 

named practitioner. Named practitioners have a key role in promoting good professional 

practice within their organisation and agency, providing advice and expertise for fellow 

practitioners, and ensuring safeguarding training is in place. They should work closely with 

their organisation’s or agency’s safeguarding lead on the executive board, designated 

health professionals for the health economy and other statutory safeguarding partners.  

242. ICBs should employ named GPs for safeguarding children to advise and support 

GP practice safeguarding leads. GP practices should have a lead and deputy lead for 

safeguarding, who should work closely with the named GP125.  

                                            
125 Child safeguarding toolkit: Introduction | Home (rcgp.org.uk)  

189

https://elearning.rcgp.org.uk/mod/book/view.php?id=12531
https://elearning.rcgp.org.uk/mod/book/view.php?id=12531


 

  

  

134  

Other organisations providing NHS services  

243. Other public, voluntary, and independent sector organisations, agencies and social 

enterprises providing NHS services to children and families should ensure that they follow 

this guidance.  

Police   

244. The police are one of the three statutory safeguarding partners as set out in 

chapter 2 and are subject to the section 11 duties set out in this chapter. Under section 

1(8)(h) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011126, the Police and Crime 

Commissioner (PCC) must hold the Chief Constable to account for the exercise of the 

latter’s duties in relation to safeguarding children under sections 10 and 11 of the Children 

Act 2004.   

245. All police officers and other police employees, such as Police Community Support 

Officers, are well placed to identify early when a child’s welfare is at risk and when a child 

may need protection from harm. Children have the right to the full protection offered by 

criminal law. In addition to identifying when a child may be a victim of a crime, police 

officers should be aware of the effect of other incidents which might pose safeguarding 

risks to children and where officers should pay particular attention. Harm may be indirect 

and non-physical as, for example, in the case of some domestic abuse which may involve 

controlling or coercive behaviour, or economic abuse. An officer attending a domestic 

abuse incident should be aware of the effect of such behaviour on any children in the 

household and recognise that children who see, hear, or experience the effects of 

domestic abuse are victims in their own right139.  

246. Children who are encountered as offenders, or alleged offenders, are entitled to the 

same safeguards and protection as any other child and due regard should be given to 

their safety and welfare at all times. These children are often victims of harm, for example, 

children who are apprehended in possession of Class A drugs may be victims of 

exploitation through county lines drug dealing. Consideration should be given to the 

potential impact an arrest or seizure of items may have upon a child’s immediate and 

ongoing safety and whether there is actual or likely significant harm. This might include  

  
  

                                            
126 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 Section 1 (8) (h) 139 

Domestic Abuse Act 2021, section 3  

190

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/section/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/section/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/section/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/section/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/section/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/section/3


 

  

  

135  

self-harm, threats, or violence from criminal gangs to the child and their family following 

loss of money and/or drugs and a “debt” can be created which is also known as debt 

bondage140.  

247. The police will hold important information about children who may be suffering, or 

likely to suffer, significant harm, as well as those who cause such harm. They should 

always share this information with other organisations and agencies where this is 

necessary to protect children. Similarly, they can expect other organisations and agencies 

to share information to enable the police to carry out their duties. All police forces should 

have officers trained in child abuse investigation and safeguarding responsibilities. 

Officers making decisions about whether children are referred into children’s social care 

should be confident in understanding and applying the local threshold document (see 

chapter 2).  

248. The police have a power to remove a child to suitable accommodation under 

section 46 of the Children Act 1989, if they have reasonable cause to believe that the child 

would otherwise be likely to suffer significant harm. Statutory powers to enter premises 

can be used with this section 46 power, and in circumstances to ensure the child’s 

immediate protection141. Police powers can help in emergency situations, but should be 

used only when necessary and, wherever possible, the decision to remove a child from a 

parent or carer should be made by a court. This can include circumstances where the 

significant harm is from outside the home142 143.   

249. Restrictions and safeguards exist in relation to the circumstances and periods for 

which children may be taken to or held in police stations. PCCs are responsible for health 

commissioning in police custody settings and should always ensure that this meets the 

needs of individual children.  

250. Using Civil Orders powers available to police and partners can be an effective tool 

to disrupt those who are targeting children for criminal purposes. The Child Exploitation  

  
  

140 Further information on “debt bondage” can be found at County lines offending: the Crown Prosecution Service   
141 Potential powers of entry include those under:  
• Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) section 17(1)(b), a constable may enter and search any premises for the purpose 

of arresting a person for an indictable offence  
• PACE section 17(1)(e), a constable may also enter and search premises for the purpose of saving life or limb or preventing serious 

damage to property – in the exercise of police protection powers, if entry to premises is refused, this section may give adequate 

powers  

191

https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/county-lines-offending
https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/county-lines-offending
https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/county-lines-offending
https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/county-lines-offending
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-abuse/concern-for-a-child/
https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-abuse/concern-for-a-child/
https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-abuse/concern-for-a-child/


 

  

  

136  

• common law, where a constable has the power to enter premises to prevent or deal with a breach of the peace (which is preserved 

under PACE section 17(6))  
• Children Act 1989 section 48, a warrant may be obtained to search for children who may be in need of emergency protection  
142 A child under police protection should not be brought to a police station except in exceptional circumstances, such as a lack of 

immediately available local authority accommodation, and then only for a short period. College of Policing: Police response to 

concern for a child College of Policing (www.college.police.uk)    
143 College of Policing: Arrest and other positive approaches; College of Policing: Protective measures and civil orders   

Disruption Toolkit127 lists a range of useful tools available to frontline professionals in 

disrupting child criminal exploitation activity. For example, Slavery and Trafficking Risk 

Orders, and Slavery and Trafficking Prevention Orders can place prohibitions on the 

offender in order to disrupt child criminal exploitation activity.  

Adult social care services   

251. Local authorities provide services to adults who are themselves responsible for 

children who may be in need. These services are subject to the section 11 duties set out 

in this chapter. When staff are providing services to adults, they should ask whether there 

are children in the family and take actions to respond if the children need help or 

protection from harm. Additional parenting support could be particularly needed where the 

adults have mental health problems, misuse drugs or alcohol, are in a violent relationship, 

have complex needs or have learning difficulties.  

252. Local authority services to adults must consider whether any children are providing 

care to the adult and whether the young carers are in need of support128. In such cases, or 

when requested by a parent or the young carer, the authority is under a duty to conduct a 

young carers’ needs assessment under section 17ZA of the Children Act 1989 (see 

chapter 3, paragraphs 192-193).   

253. Adults with parental responsibilities for disabled children have a right to a separate 

parent carer’s needs assessment under section 17ZD of the Children Act 1989. Adults 

who do not have parental responsibility, but are caring for a disabled child, are entitled to 

an assessment on their ability to provide, or to continue to provide, care for that disabled 

child under the Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995146. That assessment must 

also consider whether the carer works or wishes to work, or whether they wish to engage 

in any education, training, or recreation activities.  

                                            
127 The government’s child exploitation disruption toolkit was updated in July 2022 to set out tools and tactics to support the use of 

statutory powers such as civil orders that are available to frontline safeguarding agencies.  
128 The Care and Support (Assessment) Regulations 2014 Regulation 4  146 
Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995   

192

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/17
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/48
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/48
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/investigating-child-abuse-and-safeguarding-children/police-response-concern-child
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/investigating-child-abuse-and-safeguarding-children/police-response-concern-child
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/investigating-child-abuse-and-safeguarding-children/police-response-concern-child
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/investigating-child-abuse-and-safeguarding-children/police-response-concern-child
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/investigating-child-abuse-and-safeguarding-children/police-response-concern-child
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/investigating-child-abuse-and-safeguarding-children/police-response-concern-child
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/domestic-abuse/arrest-and-other-positive-approaches
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/domestic-abuse/arrest-and-other-positive-approaches
https://www.college.police.uk/app/investigation/investigation-process#protective-measures-and-civil-orders-e26a5fe3-4bb3-4fcb-b960-ac7a94586aa9
https://www.college.police.uk/app/investigation/investigation-process#protective-measures-and-civil-orders-e26a5fe3-4bb3-4fcb-b960-ac7a94586aa9
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-exploitation-disruption-toolkit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-exploitation-disruption-toolkit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-exploitation-disruption-toolkit
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2827/regulation/4/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2827/regulation/4/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/12/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/12/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/12/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/12/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/12/contents


 

  

  

137  

254. Adult social care services should liaise with children’s social care services to 

ensure that there is a joined-up approach when both carrying out such assessments and 

in the provision of support to families where there are young carers or parent carers.  

Housing services   

255. Housing and homelessness services in local authorities and others, such as 

environmental health organisations, are subject to the section 11 duties set out in this 

chapter. Practitioners working in these services may become aware of conditions that  

  
  

could have or are having an adverse impact on children. Under Part 1 of the Housing Act 

2004129, authorities must take account of the impact of health and safety hazards in 

housing on vulnerable occupants, including children, when deciding on the action to be 

taken by landlords to improve conditions. Housing authorities also have an important role 

to play in safeguarding vulnerable young people, including young people who are 

pregnant, leaving care or a secure establishment.  

Homelessness duty  

256. The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 significantly reformed England’s 

homelessness legislation by placing duties on local authorities to intervene at 

earlier stages to prevent homelessness in their areas.   

257. It added section 213B into the Housing Act 1996130, which is a duty on certain 

public authorities to refer to a housing authority service users they consider are or 

may be homeless or threatened with homelessness (meaning it is likely they will 

become homeless within 56 days).   

258. The duty to refer applies to all social services functions, including early help, 

leaving care and child protection, and is intended to increase early identification 

and intervention, which is critical for safeguarding against homelessness. Earlier 

intervention can help prevent children becoming homeless, and the possibility of 

them being considered ‘intentionally homeless’ and so not owed a long-term 

housing duty.  

259. Before making a referral, a public authority must:  

                                            
129 Housing Act 2004 Part 1  
130 Housing Act 1996 Section 213B  

193

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2017%2F13%2Fcontents&data=02%7C01%7CJoshua.Davies%40communities.gov.uk%7Cbc59fcc240fd4ee1703508d79db5ccf0%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637151276455977617&sdata=2BCHTkXpvwgI%2FOTiha%2F5dG3QcVD5PUaIThsqOCmjm%2BQ%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2017%2F13%2Fsection%2F10&data=02%7C01%7CJoshua.Davies%40communities.gov.uk%7Cbc59fcc240fd4ee1703508d79db5ccf0%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637151276455977617&sdata=W0mcVet%2BFzSq7U%2BzQVN4Cmnf0wimKZxbuM4u56l9z5g%3D&reserved=0
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/part/1
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/part/1
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/213B
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/213B


 

  

  

138  

• have the individual’s consent to the referral (although referrals without consent may 

be made in order to safeguard children or vulnerable adults, in accordance with 

local procedures)  

• allow the individual to identify the housing authority in England which they would 

like the notification to be made to  

• have consent from the individual that their contact details can be supplied so the 

housing authority can contact them regarding the referral  

260. The referral to a housing authority must include the individual’s name, contact 

details, and the agreed reason for referral (for example, that the individual is 

homeless or at risk of homelessness). Further referral information may include:  

  
  

194



   

•  

139  

whether an individual is already homeless, and if not when they are likely to 
131become homeless  

• whether the individual is at risk of rough sleeping on the date the referral is made 

and if so whether this is imminent  

• risk assessment information, considering risks to the individual and to others  

• key medical information where relevant  

261. Full guidance can be found in the Homelessness Code of Guidance149. Further 

guidance on how social care and housing authorities should work together to 

prevent those aged 16 and 17 from becoming homeless, and how the duty to 

refer should operate in this context, can be found in the ‘Prevention of 

homelessness and provision of accommodation for 16 and 17 year old young 

people who may be homeless and/or require accommodation guidance’132.  

British Transport Police   

262. The British Transport Police (BTP) is subject to the section 11 duties set out in this 

chapter. In its role as the national police for the railways, the BTP can provide a useful 

insight beyond the geographical footprint of local authority areas. They also play an 

important role in safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, especially in 

identifying and supporting children who have run away, who are missing, at risk of 

suicide, sexual abuse or who are being exploited by criminal gangs, such as the 

movement of drugs through county lines drug dealing.   

263. The BTP should carry out its duties in accordance with its legislative powers, 

working closely with safeguarding partners. This includes investigating offences 

perpetrated against children, such as through the Modern Slavery Act 2015 where 

children have been exploited, removing a child to a suitable place using their police 

protection powers under the Children Act 1989133, and the protection of children who are 

truanting from school using powers under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998134.    

The Prison Service   

264. The Prison Service, including privately managed prisons, is subject to the section  

                                            
131 Homelessness code of guidance for local authorities  
132 Provision of accommodation for 16 and 17 year old young people who may be homeless and/or require accommodation  
133 Children Act 1989 Section 46  
134 Crime and Disorder Act 1998   

195

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5ef9d8613a6f4023cf12fc67/current_Homelessness_code_of_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5ef9d8613a6f4023cf12fc67/current_Homelessness_code_of_guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/provision-of-accommodation-for-16-and-17-year-olds-who-may-be-homeless-and-or-require-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/provision-of-accommodation-for-16-and-17-year-olds-who-may-be-homeless-and-or-require-accommodation
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/46
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents


 

140  

11 duties set out in this chapter. Prison staff have a responsibility to initiate or follow up a  

  
  

child safeguarding enquiry135 with children’s services at the earliest opportunity for all 

newly sentenced prisoners. If circumstances for the prisoner have changed, prison staff 

must make a new child safeguarding enquiry.  

265. The Prison Service have a responsibility to identify prisoners who present an 

ongoing risk to children from within custody and are assessed as a potential or confirmed 

‘person posing a risk to children’ (PPRC)136,137. Where an individual has been identified as 

a PPRC, the relevant prison establishment should:  

• inform the local authority children’s social care service (in the prisoner's home 

area and the home area of any identified child at risk where this is different) of 

the prisoner’s reception to prison, subsequent transfers, release on temporary 

licence, and release date and address of the offender  

• consult with children’s social care about any significant change in circumstances, 

including if the PPRC initiates a request to change their name  

• notify the relevant Probation Service or youth offending team of the offender’s 

PPRC status. Alert the police to the release date and address138,139  

• decide on the level of contact, if any, to be allowed between the PPRC and 

children based on the prison’s child contact risk assessment and prevent or 

restrict a prisoner’s contact with children where necessary. The prison’s decision 

should take into account any risk information provided by other relevant 

agencies, this may include the police, probation, health, and children’s social 

care  

• make referrals to the relevant children's social care department140 where the 

child is not known and there are concerns about prisoner contact  

                                            
135 HMPPS child safeguarding policy framework sets out that a child safeguarding enquiry (sometimes referred to as a safeguarding 

check) is an official enquiry that HMPPS staff send to local authority’s children’s services to request information on an individual, child 

or family.  
136 This applies not just to adult prisons but also to all types of establishments within the secure estate for children, with the same 

process applying to children who pose a risk to other children.  

137 HMP public protection manual  
138 If the PPRC have been released under probation supervision, the prison no longer has responsibility for them, and it falls to the 

relevant Probation Delivery Unit to address and manage the risk in the community.  

139 The management of an individual who presents a risk of harm to children will often be through the prisons multidisciplinary 

interdepartmental risk management team meetings.  

140 The referral will be sent to the local authority in which the child lives  

196

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-child-safeguarding-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-child-safeguarding-policy-framework
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1105417/psi-18-2016-pi-17-2016-public-protection-manual.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1105417/psi-18-2016-pi-17-2016-public-protection-manual.pdf


   

•  

141  

• record information children's social care have shared as required in assessments 

and case notes   

266. The primary carer of a child may contact the prison to request a restriction on 

contact between the prisoner and child. Requests can be made to the HMPPS Unwanted 

Prisoner Contact Team, contact details are:   

  
  

email – unwantedprisonercontact@justice.gov.uk  

• telephone – 0300 060 6699, Monday to Friday, 9am to 4pm   

• website – GOV.UK/stop-prisoner-contact  

267. A prison can monitor a prisoner’s communication (including letters and telephone 

calls) to protect children where it is proportionate and necessary to the risk presented.  

268. Prison governors should ensure there is a clear process for children’s social care 

practitioners to engage prisoners who are involved in safeguarding or child protection 

procedures. This may be via face-to-face visits or virtual conferencing. All prisons have an 

Offender Management Unit (OMU) with a telephone or functional mailbox which can be 

found at Prisons in England and Wales - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk), this should be the first 

point of contact for agencies who need to contact a prisoner or OMU. Agencies or 

organisations who need to find a prisoner should follow the instructions outlined at Find a 

prisoner - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  

269. Each prison should have arrangements in place that take account of the needs of 

children who have parents in prison. During a prisoner’s first night induction, they will be 

supported to make suitable care arrangements for any dependent children. Prisons can 

work with children’s social care services and other agencies to contribute to improved 

outcomes for children who are impacted by parental imprisonment. The Prison Service 

should:  

• provide facilities for children to play whilst visiting a prisoner  

• ensure the visitors’ area caters for the needs of children and promotes a positive 

and safe experience  

• ask all prisoners during their initial custody screening process whether they have 

caring responsibilities for any children under the age of 18  

197

https://unwanted-prisoner-contact.form.service.justice.gov.uk/
https://unwanted-prisoner-contact.form.service.justice.gov.uk/


 

142  

• review who is looking after the dependent children of prisoners, and inform 

children’s social care services if they have concerns about a child’s safety or 

wellbeing  

270. Prison staff may also use the National Information Centre on Children of Offenders 

(NICCO) website141 to find local services who can support children who are impacted by 

parental imprisonment. Further support for families can be found at Support for families 

and friends of prisoners.   

  
  

271. Prisons should encourage and assist prisoners to maintain relationships with their 

families, including children, to support their social rehabilitation wherever it is appropriate 

and safe to do so142143.   

Mother and baby units in prisons  

272. Mother and baby units (MBUs) are discrete specialist accommodation, within some 

prisons, for female prisoners with children up to age of 18 months or above, where 

appropriate. Governors or Directors of prisons which have MBUs have a duty of care to 

the child. When a woman applies for a place on a MBU, the referral for assessment must 

be sent to children’s social care in the mother’s home area at the earliest opportunity and 

must include information on MBU provision and policy144.   

273. The prison should actively engage children’s social care to ensure the relevant 

input into processes and individual cases. Practitioners should be provided with 

information on the purpose, facilities and support available on the MBU. Opportunities for 

practitioners to visit the MBU should be offered and encouraged.   

274. Prisons must consult children’s social care on all MBU Board decisions, including 

decisions relating to a change in placement, and any other matters relevant to promoting 

the welfare and safeguarding a child145146.   

                                            
141 National information centre on children of offenders (NICCO) is delivered by Barnardo’s in partnership with HM Prison and  

Probation Service  
142 This reflects the requirements of Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR): respect for family life and private 

life. Under section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998, a public authority is obliged to act compatibly with ECHR rights, including article 8. 
Both the Secretary of State for Justice and governors are bound by section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998. Prison governors must 
ensure that the local prison approach to the family-ties strategy is sufficient to ensure compliance with article 8 and section 6.  
143 Strengthening Prisoners Family Ties Policy Framework  

144 Pregnancy, Mother and Baby Units (MBUs), and Maternal Separation from Children up to the Age of Two in Women’s Prisons  
145 Pregnancy, MBUs and maternal separation in women’s prisons Policy Framework   

146 Pregnancy, Mother and Baby Units (MBUs), and Maternal Separation from Children up to the Age of Two in Women’s Prisons  

198

https://www.nicco.org.uk/
https://www.nicco.org.uk/
https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Convention_ENG.pdf
https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Convention_ENG.pdf
https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Convention_ENG.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/section/6
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/section/6
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/section/6
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strengthening-prisoners-family-ties-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strengthening-prisoners-family-ties-policy-framework
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1157495/mbu-pf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1157495/mbu-pf.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pregnancy-mbus-and-maternal-separation-in-womens-prisons-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pregnancy-mbus-and-maternal-separation-in-womens-prisons-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pregnancy-mbus-and-maternal-separation-in-womens-prisons-policy-framework
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1157495/mbu-pf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1157495/mbu-pf.pdf


   

•  

143  

The Probation Service   

275. The Probation Service is a statutory criminal justice agency that supervises adult 

offenders serving community sentences, or who are subject to licensed supervision 

following release from custody. Probation staff also deliver resettlement work in prisons, 

undertake pre-sentence assessments, provide advice to courts, deliver targeted 

interventions and work with victims. The purpose of the Probation Service is to protect the 

public by reducing reoffending and improve offender rehabilitation. During the course of 

their duties, probation practitioners will come into contact with individuals who:  

• have offended against a child  

• pose a risk of harm to children even though they have not been convicted of an 

offence against a child  

  
  

are parents or carers of children  

• have regular contact with a child for whom they do not have caring responsibility  

276. The timely communication of safeguarding concerns between the Probation 

Service, children’s social care and other agencies is an important part of safeguarding 

and promoting the welfare of a child. On the day an offender is being sentenced, the 

courts may ask the Probation Service to provide sentencing advice and an assessment of 

the offender’s risk. Probation staff will make child safeguarding enquiries147 with children’s 

social care about whether they have information about children which may impact on the 

safety of different sentencing options (for example, the use of an electronically monitored 

curfew at the home address). They may request a response on the same day. Probation 

staff should incorporate considerations about the potential impact on children of any 

proposal they make to the court so that they are safe and appropriate. Probation staff 

working in prisons and in community teams may also undertake child safeguarding 

enquiries and should request a quick response if there are concerns about an offender 

having contact with a child.   

277. Probation staff should make child safeguarding enquiries and share information 

with children’s social care to inform sentencing advice and ongoing management of 

offenders, including the impact any offender may have on the safety or wellbeing of a 

child. Probation will send child safeguarding enquiries to the local authority in which the 

                                            
147 The HMPPS child safeguarding policy framework sets out that a child safeguarding enquiry (sometimes referred to as a 

safeguarding check) is an official enquiry that HMPPS staff send to local authority children’s social care to request information on an 

individual, child or family.  

199

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-child-safeguarding-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-child-safeguarding-policy-framework


 

144  

child and offender live. Each Probation Delivery Unit (PDU)148 should have arrangements 

in place with children’s social care for exchanging information. This includes responding to 

information sharing requests from local authorities regarding prospective foster carers and 

adoptive parents. If an offender who poses a risk to an identified child moves to another 

address which is in a different local authority, the probation practitioner should ensure the 

local authority where the offender lives is made aware. Probation should share the details 

of the offender and the identified child at risk.     

278. The Probation Service ensures every offender undergoes a thorough risk 

assessment149 to understand the risk they pose, and the factors related to their offending. 

Where appropriate this assessment will be informed by a range of agencies, which may 

include children’s social care, police, healthcare services, housing, and other voluntary 

organisations. Probation practitioners will develop a sentence plan and where necessary  

  
  

a risk management plan (RMP) which contains any specific measures required to manage 

and reduce the risk of harm to children. When appropriate, the Probation Service should 

share risk assessments and RMPs with other organisations and agencies involved in the 

management of the offender’s risk. Probation practitioners will also work with children’s 

social care to ensure that RMPs align with child protection and child in need plans.  

279. The sentence plan includes specific child safeguarding objectives for those 

offenders who pose a risk of serious harm to children or where there are child 

safeguarding concerns. Probation practitioners will also consider how a planned 

intervention might affect the offender’s caring or parental responsibilities or contribute to 

improved outcomes for children known to be in an existing relationship with the offender.   

280. Probation practitioners are experienced in working with offenders and assessing 

risk. Suitably qualified probation practitioners will attend child protection conferences, core 

group meetings and other child safeguarding meetings where required. They will provide 

an assessment of the offender’s risk and will assess how the offender’s behaviour might 

impact the wellbeing of children. Probation practitioners should prepare and submit 

reports in a timely way150.   

                                            
148 Including the National Security Division (NSD). The NSD is part of the Probation Service. It is a specialist division that works across 

England and Wales in 5 geographical units (Midlands, London/Kent/Surrey/Sussex, Wales, North, East of England/South Central). It 

manages those offenders who pose the highest risk of harm, including those convicted of terrorism offences or those who pose a 

national security terrorist risk. Other cohorts managed include some serious organised crime and critical public protection cases.  

149 HMPPS risk of serious harm assessments and guidance provides information regarding the specialist tools HMPPS practitioners 

use to assess the risk posed by an offender  
150 The HMPPS child safeguarding policy framework sets out how probation practitioners are expected to participate in formal 

meetings with children’s social care  

200

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-risk-of-serious-harm-guidance-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-risk-of-serious-harm-guidance-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-child-safeguarding-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hmpps-child-safeguarding-policy-framework


   

•  

145  

281. The Probation Service may hold valuable information on the parents of a child who 

is known to children’s social care and other agencies. The probation caseload is 

predominantly male and includes men who pose a risk to children, and men who may play 

a nurturing role, and have a positive impact on a child’s wellbeing. These men can often 

go unseen151 by agencies who do not ordinarily come into contact with men in the criminal 

justice system. This puts the Prison and Probation Service in a unique position to 

contribute to safeguarding work other agencies undertake with children and families.   

Multi-agency public protection arrangements   

282. Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) is the set of 

arrangements through which the Police, Probation and Prison Services (known 

as the Responsible Authority) work together with other agencies to manage the 

risks posed by violent, sexual and terrorism offenders living in the community to 

protect the public.  

283. MAPPA is not a statutory body but is a mechanism through which agencies can 

better discharge their statutory responsibilities and protect the public in a co-

ordinated manner. Agencies retain their full statutory responsibilities and 

obligations.   

  
  

                                            
151 Unseen men: learning from case reviews: NSPCC Learning  

201

https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/learning-from-case-reviews/unseen-men
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/learning-from-case-reviews/unseen-men


 

146  

284. Section 325(3) of the Criminal Justice Act 2003152 requires the Responsible  

Authority (RA) to co-operate with certain agencies, such as local authorities, including  

Children’s Social Care. They are known as Duty to Co-operate Agencies (DTC 

agencies). This is a reciprocal duty, the Criminal Justice Act 2003 obliges DTC 

agencies to cooperate with the RA in establishing arrangements and includes co-

operating with other DTC agencies. DTC agencies are required to co-operate as far 

as they can, consistent with the exercise of their statutory functions.  

285. Representatives from other agencies or individuals that do not have a statutory 

Duty to Cooperate under MAPPA (Associate Agencies) may be included in MAPPA 

on a case-by-case basis where that agency or individual can contribute to the risk 

assessment and management of a MAPPA offender. Potential Associate Agencies 

covered by Working Together include:  

• independent schools, academies, and free and maintained schools  

• early years and childcare  

• private sector healthcare  

• designated health professionals  

• the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service  

• voluntary, charity, social enterprise, faith-based organisations, and private 

sectors.  

• sports clubs/organisations  

• youth services and youth work organisations  

286. Whenever a child is discussed at a MAPPA meeting, the meeting must ensure that 

it considers its responsibilities to safeguard and promote the welfare of that child 

and how their life may be impacted by the behaviour of an offender. Where a child 

is managed under MAPPA the risk of harm the child presents to others must be 

addressed but children convicted of an offence or who are alleged to have 

engaged in offending behaviour are entitled to the same safeguards and protection 

as any other child and due regard should be given to their welfare at all times.  

287. The purpose of sharing information about individuals (data subjects) under MAPPA 

is to enable the relevant agencies to work together more effectively in assessing 

risks and considering how to manage them in order to protect the public. Agencies 

should share all relevant information, so that public protection is not compromised, 

while respecting the rights of data subjects, which may limit what can be shared. 

                                            
152 Criminal Justice Act 2003 Section 325 (3)  

202

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/44/section/325
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/44/section/325


 

147  

These rights are set out in Part 3 of the Data Protection Act 2018 and Article 8 of 

the European Convention on  

  
  

Human Rights. In summary, the principles derived require that information sharing is 

lawful, necessary, and proportionate.  

288. Section 325(4) of the Criminal Justice Act 2003 provides a lawful basis for sharing 

information between RA and DTC agencies153. It also states that all DTC agencies 

qualify as competent authorities when fulfilling their obligations under MAPPA. This 

means that all information sharing under MAPPA is governed by Part 3 of the Data 

Protection Act 2018, rather than UK GDPR154.  

Serious violence duty  

289. The Serious Violence Duty was introduced as part of the Police Crime Sentencing 

and Courts Act 2022155 and requires specified authorities namely police, Justice 

(Probation and YOTs), Fire and Rescue Service, Health (ICBs) in England, and Local 

Health Boards in Wales, and local authorities to work together to prevent and reduce 

serious violence. This includes identifying the kinds of serious violence156 that occur in the 

area, the causes of that violence (so far as it is possible to do so), and to prepare and 

implement a strategy for preventing, and reducing serious violence in the area.   

290. The Duty also requires the specified authorities to consult relevant authorities, 

namely educational, prison and youth custody authorities for the area in the preparation of 

their strategy. The Duty takes a multi-agency approach to understand the causes and 

consequences of serious violence, focusing on prevention and early intervention, and 

informed by evidence. It does not require new multi-agency structures and encourages 

the use of existing local structures and partnerships to prevent and reduce serious 

violence and ultimately improve community safety and safeguarding.   

291. The Duty provisions commenced on 31 January 2023 and local partners will then 

have to publish their first serious violence strategy by 31 January 2024 and then review it 

as appropriate. Statutory guidance to support authorities in meeting the Duty 

requirements was published in December 2022157.  

                                            
153 Criminal Justice Act 2003 Section 325 (4)   
154 Multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA): guidance   
155 Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022  
156 Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 Section 13 makes clear that violence is not limited to physical violence against the 

person. It provides that, for the purposes of the duty, violence includes domestic abuse, sexual offences, violence against property and 

threats of violence but does not include terrorism.  
157 Serious Violence Duty statutory guidance   

203

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/44/section/325
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/44/section/325
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/44/section/325
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-public-protection-arrangements-mappa-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-public-protection-arrangements-mappa-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-public-protection-arrangements-mappa-guidance
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/32/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/32/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/32/section/13/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-violence-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-violence-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-violence-duty


 

148  

Children’s homes   

292. The registered person of a children’s home, including Secure Children’s Homes 

must have regard to the Guide to the Children’s Homes Regulations158, including the  

  
  

quality standards (April 2015)159, in interpreting and meeting the Regulations. The Guide 

covers the quality standards for children’s homes, which set out the aspirational and 

positive outcomes that we expect homes to achieve, including the standard for the 

protection of children. The registered person is responsible for ensuring that staff 

continually and actively assess the risks to each child and the arrangements in place to 

protect them. Where there are safeguarding concerns for a child, their placement plan, 

agreed between the home and their placing authority, must include details of the steps the 

home will take to manage any assessed risks on a day-to-day basis.  

293. In addition to the requirements of this standard, the registered person has 

specific responsibilities under regulation 34 of the Children’s Homes Regulations 160 to 

prepare and implement policies setting out:  

• arrangements for the safeguarding of children from abuse, neglect, and 

exploitation  

• clear procedures for referring child protection concerns to the placing authority or 

local authority where the home is situated if appropriate   

• specific procedures to prevent children going missing and take action if they do  

294. Each home should work with their local safeguarding partners to agree how they 

will work together, and with the placing authority, to make sure that the needs of the 

individual children are met.  

The secure estate for children   

295. Governors, managers, directors and principals of the following secure 

establishments are subject to the section 11 duties set out in this chapter:  

• secure training centres  

• young offender institutions  

296. Each centre holding those aged under 18 should have in place an annually 

reviewed safeguarding children policy. The policy is designed to promote and safeguard 

the welfare of children and should cover all relevant operational areas as well as key 

                                            
158 Children’s homes regulations, including quality standards: guide   
159 The Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015  
160 The Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015 Regulation 34   

204

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-homes-regulations-including-quality-standards-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-homes-regulations-including-quality-standards-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-homes-regulations-including-quality-standards-guide
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/541/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/541/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/541/regulation/34/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/541/regulation/34/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/541/regulation/34/made


 

149  

supporting processes, which would include issues such as child protection, risk of harm, 

restraint, separation, staff recruitment and information sharing. A manager should be 

appointed and will be responsible for implementation of this policy161.   

  
  

297. Each centre should work with their local safeguarding partners to agree how they 

will work together, and with the relevant YOT and placing authority (the Youth Custody 

Service), to make sure that the needs of individual children are met.  

Youth offending teams   

298. Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are subject to the section 11 duties set out in this 

chapter. YOTs are multi-agency teams responsible for the supervision of children subject 

to pre-court interventions and statutory court disposals162. They are therefore well placed 

to identify children known to relevant organisations and agencies as being most at risk of 

offending and the contexts in which they may be vulnerable to abuse, and to undertake 

work to prevent them offending or protect them from harm. YOTs should have a lead 

officer responsible for ensuring safeguarding is embedded in their practice.   

299. Under section 38 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998163, local authorities must, 

within the delivery of youth justice services, ensure the “provision of persons to act as 

appropriate adults to safeguard the interests of children detained or questioned by police 

officers”.  

UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the 

Border Force   

300. Section 55 of the Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Act 2009 places upon the 

Secretary of State a duty to make arrangements to take account of the need to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of children in discharging functions relating to immigration, 

asylum, nationality and customs. These functions are discharged on behalf of the 

Secretary of State by UK Visas and Immigration, Immigration Enforcement and the Border 

Force, which are part of the Home Office. The statutory guidance ‘Every Child Matters: 

                                            
161 Detailed guidance on the safeguarding children policy, the roles of the safeguarding children manager and the safeguarding 

children committee, and the role of the establishment in relation to the LSCP can be found in Prison Service Instruction (PSI) 08/2012 

Care and Management of Young People.  
162 The statutory membership of YOTs is set out in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Section 39 (5)  
163 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Section 38  

205

https://www.justice.gov.uk/offenders/psis/prison-service-instructions-2012
https://www.justice.gov.uk/offenders/psis/prison-service-instructions-2012
https://www.justice.gov.uk/offenders/psis/prison-service-instructions-2012l
https://www.justice.gov.uk/offenders/psis/prison-service-instructions-2012l
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/section/39
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/section/39
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/section/39
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/section/38
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/section/38


 

150  

arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children’ and other guidance 

relevant to the discharge of specific immigration functions set out these arrangements164.   

Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service   

301. The responsibility of the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 

(Cafcass), as set out in the Children Act 1989, is to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

individual children who are the subject of family court proceedings. This is through the 

provision of independent social work advice to the court.  

  
  

302. A Cafcass officer has a statutory right in public law cases to access local authority 

records relating to the child concerned and any application under the Children Act 1989. 

That power also extends to other records that relate to the child and the wider functions of 

the local authority, or records held by an authorised organisation that relate to that child.  

303. Where a Cafcass officer has been appointed by the court as a child’s guardian and 

the matter before the court relates to specified proceedings, they should be invited to all 

formal planning meetings convened by the local authority in respect of the child. This 

includes statutory reviews of children who are accommodated or looked after, child 

protection conferences and relevant adoption panel meetings.   

The armed services  

304. Local authorities have the statutory responsibility for safeguarding and promoting 

the welfare of the children of service families in the UK165, in discharging these 

responsibilities:  

• where a local authority requires input from the Ministry of Defence (MoD) in 

relation to safeguarding reviews or have been informed of an allegation against a 

serving person of a safeguarding nature that requires Local Authority Designated 

Officer (LADO) or equivalent involvement, they should notify the MoD166 to 

promote timely information sharing   

                                            
164 Every Child Matters: statutory guidance to the UK Border Agency on making arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children. Issued under section 55 of the Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Act 2009  
165 The Ministry of Defence (MOD) is responsible for providing safeguarding support and promoting the welfare of the children of 

armed forces personnel and the children of civilians working with the armed forces when those groups are based overseas. The MOD 

contact is through the armed forces families safeguarding policy team at People-AFFS-Safeguarding-Mailbox@mod.gov.uk   
166 The MOD contact is through the armed forces families safeguarding policy team at People-AFFS-

SafeguardingMailbox@mod.gov.uk   

206

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7b9db0e5274a7318b8fd0b/change-for-children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7b9db0e5274a7318b8fd0b/change-for-children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7b9db0e5274a7318b8fd0b/change-for-children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7b9db0e5274a7318b8fd0b/change-for-children.pdf


 

151  

• local authorities should ensure that the MoD is made aware of any service child 

who is the subject of a child in need or child protection plan and whose family is 

about to move overseas  

• each local authority with a United States (US) base in its area should establish 

liaison arrangements with the base commander and relevant staff. The 

requirements of English child welfare legislation should be explained clearly to 

the US authorities, so that the local authority can fulfil its statutory duties  

Channel panels  

305. The Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 contains a duty on specified 

authorities in England, Wales, and Scotland to have due regard to the need to prevent 

people from being drawn into terrorism.  

  
  

306. Children can be vulnerable to the influences of extremism which could lead to 

radicalisation. Channel panels, established under the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 

2015, arrange for support for individuals who have been assessed as vulnerable to being 

drawn into terrorism167 168.   

307. The Children Act 1989 promotes the view that all children and their parents should 

be considered as individuals and that family structures, culture, religion, ethnic origins, 

and other characteristics should be respected.  

308. When providing support to an individual on the Channel programme, local 

authorities and their partners should consider how best to align assessments under the 

Children Act 1989 to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child.  

309. Links should be established between Channel panels and other statutory partners, 

including safeguarding partners and YOTs.  

Voluntary, charity, social enterprise, faith-based 

organisations, and private sectors  

310. Voluntary, charity, social enterprise (VCSE) and private sector organisations and 

agencies play an important role in safeguarding children through the services they deliver. 

Some of these will work with particular communities, with different races and faith 

                                            
167 Channel duty guidance: protecting people susceptible to radicalisation  
168 Prevent duty guidance  

207

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/964567/6.6271_HO_HMG_Channel_Duty_Guidance_v14_Web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/964567/6.6271_HO_HMG_Channel_Duty_Guidance_v14_Web.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance


 

152  

communities, and deliver via health, adult social care, housing, and Prison and Probation 

Services. They may, as part of their work, provide a wide range of activities for children 

and have an important role in safeguarding children and supporting families and 

communities.  

311. Like other organisations and agencies who work with children, they should have 

appropriate arrangements in place to safeguard and protect children from harm. Many of 

these organisations and agencies as well as many schools, children’s centres, early 

years, and childcare organisations, will be subject to charity law and regulated either by 

the Charity Commission and/or other “principal” regulators. Charity trustees are 

responsible for ensuring that those benefiting from, or working with, their charity, are not 

harmed in any way through contact with it. The Charity Commission for England and 

Wales provides guidance on charity compliance which should be followed169.  

312. Some of these organisations and agencies are large national charities whilst others 

will have a much smaller local reach. Some will be delivering statutory services and may  

  
  

be run by volunteers, such as library services. This important group of organisations 

includes youth services not delivered by local authorities or district councils.  

313. All practitioners working in these organisations and agencies who are working with 

children and their families are subject to the same safeguarding responsibilities, whether 

paid or a volunteer.  

314. Every VCSE, faith-based organisation and private sector organisation or agency 

should have policies in place to safeguard and protect children from harm. These should 

be followed, and systems should be in place to ensure compliance in this. Individual 

practitioners, whether paid or volunteer, should be aware of their responsibilities for 

safeguarding and protecting children from harm, how they should respond to child 

protection concerns and how to make a referral to local authority children’s social care or 

the police, if necessary.  

315. Every VCSE, faith-based organisation and private sector organisation or agency 

should have in place the arrangements described in this chapter. They should be aware 

of how they need to work with the safeguarding partners in a local area. Charities (within 

the meaning of section 1 Charities Act 2011), religious organisations (regulation 34 and 

schedule 3 to School Admissions) and any person involved in the provision, supervision 

or oversight of sport or leisure are included within the Relevant Agency Regulations188. 

                                            
169 Strategy for dealing with safeguarding issues in charities   

208

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategy-for-dealing-with-safeguarding-issues-in-charities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategy-for-dealing-with-safeguarding-issues-in-charities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategy-for-dealing-with-safeguarding-issues-in-charities


 

153  

This means if the safeguarding partners name them as a relevant partner they must 

cooperate. Other VCSE, faith-based and private sector organisations not on the list of 

relevant agencies can also be asked to co-operate as part of the local arrangements and 

should do so.  

Sports clubs/organisations  

316. There are many sports clubs and organisations, including voluntary and private 

sector providers that deliver a wide range of sporting activities to children. Some of these 

will be community amateur sports clubs, some will be charities. All should have the 

arrangements described in this chapter in place and should collaborate to work effectively 

with the safeguarding partners as required by any local safeguarding arrangements. Paid 

and volunteer staff need to be aware of their responsibilities for safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children, how they should respond to child protection concerns 

and how to make a referral to local authority children’s social care or the police if 

necessary.  

  
  

188 The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018  

209

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made


 

154  

317. All National Governing Bodies of Sport that receive funding from either Sport 

England170 or UK Sport171 should aim to meet the Standards for Safeguarding and 

Protecting Children in Sport172.  

                                            
170 Sport England  
171 UK Sport  

172 Standards for safeguarding and protecting children in sport  

210

https://www.sportengland.org/
https://www.sportengland.org/
https://www.uksport.gov.uk/
https://www.uksport.gov.uk/
https://thecpsu.org.uk/resource-library/2013/standards-for-safeguarding-and-protecting-children-in-sport/
https://thecpsu.org.uk/resource-library/2013/standards-for-safeguarding-and-protecting-children-in-sport/


 

155  

  
  

Chapter 5: Learning from serious child safeguarding 

incidents   

318. Child protection in England is a complex multi-agency system with many different 

organisations and individuals playing their part. Reflecting on how well that system is 

working is critical in improving our response to children and their families.   

319. Sometimes a child suffers a serious injury or death as a result of abuse or neglect. 

Understanding not only what happened but also why it happened can help improve our 

response in the future. Appreciating the impact that organisations and agencies had on 

the child’s life, and on the lives of their family members, and whether or not different 

approaches or those actions could have resulted in a different outcome, is essential. It is 

in this way that we can make good judgements about what might need to change at a 

local or national level.   

Purpose of child safeguarding practice reviews  

320. The purpose of serious child safeguarding case reviews, at local and national level, 

is to identify improvements that can be made to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children. Learning is relevant locally but has a wider importance for all practitioners 

working with children and families and for the government and policymakers. 

Understanding whether there are systemic issues, and whether and how policy and 

practice need to change, is critical to the system being dynamic and self-improving.   

321. Reviews should seek to prevent or reduce the risk of recurrence of similar 

incidents. They are not conducted to hold individuals, organisations, or agencies to 

account, as there are other processes for that purpose, including employment law and 

disciplinary procedures, professional regulation and, in exceptional cases, criminal 

proceedings. These processes may be carried out alongside a review or at a later stage. 

Employers should consider whether any disciplinary action should be taken against 

practitioners whose conduct and/or practice falls below acceptable standards and should 

refer to their regulatory body as appropriate.  

Responsibilities for reviews  

322. The responsibility for how the system learns the lessons from serious child 

safeguarding incidents lies at a national level with the Child Safeguarding 

Practice Review Panel (the panel) and at a local level with the safeguarding 

partners.  

211



 

156  

  

323. The panel is responsible for identifying and overseeing the review of serious 

child safeguarding cases which, in its opinion, raise issues that are complex or of 

national importance. It should also oversee the system of national and local 

reviews and how effectively it is operating.   

324. As outlined in chapter 2, the safeguarding partners play an integral role in 

establishing a system of learning and reflection locally. Safeguarding partners 

must:  

• identify and review serious child safeguarding cases which, in their opinion, raise 

issues of importance in relation to their area  

• commission and oversee the review of those cases if they consider it appropriate  

325. The way in which this responsibility is divided between the lead safeguarding 

partners (LSPs) and their delegates is for local decision. Accountability for 

ensuring learning from serious incidents is implemented is the responsibility of 

the LSPs and the impact of local and national reviews should be evidenced in 

yearly reports and subjected to independent scrutiny.  

326. The panel and safeguarding partners have a shared aim to identify 

improvements to practice for protecting children from harm and should maintain 

an open and ongoing dialogue. This will enable them to raise concerns, highlight 

commonly recurring areas needing further investigation (whether leading to a 

local or national review), and share learning, including from success, that could 

lead to improvements elsewhere.  

327. As such, safeguarding partners should have regard to any guidance the panel 

publishes. Guidance will include the timescales for a rapid review (see chapter 5, 

paragraphs 343-344) and for the panel’s response.  

328. Serious child safeguarding cases are those in which:  

• abuse or neglect of a child is known or suspected   

• the child has died or been seriously harmed  

329. Serious harm includes (but is not limited to) serious and/or long-term impairment 

of a child’s mental health or intellectual, emotional, social, or behavioural 

development. This is not an exhaustive list. When making decisions, judgement 

should be exercised in cases where impairment is likely to be long-term, even if 

this is not immediately certain. Even if a child recovers, including from a one-off 

incident, serious harm may still have occurred. Local authorities and 

212



 

157  

safeguarding partners should refer to the panel’s guidance173 for further clarity on 

issues relating to the criteria for serious child safeguarding cases.  

  
  

Duty on local authorities to notify incidents to the Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review Panel   

16C (1) of the Children Act 2004 (as amended by the Children and 

Social Work Act 2017) states:  

Where a local authority in England knows or suspects that a child has been abused or 

neglected, the local authority must notify the Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Panel if:   

(a) the child dies or is seriously harmed in the local authority’s area  

(b) while normally resident in the local authority’s area, the child dies or is seriously 

harmed outside England  

  

330. The local authority should notify the panel of any incident that meets the above 

criteria via the Child Safeguarding Online Notification System. It should do so within five 

working days of becoming aware it has occurred. Though the responsibility to notify rests 

on the local authority, it is for all three safeguarding partners to agree which incidents 

should be notified in their local area. Where there is disagreement, the safeguarding 

partners should follow local dispute resolution processes.  

331. The local authority must notify the Secretary of State for Education, and Ofsted of 

the death of a looked after child.   

332. The local authority should also notify the Secretary of State for Education and 

Ofsted of the death of a care leaver up to and including the age of 24174. This should be 

notified via the Child Safeguarding Online Notification System. The death of a care leaver 

does not require a rapid review or local child safeguarding practice review. However, 

safeguarding partners must consider whether the criteria for a serious incident has been 

met and respond accordingly, in the event the deceased care leaver was under the age of 

18. If local partners think that learning can be gained from the death of a looked after child 

                                            
173 Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel guidance for safeguarding partners   
174 Care leavers are entitled to support from their Personal Adviser up to their 25th birthday. Local authorities are required to keep in 

touch with all care leavers up the point they reach age 21, and to make their best efforts to contact all care leavers aged 21 to 24 

annually to remind them that they remain eligible for support. If a young person chooses not to take up support between 21 to 24 years 

of age the local authority may no longer be aware of a care leaver’s whereabouts or circumstances (and therefore their death).  

213

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance


 

158  

or care leaver in circumstances where those criteria do not apply, they may wish to 

undertake a local child safeguarding practice review.  

333. The local authority, on behalf of the safeguarding partners, has a duty to notify the 

panel about all serious incidents that meet the criteria. The number of serious incidents 

notified is not a reflection of local area performance. Making a notification, will ensure that  

  
  

learning is identified and fed back into the system to prevent future harm or death. The 

link to the Child Safeguarding Online Notification form for local authorities to notify 

incidents to the panel is available on the Report a serious child safeguarding incident175 

page on GOV.UK.  

334. The Department for Education (DfE) is responsible for publishing annual serious 

incident data. This data is extracted from the notifications submitted by local authorities, 

so accuracy when completing the online notification form is key. All incidents meeting the 

criteria should be notified as “serious harm” or “death”, except where there is a clear 

reason to notify as “other”, for example, in cases where the notification relates to a 

perpetrator. A notification regarding the suicide of a child should be made where abuse or 

neglect is a factor.   

335. Others who have functions relating to children176 should inform the safeguarding 

partners of any incident they think should be considered for a child safeguarding practice 

review.   

Decisions on local and national reviews  

336. Safeguarding partners must:  

• identify serious child safeguarding cases that raise issues of importance in 

relation to their area  

• commission and oversee the review of those cases if they consider review 

appropriate   

337. When a serious incident becomes known to safeguarding partners, they must 

consider whether the case meets the criteria and guidance for a local review177. If 

safeguarding partners determine that the criteria is met to undertake a local child 

                                            
175 Report a serious child safeguarding incident   
176 This means any person or organisation with statutory or official duties or responsibilities relating to children  
177 Children Act 2004 Section 16F  

214

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/report-a-serious-child-safeguarding-incident
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/report-a-serious-child-safeguarding-incident
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/report-a-serious-child-safeguarding-incident
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16F
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16F


 

159  

safeguarding practice review, then a serious incident notification and rapid 

review must take place.  

  

338. In some cases, a ‘serious child safeguarding case’ may not meet the criteria for a 

serious incident notification but may nevertheless raise issues of importance to 

the local area. That might, for example, include where there has been good 

practice, poor practice or where there have been ‘near-miss’ incidents. 

Safeguarding partners may choose to undertake a local child safeguarding 

practice review in these or other circumstances, in  

  
  

which case they should be clear about their rationale for undertaking such a review and 

what its focus will be.  

339. It is for safeguarding partners to determine whether a review is appropriate, 

given that the purpose of a review is to identify improvements to practice. 

Meeting the criteria does not mean that safeguarding partners must automatically 

carry out a local child safeguarding practice review.   

340. All incidents should be considered on a case-by-case basis using all information 

that is available to local safeguarding arrangements. Issues might appear to be 

the same in some cases, but reasons for actions and behaviours may differ 

resulting in useful learning for the local area.   

341. Decisions on whether to undertake reviews should be made transparently and 

collaboratively between safeguarding partners, and the rationale recorded and 

communicated appropriately, including to families. Where there are 

disagreements, local dispute resolution processes should be followed.   

342. Learning from local reviews should be reflected in the annual reports published 

yearly by the safeguarding partners.   

The criteria safeguarding partners must take into account include whether the 

case178:  

• highlights or may highlight improvements needed to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children, including where those improvements have been previously 

identified  

                                            
178 The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018  

215

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/789
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/789


 

160  

• highlights or may highlight recurrent themes in the safeguarding and promotion of 

the welfare of children  

• highlights or may highlight concerns regarding two or more organisations or 

agencies working together effectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children  

• is one the panel has considered and has concluded a local review may be more 

appropriate  

  

  
  

Safeguarding partners should also have regard to circumstances where:  

• they have cause for concern about the actions of a single agency  

• there has been no agency involvement, and this gives them cause for concern  

• more than one local authority, police area or ICB is involved, including in 

cases where a family has moved around  

• the case may raise issues related to safeguarding or promoting the welfare of 

children in institutional settings179  

  

The rapid review  

343. The safeguarding partners should promptly undertake a rapid review of the case, in 

line with any guidance published by the panel. The aim of this review is to enable them to:  

• gather the facts about the case, as far as they can be readily established   

• discuss whether any immediate action is needed to ensure children’s safety and 

share any learning appropriately   

• consider the potential for identifying improvements to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children  

                                            
179 Includes children’s homes (including secure children’s homes) and other settings with residential provision for children, custodial 

settings where a child is held (including police custody, young offender institutions and secure training centres), and all settings where 

detention of a child takes place, including under the Mental Health Act 1983 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 199 The panel may 

share this with the DfE, if requested, to enable DfE to carry out its functions.  

216

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents


 

161  

• decide what steps they should take next, including whether to undertake a child 

safeguarding practice review   

344. As soon as the rapid review is complete, the safeguarding partners should send a 

copy of their findings to the panel199. They should also share with the panel their decision 

about whether a local child safeguarding practice review is appropriate, or whether they 

think the case may raise issues that are complex or of national importance such that a 

national review may be appropriate. They may also do this if, during a local child 

safeguarding practice review, new information comes to light suggesting that a national 

review may be appropriate. As soon as they have determined that a local review will be 

carried out, they should inform the panel, Ofsted and DfE, providing the name of the 

reviewer they have commissioned.   

  
  

Guidance for the National Child Safeguarding Practice Review  

Panel  

345. On receipt of the information from the rapid review, the panel must decide whether 

it is appropriate to commission a national review of a case or cases. They must consider 

the criteria and guidance that follows:  

The criteria the panel must take into account include whether the case180:  

• highlights or may highlight improvements needed to safeguard and promote 

the welfare of children, including where those improvements have been 

previously identified  

• raises or may raise issues requiring legislative change or changes to guidance 

issued under or further to any enactment  

• highlights or may highlight recurrent themes in the safeguarding and 

promotion of the welfare of children  

The panel should also have regard to:  

• circumstances where significant harm or death to a child educated otherwise 

than at school  

• circumstances where a child is seriously harmed or dies while in the care of a 

local authority, or while on (or recently removed from) a child protection plan   

                                            
180 The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018  

217

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/789
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/789


 

162  

• circumstances where the case may raise issues relating to safeguarding or 

promoting the welfare of children in institutional settings181  

• cases which involve a range of types of abuse202  

  

346. As well as considering a notification from a local authority, information from a rapid 

review and local child safeguarding practice reviews, the panel should consider a range of 

other evidence, including inspection and other reports and research. The panel may also 

consider any other criteria it considers appropriate to identify whether a serious child 

safeguarding case raises issues that are complex or of national importance.   

  
  

347. In many cases there will need to be dialogue between the safeguarding partners 

and the panel to support the decision-making process. The safeguarding partners must 

share further information with the panel if requested.   

348. The panel should inform the relevant safeguarding partners promptly following 

receipt of the rapid review, if it considers that:  

• a national review is appropriate, setting out the rationale for its decision and 

the next steps  

• further information is required to support its decision-making, including 

whether the safeguarding partners have decided to commission a local review  

349. The panel should decide on whether to undertake a national review and 

communicate its rationale appropriately, including to families. The panel should notify the 

Secretary of State if it decides to carry out a national review.  

350. On receipt of the information from a rapid review or following its appraisal of a 

number of rapid reviews that highlight a particular theme, the panel must decide whether 

it is appropriate to commission a national review of a case, or cases, or to undertake a 

thematic review. For the criteria and guidance that the panel considers in its 

decisionmaking, refer to its guidance182  

                                            
181 Includes children’s homes (including secure children’s homes) and other settings with residential provision for children, custodial 

settings where a child is held (including police custody, young offender institutions and secure training centres), and all settings where 

detention of a child takes place, including under the Mental Health Act 1983 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 202 For example, 

trafficking for the purposes of child sexual exploitation  
182 Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel  

218

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance


 

163  

351. If the panel decides to undertake a national review, it should discuss with the 

safeguarding partners its potential scope and methodology and how they it will engage 

with them and those involved in the case.  

352. There will be instances where a local review has been carried out which could then 

form part of a thematic review that the panel undertakes at a later date. There may be 

other instances where a local review has not been carried out but where the panel 

considers that the case could be helpful to a future national review. In such 

circumstances, the panel should engage with safeguarding partners to agree how the 

review should be conducted.  

353. Alongside any national or local reviews, there could be a criminal investigation, a 

coroner’s investigation and/or professional body disciplinary procedures. The panel and 

the safeguarding partners should have in place clear processes for how they contribute to 

with other investigations (including a domestic homicide review, multi-agency public 

protection arrangements, or safeguarding adult’s reviews), and collaborate with those  

  
  

responsible for carrying them out. This will reduce the burdens on, and anxiety for, the 

children and families concerned as well as uncertainty and duplication of effort.  

Commissioning a reviewer(s) for a local child safeguarding 

practice review  

354. The safeguarding partners are responsible for commissioning and supervising 

reviewers for local reviews183.  

355. In all cases they should consider whether the reviewer has:  

• professional knowledge, understanding and practice relevant to local child 

safeguarding practice reviews, including the ability to engage with practitioners, 

children, and families  

• knowledge and understanding of research relevant to children’s safeguarding 

issues  

• ability to recognise the complex circumstances in which practitioners work 

together to safeguard children  

                                            
183 Safeguarding partners may also consider appointing reviewers from the panels pool of reviewers, where available 205 

The Munro review of child protection final report: a child-centred system (2011)  

219

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/munro-review-of-child-protection-final-report-a-child-centred-system


 

164  

• the ability to understand practice from the viewpoint of the individuals, 

organisations or agencies involved at the time rather than using hindsight  

• the ability to communicate findings effectively  

• any real or perceived conflict of interest  

Local child safeguarding practice reviews  

356. The safeguarding partners should agree with the reviewer the method by which the 

review should be conducted, taking into account this guidance and the principles of the 

systems methodology recommended by the Munro review205. It should provide a way of 

looking at and analysing frontline practice as well as organisational structures and 

learning, and allow those involved in the review to reach recommendations that will 

improve outcomes for children. All reviews should reflect both the child’s perspective and 

the family context.   

  
  

357. The review should be proportionate to the circumstances of the case, focus on 

potential learning, and establish and explain the reasons the incidents occurred as they 

did.  

358. As part of their duty to ensure the review is of satisfactory quality, the safeguarding 

partners should ensure that:  

• practitioners are fully involved and invited to contribute their perspectives without 

fear of being blamed for actions they took in good faith  

• families, including surviving children (in order that the child is at the centre of the 

process) are invited to contribute  

• families understand how they are going to be involved and have their 

expectations appropriately and sensitively managed  

359. The safeguarding partners must supervise the review to ensure the reviewer is 

making satisfactory progress and the review is of satisfactory quality184. They may request 

information from the reviewer to enable them to assess this and any such requests must 

be made in writing. The President of the Family Division’s guidance covering the role of 

                                            
184 Children Act 2004 Section 16F (1) and The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018 

Regulation 15   

220

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16F
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16F
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made


 

165  

the judiciary in serious case reviews185 should also be noted in the context of child 

safeguarding practice reviews.  

Safeguarding partners – expectations of the final report  

360. The safeguarding partners must ensure the final report includes:  

• a summary of any recommended improvements to be made by individuals or 

organisations in the area to safeguard and promote the welfare of children  

• an analysis of any systemic or underlying reasons actions were taken or not 

taken in respect of matters covered by the report  

361. Any recommendations should make clear what is required of relevant agencies and 

others both collectively and individually, and by when, and focussed on improving 

outcomes for children.  

362. Reviews are about promoting and sharing information about improvements, both 

within the area and potentially beyond, so the safeguarding partners must publish 

the report, unless they consider it inappropriate to do so186. In such a circumstance, 

they must  

  
  

publish any information about the improvements that should be made following the review 

they consider appropriate to publish. The name of the reviewers should be included. 

Published reports or information must be publicly available for at least one year.   

363. When compiling and preparing to publish the report, the delegated safeguarding 

partners should consider carefully how best to manage the impact of the 

publication on children, family members, practitioners and others closely affected 

by the case. The safeguarding partners should ensure that reports are written in 

such a way so that what is published avoids harming the welfare of any children or 

vulnerable adults involved in the case.  

364. Safeguarding partners must send a copy of the full report to the panel and to the 

Secretary of State no later than seven working days187 before the date of 

publication. Where the safeguarding partners decide only to publish information 

relating to the improvements to be made following the review, they must also 

provide a copy of that information to the panel and the Secretary of State within the 

                                            
185 President of the Family Division’s guidance covering the role of the judiciary in serious case reviews  
186 Children Act 2004 Section 16F (1) and The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018 

Regulation 15   
187 “Working day” means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or bank holiday.  

221

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/pfd-guidance-judicial-cooperation-with-scrs.pdf
https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/pfd-guidance-judicial-cooperation-with-scrs.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16F
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16F
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/made


 

166  

same timescale. They should also provide the report, or information about 

improvements, to Ofsted within the same timescale.  

365. Depending on the nature and complexity of the case, the report should be 

completed and published as soon as possible and no later than six months from 

the date of the decision to initiate a review. Where other proceedings may have an 

impact on or delay publication, (for example, an ongoing criminal investigation, 

inquest or future prosecution), the safeguarding partners should inform the panel 

and the Secretary of State of the reasons for the delay. Safeguarding partners 

should also set out for the panel and the Secretary of State the justification for any 

decision not to publish either the full report or information relating to improvements. 

Safeguarding partners should have regard to any comments that the panel or the 

Secretary of State may make in respect of publication.   

366. Every effort should also be made, both before the review and while it is in progress, 

to:  

• capture points from the case about improvements needed  

• take corrective action and disseminate learning   

  
  

Actions in response to local and national reviews  

367. The safeguarding partners should take account of the findings from their own local 

reviews and from all national reviews, with a view to considering how identified 

improvements should be implemented locally, including the way in which organisations 

and agencies work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The 

safeguarding partners should highlight findings from reviews with relevant parties locally 

and should regularly audit progress on the implementation of recommended 

improvements188. Improvement should be sustained through regular monitoring and follow 

up of actions so that the findings from these reviews make a real impact on improving 

outcomes for children.  

                                            
188 See also Reporting section in chapter 2 (safeguarding partners’ report).  

222



 

167  

Guidance for the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel – 

reviewers  

368. The panel must set up a pool of potential reviewers who can undertake national 

reviews, a list of whom must be publicly available. If they consider that there are no 

potential reviewers in the pool with availability or suitable experience to undertake the 

review, they may select a person who is not in the pool. When selecting a reviewer, the 

panel should consider whether they have any conflict of interest which could restrict their 

ability, or perceived ability, to identify improvements impartially.  

369. For national child safeguarding practice reviews, the panel should follow the same 

guidance on procedure and supervision as for local child safeguarding practice reviews 

(see chapter 5, paragraphs 356-359).   

The panel – expectations for the final report   

370. The panel must ensure that the final report includes:  

• a summary of any improvements being recommended to the safeguarding 

partners and/or others to safeguard and promote the welfare of children  

• an analysis of any systemic or underlying reasons why actions were taken or not 

taken in respect of matters covered by the report  

371. The panel must publish the report, unless they consider it inappropriate to do so. 

In such a circumstance they must publish any information about the 

improvements that  

  
  

should be made following the review that they consider it appropriate to publish. The 

name of the reviewer should be included.  

372. The panel should work with safeguarding partners to identify and manage the 

impact of the publication on children, family members, practitioners and others 

closely affected by the case.   

373. The panel must ensure that reports or information published are publicly available 

for at least three years. The panel must send a copy of the full report to the 

Secretary of State no later than seven working days before the date of publication. 

Where the panel decides only to publish information relating to the improvements 

to be made following the review, they must also provide a copy of that information 

223



 

168  

to the Secretary of State within the same timescale. The panel should also send a 

copy of the report or improvements to the relevant safeguarding partners, Ofsted, 

the Care Quality Commission and His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and 

Fire and Rescue Services.  

374. Reports should be completed and published within six months of the date of the 

decision to initiate a review. Where other proceedings may have an impact on or 

delay publication, for example, an ongoing criminal investigation, inquest or future 

prosecution, the panel should advise the Secretary of State of the reasons for the 

delay. The panel should also set out for the Secretary of State the explanation for 

any decision not to publish either the full report or information relating to 

improvements. During the review, the panel should share any points that arise 

about improvements needed with the safeguarding partners in any local authority 

areas covered by the review and others as applicable.  

375. The panel should send copies of published reports of national and local child 

safeguarding practice reviews or published information relating to improvements 

that should be made following those reviews, to Foundations (What Works Centre 

for Children and Families) and relevant inspectorates, bodies, or individuals as 

they see fit. Where a local review results in findings which are of national 

importance, or in recommendations for national government, the panel should 

consider the potential of those recommendations to improve systems to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of children and how best to disseminate and embed such 

learning.   

    

How to notify a serious incident, rapid review, and local child 

safeguarding practice review  

Serious incident notification  

All serious child safeguarding incidents must be notified to the panel.  

Notifications should be sent within five working days of the local authority becoming aware 

of the incident.   

Notifications are made through the online notification system, which is accessible 24 

hours a day.    

The rapid review   

Rapid reviews should be submitted to the panel within 15 working days of the incident. 

This is a non-statutory requirement and more details can be found in the panel’s practice 

guidance211.  

224

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel-practice-guidance


 

169  

Rapid reviews should be submitted to the panel secretariat, at 

Mailbox.NationalReviewPanel@education.gov.uk.   

Local child safeguarding practice review   

Full reports must be sent to the panel and the Secretary of State for Education212 no later 

than seven working days before the date of publication.   

Final reports, information relating to improvements to be made following a review, and 

reasons for any delay, should be notified to  

Mailbox.NationalReviewPanel@education.gov.uk and Mailbox.CPOD@education.gov.uk   

In addition, final reports and information about improvements should also be sent to  

Ofsted SCR.SIN@ofsted.gov.uk    

  
  

211 Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel guidance for safeguarding partners  
212 By sending to Mailbox.CPOD@education.gov.uk  

Chapter 6: Child death reviews   

376. The death of a child is a devastating loss that profoundly affects all those involved. 

The process of systematically reviewing the deaths of children is grounded in respect for 

the rights of both children and their families189, with the intention of learning what 

happened and why, and preventing future child deaths.   

377. The majority of child deaths in England arise from medical causes. Enquiries 

should keep an appropriate balance between forensic and medical requirements and 

supporting the family at a difficult time. This chapter provides guidance to child death 

review partners on their statutory responsibilities.   

                                            
189 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child  

225

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/793253/Practice_guidance_v_2.1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/793253/Practice_guidance_v_2.1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/793253/Practice_guidance_v_2.1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/793253/Practice_guidance_v_2.1.pdf
https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/


 

170  

378. Child death review partners are local authorities and any ICBs for the local area as 

set out in the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 

2017190. The statutory responsibilities for child death review partners are set out below, 

and the agency and organisational boundaries should be decided locally as described in 

paragraph 384 of this chapter.   

379. In the immediate aftermath of a child’s death, a copy of ‘When a child dies – a 

guide for parents and carers’191 should be offered to all bereaved families or carers 

through the child death review process. In addition to supporting families and carers, staff 

involved in the care of the child should also be considered and offered appropriate 

support.  

    

  
  

 

                                            
190 Children Act 2004, Section 16Q  
191 When a child dies: a guide for parents and carers  

226

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16Q
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16Q
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/parent-leaflet-child-death-review-v2.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/parent-leaflet-child-death-review-v2.pdf


 

171  

Statutory requirements216  

When a child dies, in any circumstances, it is important for parents and families to 

understand what has happened and whether there are any lessons to be learnt.  

The responsibility for ensuring child death reviews are carried out is held by ‘child death 

review partners’, who, in relation to a local authority area in England, are defined as the 

local authority for that area and any ICBs operating in the local authority area.   

Child death review partners must make arrangements to review all deaths of children 

normally resident in the local area217 and, as indicated, of any non-resident children who 

have died in their area. This should be done via a Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP).  

Child death review partners for two or more local authority areas may combine and 

agree that their areas be treated as a single area for the purpose of undertaking child 

death reviews.   

Child death review partners must make arrangements for the analysis of information 

from all deaths reviewed by the National Child Mortality Database (NCMD).  

The purpose of a review and/or analysis is to identify any matters relating to the death, 

or deaths, that are relevant to the welfare of children in the area, or to public health and 

safety, and to consider whether action should be taken in relation to any matters 

identified. If child death review partners find action should be taken by a person or 

organisation, they must inform them. In addition, child death review partners:  

• must, at such times as they consider appropriate, prepare, and publish reports on:  

o what they have done as a result of the child death review 

arrangements in their area o how effective the 

arrangements have been in practice  

• may request information from a person or organisation to enable or assist the 

review and/or analysis process. The person or organisation must comply with the 

request, and if they do not, the child death review partners may take legal action 

to seek enforcement  

• may make payments directly towards expenditure incurred in connection with 

arrangements made for child death reviews or analysis of information about 

deaths reviewed, or by contributing to a fund out of which payments may be 

made. They may provide staff, goods, services, accommodation, or other 

resources to any person for purposes connected with the child death review or 

analysis process  

227



 

172  

Responsibilities of child death review partners 192193 

380. The child death review process covers children194, regardless of the cause of 

death195.   

381. In making arrangements to review child deaths, child death review partners should 

establish a structure and process to review all deaths of children normally resident in their 

area and, as indicated and agreed between child death review partners, the deaths of 

children not normally resident in their area but who have died there. Child death review 

partners should model their child death review structures and processes as laid out in the 

‘Child Death Review Statutory and Operational Guidance (2018)’196.  

382. Child death review partners should consider the core representation of any panel 

or structure they set up to conduct reviews, and this would ideally include:   

• public health   

• the designated197 doctor for child deaths for the local area   

• social services   

• police   

• the designated doctor or nurse for safeguarding   

• primary care (GP or health visitor)   

• nursing and/or midwifery   

• lay representation   

• other professionals that child death review partners consider should be involved   

It is for child death review partners to determine what representation they have in any 

structure reviewing child deaths.  

383. Child death review partners should agree locally how the child death review 

process will be funded in their area.  

  

                                            
192 The guidance in this chapter is issued under the Children Act 2004 Section 16Q  
193 For the purposes of child death reviews, a local area is the area within the remit of a local authority (referred to in the Children Act 

2004 as a “local authority area”).  
194 Children Act 2004 Section 65 - a child is defined as a person under 18 years of age  
195 This will include the death of any liveborn baby, where a death certificate has been issued, or where the birth was unattended, but 

does not include those (of any gestation) who are stillborn where there was medical attendance or planned terminations of pregnancy 

carried out within the law.  
196 Child Death Review: Statutory and Operational Guidance (England)   
197 Within that part of the health system that supports child safeguarding and protection services, the word “designated" means a 

dedicated professional with specific roles and responsibilities that are centred on the provision of clinical expertise and strategic advice.  

228

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16Q
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/65
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england


 

173  

  

384. The geographical and population “footprint” of child death review partners should 

be locally agreed but must extend to at least one local authority area. It should take into 

account networks of NHS care, and agency and organisational boundaries in order to 

reflect the integrated care and social networks of the local area. These may overlap with 

more than one local authority area or ICB. They should cover a child population such that 

they typically review at least 60 child deaths per year. Child death review partners should 

come together to develop clear plans outlining the administrative and logistical processes 

for their review arrangements.   

385. Child death review partners should ensure that a designated doctor for child deaths 

is appointed to any multi-agency panel (or structure in place to review deaths). The 

designated doctor for child deaths should be a senior paediatrician who can take a lead 

role in the review process. Child death review partners should ensure a process is in 

place whereby the designated doctor for child deaths is notified of each child death and is 

sent relevant information.   

386. Child death review partners may request that a person or organisation provide 

information to enable or assist the reviewing or analysing of a child's death. The person or 

organisation must comply with such a request. If they do not comply, the child death 

review partners may instigate legal action to enforce.  

387. Child death review partners for the local authority area where a child who has died 

was normally resident are responsible for ensuring the death is reviewed. However, they 

may also choose to review the death of a child, including a looked after child, that 

occurred in their local area even if the child in question was not normally resident there. In 

such circumstances, the designated doctor for child death in each area should discuss 

and agree who will be responsible for collecting information and reviewing the death, to 

ensure there is no duplication of review. The review process should seek to involve child 

death review partners for another local authority area who had an interest in the child or 

any other person or agencies, as appropriate.  

388. Child death review partners should publicise on their website, information on the 

arrangements for child death reviews in their area. This should include who the 

accountable officials are (the local authority chief executive, and the accountable officer of 

the ICB), which local authority and ICB partners are involved, what geographical area is 

covered and who the designated doctor for child deaths is.   

    
Responsibilities of other organisations and agencies  

389. All local organisations or individual practitioners that have had involvement in the 

case should co-operate, as appropriate, in the child death review process carried out by 

229



 

174  

child death review partners. All local organisations or individual practitioners should also 

have regard to any guidance on child death reviews issued by the government.  

Specific responsibilities of relevant bodies in relation to child 

deaths  

Registrars of Births and Deaths (Section 31 of the Children and Young Persons Act 

2008): Requirement on registrars of births and deaths to supply child death review 

partners with the particulars of the death entered in the register in relation to any person 

who was or may have been under the age of 18 at the time of death. A similar 

requirement exists where the registrar corrects an entry in the register.  

The registrar must also notify child death review partners if they issue a Certificate of 

No  

Liability to Register (where a death is not required by law to be registered in England or 

Wales) where it appears that the deceased was or may have been under the age of 18 at 

the time of death.  

The information must be provided to the appropriate child death review partners (which 

cover the sub-district in which the register is kept) no later than seven days from the date 

the death was registered, the date the correction was made or the date the certificate was 

issued.  

Coroners and Justice Act 2009 & Coroners (Investigations) Regulations 2013: Duty 

to investigate and hold an inquest. Powers to request a post-mortem and for evidence to 

be given or produced.  

Coroner’s duty to notify the child death review partners for the area in which the child died 

or where the child’s body was found within three working days of deciding to investigate a 

death or commission a post-mortem.  

Coroner’s duty to share information, including post-mortem reports with the relevant child 

death review partners.  

   

    

230



 

175  

Responding to the death of a child: the child death review 

process   

A key worker offers 

the child’s family 

ongoing  
engagement, 

support and 

information 

Figure 2: Process to follow when a child dies  

390. The steps that precede the child death review partners’ independent review 

commence in the immediate aftermath of a child’s death. These include the immediate 

decisions, notifications and parallel investigations, and the child death review by those 

directly involved in the care of the child or the investigation after their death, at the child 

death review meeting. The information gathered throughout this process should be fed 

into the child death overview panel review.  

391. The learning from all child death reviews should be shared with the National Child 

Mortality Database which may in addition consider information from other reviews in 

order to identify any trends in or similarities between deaths. Information from the 

database will be used to inform local or national changes to prevent future deaths.   

392. The processes that should be followed by all those involved when responding to, 

investigating, and reviewing child deaths is set out in the Child Death Review Statutory 

and Operational guidance198 on child death reviews issued by the government.   

                                            
198 Child Death Review Statutory and Operational guidance  

  

Professionals in the place where the child died  
are responsible for arranging a  

child death review  ( CDR 
  ) meeting 

A child dies 

These stages  
focus on the  

individual child  
and local systems  

and learning 

Professionals in the place where the child died initiate  
immediate decision - making and  

notifications ( including the medical examiner ) 

They initiate  information g athering , and 
if appropriate , investigations  such as a joint agency  

response ,  coroners or an NHS England  ( NHSE ) 
  

serious incident framework 

The Child Death Overview Panel 
convenes an independent CDOP meeting 

CDOP sends the National Child Mortality Database  
( NCMD ) specified data on the death 

CDOP and NCMD share  local and national  
learning  with CDR and safeguarding partners 

These stages focus 
on  local and  

national systems  
and learning 

231

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england


 

176  

393. All practitioners participating in the child death review process should notify, 

report, and scrutinise child deaths using the standardised templates199. These should be 

forwarded to the relevant CDOP.   

The child death review process  

A child dies  

394. Practitioners in all agencies should notify the child death review partners, via the 

local CDOP administrator (or equivalent) of the death of any child of which they become 

aware by using the child death notification form200.  

Immediate decision-making and notifications, and investigation and 

information gathering  

395. Whenever a child dies, practitioners should work together in responding to that 

death in a thorough, sensitive, and supportive manner. The aims of this response are 

to:   

• establish, as far as is possible, the cause of the child's death  

• identify any modifiable or contributory factors201  

• provide ongoing support to the family  

• learn lessons in order to reduce the risk of future child deaths and promote the 

health, safety, and wellbeing of other children  

• ensure that all statutory obligations are met  

396. Where a joint agency response is required, practitioners should follow the 

process set out in ‘Sudden unexpected death in infancy and childhood: multi-agency 

guidelines for care and investigation (2016)’202. A joint agency response is required if a 

child’s death:   

• is or could be due to external causes  

• is sudden and there is no immediately apparent cause (including sudden  

  
  

                                            
199 Child death reviews: forms for reporting child deaths   
200 Child death notification form  
201 These are defined as factors that may have contributed to the death of the child and that might, by means of a locally or nationally 

achievable intervention, be modified to reduce the risk of future deaths  
202 Sudden unexpected death in infancy and childhood: multi-agency guidelines for care and investigation – RCPCH Child Protection 

Portal  

232

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F1140316%2FChild_death_notification_form.odt&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F1140316%2FChild_death_notification_form.odt&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://childprotection.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-multi-agency-guidelines-for-care-and-investigation/
https://childprotection.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-multi-agency-guidelines-for-care-and-investigation/
https://childprotection.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-multi-agency-guidelines-for-care-and-investigation/
https://childprotection.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-multi-agency-guidelines-for-care-and-investigation/


 

177  

unexpected death in infancy or childhood)  

• occurs in custody, or where the child was detained under the Mental Health Act  

• occurs where the initial circumstances raise any suspicions that the death may 

not have been natural  

• occurs in the case of a stillbirth where no healthcare professional was in 

attendance  

397. If there is an unexplained death of a child at home or in the community, the child 

should normally be taken to a hospital emergency department rather than a mortuary. 

In some cases when a child dies at home or in the community, the police may decide 

that it is not appropriate to move the child’s body immediately, for example, because a 

forensic examination is needed.  

398. In a criminal investigation, the police are responsible for collecting and collating 

all relevant information pertaining to a child’s death. Practitioners should consult the 

lead police investigator and the Crown Prosecution Service to ensure that their 

enquiries do not prejudice any criminal proceedings.  

399. If the results of any investigations suggest evidence of abuse or neglect as a 

possible cause of death whether at home or in the community, all practitioners should 

inform relevant safeguarding partners and the panel immediately.  

Child death review meeting  

400. This is the multi-agency meeting that takes place prior to the CDOP review. At the 

meeting, all matters relating to an individual child’s death are discussed by professionals 

involved with the case. It should be attended by professionals who were directly involved 

in the care of that child during their life and in the investigation into their death and should 

not be limited to medical staff. A draft analysis form203 of each individual case should be 

sent after the meeting to the local CDOP to inform their review.   

Review of death by CDOP   

401. The review by CDOP is intended to be the final, independent scrutiny of a child’s 

death by professionals with no responsibility for the child during their life. The information 

gathered using all the standardised templates may help CDOP to identify modifiable 

factors that could be altered to prevent future deaths.  

  
                                            
203 Child death reviews: forms for reporting child deaths  

233

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-reviews-forms-for-reporting-child-deaths


 

178  

  

402. In addition to the statutory responsibilities set out above, the review should also 

provide data to the National Child Mortality Database.  

403. Child death review partners for a local authority area in England must prepare and 

publish a report as set out in the statutory responsibilities above204 205. They may 

therefore wish to ask their CDOP to produce an annual report on local patterns and trends 

in child deaths, any lessons learnt and actions taken, and the effectiveness of the wider 

child death review process in order to assist child death review partners to prepare their 

report.  

                                            
204 Children Act 2004 Section 16M   
205 Child Death Review: Statutory and Operational Guidance (England)  

234

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16M
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/16M
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1120062/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1120062/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england.pdf


 

179  

  
  

Appendix A: Glossary   

Abuse - A form of maltreatment of a child. Somebody may abuse or neglect a child by 

inflicting harm, or by failing to act to prevent harm. Harm can include ill treatment that is 

not physical as well as the impact of witnessing ill treatment of others. This can be 

particularly relevant, for example, in relation to the impact on children of all forms of 

domestic abuse, including where they see, hear, or experience its effects. Children may 

be abused in a family or in an institutional or extra-familial contexts by those known to 

them or, more rarely, by others. Abuse can take place wholly online, or technology may 

be used to facilitate offline abuse. Children may be abused by an adult or adults, or 

another child or children.  

Child criminal exploitation - As set out in the Serious Violence Strategy206, published by 

the Home Office, where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power 

to coerce, control, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into 

any criminal activity (a) in exchange for something the victim needs or wants, and/or (b) 

for the financial or other advantage of the perpetrator or facilitator and/or (c) through 

violence or the threat of violence. The victim may have been criminally exploited even if 

the activity appears consensual. Child criminal exploitation does not always involve 

physical contact; it can also occur through the use of technology.  

Child death review partners - A child death review partner in relation to a local authority 

area in England is defined under the Children Act 2004 as (a) the local authority, and (b) 

any integrated care board for an area any part of which falls within the local authority 

area. The 2 partners must make arrangements for the review of each death of a child 

normally resident in the area and may also, if they consider it appropriate, make 

arrangements for the review of a death in their area of a child not normally resident there. 

They must also make arrangements for the analysis of information about deaths reviewed 

under this section. The purposes of a review or analysis are (a) to identify any matters 

relating to the death or deaths that are relevant to the welfare of children in the area or to 

public health and safety, and (b) to consider whether it would be appropriate for anyone to 

take action in relation to any matters identified.  

Child protection - Part of safeguarding and promoting welfare. This refers to the 

activity that is undertaken to protect specific children who are suffering, or are likely to 

suffer, significant harm.  

Child sexual exploitation - Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It 

occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, 

manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity (a)  

                                            
206 Serious Violence Strategy  

235

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-violence-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-violence-strategy


 

180  

  
  

in exchange for something the victim needs or wants, and/or (b) for the financial 

advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have been 

sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears consensual. Child sexual 

exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur through the use of 

technology.  

Children - Anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday. The fact that a child has 

reached 16 years of age, is living independently or is in further education, is a member of 

the armed forces, is in hospital or in custody in the secure estate, does not change their 

status or entitlements to services or protection.  

Controlling or coercive behaviour - Also known as coercive control, controlling or 

coercive behaviour is a form of domestic abuse. In 2015, the offence of controlling or 

coercive behaviour was introduced under Section 76 of the Serious Crime Act as a 

criminal offence. Controlling or coercive behaviour is included in the definition of domestic 

abuse in section 1(3)(c) of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021.  

Controlling or coercive behaviour is a pattern of abuse (on two or more occasions) that 

involves multiple behaviours and tactics used by a perpetrator to (but not limited to) hurt, 

humiliate, intimidate, exploit, isolate, and dominate the victim. It is an intentional pattern of 

behaviour used to exert power, control, or coercion over another person. Controlling or 

coercive behaviour is often committed in conjunction with other forms of abuse and is 

often part of a wider pattern of abuse, including violent, sexual, or economic abuse. 

Children can be used to control or coerce the victim, for example, by frustrating child 

contact and/or child arrangements, telling the children to call the victim derogatory names 

or to hit the victim, or by threatening to abduct the children.  

This pattern of abuse causes fear, serious alarm and/or distress which can lead to a 

substantial adverse effect on a victim’s day-to-day life. This can have a significant impact 

on children and young people207.  

Section 68 of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 came into force on 5 April 2023 and removed 

the ‘living together’ requirement for the controlling or coercive behaviour offence, which 

means that the offence applies to partners, ex-partners or family members, regardless of 

whether the victim and perpetrator live together. More information about controlling or 

coercive behaviour, including the impact on children can be found in the Controlling or 

                                            
207 As set out in the Serious Crime Act 2015 Section 76, a child cannot be considered a victim of coercive or controlling behaviour if 

(see sub-section 3) “A” has parental responsibility for “B” (the child) and if “B” is under the age of 16. To note, children aged 16 to 17 

can be considered victims of coercive or controlling behaviour in their own personal relationships.  

236

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/9/section/76/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/9/section/76/enacted


 

181  

coercive behaviour: statutory guidance208 and the Domestic Abuse Act 2021: statutory 

guidance233.  

  
  

County lines - As set out in the Serious Violence Strategy209 published by the Home 

Office, a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved in 

exporting illegal drugs into one or more importing areas within the UK, using 

dedicated mobile phone lines or other form of ‘deal line’. They are likely to exploit 

children and vulnerable adults to move and store the drugs and money, and they will 

often use coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons.  

This activity can happen locally as well as across the UK; no specified distance of travel is 

required. For further information see ‘Criminal exploitation of children and vulnerable 

adults: county lines’ guidance210.  

Domestic abuse - The Domestic Abuse Act 2021236 introduced the first ever statutory 

definition of domestic abuse (section 1 of the Act). The statutory definition is clear that 

domestic abuse may be a single incident or a course of conduct which can encompass a 

wide range of abusive behaviours, including a) physical or sexual abuse; b) violent or 

threatening behaviour; c) controlling or coercive behaviour; d) economic abuse; and e) 

psychological, emotional, or other abuse.   

Under the statutory definition, both the person who is carrying out the behaviour and the 

person to whom the behaviour is directed towards must be aged 16 or over and they must 

be “personally connected” (as defined in section 2 of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021). The 

definition ensures that different types of relationships are captured, including ex-partners 

and family members.   

All children can experience and be adversely affected by domestic abuse in the context of 

their home life where domestic abuse occurs between family members, including where 

those being abusive do not live with the child. Experiencing domestic abuse can have a 

significant impact on children. Section 3 of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 recognises the 

impact of domestic abuse on children (0 to 18), as victims in their own right, if they see, 

hear or experience the effects of abuse.  

Young people can also experience domestic abuse within their own intimate relationships.  

This form of child-on-child abuse is sometimes referred to as teenage relationship abuse. 

Depending on the age of the young people, this may not be recognised in law under the 

                                            
208 Controlling or coercive behaviour: statutory guidance  233 

Domestic Abuse Act 2021: statutory guidance  

209 Serious Violence Strategy  
210 Criminal exploitation of children and vulnerable adults: county lines guidance (Home Office) 236 

Domestic Abuse Act 2021  

237

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/controlling-or-coercive-behaviour-statutory-guidance-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/controlling-or-coercive-behaviour-statutory-guidance-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/controlling-or-coercive-behaviour-statutory-guidance-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-violence-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-violence-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/part/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/part/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/part/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/part/1/enacted


 

182  

statutory definition of domestic abuse (if one or both parties are under 16). However, as 

with any child under 18, where there are concerns about safety or welfare, child 

safeguarding procedures should be followed and both young victims and young 

perpetrators should be offered support.  

  
  

The ‘Domestic Abuse Act 2021: statutory guidance’211 provides further advice for frontline 

professionals who have responsibility for safeguarding and supporting victims of domestic 

abuse, including children. This guidance provides further information about the different 

forms of domestic abuse (including teenage relationship abuse and child to parent abuse) 

and the impact of domestic abuse on children.  

Education, health and care (EHC) plan - An education, health and care (EHC) plan 

details the education, health and social care support that is to be provided to a child or 

young person who has SEN. See the Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of 

Practice 0-25 (2015).  

Emotional abuse - The persistent emotional maltreatment of a child so as to cause 

severe and persistent adverse effects on the child’s emotional development. It may 

involve conveying to a child that they are worthless or unloved, inadequate, or valued only 

insofar as they meet the needs of another person. It may include not giving the child 

opportunities to express their views, deliberately silencing them, or making fun of what 

they say or how they communicate. It may feature age or developmentally inappropriate 

expectations being imposed on children. These may include interactions that are beyond 

a child’s developmental capability, as well as overprotection and limitation of exploration 

and learning, or preventing the child participating in normal social interaction. It may 

involve seeing or hearing the ill-treatment of another. It may involve serious bullying 

(including cyber bullying), causing children frequently to feel frightened or in danger, or 

the exploitation or corruption of children. Some level of emotional abuse is involved in all 

types of maltreatment of a child, though it may occur alone.  

Extra-familial harm - Children may be at risk of or experiencing physical, sexual, or 

emotional abuse and exploitation in contexts outside their families (see glossary definition 

of extra-familial contexts).   

While there is no legal definition for the term extra-familial harm, it is widely used to 

describe different forms of harm that occur outside the home.   

Children can be vulnerable to multiple forms of extra-familial harm from both adults and/or 

other children. Examples of extra-familial harm may include (but are not limited to): 

criminal exploitation (such as county lines and financial exploitation), serious violence, 

                                            
211 Domestic Abuse Act 2021: statutory guidance  

238

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021


 

183  

modern slavery and trafficking, online harm, sexual exploitation, child-on-child 

(nonfamilial) sexual abuse and other forms of harmful sexual behaviour displayed by 

children towards their peers, abuse, and/or coercive control, children may experience in 

their own intimate relationships (sometimes called teenage relationship abuse), and the 

influences of extremism which could lead to radicalisation.  

  
  

Extra-familial contexts - Extra-familial contexts include a range of environments outside 

the family home in which harm can occur. These can include peer groups, school, and 

community/public spaces, including known places in the community where there are 

concerns about risks to children (for example, parks, housing estates, shopping centres, 

takeaway restaurants, or transport hubs), as well as online, including social media or 

gaming platforms.  

Extremism - Extremism is defined in the Prevent strategy as the vocal or active 

opposition to fundamental British values, including democracy, the rule of law, individual 

liberty and mutual respect and tolerance of different faiths and beliefs. We also include in 

our definition of extremism calls for the death of members of our armed forces.  

Family group decision making - this is the umbrella term for family-led decision-making 

forums, where a family network has all the resources, adequate preparation, relevant 

information, a safe and appropriate environment, and private family time to make a plan to 

response to concerns about a child’s safety or wellbeing. At pre-proceedings stage, 

successful family group decision-making also includes having an independent 

coordinator. Family group decision-making can take different forms. The Department for 

Education does not prescribe a specific model, but a process which follows the steps set 

out above.   

Family group conference - this is one model of family group decision-making.  

Family network - A group of people close to a child made up of relatives and 

nonrelated connected people (where connected people has the same definition used 

in the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010212 in 

addition to close family friends who have a connection with the child)  

A family network could include step-parents, siblings, aunts, uncles, cousins, 

grandparents, godparents, or close family friends.  

Financial exploitation - Financial exploitation can take many forms. In this context, we 

use the term to describe exploitation which takes place for the purpose of money 

laundering. This is when criminals target children and adults and take advantage of an 

imbalance of power to coerce, control, manipulate or deceive them into facilitating the 

                                            
212 The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulation 24  

239

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/regulation/24/made


 

184  

movement of illicit funds. This can include physical cash and/or payments through 

financial products, such as bank and cryptocurrency accounts.   

Kinship care - Kinship care is any situation in which a child is being raised in the care of 

a friend or family member who is not their parent. The arrangement may be temporary or 

longer term.   

  
  

The following are all types of kinship care arrangements however this list is not 

exhaustive:   

a. Informal kinship care arrangements (not approved foster care) including:  

i. A private family arrangement in which a close family member who does not hold 

parental responsibility, raises the child and  

• the local authority has had no major role in making the arrangement 

for the child  

• where a Family Court has not made an order in respect to the care of 

the child.  

ii.  Where a child under the age of 16 is being provided with accommodation for 

less than 28 days by an individual in their own home who is not a close relative iii. 

 Where a 16 or 17 year old is being provided with accommodation by an individual 

who is not a close relative in their own home   

b. A private fostering arrangement in which someone who is not a close relative213 of 

the child looks after the child for 28 days or more214 (as per section 66(1)(a) and 

(b) of the Children Act 1989)215  

c. Where a ‘lives with’ child arrangements order216 has been granted in respect of 

the child, in favour of someone who is a friend or family member but is not the 

child’s parent.   

d. Where a special guardianship order has been granted appointing a friend or family 

member as the child’s special guardian.   

e. Where a child is a ‘looked after child’ by virtue of either an interim or final care 

order or being accommodated by the local authority (usually under section 20 of 

                                            
213 In relation to private fostering, “relative” has the meaning given in section 105 of the Children Act 1989. It includes only the 

following: grandparent, brother, sister, uncle or aunt (whether full blood or half blood or by marriage or civil partnership), and 

stepparent (a married stepparent, including a civil partner).  
214 For the purposes of this kinship definition, the term private fostering arrangement includes only individuals accommodating a child.  

It does not apply to organisations or bodies  
215 16- and 17-year olds who are disabled will be deemed to be in a private fostering arrangement.  
216 Pursuant to section 8 of the Children Act 1989  

240



 

185  

the Children Act 1989) and each of the following apply (this may be described as 

‘kinship foster care’ or ‘family and friends foster care’):   

i. The child is being cared for by a friend or family member who is not their parent, 

and  ii.  The friend or family member is approved as a local authority foster 

carer on a temporary basis or following full assessment.   

  
  

f. Where an adoption order has been granted in respect of the child and, prior to the 

making of the order, the adopter was a friend or family member.   

Local authority designated officer (LADO) - County level and unitary local authorities 

should ensure that allegations against people who work with children are not dealt with in 

isolation. Any action necessary to address corresponding welfare concerns in relation to 

the child or children involved should be taken without delay and in a coordinated manner. 

Local authorities should, in addition, have designated a particular officer, or team of 

officers (either as part of multi-agency arrangements or otherwise), to be involved in the 

management and oversight of allegations against people who work with children. Any 

such officer, or team of officers, should be sufficiently qualified and experienced to be 

able to fulfil this role effectively, for example, qualified social workers. Any new 

appointments to such a role, other than current or former designated officers moving 

between local authorities, should be qualified social workers. Arrangements should be put 

in place to ensure that any allegations about those who work with children are passed to 

the designated officer, or team of officers, without delay.  

Maltreatment - All forms of physical and/or emotional ill-treatment, sexual abuse, neglect, 

or negligent treatment or commercial or other exploitation, resulting in actual or potential 

harm to the child’s health, survival, development or dignity in the context of a relationship 

of responsibility, trust or power.  

Neglect - The persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or psychological 

needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child’s health or development. 

Neglect may occur during pregnancy as a result of maternal substance abuse. Once a 

child is born, neglect may involve a parent or carer failing to:  

• provide adequate food, clothing, and shelter (including exclusion from home 

or abandonment)  

• protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger  

• ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate caregivers)  

• ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment  

• provide suitable education   

241



 

186  

It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child’s basic emotional needs  

Parent carer - A person aged 18 or over who provides or intends to provide care for a 

disabled child for whom the person has parental responsibility  

Physical abuse - A form of abuse which may involve hitting, shaking, throwing, 

poisoning, burning, or scalding, drowning, suffocating, or otherwise causing physical harm 

to a child. Physical harm may also be caused when a parent or carer fabricates the 

symptoms of, or deliberately induces, illness in a child.  

Relative - The Children Act 1989 (section 105)217 defines a relative as in relation to a 

child, meaning a grandparent, brother, sister, uncle or aunt (whether of the full blood or 

half blood or by marriage or civil partnership) or step-parent. This guidance uses this 

definition and includes cousins when referring to relatives.  

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children - Defined for the purposes of this 

guidance as:  

• protecting children from maltreatment, whether the risk of harm comes from 

within the child’s family and/or outside (from the wider community), including 

online  

• preventing impairment of children’s mental and physical health or 

development  

• ensuring that children are growing up in circumstances consistent with the 

provision of safe and effective care  

• taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes  

Safeguarding partners - A safeguarding partner in relation to a local authority area in 

England is defined under the Children Act 2004 as: (a) the local authority, (b) an 

integrated care board for an area any part of which falls within the local authority area, 

and (c) the chief officer of police for an area any part of which falls within the local 

authority area. The three safeguarding partners should agree on ways to co-ordinate their 

safeguarding services, act as a strategic leadership group in supporting and engaging 

others, and implement local and national learning, including from serious child 

safeguarding incidents. To fulfil this role, the 3 safeguarding partners must set out how 

they will work together and with any relevant agencies as well as arrangements for 

conducting local reviews.  

Serious violence - Serious violence covers specific types of crime, such as homicide, 

knife crime, and gun crime, and areas of criminality where serious violence or its threat is 

inherent, such as in gangs and county lines drug dealing. It also includes crime threats 

faced in some areas of the country such as the use of corrosive substances as a weapon.  

                                            
217 Children Act 1989 Section 105  

242

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/105
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/105


 

187  

For the purposes of the Serious Violence Duty, as per section 13 of the Police, Crime, 

Sentencing and Courts Act 2022, Serious Violence in the local area is violence that is 

serious in that area, taking account of: the maximum penalty which could be imposed for 

the offence (if any) involved in the violence, the impact of the violence on any victim, the 

prevalence of the violence in the area and the impact of the violence on the community in 

the area.  

  
  

Sexual abuse - Involves forcing or enticing a child or young person to take part in sexual 

activities, not necessarily involving a high level of violence, whether or not the child is 

aware of what is happening. The activities may involve physical contact, including assault 

by penetration (for example, rape or oral sex) or non-penetrative acts, such as 

masturbation, kissing, rubbing, and touching outside of clothing. They may also include 

non-contact activities, such as involving children in looking at, or in the production of, 

sexual images, watching sexual activities, encouraging children to behave in sexually 

inappropriate ways, or grooming a child in preparation for abuse. Sexual abuse can take 

place online, and technology can be used to facilitate offline abuse. Sexual abuse is not 

solely perpetrated by adult males. Women can also commit acts of sexual abuse, as can 

other children.  

Young carer - A young carer is a person under 18 who provides or intends to provide 

care for another person (of any age, except generally where that care is provided for 

payment, pursuant to a contract or as voluntary work). Young adult carers are aged 16 to 

25 and may have different support needs as they transition to adulthood.   

243



 

188  

Appendix B: Further sources of information   

Guidance issued by the Department for Education   

• Care of unaccompanied migrant children and child victims of modern slavery   

• Child sexual exploitation: definition and guide for practitioners   

• Children Act 1989: court orders and pre-proceedings   

• Children Act 1989 guidance and regulation volume 2: care planning, placement, 

and case review  

• Children Act 1989: private fostering   

• Keeping children safe in education: for schools and colleges   

• Listening to and involving children and young people   

• Managing risk of radicalisation in your education setting   

• Mandatory reporting of female genital mutilation: procedural information   

• Multi-agency statutory guidance on female genital mutilation    

• National action plan to tackle child abuse linked to faith or belief   

• National minimum standards for private fostering   

• Non-Maintained Special Schools (England) Regulations 2015   

• Pathways to harm, pathways to protection: a triennial analysis of serious case 

reviews, 2011 to 2014  

• Preventing and tackling bullying   

• Prevention of homelessness and provision of accommodation for 16 and 17 year 

old young people who may be homeless and/or require accommodation   

• Safeguarding and social care for children   

• Safeguarding children who may have been trafficked practice guidance  

• Safeguarding strategy: unaccompanied asylum seeking and refugee children   

• Social work post-qualifying standards: Knowledge and skills statements   

• Statutory framework for the early years foundation stage (EYFS)  

• Statutory guidance on children who run away or go missing from home or care  

• Statutory visits to children with special educational needs and disabilities or health 

conditions in long-term residential settings   

• The Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) 

Regulations 2018  

• The Prevent duty: support for those working in education with safeguarding 

responsibilities    

244

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-of-unaccompanied-and-trafficked-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-of-unaccompanied-and-trafficked-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-and-young-people-from-sexual-exploitation-supplementary-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-and-young-people-from-sexual-exploitation-supplementary-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-and-young-people-from-sexual-exploitation-supplementary-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-court-orders--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-court-orders--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-private-fostering
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-private-fostering
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-and-safer-recruitment
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-and-safer-recruitment
https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/19522/1/Listening_to_and_involving_chidren_and_young_people.pdf
https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/19522/1/Listening_to_and_involving_chidren_and_young_people.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-prevent-duty-safeguarding-learners-vulnerable-to-radicalisation/managing-risk-of-radicalisation-in-your-education-setting
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-prevent-duty-safeguarding-learners-vulnerable-to-radicalisation/managing-risk-of-radicalisation-in-your-education-setting
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mandatory-reporting-of-female-genital-mutilation-procedural-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mandatory-reporting-of-female-genital-mutilation-procedural-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-genital-mutilation-guidelines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-genital-mutilation-guidelines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-genital-mutilation-guidelines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-action-plan-to-tackle-child-abuse-linked-to-faith-or-belief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-action-plan-to-tackle-child-abuse-linked-to-faith-or-belief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-action-plan-to-tackle-child-abuse-linked-to-faith-or-belief
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-minimum-standards-for-private-fostering
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-minimum-standards-for-private-fostering
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/non-maintained-special-schools-regulations-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/non-maintained-special-schools-regulations-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/analysis-of-serious-case-reviews-2011-to-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/analysis-of-serious-case-reviews-2011-to-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/analysis-of-serious-case-reviews-2011-to-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/analysis-of-serious-case-reviews-2011-to-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/preventing-and-tackling-bullying
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/preventing-and-tackling-bullying
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/provision-of-accommodation-for-16-and-17-year-olds-who-may-be-homeless-and-or-require-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/provision-of-accommodation-for-16-and-17-year-olds-who-may-be-homeless-and-or-require-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/provision-of-accommodation-for-16-and-17-year-olds-who-may-be-homeless-and-or-require-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/provision-of-accommodation-for-16-and-17-year-olds-who-may-be-homeless-and-or-require-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/topic/schools-colleges-childrens-services/safeguarding-children
https://www.gov.uk/topic/schools-colleges-childrens-services/safeguarding-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-who-may-have-been-trafficked-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-who-may-have-been-trafficked-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-unaccompanied-asylum-seeking-and-refugee-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-unaccompanied-asylum-seeking-and-refugee-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/knowledge-and-skills-statements-for-child-and-family-social-work
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/knowledge-and-skills-statements-for-child-and-family-social-work
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-who-run-away-or-go-missing-from-home-or-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-who-run-away-or-go-missing-from-home-or-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/visiting-children-in-residential-special-schools-and-colleges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/visiting-children-in-residential-special-schools-and-colleges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/visiting-children-in-residential-special-schools-and-colleges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/visiting-children-in-residential-special-schools-and-colleges
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/789
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/789
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/789
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/789
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-children-from-radicalisation-the-prevent-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-children-from-radicalisation-the-prevent-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-children-from-radicalisation-the-prevent-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-children-from-radicalisation-the-prevent-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-children-from-radicalisation-the-prevent-duty


 

189  

• United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child: how legislation underpins 

implementation in England   

• Use of reasonable force in schools   

• Visiting children in residential special schools and colleges statutory guidance   

• What to do if you're worried a child is being abused: advice for practitioners    

  

Guidance issued by other government departments and 

agencies   

• Achieving best evidence in criminal proceedings: guidance on interviewing victims and 

witnesses, and guidance on using special measures Ministry of Justice  

• Apply for a forced marriage protection order Foreign, Commonwealth and 

Development Office  

• Asset plus: assessment and planning in the youth justice system Youth Justice Board  

• Carers strategy: second national action plan 2014-2016 Department of Health and 

Social Care  

• Channel and Prevent Multi-Agency Panel guidance: protecting people vulnerable to 

being drawn into terrorism Home Office   

• Child exploitation disruption toolkit Home Office  

• Commissioning framework for child sexual abuse support Home Office  

• Counter-terrorism strategy (CONTEST) Home Office   

• County lines offending: the Crown Prosecution Service legal guidance Crown 

Prosecution Service  

• Controlling or coercive behaviour: statutory guidance framework Home Office  

• Criminal exploitation of children and vulnerable adults: county lines Home Office  

• Cyber aware National Cyber Security Centre  

• DBS barring referral guidance Disclosure and Barring Service  

• Developing local substance misuse safeguarding protocols Public Health England  

• Disclosure and Barring Service  

245

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/united-nations-convention-on-the-rights-of-the-child-uncrc-how-legislation-underpins-implementation-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-reasonable-force-in-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-reasonable-force-in-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-reasonable-force-in-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/visiting-children-in-residential-special-schools-and-colleges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/visiting-children-in-residential-special-schools-and-colleges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-to-do-if-youre-worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-to-do-if-youre-worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-to-do-if-youre-worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/achieving-best-evidence-in-criminal-proceedings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/achieving-best-evidence-in-criminal-proceedings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/achieving-best-evidence-in-criminal-proceedings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/achieving-best-evidence-in-criminal-proceedings
https://www.gov.uk/apply-forced-marriage-protection-order
https://www.gov.uk/apply-forced-marriage-protection-order
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assetplus-assessment-and-planning-in-the-youth-justice-system/assetplus-assessment-and-planning-in-the-youth-justice-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assetplus-assessment-and-planning-in-the-youth-justice-system/assetplus-assessment-and-planning-in-the-youth-justice-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/carers-strategy-actions-for-2014-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/carers-strategy-actions-for-2014-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-exploitation-disruption-toolkit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-exploitation-disruption-toolkit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/commissioning-framework-for-child-sexual-abuse-support
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/commissioning-framework-for-child-sexual-abuse-support
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/contest
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/contest
https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/county-lines-offending
https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/county-lines-offending
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/controlling-or-coercive-behaviour-statutory-guidance-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/controlling-or-coercive-behaviour-statutory-guidance-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
http://www.cyberaware.gov.uk/
http://www.cyberaware.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dbs-referrals-guidance--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dbs-referrals-guidance--2
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/safeguardingprotocol2013.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/safeguardingprotocol2013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service


   

•  

190  

Domestic Abuse Act 2021: statutory guidance Home Office  

• Every child matters: statutory guidance (arrangements to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children UK Visas and Immigration  

• Female genital mutilation protection orders: factsheet Home Office  

• Female genital mutilation resource pack Home Office  

• Forced marriage Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office, and Home Office  

• Forced marriage protection orders (application) HM Courts and Tribunals Service  

• Forced marriage resource pack Home Office  

• Forced marriage: statutory guidance for heads of safeguarding organisations, and 

nonstatutory guidance for front-line professionals Home Office, and Foreign, 

Commonwealth and Development Office  

• Guidance for health professionals on domestic violence Department of Health and 

Social Care   

• Homelessness code of guidance for local authorities Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing and Communities  

• Mental Health Act 1983: Code of Practice Department of Health and Social Care  

• Missing children and adults: a cross-government strategy Home Office  

• Modern Slavery Act: statutory guidance Home Office  

• Multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA): Guidance Ministry of Justice, 

HM Prison and Probation Service   

• National service framework: children, young people, and maternity services 

Department of Health and Social Care   

• Practice direction 12A – care, supervision, and other part 4 proceedings: guide to case 

Management Ministry of Justice  

• Prevent duty guidance: for England and Wales Home Office  

• Prison, probation, and rehabilitation: public protection manual HM Prison and 

Probation Service   

• Probation Service Serious further offence procedures policy framework Ministry of 

Justice  

• Protocol for liaison and information exchange when criminal proceedings coincide with 

child safeguarding practice reviews in England Crown Prosecution Service  

• Recognised, valued and supported: next steps for the carers strategy 2010  

Department of Health and Social Care  

246

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/every-child-matters-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/every-child-matters-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/every-child-matters-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/every-child-matters-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-protection-orders-factsheet
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-protection-orders-factsheet
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Ffemale-genital-mutilation-resource-pack%2Ffemale-genital-mutilation-resource-pack&data=05%7C01%7CAndrew.Lewis5%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C3c5a3191417c458c617108dac62e2080%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638040198790574839%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=jK9mgidrL8r0yRyBwcxT37g6V5B%2FSxzOGTc1Cb5oYI0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Ffemale-genital-mutilation-resource-pack%2Ffemale-genital-mutilation-resource-pack&data=05%7C01%7CAndrew.Lewis5%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C3c5a3191417c458c617108dac62e2080%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C638040198790574839%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=jK9mgidrL8r0yRyBwcxT37g6V5B%2FSxzOGTc1Cb5oYI0%3D&reserved=0
https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/form-fl401a-application-for-a-forced-marriage-protection-order
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/forced-marriage-resource-pack/forced-marriage-resource-pack
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/forced-marriage-resource-pack/forced-marriage-resource-pack
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-right-to-choose-government-guidance-on-forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-right-to-choose-government-guidance-on-forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-right-to-choose-government-guidance-on-forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-right-to-choose-government-guidance-on-forced-marriage
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-health-professionals-on-domestic-violence
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-health-professionals-on-domestic-violence
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/435512/MHA_Code_of_Practice.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/435512/MHA_Code_of_Practice.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/missing-children-and-adults-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/missing-children-and-adults-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/modern-slavery-how-to-identify-and-support-victims/modern-slavery-statutory-guidance-for-england-and-wales-under-s49-of-the-modern-slavery-act-2015-and-non-statutory-guidance-for-scotland-and-northe
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/modern-slavery-how-to-identify-and-support-victims/modern-slavery-statutory-guidance-for-england-and-wales-under-s49-of-the-modern-slavery-act-2015-and-non-statutory-guidance-for-scotland-and-northe
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-public-protection-arrangements-mappa--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-public-protection-arrangements-mappa--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-service-framework-children-young-people-and-maternity-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-service-framework-children-young-people-and-maternity-services
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/family/practice_directions/pd_part_12a#para
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/family/practice_directions/pd_part_12a#para
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/family/practice_directions/pd_part_12a#para
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/family/practice_directions/pd_part_12a#para
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/family/practice_directions/pd_part_12a#para
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prison-probation-and-rehabilitation-public-protection-manual
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prison-probation-and-rehabilitation-public-protection-manual
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/probation-service-serious-further-offence-procedures-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/probation-service-serious-further-offence-procedures-policy-framework
http://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/offenders/probation-instructions/pi-15-2014-review-procedure-for-serious-further-offences.doc
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/protocol-liaison-and-information-exchange-when-criminal-proceedings-coincide-child
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/protocol-liaison-and-information-exchange-when-criminal-proceedings-coincide-child
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/protocol-liaison-and-information-exchange-when-criminal-proceedings-coincide-child
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/protocol-liaison-and-information-exchange-when-criminal-proceedings-coincide-child
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recognised-valued-and-supported-next-steps-for-the-carers-strategy


   

•  

191  

Safeguarding children, young people and adults at risk in the NHS: Safeguarding 

accountability and assurance framework NHS England    

• Serious and organised crime toolkit: an interactive toolkit for practitioners working with 

young people Home Office  

• Statutory guidance for integrated care boards on executive lead roles NHS England  

• Supporting children to stay safe online National Crime Agency/CEOP Education  

• Understanding the female genital mutilation enhanced dataset: updated guidance and 

clarification to support implementation Department of Health and Social Care • 

Violence against women and girls Home Office  

  

Guidance issued by external organisations  

• Child maltreatment: when to suspect maltreatment in under 18s NICE  

• Child protection and the dental team British Dental Association  

• Child Protection Companion Royal college of Paediatrics and Child Health   

• Children’s Commissioner  

• Children’s rights and the law guide Children's Rights Alliance for England  

• Communicating with children: a guide for those working with children who have or may 

have been sexually abused Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse  

• Cyberbullying: understand, prevent, respond – guidance for schools Childnet 

International  

• Guide to UK General Data Protection Regulations (UK GDPR) Information 

Commissioner’s Office  

• Helping education settings identify and respond to concerns Centre of Expertise on 

Child Sexual Abuse  

• How we protect children’s rights Unicef  

• Independent Scrutiny and Local Safeguarding Children Partnerships Vulnerability 

Knowledge and Practice Programme   

• Inter-parental relationships Early Intervention Foundation  

• Multi-agency practice principles for responding to child exploitation and extra-familial 

harm Non-statutory guidance for local areas, developed by the Tackling Child 

Exploitation (TCE) Support Programme, funded by the Department for Education and 

supported by the Home Office, the Department for Health and Social Care and the  

Ministry of Justice   

247

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/safeguarding-children-young-people-and-adults-at-risk-in-the-nhs-safeguarding-accountability-and-assurance-framework/
http://infed.org/mobi/soctoolkit
http://infed.org/mobi/soctoolkit
http://infed.org/mobi/soctoolkit
http://infed.org/mobi/soctoolkit
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/executive-lead-roles-within-integrated-care-boards/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/executive-lead-roles-within-integrated-care-boards/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-enhanced-dataset-guidance-on-nhs-staff-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-enhanced-dataset-guidance-on-nhs-staff-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-enhanced-dataset-guidance-on-nhs-staff-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fgm-enhanced-dataset-guidance-on-nhs-staff-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/ending-violence-against-women-and-girls-in-the-uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/ending-violence-against-women-and-girls-in-the-uk
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG89/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG89/
https://www.bda.org/childprotection
https://childprotection.rcpch.ac.uk/child-protection-companion/?redirect=/child-protection-companion-content/
https://childprotection.rcpch.ac.uk/child-protection-companion/?redirect=/child-protection-companion-content/
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/
http://www.crae.org.uk/childrens-rights-the-law/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/documents/communicating-with-children-guide/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/documents/communicating-with-children-guide/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/documents/communicating-with-children-guide/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/documents/communicating-with-children-guide/
http://www.childnet.com/resources/cyberbullying-guidance-for-schools
http://www.childnet.com/resources/cyberbullying-guidance-for-schools
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/knowledge-in-practice/practice-improvement/education-resources/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/
https://www.vkpp.org.uk/vkpp-work/local-safeguarding-childrens-partnerships/
https://www.vkpp.org.uk/vkpp-work/local-safeguarding-childrens-partnerships/
http://www.eif.org.uk/inter-parental-relationships/
http://www.eif.org.uk/inter-parental-relationships/
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf
https://tce.researchinpractice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/FINAL-Multi-agency-Practice-Principles-for-responding-to-child-exploitation-and-extrafamilial-harm-Designed-.pdf


   

•  

192  

NICE guideline on child abuse and neglect NICE  

• Police response to concern for a child College of Policing  

• Pre-proceedings and family justice hub Research in Practice and Essex County 

Council  

• Prison and Probation Ombudsman’s fatal incidents reports   

• Private fostering CoramBAAF  

• Protecting children and young people: doctors' responsibilities General Medical 

Council  

• Protective measures and civil orders College of Policing  

• Safeguarding children: toolkit for general practice Royal College of General 

Practitioners  

• Safer young lives research centre University of Bedfordshire  

• Signs and Indicators: a template for identifying and recording signs of child sexual 

abuse Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse  

• Standards for safeguarding and protecting children in sport NSPCC  

• Sudden unexpected death in infancy and childhood: multi-agency guidelines for care 

and investigation Royal College of Pathologists  

• Supporting parents and carers: a guide for those working with families affected by 

child sexual abuse  Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse  

• UK Safer Internet Centre: Online safety advice and resources UK Safer Internet 

Centre  

• Whistleblowing advice line NSPCC  

• Working Together with Parents Network: update of the DoH/DfES good practice 

guidance on working with parents with a learning disability (2007) University of Bristol  

248

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng76
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng76
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/investigating-child-abuse-and-safeguarding-children/police-response-concern-child
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/investigating-child-abuse-and-safeguarding-children/police-response-concern-child
https://www.researchinpractice.org.uk/children/content-pages/pre-proceedings-and-family-justice-hub/
https://www.researchinpractice.org.uk/children/content-pages/pre-proceedings-and-family-justice-hub/
http://www.ppo.gov.uk/document/fii-report/
http://www.ppo.gov.uk/document/fii-report/
http://www.ppo.gov.uk/document/fii-report/
http://www.privatefostering.org.uk/?gclid=CLvorZLL_qcCFUlkfAod9Tsatg
http://www.privatefostering.org.uk/?gclid=CLvorZLL_qcCFUlkfAod9Tsatg
https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/protecting-children-and-young-people
https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/protecting-children-and-young-people
https://www.college.police.uk/guidance/violence-against-women-and-girls-toolkit/protective-measures-and-civil-orders#:%7E:text=The%20order%20is%20usually%20granted,1996%20and%20is%20therefore%20arrestable
https://www.college.police.uk/guidance/violence-against-women-and-girls-toolkit/protective-measures-and-civil-orders#:%7E:text=The%20order%20is%20usually%20granted,1996%20and%20is%20therefore%20arrestable
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/resources/toolkits/child-safeguarding-toolkit.aspx
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/resources/toolkits/child-safeguarding-toolkit.aspx
https://www.beds.ac.uk/sylrc
https://www.beds.ac.uk/sylrc
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/research-resources/practice-resources/signs-and-indicators/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/research-resources/practice-resources/signs-and-indicators/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/research-resources/practice-resources/signs-and-indicators/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/research-resources/practice-resources/signs-and-indicators/
https://thecpsu.org.uk/resource-library/2013/standards-for-safeguarding-and-protecting-children-in-sport/
https://thecpsu.org.uk/resource-library/2013/standards-for-safeguarding-and-protecting-children-in-sport/
https://www.rcpath.org/resourceLibrary/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-report.html
https://www.rcpath.org/resourceLibrary/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-report.html
https://www.rcpath.org/resourceLibrary/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-report.html
https://www.rcpath.org/resourceLibrary/sudden-unexpected-death-in-infancy-and-childhood-report.html
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/knowledge-in-practice/practice-improvement/supporting-parents-and-carers-guide/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/knowledge-in-practice/practice-improvement/supporting-parents-and-carers-guide/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/knowledge-in-practice/practice-improvement/supporting-parents-and-carers-guide/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/knowledge-in-practice/practice-improvement/supporting-parents-and-carers-guide/
https://www.csacentre.org.uk/knowledge-in-practice/practice-improvement/supporting-parents-and-carers-guide/
https://saferinternet.org.uk/
https://saferinternet.org.uk/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/what-you-can-do/report-abuse/dedicated-helplines/whistleblowing-advice-line/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/what-you-can-do/report-abuse/dedicated-helplines/whistleblowing-advice-line/
http://www.bristol.ac.uk/media-library/sites/sps/documents/wtpn/2016%20WTPN%20UPDATE%20OF%20THE%20GPG%20-%20finalised%20with%20cover.pdf
http://www.bristol.ac.uk/media-library/sites/sps/documents/wtpn/2016%20WTPN%20UPDATE%20OF%20THE%20GPG%20-%20finalised%20with%20cover.pdf
http://www.bristol.ac.uk/media-library/sites/sps/documents/wtpn/2016%20WTPN%20UPDATE%20OF%20THE%20GPG%20-%20finalised%20with%20cover.pdf
http://www.bristol.ac.uk/media-library/sites/sps/documents/wtpn/2016%20WTPN%20UPDATE%20OF%20THE%20GPG%20-%20finalised%20with%20cover.pdf


 

193  

  

© Crown copyright 2023  

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except 

where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit 

nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/version/3.   

  

Where we have identified any third-party copyright information you will need to obtain 

permission from the copyright holders concerned.  

  

About this publication:  

  

enquiries   www.education.gov.uk/contactus  

download  www.gov.uk/government/publications   

  

  Follow us on Twitter:   Like us on Facebook:  

 
   

@educationgovuk 
  

facebook.com/educationgovuk  

  

249

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=all&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&commit=Refresh+results
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=all&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&commit=Refresh+results
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=all&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&commit=Refresh+results
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk




 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Danial Webb, email: danial.webb@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Title of report: Work programme 2024/5  

Meeting: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee  

Meeting date: 30 July 2024 

Report by: Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

Classification 

Open 

Decision type 

This is not an executive decision 

Wards affected  

(All Wards) 

Purpose  

To consider the draft work programme for the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee for the 
municipal year 2024/25. 

Recommendation(s) 

That: 
 
a) The committee agree the draft work programme, which will be subject to periodical 

reviews, as the basis of their primary focus for the remainder of the municipal year. 

Alternative options 

1. The committee could decline to agree a work programme for its future committee meetings. This 
would likely result in unstructured and purposeless meetings. 

 
2. The committee could also decline to determine who they would like to invite to participate in 

meetings, or which evidence they wish to receive in advance of the meeting. This would likely 
result in an inefficient use of their committee time. 

Key considerations 

3. A fundamental part of good scrutiny is planning and agreeing a programme of work for the 
committee to undertake. A well-considered work programme: 

 
a. identifies priorities for the committee’s work that align with corporate and partnership 

priorities, as well as reflecting community concern; 

251

AGENDA ITEM 9



b. ensures that each identified topic has clear objectives that focus the committee’s work; 
 
c. creates a timetable for the committee’s programme of work so that the committee carry out 

its work at the optimal time; and  
 

d. provides officers and partners with requirements for evidence that will support the 
committee in providing evidence-based scrutiny. 

 

4. Included in appendix 1 to this report are items within the council’s forward plan of key decisions 
that are relevant to this committee. There is also a list of topics the committee may consider in 
the future, but has yet to develop sufficiently to include within the work programme. 

Community impact 

5. Effective scrutiny enables the committee to reflect community concern, one of the four purposes 
of scrutiny as outlined by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny.  

Environmental impact 

6. This report contains no direct environmental impacts. However the work that the committee will 
undertake resulting from agreeing this work programme may have direct impacts. Reports 
arising from or supporting this work will outline their potential environmental impact. 

Equality duty 

7. The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can positively 
contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and demonstrate that we are 
paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the delivery of 
services. This report contains no direct equality impacts. However the reports and issues that 
the committee will consider may have direct impacts. Reports arising from or supporting this 
work will outline the any associated equality impacts for committee consideration. 

Resource implications 

8. This report constitutes part of the typical function of this committee. Similarly, a programme of 
work undertaken by committee is an integral part of the council’s ‘business as usual’. There is no 
resource implication in setting or agreeing a work programme. However agreed topics in the 
work programme, in particular any requests for bespoke research or the involvement of outside 
experts or community groups, may incur resource costs. These will be contained in any reporting 
or planning of agreed topics within this work programme.  

Legal implications 

9. The remit of the scrutiny committee is set out in part 3 section 4 of the constitution and the role 
of the scrutiny committee is set out in part 2 article 6 of the constitution. 

 
10. The Local Government Act 2000 requires the council to deliver the scrutiny function. 

Risk management 

11. There are no risks identified in the committee agreeing an effective and timely programme of 
work. However there is a risk to the council’s reputation if committees fail to set a work 
programme, or set a programme of work that does not address local authority, partnership or 
community priorities. 

252



Consultees 

12. In drafting this work programme, consideration has been given to: 
 

a. The previous work of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee; 
 

b. Priorities suggested by members of the committee; and 
 
c. Herefordshire Council officers 

 
13. This work programme is subject to ongoing review, which may involve additional consultees. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee draft work programme 2024/25 

Background papers 

None 

253





Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee draft work programme 

July 2024 

 

Planning 

26 June 2024 

Work Programme 2024-2025  

Briefing 

12 July 2024 

Children’s Services Complaints  

Planning 

19 July 2024 

Lines of enquiry planning 

Committee Meeting 

30 July 2024 report deadline 22 July 2024 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Children’s Services Complaints 
- Analyse the number of complaints received by Herefordshire 

Council about its services for children and young people. 
- Understand the barriers to effective and timely resolution of 

complaints. 
- Scrutinise work to avoid service complaints, and to resolve 

complaints quickly and effectively. 

- Number received 
- Percentage resolved at it each stage 

of the process 
- Number referred to Local 

Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman 
o Comparison with other local 

authorities 

 Complaints and Children’s 
Rights Manager 

Families’ Commission update 
- Scrutinise final report of the council’s Families’ Commission 

- Families’ Commission final report   

 

255



Committee Meeting 

17 September 2024 report deadline 9 September 2024 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Quality Assurance 
- Scrutinise audit work to ensure that its practice is of the highest 

standard possible. 
- Understand the common weaknesses in practice and how staff 

are supporting to address them. 
- Analysis of common issues in other local authorities 

- Overview of case management 
activity 

- Briefing on quality assurance from 
Leeds City Council 

- Quality Assurance Framework 
- Quality Assurance Framework, Leeds 

 Service Director Early Help, 
Quality Assurance, and 
Prevention 
 

 

Committee Meeting 

26 November 2024 report deadline 18 November 2024 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Including children’s voices in council policy 
- Understand the role of the council’s children’s advocacy team. 
- Scrutinise the council’s participation and engagement strategy  
- Scrutinise how the council seeks to understand the priorities of 

children and young people with regard to council areas of 
responsibility. 

o Area of focus – transport 

- Focus group with children and young 
people, both within and outside the 
service 

- Children and Young People quality of 
life survey 

-  

 Complaints and Children’s 
Rights Manager 

 Hereford City Youth Council 
 

 

Committee Meeting 

21 January 2025 report deadline 13 January 2025 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Ensuring sufficiency for children and young people with a SEND 
- Evaluate the level of need for SEND provision in Herefordshire, 

and how Herefordshire Council and partners meet that need. 

To be confirmed Service director, education 
Wye Valley Trust  
 

256



- Understand how Herefordshire Council, the Department for 
Education and other bodies fund the development of capacity 
to support children with a SEND. 

- Scrutinise how the council, schools and health partners work 
together to support children, with or without a statement of 
need or education, health and care plan (EHCP). 

- Explore the role of short breaks and their commissioning. 
- Measure progress in meeting recommendations following the 

review by the Local Government Association. 

 

Briefing 

February 2025 

Update on school attainment  

Committee Meeting 

18 March 2025 report deadline 10 March 2025 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Child exploitation  
- Understand different ways children are at risk of exploitation 

and the factors that contribute to that risk. 
- Scrutinise how the different agencies work together to tackle 

exploitation. 
- Scrutinise the role of the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children 

Partnership in tackling exploitation. 

- Member briefing on child exploitation 
- Criminal exploitation of children, 

young people and vulnerable adults - 
county lines  

- Childrens-society-Criminal-
Exploitation-Stages-of-Recruitment 

- Exploitation Safety Plan Practice 
Guidance  

Service Director, Safeguarding 
West Mercia Police 
West Mercia Youth Justice 
Service 
Wye Valley NHS Trust 

*The Corporate Director, Children and Young People and Portfolio Holder, Children and Young People, both have a standing invitation to each committee 

meeting. It is assumed that the portfolio holder will attend each meeting. 

 

 

 

257

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65322ad1e839fd001486720d/2023_FOR_PUBLICATION_-_Criminal_exploitation_of_children_young_people_and_vulnerable_adults_county_lines1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65322ad1e839fd001486720d/2023_FOR_PUBLICATION_-_Criminal_exploitation_of_children_young_people_and_vulnerable_adults_county_lines1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65322ad1e839fd001486720d/2023_FOR_PUBLICATION_-_Criminal_exploitation_of_children_young_people_and_vulnerable_adults_county_lines1.pdf
https://www.herefordshiresafeguardingboards.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Childrens-society-Criminal-Exploitation-Stages-of-Recruitment.pdf
https://www.herefordshiresafeguardingboards.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Childrens-society-Criminal-Exploitation-Stages-of-Recruitment.pdf
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwestmidlands.procedures.org.uk%2Fassets%2Fclients%2F6%2FHerefordshire%2520downloads%2FExploitation%2520Safety%2520Plan%2520Practice%2520Guidance%2520v5Jan2024.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwestmidlands.procedures.org.uk%2Fassets%2Fclients%2F6%2FHerefordshire%2520downloads%2FExploitation%2520Safety%2520Plan%2520Practice%2520Guidance%2520v5Jan2024.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK


Committee Long List 

This list contains potential items for inclusion in future committee meetings, briefing sessions or training. 

SEND transport costs 

Data and data sharing 

 How do other local authorities do this? 

Locality working and early help 

 A possible task and finish group with Health Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Step down and reunification 

Neglect and poverty strategy 

Adverse childhood experiences 

Commissioning of services 

Autism strategy 

Children’s partnerships 

Adoption  

Fostering 

Youth Justice  

Trauma and adverse childhood experiences 

Youth work provision in county 

Unaccompanied asylum seekers 

 

258



Forward Plan 19 July 2025 

Current items on Herefordshire Council’s Forward Plan for committee consideration: 

Title Decision Maker and Due Date 

Children and Young People's Workforce Strategy 
To approve the children and young people's workforce strategy 

Cabinet member children and 
young people  
8 August 2024 

Schools Accessibility Works  
To approve the proposed expenditure of capital grants for schools building, 
maintenance and accessibility improvement works 

Cabinet member community 
services and assets  
8 August 2024 

High Needs Capital Grant: Purchase of a building for Herefordshire’s Pupil 
Referral Unit  
To approve the spend from the High Needs Grant to purchase a suitable 
building, to relocate on to one site, Herefordshire’s Pupil Referral Unit 

Cabinet member community 
services and assets  
12 August 2024 

Corporate Parenting Strategy 
To approve the corporate parenting strategy 

Cabinet  
26 September 2024 

Education Strategy Cabinet 
26 September 2024 

Children and Young persons’ Improvement Plan – progress update  
To provide a progress update in respect of the Children and Young persons’ 
Improvement Plan 

Cabinet  
26 September 2024 

Student Accommodation Update and Recommendations 
To update Cabinet Member on the progress and budget for the project 

Cabinet  
26 September 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual reporting 

259



Planned annual reporting from Herefordshire Council. The committee may wish to consider these in committee meetings, receive briefings from the 

relevant officers producing the reports, or simply agree for them to be circulated to the committee for information. 

Most of these reports will be published September – October 2024. 

Report Title 

Independent Reviewing Officer and Child Protection Plan 

Adoption Service 

Fostering Service 

Principal Social Worker 

Local Authority Designated Officer 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

Herefordshire Children’s Safeguarding Partnership Annual Report 

Corporate Parenting Annual Report 

Youth Justice Plan 

Complaints, Compliments and Comments Annual Report 
 

 

260


	Agenda
	 
	The seven principles of public life (the 'Nolan principles')

	4 Minutes
	Printed minutes 07052024 1400 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee

	8 Families' Commission Update
	Appendix A Family Commission Progress Report
	Appendix B - Working together to safeguard children

	9 Work programme
	Appendix 1 for Work programme 2024/5


